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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Financial Statements (continued)

Consolidated income statement / Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

FEE INCOME .ttt seeee
FEE EXPEISE ..veveiiiiiiieieeeee et

Net fee income

Trading income excluding net interest income
Net interest income on trading activities

Net trading INCOME .....vviuiuiiririeieiiiririeieie ettt

Changes in fair value of long-term debt issued and related derivatives .........
Net income/(expense) from other financial instruments designated
at fair value

Net income/(expense) from financial instruments designated at fair value ...

Gains less losses from financial iINVEStMENtS ..........ccevveerieineninencenccreees
Dividend income ..........cccc.......
Net earned insurance premiums
Gains on disposal of French regional banks ..........cccoeoverinennenncncncneene.

Other Operating IMCOME .......c.cevrueveueririririeierererireeieieteteestetesese et tebeseesseserenes
Total operating income

Net insurance claims incurred and movement in liabilities to
POLCYNOLACTS ...t

Net operating income before loan impairment charges and
other credit risk provisions ...............ccocooveviniininiiiiee
Loan impairment charges and other credit risk provisions .......c...cceeeeveenne

Net operating iNCOME ...........ccccooveviiririiiniiieeeeee e

Employee compensation and benefits ...........coceovveveineineniennennceceens
General and administrative eXpenses ............coveveveerereeveuerenenes
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment .
Goodwill IMPAITMENE ....c.eeeeiiiieiiieiiieeeeeee e .
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets ...........cooveeererrerecrenennnn

Total operating eXpenses ..............cccooeueueinininieieienineneieeesee e
Operating Profit ..o
Share of profit in associates and joint VENTUIES ..........c.ceeeererreuereuerinmruereerennns
Profit before tax ...
Tax expense

Profit for the year ..o

Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company ...........c.cccccceeeeeuneee
Profit attributable to non-controlling iNterests ...........oeceveererererreneeeneenne

Basic earnings per ordinary Share ...........ccccccceevveeeeennneeeenneeenenenenne
Diluted earnings per ordinary Share .............ccoceeeeerieenieinieineereeeeeeeeeeeenns

Notes

25
24
24

10

2010 2009 2008
USSm US$m US$m
58,345 62,096 91,301

(18,904) (21,366) (48,738)
39,441 40,730 42,563
21,117 21,403 24,764
(3,762) (3,739) (4,740)
17,355 17,664 20,024

4,680 6,236 847
2,530 3,627 5,713
7,210 9,863 6,560
(258) (6,247) 6,679
1,478 2,716 (2,827)
1,220 (3,531) 3,852
968 520 197
112 126 272
11,146 10,471 10,850
= - 2,445
2,562 2,788 1,808
80,014 78,631 88,571

(11,767) (12,450) (6,889)
68,247 66,181 81,682

(14,039) (26,488) (24,937)
54,208 39,693 56,745

(19,836) (18,468) (20,792)

(15,156) (13,392) (15,260)
1,713) (1,725) (1,750)

= - (10,564)
(983) (810) (733)

(37,688) (34,395) (49,099)
16,520 5,298 7,646
2,517 1,781 1,661
19,037 7,079 9,307
(4,846) (385) (2,809)
14,191 6,694 6,498
13,159 5,834 5,728

1,032 860 770
US$ US$ US$
0.73 0.34 0.41
0.72 0.34 0.41

The accompanying notes on pages 250 to 370, ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pages 33 to 36, the audited sections of ‘Risk’ on pages 86
to 176 and the audited sections of ‘Capital’ on pages 177 to 182 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Profit fOr the YEAT ......ccveuiieiiieiiie et 14,191 6,694 6,498 2
)
S
Other comprehensive income/(expense) o
Available-for-sale INVESTMENLS ........cccoveiierieieieieieiese ettt ettt ste e saeeeeens 5,835 10,817 (21,904) C>)
— fair value gains/(10SSES) ......icvirreieieieieieieieetetete ettt 6,368 9,821 (23,722)
— fair value gains transferred to income statement on disposal .............cccccceuenee (1,174) (648) (1,316)
— amounts transferred to the income statement in respect of impairment
JOSSES vttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et ete s ett ettt et et e teeteereens 1,118 2,391 1,779
— ITICOIMIC TAXES .vvvveneereneereneesereeneeteneeteseeteseeteseeseeesee et et enessenesseneeseneeseneesensesensenenas 477) (747) 1,355
Cash floW REAZES ....cvoveveveiiiirieieiee ettt (271) 772 124 2
— fair value ains/(1I0SSES) .......cvvirreieieieieieeieeteet ettt sttt (178) 481 (1,720) -g
— fair value (gains)/losses transferred to income statement .............cccoeeeveueueennes (164) 808 1,754 g
— ITICOIMIE TAXES .vneuveniteniitenteterteie et ettt es ettt et et ettt bt b et et sa et se et et e b e e beneenenas 71 (517) 90 =
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans ...........cccevevieirieiinierieeieeeee e (61) (2,608) (1,175) g
— DEfOre INCOME tAXES ...eveueeirieiiieiiieiietet ettt (60) (3,586) (1,609) 0
— ANCOMIE TAXES ..veveeieieceetetetetsteececeees e se sttt s e et et e s s s s s sss e s aeseseses s s s sereees 1) 978 434 i
. . .. (=]
Share of other comprehensive income/(expense) of associates and joint o
VEIITUTES v.vovvvererveiassesssesessssesssesessstesssessessste s see s ssssebsnse s ssssessssessnsssessnsessnaesessnsessnes 107 149 (559) E
EXchange differences .........cceeiviririeieininirieiec ettt (567) 4,975 (12,123) ©
o
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of taX ........cccccevevvvereeennne 5,043 14,105 (35,637) 8—
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year ...........cccoecevvveieerennincecncnenn. 19,234 20,799 (29,139)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attributable to:
— shareholders of the parent COMPANY ........cccovveveeiirnirieeeninireecee e 18,087 19,529 (29,143)
— NON-CONTOIIING INTEIESLS ...o.veviveeieieeieieieteieietet ettt 1,147 1,270 4
19,234 20,799 (29,139) §
©
The accompanying notes on pages 250 to 370, ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pages 33 to 36, the audited sections of ‘Risk’ on pages 86 g
to 176 and the audited sections of ‘Capital’ on pages 177 to 182 form an integral part of these financial statements. g
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Financial Statements (continued)
Consolidated balance sheet / Consolidated statement of cash flows

Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2010

2010 2009

Notes USS$m US$m
Assets
Cash and balances at central BanKS .............cc.oovevviviieiiiiiiitieeeeee ettt e v s e eaes 57,383 60,655
Items in the course of collection from other banks 6,072 6,395
Hong Kong Government certificates of indebtedness ..........ccovevverieinieenieinenireeeeieecne 19,057 17,463
TIAAINE ASSELS 1.vvvveueevenieteietetetetee et ettt et e et ese st esesaesebese s eseeseneesentesensesessesesseneesenaesensesensans 15 385,052 421,381
Financial assets designated at fair value 19 37,011 37,181
Derivatives ......cccoveerieerieeeieeeieieens w20 260,757 250,886
Loans and advances to banks ...... 208,271 179,781
Loans and advances to customers 958,366 896,231
Financial investments 21 400,755 369,158
Other assets ............. 27 43,251 44,534
CUITENE TAX ASSCES ...vviiviiieiieiiieiieeteeteeteetteeteetveesteetaeesseesseesseesseesseesseesseesseesseenseesseenseenseessesssesssennen 1,096 2,937
Prepayments and accrued iNCOME ............eueueueuirinirieueiiiririeeicetetre ettt 11,966 12,423
Interests in associates and joint ventures 23 17,198 13,011
Goodwill and INtANZIDIE ASSELS ....eveveieeirieririeiieteieteiee ettt es ettt e e s eaeneesens 24 29,922 29,994
Property, plant and eqUIPIMENT ........c..ccovueiriiriiiieirere ettt 25 11,521 13,802
DETEITEA TAX ASSELS ..veiviiriieieceeecte ettt et ete et e et ete e et e eteeeteeeteeeteeeteeeaeeeaeeereeeseeeaeeeneeereeeneseneeeneeans 10 7,011 8,620
TOTAL ASSELS ..vvieeieeeie ettt ettt ettt et ettt et e e eteeae e teete e teeeteeeteeteeeteeeteeereeeaeeeaeeereeeaeeanen 2,454,689 2,364,452
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Hong Kong currency notes in Circulation .............ocecveeieerieerieirieenieesieesieesee e eneens 19,057 17,463
Deposits by banks 110,584 124,872
CUSTOIMET ACCOUINLS ...eevvieutieeieeiestiestiesttesttesttesstesseesssesseessaesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssessessseessen 1,227,725 1,159,034
Items in the course of transmission to other banks .............cocecveiiriririneiineieeeeeen 6,663 5,734
Trading liabilities 28 300,703 268,130
Financial liabilities designated at fair Value ............ccccccoiiiririiciiiinniccieecc e 29 88,133 80,092
DIETIVALIVES .vivivieiiiietiictetetee ettt ettt ettt ettt et e s e s e st e ss s e st ese s esa s ese b esssessesensesessesensesennans 20 258,665 247,646
Debt securities in issue .. 30 145,401 146,896
Other liabilities .......... .. 31 28,050 68,640
Current tax liabilities ...........c.......... 1,804 2,140
Liabilities under iNSUTANCe CONTACES .........eevererueereerireenirieieteneereseeseseesessesessesessenesseneeseneesensesensens 32 58,609 53,707
Accruals and deferred INCOME ..........c.oceevieiiiuiitieiei ettt ettt ettt eve et re s renens 13,906 13,190
Provisions 33 2,138 1,965
Deferred tax HADIIITIES .....c.cccviiieiiieiecie ettt ettt e te et e et e eteeteeveeveeveenaeenneens 10 1,093 1,837
Retirement benefit LHADIIITIES ......c..ccviiiiiiiiieieie ettt et e e eve e eae e e 7 3,856 6,967
Subordinated HADIIILIES ........cevieirieiirieiieieieereee ettt 34 33,387 30,478
TOtAl HADIIILIES ...veviierieieiieieiieteieieiee ettt ettt ettt s b e ese e ese e eseneesensesensens 2,299,774 2,228,791
Equity
Called Up ShAre CAPILAL .......cceeviieeiieiiieiiriecee ettt s ettt st sesaeseesens 39 8,843 8,705
Share premium account 8,454 8,413
Other equity instruments 5,851 2,133
ONET TESETVES ..uveviutniienieteeeteieete ettt ettt ettt et et e bt e st st e st a e st e st e st sae st esen e et et es et enesseneeseneesens 27,169 22,236
REtAINEd CAIMINZS ....veuiiieieieiiiirieteiei ettt bttt b ettt b ettt st b ettt benene 97,350 86,812
Total Shareholders” EQUILY ........cccoerieueuiririririeiceirreetcce ettt 147,667 128,299
NON-CONTOLING TNEETESTS ....eeuvrevverieiirieieieietrttet ettt ettt sttt eb ettt sa bbb beneae 38 7,248 7,362
TOLAL EQUILY ...ttt ettt ettt 154,915 135,661
Total equity and HADIITES .......cevveirieieieieieieeeeees ettt nnens 2,454,689 2,364,452

The accompanying notes on pages 250 to 370, ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pages 33 to 36, the audited sections of ‘Risk’ on pages 86
to 176 and the audited sections of ‘Capital’ on pages 177 to 182 form an integral part of these financial statements.

D J Flint, Group Chairman
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009 2008
Notes US$m US$m US$m
Cash flows from operating activities 2
Profit DEfOre taX ....c.icicvieeiiicicicece et 19,037 7,079 9,307 -g
Adjustments for: g
— non-cash items included in profit before tax .........cococeeceivnreiicnnnnens 40 18,887 31,384 41,305 (@)
— change in operating assets ............cccoceeeve. .40 (13,267) (20,803) 18,123
— change in operating liabilities .........c.coceoverirenieincineereeeeeeeene 40 42,272 14,645 (63,413)
— elimination of exchange differences’ ...........ccoccoovueruereeriereececern. 1,799) (19,024) 36,132
— net gain from iNVesting aCtiVItIeS .......ccovveverveirieieieieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens (1,698) (1,910) (4,195)
— share of profits in associates and joint VENtUIes ...........ccccovcereeereeeneenne (2,517) (1,781) (1,661)
— dividends received from associates .................. 441 414 655 2
— contributions paid to defined benefit plans ... . (3,321) (974) (719) .g
AKX PAIA 1.ttt (2,293) (2,132) (5,114) g
Net cash generated from operating activities ..........c.c.cocvveevereccnrnrerecrernnnene 55,742 6,898 30,420 ©
Cash flows from investing activities %
Purchase of financial iINVEStMENLS .........cocveevveirieiieieieieeieeseee e eeseeens (341,202) (304,629) (277,023) =
Proceeds from the sale and maturity of financial investments ....................... 321,846 241,341 223,138 H
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ...........cccoceeveereereinennenieeceenene (2,533) (2,000) (2,985) ?D
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment .. . 4,373 4,701 2,467 =
Proceeds from the sale of loan portfolios ...........ccceceue. . 4,243 4,852 9,941 E
Net purchase of intangible assets ..........c.ccceeenee. . 1,179) (956) (1,169) 8
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from acquisition of subsidiaries .............ccccceeunueee (86) (677) 1,313 (@)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries ...........ccccecevevirerirerinerieerinnns 466 45 2,979
Net cash outflow from acquisition of or increase in stake of associates ........ (1,589) (62) (355)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from the consolidation of funds ...........cccccvevenennen. (19,566) - 16,500
Proceeds from disposal of associates and joint ventures ............c.cceceevevennee. 254 308 101
Net cash used in iNVESNG ACLIVILIES ....c.evveverveierieirieiriecrieeiereeeeeee e (34,973) (57,077) (25,093) Q
Cash flows from financing activities %
Issue of ordinary share capital ...........ccoceeeeeriieniineineree e 180 18,398 467 g
— LGNS ISSUC oottt - 18,326 - é
—OHET ettt 180 72 467 )
Issue of other equity INSTIUMENLS ......corveirriiiirieerieireeee e 3,718 - 2,133
Net sales/(purchases) of own shares for market-making and
INVESTMENE PUIPOSES ..euvvireeritenirteneeseseeseeesessesessenessesesseeesensesesesessenesseneess 163 (176) (194)
Purchases of own shares to meet share awards and share option awards ....... 11 (51 (808)
On exercise of Share OPLiONS ........ccceveririrueiiirininieieierree e 2 12 27
Subordinated loan capital iISSUE ..........ccceireeirieirieiiereeeeeeeee e 4,481 2,959 7,094
Subordinated loan capital repaid ..........ccccceverireniriiiiiiie e (2,475) (4,637) (350) 2]
Net cash outflow from change in stake in subsidiaries .. . (229) - - qCJ
Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company ...........c.ccceceeceerennnnee (3,441) (4,264) (7,211) IS
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ..........c.ceceveereerrerirereereeneenne (595) (702) (714) Q
Dividends paid to holders of other equity instruments ............cccoceuevevererenennee (413) (269) (92) %
Net cash generated from financing activities ...........coceeveererereeereeneceernnens 1,402 11,270 352 ©
o
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ................................ 22,171 (38,909) 5,679 %
c
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January ............coccccoeeeveeeciennneccnennenenenes 250,766 278,872 297,009 i
Exchange differences in respect of cash and cash equivalents ............c.cc...... 1,139 10,803 (23,816)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ...........cccvevererieeneeneerecreenen 40 274,076 250,766 278,872

For footnote, see page 249.

The accompanying notes on pages 250 to 370, ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pages 33 to 36, the audited sections of ‘Risk’ on pages 86
to 176 and the audited sections of ‘Capital’ on pages 177 to 182 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Financial Statements (continued)
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Consolidated statement of changes
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Financial Statements (continued)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity / HSBC Holdings balance sheet
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HSBC Holdings balance sheet at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Notes US$m US$m
Assets
Cash at bank and in hand:

— balances with HSBC undertakings ...........cccecerieiieerieirieinieieieieieieiesee e snenees 459 224
DErivatiVes ...c.cevevveeerieerieieieeeeeeee e w20 2,327 2,981
Loans and advances to HSBC undertakings . 21,238 23,212
Financial INVESIMENTS ........c.ccieviiuiirieiiiietiee ettt sttt et e s ess et e st et eeae e e eaeeseessessessesessensenns 2,025 2,455
ONET ASSELS ...veuetinteteteiert ettt ettt ettt et st a b et s s et es et e s e e b et e st ss e st ssen e et eseeseneesesseneeseneesenn 1 4
CUITENE TAX ASSEES 1.veuvievirteerieuiesietertertestesteeteeteeteestestestetessentessesseebeeseeseeseeneensensensesseasenseeseensensansensen 224 562
Prepayments and accrued INCOME ........covveirieirieirieieieieieieee ettt be e eseaeseaesensens 107 102
Investments in subsidiaries .......... 26 92,899 86,247
Property, plant and equipment . 4 6
DETRITEA TAX @SSELS ..vveveurevirietiietiieirieteteteteste et et eteste st st et se e b eseeseseesestesensesessesesseneeseneesensesensans 10 57 —
TOLAL @SSEES ..veeuviirieteeete ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e e te e eae e te e eteeeteeeteeeteeeteeeateeaeeeteeeateeaeeeaeeeteeteenteenreens 119,341 115,793
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Amounts owed to HSBC UNdertakings ..........cocovurueueueirininieieieininieieieieeneseeieseseeneseeieseeeseesenenene 2,932 3,711
Financial liabilities designated at fair VAIUE ........ccoceeivieinieinieireeeeeeee e 29 16,288 16,909
DIEIIVALIVES ..euviviiieiiitietieteiete ettt ettt et et et et et et et e ssesbeebeeseeseeseeseensenbensessenseesesseenseseensensensanen 20 827 362
DDt SECUTIHIES TN ISSUE ...vvviuietiaieiiietiietitetiete ettt ettt saese s ese b esesbesesseseeseseesesaesensesennens 30 2,668 2,839
Other liabilities ..........cccooue... 31 1,232 1,257
Accruals and deferred income .. 750 419
Deferred tax liabilities .......... 10 - 14
SubOrdinated HADIIITIES ......ccveveieiiieieieirieceetetece ettt sttt e s e eneesens 34 13,313 14,406
TOtAl TADIILIES ....vcviveeivceieteeietcetee ettt ettt ettt e s et et ese et e s ese s ese s eseseesensesennans 38,010 39,917
Equity
Called up Share CapItal .......c.coeveuiriiuirieirieee ettt 39 8,843 8,705
Share Premium ACCOUNT .....veueueuiiririeteueieirieietesei sttt ettt b sttt be ettt bt saebebeseaenestenes 8,454 8,413
Other qUILY INSLIUMENES ......c.eoveiiieiirienirieeeteiet ettt sttt et ese e s e es s ese st esesseneeseneesens 5,828 2,133
Merger 1e5erve and OthET TESEIVES .......cueieuiiireriiiirieiireei ettt ettt ettt sttt beeene 35,127 35,127
OENET TESEIVES .veveivietieeieeteteeteeteeteeteete et e st et et et et e eteeteeseeteeseeseesseasessensesseeseeseeteeseessersersensensensesenes 3,394 3,642
REtAINE CAIMINGS ....voviieiieieiieteieieet ettt ettt ettt s et s e st s ae st eseneetennesennene 19,685 17,856
TOLAL EUILY +.vveuiniieteteieiriet ettt ettt ettt b ettt b bttt sa bttt beneae 81,331 75,876
Total equity and HADILES .......ceeveirieiriiieieieeeeeese ettt 119,341 115,793

The accompanying notes on pages 250 to 370, ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pages 33 to 36, the audited sections of ‘Risk’ on pages 86

to 176 and the audited sections of ‘Capital’ on pages 177 to 182 form an integral part of these financial statements.

D J Flint, Group Chairman
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Financial Statements (continued)
HSBC Holdings statement of cash flows / HSBC Holdings statement of changes in equity

HSBC Holdings statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Notes US$m US$m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(10S8) DEFOIE tAX ...c.ecveuieieeiiieieiiietiietete ettt ettt se bbb e se s ssese e ebessesennens 5,237 (2,058)
Adjustments for:
— non-cash items included in profit before tax ...........coceovevrirrinniiree e 40 185 5,974
— Change IN OPEIAtING ASSELS ..euveveueeuiieriierirteeeteseetetetetesetetestesesseseeseseesesaesensesessenesseseeseneesensens 40 3,091 (11,077)
— change in operating LHabilitIes ...........cccccoiririiieieiininieieiccir e 40 (1,754) 2,040
— elimination of exchange differences' - 1
—HAX TECEIVEA .ottt ettt sttt sttt bttt 853 266
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating aCtiVIties ..........ccoerereeerieerieerieerieireeeeeereeeneene 7,612 (4,854)
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of financial INVEStMENLS .........cc.ecivueieiieiirerieereee e - 275
Purchase of property, plant and €qUIPMENt ...........ccoveriririiiriieneerereeee e - 2)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of or increase in stake of subsidiaries ............c.cccovevereverenne (6,649) (10,344)
Net cash used in INVESHNGZ ACLIVILIES .....eoveuerieuirieiirieiirteiieteietet ettt (6,649) (10,071)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary share Capital ...........ccccceeeirieuiiiinnieicicieec et 180 18,333
— TI@IES ISSUE ..uteuitieieteitet ettt ettt b ettt b et bt b et s ettt b et bttt ne et et et et et ebeeene - 18,261
 OHET ettt bbbkttt b ettt b e 180 72
Issue of other equIty INSIIUMENTS ......c.c.cciriririeriueirinieeeicitinre ettt ettt st seneae 3,095 -
On €Xercise Of SNATE OPLIONS ....eoveuieiiuietiieireeitetet ettt ettt s ettt b et sesne st eseneesens 2 12
Subordinated loan capital ISSUEA ..........coceriiirieirieirieee e 1,349 2,456
Subordinated loan capital TePAId ..........cccccoirririeiiinininiecctrccc e (2,100) (4,380)
Dbt SECUTTHES ISSUCH ...vviveiiieiiieirieietetete ettt ettt s et e s se e eseneeteneeseneene - 2,818
DiIVIAENAS PAIA ...ttt ettt ettt b ettt s et e et nenene (3,441) (4,264)
Dividends paid to holders of other equity INStIUMENTS .........ceervererieririiieeieeeeree s (413) (269)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing aCtiVItIes ..........ccovvevererieirieienieireireeeeeeieeene (728) 14,706
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..................cccocceoiniinnniniinnicees 235 (219)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 JANUATY ........ccooeiriiiienininieieee et 224 443
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 DECEMDET .........ccevrueririeieiiieiiieeieeree ettt 40 459 224

For footnote, see page 249.

The accompanying notes on pages 250 to 370, ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pages 33 to 36, the audited sections of ‘Risk’ on pages 86
to 176 and the audited sections of ‘Capital’ on pages 177 to 182 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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HSBC Holdings statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010
Other reserves
Other Available- Share- Total
Called up equity for-sale Other based  Merger share- %
share Share instru- Retained fair value paid-in  payment and other holders’ E
capital premium’ ments’ earnings’  reserve capital reserve  reserves’ equity g
USSm US$Sm US$m US$Sm US$Sm USSm US$Sm US$m US$Sm (@)
At 1 January ......cocccceeenene 8,705 8,413 2,133 17,856 253 1,464 1,925 35,127 75,876
Profit for the year .............. - - - 5,658 - - - - 5,658
Other comprehensive
income (net of tax) ....... — — - — (197) — - - (197)
Available-for-sale 2
investments .................. - - - - 275) - - - 275) .g
Income tax .....ccccoeenreene - - - - 78 - - - 78 ()
oc
Total comprehensive ©
income for the year ...... - - - 5,658 (197) - - - 5,461 =
Shares issued under 0
employee share plans ... 12 168 - - - - - - 180 i
Shares issued in lieu of (=]
dividends and amounts CC”
arising thereon” ............. 126 a27) = 2,524 = - = = 2,523 =
Capital securities issued’ .. - - 3,695 - - - - - 3,695 o
Dividends to shareholders .. - - - (6,350) - - - - (6,350) OQ
Own shares adjustment ..... - - - (260) - - - - (260)
Exercise and lapse of share
options and vesting of
share awards ................. - - - - - 119 (119) - -
Cost of share-based
payment arrangements . - - - - - - 28 - 28 )
Equity investments granted 2
to employees of e
subsidiaries under §
employee share plans ... - - - - - - 76 - 76 [e)
Other movements .............. - - - 87 - - 15 - 102 ©
Transfers .......cccceevevveviennnne — — — 170 - — (170) — —
At 31 December ................ 8,843 8,454 5,828 19,685 56 1,583 1,755 35,127 81,331
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Financial Statements (continued)
HSBC Holdings statement of changes in equity / Footnotes to Financial Statements

HSBC Holdings statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

2009
Other reserves
Other Available- Share- Total
Called up equity for-sale Other based Merger share-
share Share instru-  Retained fair value paid-in  payment and other  holders’
capital  premium’ ments  earnings®  reserve capital reserve  reserves’® equity
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
At 1 January .......c.ccceceeeeenee 6,053 8,463 2,133 17,094 190 1,318 1,995 25,341 62,587
Profit for the year .............. - - - (1,096) - - - - (1,096)
Other comprehensive
income (net of tax) ....... — — — — 63 — — 63
Available-for-sale
INVEStMents ........c.cceuee - - - - 103 - - 103
Income tax ......cccoeervvennen — — — — (40) — — (40)
Total comprehensive
income for the year ...... - - - (1,096) 63 - - (1,033)
Shares issued under
employee share plans ... 4 69 - - - - - 73
Shares issued in lieu of
dividends and amounts
arising thereon” ............. 118 (119) - 1,670 - - - 1,669
Shares issued in respect of
Tights 1SSUE ...oovvvveeeeienne 2,530 - - - - - - 15,731 18,261
Dividends to shareholders .. - - - (5,639) - - - (5,639)
Own shares adjustment ..... - - - (188) - - - (188)
Exercise and lapse of share
options and vesting of
share awards ................. - - - - - 146 (146) - -
Cost of share-based
payment arrangements . - - - - - - 163 - 163
Income taxes on share-
based payments ............ - - - 19 - - - - 19
Equity investments granted
to employees of
subsidiaries under
employee share plans ... - - - - - - 99) - 99)
Other movements .............. - - - 51 - - 12 - 63
Transfers® - — - 5,945 - — (5,945) -
At 31 December ................ 8,705 8,413 2,133 17,856 253 1,464 1,925 35,127 75,876

Dividends per ordinary share at 31 December 2010 were US$0.34 (2009: US30.34; 2008: US$0.93).

For footnotes, see page 249.

The accompanying notes on pages 250 to 370, ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pages 33 to 36, the audited sections of ‘Risk’ on pages 86
to 176 and the audited sections of ‘Capital’ on pages 177 to 182 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Footnotes to Financial Statements

1 Adjustment to bring changes between opening and closing balance sheet amounts to average rates. This is not done on a line-by-line
basis, as details cannot be determined without unreasonable expense.

2 Share premium includes the deduction of US$1m in respect of issuance costs incurred during the year (2009: US$1m; 2008: US$3m).

3 Cumulative goodwill amounting to US$5,138m has been charged against reserves in respect of acquisitions of subsidiaries prior to
1 January 1998, including US$3,469m charged against the merger reserve arising on the acquisition of HSBC Bank plc. The balance of
US$1,669m has been charged against retained earnings.

4 Retained earnings include 123,331,979 (US$1,799m) of own shares held within HSBC's insurance business, retirement funds for the
benefit of policyholders or beneficiaries within employee trusts for the settlement of shares expected to be delivered under employee
share schemes or bonus plans, and the market-making activities in Global Markets (2009: 179,964,968 (US32,572m); 2008:
194,751,829 (US$3,094m)).

5 Amounts transferred to the income statement in respect of cash flow hedges include US3605m (2009: US$502m, 2008: US$152m) taken
to ‘Net interest income’ and US$441m (2009: US$306m; 2008: US$1,602m) taken to ‘Net trading income’.

6 Statutory share premium relief under Section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (the ‘Act’) was taken in respect of the acquisition of HSBC

Bank plc in 1992, HSBC France in 2000 and HSBC Finance Corporation in 2003 and the shares issued were recorded at their nominal

value only. In HSBC'’s consolidated financial statements the fair value differences of US$8,290m in respect of HSBC France and

US812,768m in respect of HSBC Finance Corporation were recognised in the merger reserve. The merger reserve created on the
acquisition of HSBC Finance Corporation subsequently became attached to HSBC Overseas Holdings (UK) Limited (‘HOHU’),
following a number of intra-group reorganisations. At 31 December 2009, US$5,945m (2010: nil) was transferred from this reserve to
retained earnings as a result of impairment in HSBC Holdings’ investment in HOHU. During 2009, pursuant to section 131 of the

Companies Act 1985, statutory share premium relief was taken in respect of the rights issue and US$15,796m was recognised in the

merger reserve. The merger reserve includes the deduction of US$614m in respect of costs relating to the rights issue, of which

US$149m was subsequently transferred to the income statement. Of this US$149m, US$121m was a loss arising from accounting for the
agreement with the underwriters as a contingent forward contract. The merger reserve excludes the loss of US$344m on a forward
foreign exchange contract associated with hedging the proceeds of the rights issue.

During June 2010, HSBC Holdings issued US$3,800m of Perpetual Subordinated Capital Securities, Series 2 (‘capital securities’), on

which there were US$82m of external issuance costs and US$23m of intra-group issuance costs which are classified as equity under

IFRSs. In April 2008, HSBC Holdings issued US$2,200m of Perpetual Subordinated Capital Securities, including US$67m of issuance

costs, which are classified as equity under IFRSs.

8 Retained earnings include 39,814,107 (US$562m) of own shares held to fund employee share plans (2009: 38,446,053 (US$562m)).

~
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements

1 - Basis of preparation

1

Basis of preparation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

The consolidated financial statements of HSBC and the separate financial statements of HSBC Holdings have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) and as endorsed by the EU. EU-endorsed IFRSs may differ
from IFRSs as issued by the IASB if, at any point in time, new or amended IFRSs have not been endorsed by the
EU. At 31 December 2010, there were no unendorsed standards effective for the year ended 31 December 2010
affecting these consolidated and separate financial statements, and there was no difference between IFRSs
endorsed by the EU and IFRSs issued by the IASB in terms of their application to HSBC. Accordingly, HSBC’s
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 are prepared in accordance with IFRSs as issued by
the IASB.

IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by the TASB and its predecessor body as well as interpretations
issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) and its predecessor body.

During 2010, HSBC adopted the following major revisions and amendments to standards:

HSBC adopted the revised IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (‘IFRS 3”) and amendments to IAS 27
‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ (‘IAS 27”). The main changes under the standards are that:

acquisition-related costs are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the period in which they
are incurred;

—  all consideration transferred, including contingent consideration, is recognised and measured at fair value at
the acquisition date;

—  equity interests held prior to control being obtained are remeasured to fair value at the date of obtaining
control, and any gain or loss is recognised in the income statement;

— an option is available, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure any non-controlling (previously
referred to as minority) interests in the entity acquired either at fair value, or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the net identifiable assets of the entity acquired; and

— changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a change of control are treated
as transactions between equity holders and are reported in equity.

In terms of their application to HSBC, the revised IFRS 3 and the amendments to IAS 27 apply prospectively to
acquisitions and transactions taking place on or after 1 January 2010, and have had no significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of HSBC and the separate financial statements of HSBC Holdings.

During 2010, in addition to the above, HSBC adopted a number of interpretations and amendments to standards
which had an insignificant effect on the consolidated financial statements of HSBC and the separate financial
statements of HSBC Holdings.

Differences between IFRSs and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

There are no significant differences between IFRSs and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in terms of
their application to HSBC and consequently there would be no significant differences had the financial
statements been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The Notes on the
Financial Statements, taken together with the Report of the Directors, include the aggregate of all disclosures
necessary to satisfy IFRSs and Hong Kong reporting requirements.

Presentation of information

Disclosures under IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (‘IFRS 4”) and IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’
(‘TFRS 7°) concerning the nature and extent of risks relating to insurance contracts and financial instruments
have been included in the audited sections of the ‘Report of the Directors: Risk’ on pages 86 to 176.

Capital disclosures under IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (‘IAS 1”) have been included in the
audited sections of ‘Report of the Directors: Capital’ on pages 177 to 182.
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(e)

(f)

Disclosures relating to HSBC’s securitisation activities and structured products have been included in the audited
section of ‘Report of the Directors: Risk’ on pages 86 to 176.

In accordance with HSBC’s policy to provide meaningful disclosures that help investors and other stakeholders
understand the Group’s performance, financial position and changes thereto, the information provided in the
Notes on the Financial Statements and the Report of the Directors goes beyond the minimum levels required by
accounting standards, statutory and regulatory requirements and listing rules. In particular, HSBC has adopted
the British Bankers’ Association Code for Financial Reporting Disclosure (‘the BBA Code’). The BBA Code
aims to increase the quality and comparability of banks’ disclosures and sets out five disclosure principles
together with supporting guidance. In line with the principles of the BBA Code, HSBC assesses good practice
recommendations issued from time to time by relevant regulators and standard setters and will assess the
applicability and relevance of such guidance, enhancing disclosures where appropriate.

In publishing the parent company financial statements here together with the Group financial statements, HSBC
Holdings has taken advantage of the exemption in section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006 not to present its
individual income statement and related notes that form a part of these financial statements.

HSBC'’s consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars which is also HSBC Holdings’ functional
currency. HSBC Holdings’ functional currency is the US dollar because the US dollar and currencies linked to
it are the most significant currencies relevant to the underlying transactions, events and conditions of its
subsidiaries, as well as representing a significant proportion of its funds generated from financing activities.
HSBC uses the US dollar as its presentation currency in its consolidated financial statements because the US
dollar and currencies linked to it form the major currency bloc in which HSBC transacts and funds its business.

Comparative information

As required by US public company reporting requirements, these consolidated financial statements include
two years of comparative information for the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and related Notes on the Financial Statements.

Use of estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial information requires the use of estimates and assumptions about future conditions.
The use of available information and the application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates;
actual results in the future may differ from estimates upon which financial information is prepared. Management
believes that HSBC’s critical accounting policies where judgement is necessarily applied are those which relate
to impairment of loans and advances, goodwill impairment, the valuation of financial instruments, the
impairment of available-for-sale financial assets and deferred tax assets (see ‘Critical Accounting Policies’

on pages 33 to 36, which form an integral part of these financial statements).

Further information about key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty, are set out in the Notes on the Financial Statements.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of HSBC comprise the financial statements of HSBC Holdings and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December, with the exception of the banking and insurance subsidiaries of HSBC
Bank Argentina, whose financial statements are made up to 30 June annually to comply with local regulations.
Accordingly, HSBC uses their audited interim financial statements, drawn up to 31 December annually.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date that HSBC gains control. The acquisition method of accounting is
used when subsidiaries are acquired by HSBC. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the
consideration, including contingent consideration, given at the date of exchange. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as an expense in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. The acquired
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of non-
controlling interest and the fair value of HSBC’s previously held equity interest, if any, over the net of the
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The amount of non-controlling interest is
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

1 - Basis of preparation / 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

net assets. In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at the
acquisition-date fair value with the resulting gain or loss recognised in the income statement. In the event that the
amounts of net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of non-
controlling interest and the fair value of HSBC’s previously held equity interest, the difference is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are treated as
transactions between equity holders and are reported in equity.

Entities that are controlled by HSBC are consolidated until the date that control ceases.

In the context of Special Purpose Entities (‘SPE’s), the following circumstances may indicate a relationship in
which, in substance, HSBC controls and consequently consolidates an SPE:

— the activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of HSBC according to its specific business needs so
that HSBC obtains benefits from the SPE’s operation;

— HSBC has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE or,
by setting up an ‘autopilot’ mechanism, HSBC has delegated these decision-making powers;

— HSBC has rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks
incidental to the activities of the SPE; or

—  HSBC retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to
obtain benefits from its activities.

HSBC performs a re-assessment of consolidation whenever there is a change in the substance of the relationship
between HSBC and an SPE.

All intra-HSBC transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements of HSBC also include the attributable share of the results and reserves of
joint ventures and associates. These are based on financial statements made up to 31 December, with the
exception of the Bank of Communications, Ping An Insurance and Industrial Bank which are included on the
basis of financial statements made up for the twelve months to 30 September. These are equity accounted three
months in arrears in order to meet the requirements of the Group’s reporting timetable. HSBC has taken into
account the effect of significant transactions or events that occur between the period from 1 October to

31 December that would have a material effect on its results.

Future accounting developments

At 31 December 2010, a number of standards and interpretations, and amendments thereto, had been issued by
the IASB, which are not effective for HSBC’s consolidated financial statements or the separate financial
statements of HSBC Holdings as at 31 December 2010. Those which are expected to have a significant effect on
HSBC’s consolidated financial statements and the separate financial statements of HSBC Holdings are discussed
below.

Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB but not endorsed by the EU

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (‘IFRS 9’) which introduced new
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the TASB issued
additions to IFRS 9 relating to financial liabilities. Together, these changes represent the first phase in the
IASB’s planned replacement of IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ (‘IAS 39°)
with a less complex and improved standard for financial instruments.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted.
IFRS 9 is required to be applied retrospectively. If the standard is adopted prior to 1 January 2012, an entity
will be exempt from the requirement to restate prior period comparative information. IFRS 9 is subject to EU
endorsement, the timing of which is uncertain. Accordingly, HSBC is unable to provide a date by which it plans
to apply IFRS 9.

The main changes to the requirements of IAS 39 are summarised below.
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—  All financial assets that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 will be classified as either amortised cost or fair
value. The available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and loans and receivables categories will no longer exist.

— Classification of financial assets is based on an entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and
their contractual cash flow characteristics. Reclassifications between the two categories are prohibited unless
there is a change in the entity’s business model.

— A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if two criteria are met: i) the objective of the business model
is to hold the financial asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows; and ii) the contractual cash
flows of the instrument are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other
financial assets are measured at fair value. Movements in the fair value of financial assets classified at fair
value are recognised in profit or loss, except for equity investments where an entity takes the option to
designate an equity instrument that is not held for trading at fair value through other comprehensive income.
If this option is taken, all subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income
with no recycling of gains or losses to the income statement. Dividend income would continue to be
recognised in the income statement.

Overview

— An entity is only permitted to designate a financial asset otherwise meeting the amortised cost criteria at fair
value through profit or loss if doing so significantly reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch. This
designation is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

— Financial assets which contain embedded derivatives are to be classified in their entirety either at fair value
or amortised cost depending on whether the contracts as a whole meet the relevant criteria under IFRS 9.

Operating & Financial Review

—  Most of TAS 39’s requirements for financial liabilities are retained, including amortised cost accounting for
most financial liabilities. The guidance on separation of embedded derivatives will continue to apply to host
contracts that are financial liabilities. However, fair value changes attributable to changes in own credit risk
for financial liabilities designated under the fair value option other than loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts are to be presented in the statement of other comprehensive income unless the treatment
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. These amounts are not subsequently
reclassified to the income statement but may be transferred within equity.

The second and third phases in the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 will address the impairment of financial
assets measured at amortised cost and hedge accounting. The IASB has indicated that it expects to finalise the
replacement of IAS 39 by June 2011. In addition, the IASB is working with the US Financial Accounting
Standards Board to reduce inconsistencies between US GAAP and IFRS in accounting for financial instruments.
The impact of IFRS 9 may change as a consequence of further developments resulting from the IASB’s project
to replace IAS 39. As a result, it is impracticable to quantify the impact of IFRS 9 as at the date of publication of
these financial statements.

Governance

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Interestincome and expense

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or
designated at fair value (other than debt securities issued by HSBC and derivatives managed in conjunction with
such debt securities issued) are recognised in ‘Interest income’ and ‘Interest expense’ in the income statement
using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a way of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or a financial liability (or groups of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
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The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, HSBC estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but excluding future credit losses. The calculation
includes all amounts paid or received by HSBC that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial
instrument, including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Interest on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

(b)

(c)

(d)

Non-interest income

Fee income is earned from a diverse range of services provided by HSBC to its customers. Fee income is
accounted for as follows:

— income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed (for
example, fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third-party,
such as an arrangement for the acquisition of shares or other securities);

— income earned from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided (for
example, asset management, portfolio and other management advisory and service fees); and

— income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as
an adjustment to the effective interest rate (for example, certain loan commitment fees) and recorded in
‘Interest income’ (Note 2a).

Net trading income comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities held for trading, together with the related interest income, expense and dividends.

Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value includes all gains and losses from changes
in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. Interest
income and expense and dividend income arising on these financial instruments are also included, except for
interest arising from debt securities issued, and derivatives managed in conjunction with those debt securities,
which is recognised in ‘Interest expense’ (Note 2a).

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. This is the ex-dividend date for
listed equity securities, and usually the date when shareholders have approved the dividend for unlisted equity
securities.

Operating segments

HSBC’s operating segments are organised into six geographical regions; Europe, Hong Kong, Rest of Asia-
Pacific, Middle East, North America and Latin America. Due to the nature of the Group, HSBC’s chief operating
decision-maker regularly reviews operating activity on a number of bases, including by geographical region,
customer group and global business, and retail businesses by geographical region. HSBC’s operating segments
were determined to be geographical regions because the chief operating decision-maker primarily uses
information on geographical regions in order to make decisions about allocating resources and assessing
performance.

Measurement of segmental assets, liabilities, income and expenses is in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies. Segmental income and expenses include transfers between segments and these transfers are conducted
on arm’s length terms and conditions. Shared costs are included in segments on the basis of the actual recharges
made.

Valuation of financial instruments

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. In the normal course of business, the fair value of
a financial instrument on initial recognition is the transaction price (that is, the fair value of the consideration
given or received). In certain circumstances, however, the fair value will be based on other observable current
market transactions in the same instrument, without modification or repackaging, or on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable markets, such as interest rate yield curves, option volatilities
and currency rates. When such evidence exists, HSBC recognises a trading gain or loss on inception of the
financial instrument, being the difference between the transaction price and the fair value. When unobservable
market data have a significant impact on the valuation of financial instruments, the entire initial difference in fair
value indicated by the valuation model from the transaction price is not recognised immediately in the income
statement but is recognised over the life of the transaction on an appropriate basis, or when the inputs become
observable, or the transaction matures or is closed out, or when HSBC enters into an offsetting transaction.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair values of financial instruments measured at fair value are measured in
accordance with HSBC’s valuation methodologies, which are described in Note 16.
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(e)

Reclassification of financial assets

Non-derivative financial assets (other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition) may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category in the following
circumstances:

— financial assets that would have met the definition of loans and receivables at initial recognition (if the
financial asset had not been required to be classified as held for trading) may be reclassified out of the fair
value through profit or loss category if there is the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the
foreseeable future or until maturity; and

— financial assets (except financial assets that would have met the definition of loans and receivables at initial
recognition) may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category and into another
category in rare circumstances.

When a financial asset is reclassified as described in the above circumstances, the financial asset is reclassified at
its fair value on the date of reclassification. Any gain or loss already recognised in the income statement is not
reversed. The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or amortised
cost, as applicable.

Loans and advances to banks and customers

Loans and advances to banks and customers include loans and advances originated by HSBC which are not
classified either as held for trading or designated at fair value. Loans and advances are recognised when cash is
advanced to a borrower. They are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations, or the loans are
sold or written off, or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. They are initially
recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Where exposures are hedged by derivatives
designated and qualifying as fair value hedges, the carrying value of the loans and advances so hedged includes a
fair value adjustment for the hedged risk only.

HSBC may commit to underwrite loans on fixed contractual terms for specified periods of time, where the
drawdown of the loan is contingent upon certain future events outside the control of HSBC. Where the loan
arising from the lending commitment is expected to be held for trading, the commitment to lend is recorded as a
derivative and measured at fair value through profit or loss. On drawdown, the loan is classified as held for
trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss. Where it is not HSBC’s intention to trade but hold the
loan, a provision on the loan commitment is only recorded where it is probable that HSBC will incur a loss. This
may occur, for example, where a loss of principal is probable or the interest rate charged on the loan is lower
than the cost of funding. On inception of the loan, the loan to be held is recorded at its fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For certain transactions, such as
leveraged finance and syndicated lending activities, the cash advanced is not necessarily the best evidence of the
fair value of the loan. For these loans, where the initial fair value is lower than the cash amount advanced (for
example, due to the rate of interest charged on the loan being below the market rate of interest), the write-down
is charged to the income statement. The write-down will be recovered over the life of the loan, through the
recognition of interest income using the effective interest method, unless the loan becomes impaired. The write-
down is recorded as a reduction to other operating income.

Financial assets which have been reclassified into the loans and receivables category are initially recorded at the
fair value at the date of reclassification and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate determined at the date of reclassification.

Impairment of loans and advances

Losses for impaired loans are recognised promptly when there is objective evidence that impairment of a loan or
portfolio of loans has occurred. Impairment allowances are calculated on individual loans and on groups of loans
assessed collectively. Impairment losses are recorded as charges to the income statement. The carrying amount
of impaired loans on the balance sheet is reduced through the use of impairment allowance accounts. Losses
expected from future events are not recognised.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Individually assessed loans and advances

For all loans that are considered individually significant, HSBC assesses on a case-by-case basis at each balance
sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a loan is impaired. The criteria used by HSBC to
determine that there is such objective evidence include:

—  known cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

—  past due contractual payments of either principal or interest;

—  breach of loan covenants or conditions;

— the probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial realisation; and
— asignificant downgrading in credit rating by an external credit rating agency.

For those loans where objective evidence of impairment exists, impairment losses are determined considering the
following factors:

— HSBC’s aggregate exposure to the customer;

— the viability of the customer’s business model and their capacity to trade successfully out of financial
difficulties and generate sufficient cash flow to service debt obligations;

— the amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries;
— the likely dividend available on liquidation or bankruptcy;

— the extent of other creditors’ commitments ranking ahead of, or pari passu with, HSBC and the likelihood
of other creditors continuing to support the company;

— the complexity of determining the aggregate amount and ranking of all creditor claims and the extent to
which legal and insurance uncertainties are evident;

— the realisable value of security (or other credit mitigants) and likelihood of successful repossession;
— the likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding;

— the ability of the borrower to obtain, and make payments in, the currency of the loan if not denominated in
local currency; and

— when available, the secondary market price of the debt.

Impairment losses are calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows of a loan at its original effective
interest rate and comparing the resultant present value with the loan’s current carrying amount. The impairment
allowances on individually significant accounts are reviewed at least quarterly and more regularly when
circumstances require. This normally encompasses re-assessment of the enforceability of any collateral held and
the timing and amount of actual and anticipated receipts. Individually assessed impairment allowances are only
released when there is reasonable and objective evidence of a reduction in the established loss estimate.

Collectively assessed loans and advances

Impairment is assessed on a collective basis in two circumstances:

— to cover losses which have been incurred but have not yet been identified on loans subject to individual
assessment; and

—  for homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered individually significant.

Incurred but not yet identified impairment

Individually assessed loans for which no evidence of loss has been specifically identified on an individual basis
are grouped together according to their credit risk characteristics for the purpose of calculating an estimated
collective loss. This reflects impairment losses that HSBC has incurred as a result of events occurring before
the balance sheet date, which HSBC is not able to identify on an individual loan basis, and that can be reliably
estimated. These losses will only be individually identified in the future. As soon as information becomes
available which identifies losses on individual loans within the group, those loans are removed from the group
and assessed on an individual basis for impairment.
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The collective impairment allowance is determined after taking into account:

— historical loss experience in portfolios of similar credit risk characteristics (for example, by industry sector,
loan grade or product);

— the estimated period between impairment occurring and the loss being identified and evidenced by the
establishment of an appropriate allowance against the individual loan; and

— management’s experienced judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that
the actual level of inherent losses at the balance sheet date is likely to be greater or less than that suggested
by historical experience.

The period between a loss occurring and its identification is estimated by local management for each identified
portfolio.

Homogeneous groups of loans and advances

Statistical methods are used to determine impairment losses on a collective basis for homogeneous groups of
loans that are not considered individually significant, because individual loan assessment is impracticable.
Losses in these groups of loans are recorded on an individual basis when individual loans are written off, at
which point they are removed from the group. Two alternative methods are used to calculate allowances on a
collective basis:

—  When appropriate empirical information is available, HSBC utilises roll rate methodology. This
methodology employs statistical analyses of historical data and experience of delinquency and default to
estimate the amount of loans that will eventually be written off as a result of the events occurring before the
balance sheet date which HSBC is not able to identify on an individual loan basis, and that can be reliably
estimated. Under this methodology, loans are grouped into ranges according to the number of days past due
and statistical analysis is used to estimate the likelihood that loans in each range will progress through the
various stages of delinquency, and ultimately prove irrecoverable. Current economic conditions are also
evaluated when calculating the appropriate level of allowance required to cover inherent loss. The estimated
loss is the difference between the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate of the portfolio, and the carrying amount of the portfolio. In certain highly developed
markets, sophisticated models also take into account behavioural and account management trends as
revealed in, for example, bankruptcy and rescheduling statistics.

—  When the portfolio size is small or when information is insufficient or not reliable enough to adopt a roll rate
methodology, HSBC adopts a basic formulaic approach based on historical loss rate experience.

In normal circumstances, historical experience provides the most objective and relevant information from which
to assess inherent loss within each portfolio, though sometimes it provides less relevant information about the
inherent loss in a given portfolio at the balance sheet date, for example, when there have been changes in
economic, regulatory or behavioural conditions which result in the most recent trends in portfolio risk factors
being not fully reflected in the statistical models. In these circumstances, the risk factors are taken into account
by adjusting the impairment allowances derived solely from historical loss experience.

These additional portfolio risk factors may include recent loan portfolio growth and product mix, unemployment
rates, bankruptcy trends, geographic concentrations, loan product features (such as the ability of borrowers to
repay adjustable-rate loans where reset interest rates give rise to increases in interest charges), economic
conditions such as national and local trends in housing markets and interest rates, portfolio seasoning, account
management policies and practices, current levels of write-offs, changes in laws and regulations and other items
which can affect customer payment patterns on outstanding loans, such as natural disasters. These risk factors,
where relevant, are taken into account when calculating the appropriate level of impairment allowances by
adjusting the impairment allowances derived solely from historical loss experience.

Roll rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual
outcomes to ensure they remain appropriate.

Write-off of loans and advances

Loans (and the related impairment allowance accounts) are normally written off, either partially or in full, when
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Where loans are secured, this is generally after receipt of any proceeds
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

(h)

from the realisation of security. In circumstances where the net realisable value of any collateral has been
determined and there is no reasonable expectation of further recovery, write off may be earlier.

Reversals of impairment

If the amount of an impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period, and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the excess is written back by reducing the loan
impairment allowance account accordingly. The write-back is recognised in the income statement.

Reclassified loans and advances

Where financial assets have been reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category to the loans and
receivables category, the effective interest rate determined at the date of reclassification is used to calculate any
impairment losses.

Following reclassification, where there is a subsequent increase in the estimates of future cash receipts as a result
of increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is recognised as an adjustment to the
effective interest rate from the date of change in the estimate rather than as an adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset at the date of change in the estimate.

Assets acquired in exchange for loans

Non-financial assets acquired in exchange for loans as part of an orderly realisation are recorded as assets held
for sale and reported in ‘Other assets’ if the carrying amounts of the assets are recovered principally through
sale, the assets are available for sale in their present condition and their sale is highly probable. The asset
acquired is recorded at the lower of its fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan (net of
impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. No depreciation is charged in respect of assets held for sale. Any
subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to fair value less costs to sell is recognised in the income statement,
in ‘Other operating income’. Any subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, to the extent this does
not exceed the cumulative write-down, is also recognised in ‘Other operating income’, together with any realised
gains or losses on disposal.

Renegotiated loans

Loans subject to collective impairment assessment whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered
past due, but are treated as up to date loans for measurement purposes once the minimum number of payments
required under the new arrangements have been received. These renegotiated loans are segregated from other
parts of the loan portfolio for the purposes of collective impairment assessment, to reflect their risk profile.
Loans subject to individual impairment assessment, whose terms have been renegotiated, are subject to ongoing
review to determine whether they remain impaired or should be considered past due. The carrying amount of
loans that have been classified as renegotiated retain this classification until maturity or derecognition. Interest is
recorded on renegotiated loans taking into account the new contractual terms following renegotiation.

Trading assets and trading liabilities

Treasury bills, debt securities, equity securities, loans, deposits, debt securities in issue, and short positions in
securities are classified as held for trading if they have been acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term, or they form part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit-taking. These
financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised on trade date, when HSBC enters into contractual
arrangements with counterparties to purchase or sell the financial instruments, and are normally derecognised
when either sold (assets) or extinguished (liabilities). Measurement is initially at fair value, with transaction costs
taken to the income statement. Subsequently, the fair values are remeasured, and gains and losses from changes
therein are recognised in the income statement in ‘Net trading income’.
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(i)

Financial instruments designated at fair value

Financial instruments, other than those held for trading, are classified in this category if they meet one or more of
the criteria set out below, and are so designated by management. HSBC may designate financial instruments at
fair value when the designation:

— eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise arise
from measuring financial assets or financial liabilities, or recognising gains and losses on them, on different
bases. Under this criterion, the main classes of financial instruments designated by HSBC are:

Long-term debt issues. The interest payable on certain fixed rate long-term debt securities issued has been
matched with the interest on ‘receive fixed/pay variable’ interest rate swaps as part of a documented interest
rate risk management strategy. An accounting mismatch would arise if the debt securities issued were
accounted for at amortised cost, because the related derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
the fair value recognised in the income statement. By designating the long-term debt at fair value, the
movement in the fair value of the long-term debt will also be recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets and financial liabilities under investment contracts. Liabilities to customers under
linked contracts are determined based on the fair value of the assets held in the linked funds, with changes
recognised in the income statement. If no designation was made for the assets relating to the customer
liabilities they would be classified as available for sale and the changes in fair value would be recorded

in other comprehensive income. These financial instruments are managed on a fair value basis and
management information is also prepared on this basis. Designation at fair value of the financial assets
and liabilities under investment contracts allows the changes in fair values to be recorded in the income
statement and presented in the same line.

— applies to groups of financial assets, financial liabilities or combinations thereof that are managed, and their
performance evaluated, on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and where information about the groups of financial instruments is reported to
management on that basis. Under this criterion, certain financial assets held to meet liabilities under
insurance contracts are the main class of financial instrument so designated. HSBC has documented risk
management and investment strategies designed to manage such assets at fair value, taking into
consideration the relationship of assets to liabilities in a way that mitigates market risks. Reports are
provided to management on the fair value of the assets. Fair value measurement is also consistent with the
regulatory reporting requirements under the appropriate regulations for these insurance operations.

— relates to financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives that significantly modify the
cash flows resulting from those financial instruments, including certain debt issues and debt securities held.

The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable. Designated financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when HSBC enters into the contractual provisions of the arrangements with counterparties, which

is generally on trade date, and are normally derecognised when either sold (assets) or extinguished (liabilities).
Measurement is initially at fair value, with transaction costs taken to the income statement. Subsequently, the
fair values are remeasured, and gains and losses from changes therein are recognised in the income statement in
‘Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value’.

Financial investments

Treasury bills, debt securities and equity securities intended to be held on a continuing basis, other than those
designated at fair value, are classified as available for sale or held to maturity. Financial investments are
recognised on trade date when HSBC enters into contractual arrangements with counterparties to purchase
securities, and are normally derecognised when either the securities are sold or the borrowers repay their
obligations.

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus direct and incremental transaction
costs. They are subsequently remeasured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in other
comprehensive income in ‘Available-for-sale investments — fair value gains/(losses)’ until the financial
assets are either sold or become impaired. When available-for-sale financial assets are sold, cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised in the income statement
as ‘Gains less losses from financial investments’.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Interest income is recognised on available-for-sale debt securities using the effective interest rate, calculated
over the asset’s expected life. Premiums and/or discounts arising on the purchase of dated investment
securities are included in the calculation of their effective interest rates. Dividends are recognised in the
income statement when the right to receive payment has been established.

At each balance sheet date an assessment is made of whether there is any objective evidence of impairment
in the value of a financial asset. Impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset (a ‘loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset that can be reliably estimated.

If the available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the difference between the financial asset’s acquisition
cost (net of any principal repayments and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any previous
impairment loss recognised in the income statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses for available-for-sale debt securities are recognised within ‘Loan impairment charges and
other credit risk provisions’ in the income statement and impairment losses for available-for-sale equity
securities are recognised within ‘Gains less losses from financial investments’ in the income statement. The
impairment methodologies for available-for-sale financial assets are set out in more detail below.

— Available-for-sale debt securities. When assessing available-for-sale debt securities for objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date, HSBC considers all available evidence, including
observable data or information about events specifically relating to the securities which may result in a
shortfall in recovery of future cash flows. These events may include a significant financial difficulty of
the issuer, a breach of contract such as a default, bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, or the
disappearance of an active market for the debt security because of financial difficulties relating to the
issuer.

These types of specific event and other factors such as information about the issuers’ liquidity, business
and financial risk exposures, levels of and trends in default for similar financial assets, national and
local economic trends and conditions, and the fair value of collateral and guarantees may be considered
individually, or in combination, to determine if there is objective evidence of impairment of a debt
security.

In addition, when assessing available-for-sale asset-backed securities (‘ABS’s) for objective evidence of
impairment, HSBC considers the performance of underlying collateral and the extent and depth of
market price declines. Changes in credit ratings are considered but a downgrade of a security’s credit
rating is not, of itself, evidence of impairment. The primary indicators of potential impairment are
considered to be adverse fair value movements and the disappearance of an active market for a security.
ABS impairment methodologies are described in more detail in ‘Securitisation exposures and other
structured products’ on page 128.

— Available-for-sale equity securities. Objective evidence of impairment for available-for sale equity
securities may include specific information about the issuer as detailed above, but may also include
information about significant changes in technology, markets, economics or the law that provides
evidence that the cost of the equity securities may not be recovered.

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the asset below its cost is also objective evidence
of impairment. In assessing whether it is significant, the decline in fair value is evaluated against the
original cost of the asset at initial recognition. In assessing whether it is prolonged, the decline is
evaluated against the period in which the fair value of the asset has been below its original cost at initial
recognition.

Once an impairment loss has been recognised on an available-for-sale financial asset, the subsequent
accounting treatment for changes in the fair value of that asset differs depending on the nature of the
available-for-sale financial asset concerned:

—  for an available-for-sale debt security, a subsequent decline in the fair value of the instrument is
recognised in the income statement when there is further objective evidence of impairment as a result
of further decreases in the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset. Where there is no further
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(k)

(1)

objective evidence of impairment, the decline in the fair value of the financial asset is recognised in
other comprehensive income. If the fair value of a debt security increases in a subsequent period, and
the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement to the extent of the
increase in fair value;

— for an available-for-sale equity security, all subsequent increases in the fair value of the instrument are
treated as a revaluation and are recognised in other comprehensive income. Impairment losses
recognised on the equity security are not reversed through the income statement. Subsequent decreases
in the fair value of the available-for-sale equity security are recognised in the income statement, to the
extent that further cumulative impairment losses have been incurred in relation to the acquisition cost of
the equity security.

(i) Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that HSBC positively intends, and is able, to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments
are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses.

Sale and repurchase agreements (including stock lending and borrowing)

When securities are sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them at a predetermined price (‘repos’), they
remain on the balance sheet and a liability is recorded in respect of the consideration received. Securities
purchased under commitments to sell (‘reverse repos’) are not recognised on the balance sheet and the
consideration paid is recorded in ‘Loans and advances to banks’ or ‘Loans and advances to customers’ as
appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and recognised over the
life of the agreement.

Securities lending and borrowing transactions are generally secured, with collateral taking the form of securities
or cash advanced or received. The transfer of securities to counterparties under these agreements is not normally
reflected on the balance sheet. Cash collateral advanced or received is recorded as an asset or a liability
respectively.

Securities borrowed are not recognised on the balance sheet. If they are sold on to third parties, an obligation to
return the securities is recorded as a trading liability and measured at fair value, and any gains or losses are
included in ‘Net trading income’.

Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives are recognised initially, and are subsequently remeasured, at fair value. Fair values of exchange-
traded derivatives are obtained from quoted market prices. Fair values of over-the-counter derivatives are
obtained using valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models and option pricing models.

Derivatives may be embedded in other financial instruments, for example, a convertible bond with an embedded
conversion option. Embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics
and risks are not clearly and closely related to those of the host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative
would meet the definition of a stand-alone derivative if they were contained in a separate contract; and the
combined contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes therein recognised in the income statement.

Derivatives are classified as assets when their fair value is positive, or as liabilities when their fair value is
negative. Derivative assets and liabilities arising from different transactions are only offset if the transactions are
with the same counterparty, a legal right of offset exists, and the parties intend to settle the cash flows on a net
basis.

The method of recognising fair value gains and losses depends on whether derivatives are held for trading or are
designated as hedging instruments, and if the latter, the nature of the risks being hedged. All gains and losses
from changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the income statement. When
derivatives are designated as hedges, HSBC classifies them as either: (i) hedges of the change in fair value of
recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (‘fair value hedges’); (ii) hedges of the variability in highly
probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability, or a forecast transaction (‘cash flow
hedges”); or (iii) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation (‘net investment hedges’). Hedge accounting
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

is applied to derivatives designated as hedging instruments in a fair value, cash flow or net investment hedge
provided certain criteria are met.

Hedge accounting

At the inception of a hedging relationship, HSBC documents the relationship between the hedging instruments
and the hedged items, its risk management objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge. HSBC also
requires a documented assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether or not the
hedging instruments, primarily derivatives, that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
the changes attributable to the hedged risks in the fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. Interest on
designated qualifying hedges is included in ‘Net interest income’.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedging instruments are
recorded in the income statement, along with changes in the fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities or group
thereof that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If a hedging relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised to the income statement based on a recalculated effective
interest rate over the residual period to maturity, unless the hedged item has been derecognised, in which case,
it is released to the income statement immediately.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income within ‘Cash flow hedges — fair value gains/(losses)’. Any
gain or loss in fair value relating to an ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

The accumulated gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income
statement in the periods in which the hedged item will affect profit or loss. However, when the forecast
transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains
and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are removed from equity and included in the
initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income at that time remains in equity until the
forecast transaction is eventually recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
immediately reclassified to the income statement.

Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges. A gain
or loss on the effective portion of the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income; a gain or
loss on the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Gains and losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income statement on the disposal of the foreign
operation.

Hedge effectiveness testing

To qualify for hedge accounting, HSBC requires that at the inception of the hedge and throughout its life, each
hedge must be expected to be highly effective (prospective effectiveness), and demonstrate actual effectiveness
(retrospective effectiveness) on an ongoing basis.

The documentation of each hedging relationship sets out how the effectiveness of the hedge is assessed. The
method adopted by an entity to assess hedge effectiveness will depend on its risk management strategy.

For prospective effectiveness, the hedging instrument must be expected to be highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is
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designated. For actual effectiveness to be achieved, the changes in fair value or cash flows must offset each
other in the range of 80% to 125%.

Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in the income statement in ‘Net trading income’.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

All gains and losses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in the income statement. These gains and losses are reported in ‘Net trading income’,
except where derivatives are managed in conjunction with financial instruments designated at fair value (other
than derivatives managed in conjunction with debt securities issued by the Group), in which case gains and
losses are reported in ‘Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value’. The interest on
derivatives managed in conjunction with debt securities issued by the Group which are designated at fair value
is recognised in ‘Interest expense’. All other gains and losses on these derivatives are reported in ‘Net income
from financial instruments designated at fair value’.

(m) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

(n)

(o)

(p)

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the assets has expired; or
when HSBC has transferred its contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets, and either:

— substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred; or

— HSBC has neither retained nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, but has not retained
control.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged,
cancelled, or expires.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

HSBC classifies investments in entities which it controls as subsidiaries. Where HSBC is a party to a contractual
arrangement whereby, together with one or more parties, it undertakes an economic activity that is subject to
joint control, HSBC classifies its interest in the venture as a joint venture. HSBC classifies investments in
entities over which it has significant influence, and that are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures, as associates.
For the purpose of determining this classification, control is considered to be the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

HSBC Holdings’ investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses. An impairment loss
recognised in prior periods shall be reversed through the income statement if, and only if, there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiary since the last
impairment loss was recognised.

Investments in associates and interests in joint ventures are recognised using the equity method. Under this
method, such investments are initially stated at cost, including attributable goodwill, and are adjusted thereafter
for the post-acquisition change in HSBC’s share of net assets.

Profits on transactions between HSBC and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
HSBC’s interest in the respective associates or joint ventures. Losses are also eliminated to the extent of HSBC’s
interest in the associates or joint ventures unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred.

Goodwill and intangible assets

(i) Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, when the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest and the fair value of any previously held equity
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

(ii)

interest in the acquiree exceed the amounts of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. If they do
not exceed the amounts of the identifiable assets and liabilities of an acquired business, the difference is
recognised immediately in the income statement. Goodwill arises on the acquisition of interests in joint
ventures and associates when the cost of investment exceeds HSBC’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s or joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities.

Intangible assets are recognised separately from goodwill when they are separable or arise from contractual
or other legal rights, and their fair value can be measured reliably.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing, which is undertaken

at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Impairment testing

is performed at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be
impaired, by comparing the recoverable amount from a cash-generating unit with the carrying amount of its
net assets, including attributable goodwill. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value
less cost to sell, and its value in use. Value in use is the present value of the expected future cash flows from
a cash-generating unit. If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is
charged to the income statement. Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill on acquisitions of interests in joint ventures and associates is included in ‘Interests in associates
and joint ventures’ and is not tested separately for impairment.

At the date of disposal of a business, attributable goodwill is included in HSBC’s share of net assets in the
calculation of the gain or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets include the present value of in-force long-term insurance business, computer software,
trade names, mortgage servicing rights, customer lists, core deposit relationships, credit card customer
relationships and merchant or other loan relationships. Computer software includes both purchased and
internally generated software. The cost of internally generated software comprises all directly attributable
costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the software to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Costs incurred in the ongoing maintenance of software are expensed immediately
as incurred.

Intangible assets are subject to impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstances that
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where:

— intangible assets have an indefinite useful life, or are not yet ready for use, they are tested for
impairment annually. This impairment test may be performed at any time during the year, provided it is
performed at the same time every year. An intangible asset recognised during the current period is
tested before the end of the current year; and

— intangible assets have a finite useful life, except for the present value of in-force long-term insurance
business, they are stated at cost less amortisation and accumulated impairment losses and are amortised
over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful life is the lower of legal duration and expected useful
life. The amortisation of mortgage servicing rights is included within ‘Net fee income’.

For the accounting policy governing the present value of in-force long-term insurance business (see
Note 2y).

(iii) Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised, generally on a straight-line basis, over their useful

lives as follows:

TTAAC NAMES ..ttt ettt ettt sttt b et bttt e 10 years

Mortgage servicing rights ... ... generally between 5 and 12 years
Internally generated SOTEWATE .......cc.ceviiiiiiiiriiiieieiet ettt between 3 and 5 years

PUrchased SOTIWALE .......c.couvieieueiiiirieiei ettt between 3 and 5 years
Customer/merchant relationNSNIPS .......cccoveieveieeieeieeeeretee et between 3 and 10 years

ORET <.ttt ettt b e bttt e h bbbt b et et b et be e generally 10 years
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(q) Property, plant and equipment

(s)

Land and buildings are stated at historical cost, or fair value at the date of transition to IFRSs (‘deemed cost’),
less any impairment losses and depreciation calculated to write-off the assets over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

—  freehold land is not depreciated;

—  freehold buildings are depreciated at the greater of 2% per annum on a straight-line basis or over their
remaining useful lives; and

— leasehold buildings are depreciated over the shorter of their unexpired terms of the leases or their remaining
useful lives.

Equipment, fixtures and fittings (including equipment on operating leases where HSBC is the lessor) are stated
at cost less any impairment losses and depreciation calculated on a straight-line basis to write-off the assets over
their useful lives, which run to a maximum of 35 years but are generally between 5 years and 20 years.

Property, plant and equipment is subject to an impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstances
which indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

HSBC holds certain properties as investments to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment
properties are included in the balance sheet at fair value with changes therein recognised in the income statement
in the period of change. Fair values are determined by independent professional valuers who apply recognised
valuation techniques.

Finance and operating leases

Agreements which transfer to counterparties substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
assets, but not necessarily legal title, are classified as finance leases. When HSBC is a lessor under finance leases
the amounts due under the leases, after deduction of unearned charges, are included in ‘Loans and advances to
banks’ or ‘Loans and advances to customers’, as appropriate. The finance income receivable is recognised in
‘Net interest income’ over the periods of the leases so as to give a constant rate of return on the net investment

in the leases.

When HSBC is a lessee under finance leases, the leased assets are capitalised and included in ‘Property, plant
and equipment’ and the corresponding liability to the lessor is included in ‘Other liabilities’. A finance lease and
its corresponding liability are recognised initially at the fair value of the asset or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Finance charges payable are recognised in ‘Net interest income’ over the period of
the lease based on the interest rate implicit in the lease so as to give a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.

All other leases are classified as operating leases. When acting as lessor, HSBC includes the assets subject to
operating leases in ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and accounts for them accordingly. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that residual values are not fully recoverable and the carrying value of the assets is
thereby impaired. When HSBC is the lessee, leased assets are not recognised on the balance sheet. Rentals
payable and receivable under operating leases are accounted for on a straight-line basis over the periods of the
leases and are included in ‘General and administrative expenses’ and ‘Other operating income’, respectively.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it
is recognised in the same statement in which the related item appears.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on the taxable profit for the year, calculated using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when HSBC intends to settle on a net basis and the legal right
to offset exists.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
balance sheet and the amounts attributed to such assets and liabilities for tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
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()

(u)

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates expected to apply in the periods in which the assets will be realised
or the liabilities settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted, or substantively enacted, by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise in the same tax reporting group and relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority, and when HSBC has a legal right to offset.

Deferred tax relating to actuarial gains and losses on post-employment benefits is recognised in other
comprehensive income. Deferred tax relating to share-based payment transactions is recognised directly in
equity to the extent that the amount of the estimated future tax deduction exceeds the amount of the related
cumulative remuneration expense. Deferred tax relating to fair value re-measurements of available-for-sale
investments and cash flow hedging instruments which are charged or credited directly to other comprehensive
income, is also charged or credited to other comprehensive income and is subsequently recognised in the income
statement when the deferred fair value gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.

Pension and other post-employment benefits

HSBC operates a number of pension and other post-employment benefit plans throughout the world. These plans
include both defined benefit and defined contribution plans and various other post-employment benefits such as
post-employment healthcare.

Payments to defined contribution plans and state-managed retirement benefit plans, where HSBC’s obligations
under the plans are equivalent to a defined contribution plan, are charged as an expense as they fall due.

The defined benefit pension costs and the present value of defined benefit obligations are calculated at the
reporting date by the schemes’ actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The net charge to the income
statement mainly comprises the current service cost, plus the unwinding of the discount rate on plan liabilities,
less the expected return on plan assets, and is presented in operating expenses. Past service costs are charged
immediately to the income statement to the extent that the benefits have vested, and are otherwise recognised
on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits vest. Actuarial gains and losses comprise
experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has
actually occurred), as well as the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. Actuarial gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

The defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of defined benefit
obligations adjusted for unrecognised past service costs and reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any net
defined benefit surplus is limited to unrecognised past service costs plus the present value of available refunds
and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The cost of obligations arising from other post-employment defined benefit plans, such as defined benefit health-
care plans, are accounted for on the same basis as defined benefit pension plans.

Share-based payments

The cost of share-based payment arrangements with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
equity instruments on the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding credit to the ‘Share-based payment reserve’. The vesting period is the
period during which all the specified vesting conditions of a share-based payment arrangement are to be
satisfied. The fair value of equity instruments that are made available immediately, with no vesting period
attached to the award, are expensed immediately.

Fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation models, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the equity instruments were granted. Vesting conditions include service conditions and performance
conditions; any other features of a share-based payment arrangement are non-vesting conditions. Market
performance conditions and non-vesting conditions are taken into account when estimating the fair value of
equity instruments at the date of grant, so that an award is treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market
performance condition or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided all other vesting conditions are satisfied.

Vesting conditions, other than market performance conditions, are not taken into account in the initial estimate
of the fair value at the grant date. They are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments
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(v)

included in the measurement of the transaction, so that the amount recognised for services received as
consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that
eventually vest. On a cumulative basis, no expense is recognised for equity instruments that do not vest because
of a failure to satisfy non-market performance or service conditions.

Where an award has been modified, as a minimum, the expense of the original award continues to be recognised
as if it had not been modified. Where the effect of a modification is to increase the fair value of an award or
increase the number of equity instruments, the incremental fair value of the award or incremental fair value of
the extra equity instruments is recognised in addition to the expense of the original grant, measured at the date of
modification, over the modified vesting period.

A cancellation that occurs during the vesting period is treated as an acceleration of vesting, and recognised
immediately for the amount that would otherwise have been recognised for services over the vesting period.

Where HSBC Holdings enters into share-based payment arrangements involving employees of subsidiaries,

the cost is recognised in ‘Investment in subsidiaries’ and credited to the ‘Share-based payment reserve’ over
the vesting period. Where a subsidiary funds the share-based payment arrangement, ‘Investment in subsidiaries’
is reduced by the fair value of equity instruments.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of HSBC’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). HSBC’s consolidated
financial statements are presented in US dollars which is also HSBC Holdings’ functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency at the rate of exchange prevailing on
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Any resulting exchange
differences are included in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency using the rate of exchange at the
date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated into the functional currency using the rate of exchange at the date the fair value was determined. Any
exchange component of a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income if
the gain or loss on the non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income. Any exchange
component of a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in the income statement if the gain or loss

on the non-monetary item is recognised in the income statement.

In the consolidated financial statements, the assets, including related goodwill where applicable, and liabilities of
branches, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates whose functional currency is not US dollars, are translated
into the Group’s presentation currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The results of
branches, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates whose functional currency is not US dollars are translated
into US dollars at the average rates of exchange for the reporting period. Exchange differences arising from the
retranslation of opening foreign currency net assets, and exchange differences arising from retranslation of the
result for the reporting period from the average rate to the exchange rate prevailing at the period end, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Exchange differences on a monetary item that is part of a net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised in the income statement of the separate financial statements.
In consolidated financial statements these exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, exchange differences relating thereto and previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are recognised in the income statement.

(w) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a
current legal or constructive obligation, which has arisen as a result of past events, and for which a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guarantees and letters of credit pledged as collateral security, are
possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence, or
non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of HSBC; or are present
obligations that have arisen from past events but are not recognised because it is not probable that settlement will
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(x)

(y)

require the outflow of economic benefits, or because the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably measured.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the probability of
settlement is remote.

Financial guarantee contracts

Liabilities under financial guarantee contracts which are not classified as insurance contracts are recorded
initially at their fair value, which is generally the fee received or receivable. Subsequently, financial guarantee
liabilities are measured at the higher of the initial fair value, less cumulative amortisation, and the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the obligations.

HSBC Holdings has issued financial guarantees and similar contracts to other Group entities. Where it has
previously asserted explicitly that it regards such contracts as insurance contracts and has used accounting
applicable to insurance contracts, HSBC may elect to account for guarantees as an insurance contract. This
election is made on a contract by contract basis, but the election for each contract is irrevocable. Where these
guarantees have been classified as insurance contracts, they are measured and recognised as insurance liabilities.

Insurance contracts

Through its insurance subsidiaries, HSBC issues contracts to customers that contain insurance risk, financial risk
or a combination thereof. A contract under which HSBC accepts significant insurance risk from another party by
agreeing to compensate that party on the occurrence of a specified uncertain future event, is classified as an
insurance contract. An insurance contract may also transfer financial risk, but is accounted for as an insurance
contract if the insurance risk is significant.

While investment contracts with discretionary participation features are financial instruments, they continue to
be treated as insurance contracts as permitted by IFRS 4.

Insurance contracts are accounted for as follows:

Premiums

Gross insurance premiums for non-life insurance business are reported as income over the term of the insurance
contracts based on the proportion of risks borne during the accounting period. The unearned premium (the
proportion of the business underwritten in the accounting year relating to the period of risk after the balance
sheet date) is calculated on a daily or monthly pro rata basis.

Premiums for life insurance contracts are accounted for when receivable, except in unit-linked insurance
contracts where premiums are accounted for when liabilities are established.

Reinsurance premiums are accounted for in the same accounting period as the premiums for the direct insurance
contracts to which they relate.
Claims and reinsurance recoveries

Gross insurance claims for non-life insurance contracts include paid claims and movements in outstanding
claims liabilities.

Gross insurance claims for life insurance contracts reflect the total cost of claims arising during the year,
including claim handling costs and any policyholder bonuses allocated in anticipation of a bonus declaration.
Claims arising during the year include maturities, surrenders and death claims.

Maturity claims are recognised when due for payment. Surrenders are recognised when paid or at an earlier date
on which, following notification, the policy ceases to be included within the calculation of the related insurance
liabilities. Death claims are recognised when notified.

Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the related claim.

Liabilities under insurance contracts

Outstanding claims liabilities for non-life insurance contracts are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all
claims incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date, whether reported or not, together with related claim-
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handling costs and a reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. Liabilities for claims
incurred but not reported are made on an estimated basis, using appropriate statistical techniques.

Liabilities under non-linked life insurance contracts are calculated by each life insurance operation based on
local actuarial principles.

Liabilities under unit-linked life insurance contracts are at least equivalent to the surrender or transfer value
which is calculated by reference to the value of the relevant underlying funds or indices.

A liability adequacy test is carried out on insurance liabilities to ensure that the carrying amount of the liabilities
is sufficient in the light of current estimates of future cash flows. When performing the liability adequacy test, all
contractual cash flows are discounted and compared with the carrying value of the liability. When a shortfall is
identified it is charged immediately to the income statement.

Present value of in-force long-term insurance business

The value placed on insurance contracts that are classified as long-term insurance business or long-term
investment contracts with discretionary participating features (‘DPF’) and are in force at the balance sheet date is
recognised as an asset. The asset represents the present value of the equity holders’ interest in the profits
expected to emerge from these contracts written at the balance sheet date.

The present value of in-force long-term insurance business and long-term investment contracts with DPF,
referred to as ‘PVIF’, is determined by discounting the equity holders’ interest in future profits expected to
emerge from business currently in force using appropriate assumptions in assessing factors such as future
mortality, lapse rates and levels of expenses and a risk discount rate that reflects the risk premium attributable to
the respective contracts. The PVIF incorporates allowances for both non-market risk and the value of financial
options and guarantees. The PVIF asset is presented gross of attributable tax in the balance sheet and movements
in the PVIF asset are included in ‘Other operating income’ on a gross of tax basis.

Future profit participation

Where contracts provide discretionary profit participation benefits to policyholders, liabilities for these contracts
include provisions for the future discretionary benefits to policyholders. These provisions reflect actual
performance of the investment portfolio to date and management expectation on the future performance in
connection with the assets backing the contracts, as well as other experience factors such as mortality, lapses
and operational efficiency, where appropriate. This benefit may arise from the contractual terms, regulation, or
past distribution policy.

In the case of net unrealised investment gains on contracts whose discretionary benefits principally reflect the
actual performance of the investment portfolio, the corresponding increase in the liabilities is recognised in
either the income statement or other comprehensive income, following the treatment of the unrealised gains on
the relevant assets. In the case of net unrealised losses, a deferred participating asset is recognised only to the
extent that its recoverability is highly probable. Movements in the liabilities arising from realised gains and
losses on relevant assets are recognised in the income statement.

Investment contracts

Customer liabilities under linked and certain non-linked investment contracts and the corresponding financial
assets are designated at fair value. Movements in fair value are recognised in ‘Net income from financial
investments designated at fair value’. Premiums receivable and amounts withdrawn are accounted for as
increases or decreases in the liability recorded in respect of investment contracts.

Liabilities under linked investment contracts are at least equivalent to the surrender or transfer value which is
calculated by reference to the value of the relevant underlying funds or indices.

Investment management fees receivable are recognised in the income statement over the period of the provision
of the investment management services, in ‘Net fee income’.

The incremental costs directly related to the acquisition of new investment contracts or renewing existing
investment contracts are deferred and amortised over the period during which the investment management
services are provided.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

2 - Summary of significant accounting policies / 3 — Net income from financial instruments at fair value

(z) Debt securities issued and deposits by customers and banks

(aa)

(ab)

(ac)

Financial liabilities are recognised when HSBC enters into the contractual provisions of the arrangements with
counterparties, which is generally on trade date, and initially measured at fair value, which is normally the
consideration received, net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred. Subsequent measurement of
financial liabilities, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantees, is

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method to amortise the difference between proceeds received, net
of directly attributable transaction costs incurred, and the redemption amount over the expected life of the
instrument.

Share capital

Shares are classified as equity when there is no contractual obligation to transfer cash or other financial assets.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from
the proceeds, net of tax.

HSBC Holdings plc shares held by HSBC are recognised in equity as a deduction from retained earnings until
they are cancelled. When such shares are subsequently sold, reissued or otherwise disposed of, any consideration
received is included in equity, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income
tax effects.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Such investments are normally those with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition,
and include cash and balances at central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, loans and advances to
banks, items in the course of collection from or in transmission to other banks, and certificates of deposit.

Rights issues

Rights issues to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount of any
currency are equity instruments if the entity offers the rights issues pro rata to all of its existing owners of the
same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments. On initial recognition, these rights are recognised in
shareholders’ equity and are not subsequently re-measured during the offer period. Following the exercise of
the rights and the allotment of new shares, the cash proceeds of the rights issue are recognised in shareholders’
equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the rights issue are shown as a deduction from the proceeds,
net of tax.
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Net income/(expense) from financial instruments designated at fair value

Net income/(expense) from financial instruments designated at fair value includes:

e all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value,

including liabilities under investment contracts; _a%
S
e all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction with financial g
assets and liabilities designated at fair value; and o
e interest income, interest expense and dividend income in respect of:
— financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value; and
— derivatives managed in conjunction with the above, 5
. .. . .. .. . . . . )
except for interest arising from HSBC’s issued debt securities and derivatives managed in conjunction with those S
- L. . . )
debt securities, which is recognised in ‘Interest expense’. o
s
o ~ . . . . ©
Net income/(expense) from financial instruments designated at fair value =
c
HSBC i
]
2010 2009 2008 2}
USSm US$m USsm =
Net income/(expense) arising on: g
— financial assets held to meet liabilities under insurance and investment o
COEEACES rvvrrreeeeeese e eeseeeeeeee s eee s ees e eees s ee e eese e eees e 2,349 3,793 (5,064) o
— other financial assets designated at fair value ...........ccccceoevnveeinnneccinneecne 230 2 1,738
— derivatives managed in conjunction with other financial assets
designated at fair VAIUE .........occcecivirieiiieiiieccee e (149) (249) 77
2,430 3,546 (3,249)
)
— liabilities to customers under investment CONtTACES .........ceceueuereruruereueerurueueuenennns (946) (1,329) 1,751 =
— HSBC’s long-term debt issued and related derivatives ..........cccoceeveveeenccnieennne (258) (6,247) 6,679 g
— changes in own credit spread on long-term debt ...........cccoevvireeinnnnceencnes (63) (6,533) 6,570 o)
— derivatives managed in conjunction with HSBC’s issued debt securities ........ (275) (1,726) 4,413 8
— other changes in fair Value ..........cccocoiriiiieinecee e 80 2,012 (4,304) o
— other financial liabilities designated at fair value (18) 492 (1,368)
— derivatives managed in conjunction with other financial liabilities
designated at fair VAIUE ........cocoevivieirieirieieieicieceeeeee e 12 7 39
(1,210) (7,077) 7,101
1,220 (3,531) 3,852
o
c
HSBC Holdings g
2010 2009 2008 £
US$m US$m US$m &
Net income/(expense) arising on HSBC Holdings long-term debt issued and =
related derivatives g
— changes in own credit spread on long-term debt ...........cccoevirevireieenieeneene 248 (2,612) 2,262 ©
— derivatives managed in conjunction with HSBC Holdings issued uE_
AEDE SECUTTEIES ...vnvviniiinietiiet ettt ettt b e (482) (352) 688
— other changes in fair Value ..........cocoeeverininiieeiinccreee e 373 201 37
139 (2,763) 2,987

=
o
=
©
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=
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S
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

4 — Net earned insurance premiums / 5 — Net insurance claims incurred / 6 — Net operating income

4 Net earned insurance premiums

Life Life Investment
Non-life insurance insurance contracts
insurance  (non-linked) (linked) with DPF' Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
2010
Gross earned Premiums .....c..ccooeeeeeeeererieerieereneeeeneenes 1,275 5,427 1,956 2,951 11,609
— gross written premiums ........... 1,192 5,357 1,956 2,951 11,456
— movement in unearned premiums ............coceeveneeee. 83 70 - — 153
Reinsurers’ share of gross earned premiums ................ (160) (289) (14) — (463)
— gross written premiums ceded to reinsurers (172) (266) ® - (446)
— reinsurers’ share of movement in unearned
PIEMUIUINS .eeovenieenienereenieeeneeteneereeeieseeneseeneeseneeseene 12 23) 6) - a7
1,115 5,138 1,942 2,951 11,146
2009
Gross earned Premiums ........ccoeeeeeeeeeerenierereeereneeeneenes 1,572 5,218 1,427 2,774 10,991
— Eross WIItteN Premitums ......c.eceeveeerveerrereeereerennenes 1,339 5,285 1,427 2,774 10,825
— movement in unearned Premivums ...........c.coveeuenene 233 (67) — — 166
Reinsurers’ share of gross earned premiums ................ (225) (278) 17 - (520)
— gross written premiums ceded to reinsurers .......... (215) (280) a1 - (506)
— reinsurers’ share of movement in unearned
PIEMIUINS .evevievinienirierieteseeiesieteeeteseeseeseseesesaesennns (10) 2 6) — (14)
1,347 4,940 1,410 2,774 10,471
2008
Gross earned Premiums ........ccoeeeeerevererveesiereseneereneenes 1,834 6,086 1,825 2,802 12,547
— Eross WIItteN Premitums ........eceevereereeerereeernenennenes 1,776 6,257 1,825 2,802 12,660
— movement in unearned Premiums ............coeeeeeee. 58 (171) - — (113)
Reinsurers’ share of gross earned premiums ................ (263) (851) (583) - (1,697)
— gross written premiums ceded to reinsurers .......... (260) (878) (564) - (1,702)
— reinsurers’ share of movement in unearned
PIEIMIUINS .ottt nes 3) 27 (19) — 5
1,571 5,235 1,242 2,802 10,850
1 Discretionary participation features.
5 Net insurance claims incurred and movement in liabilities to policyholders
Life Life Investment
Non-life insurance insurance contracts
insurance  (non-linked) (linked) with DPF' Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
2010
Gross claims incurred and movement in liabilities ........... 625 5,108 2,520 3,716 11,969
— claims, benefits and surrenders paid ..................... 815 1,355 507 2,023 4,700
— movement in liabilities ...........ccoceovvevrervireeene. (190) 3,753 2,013 1,693 7,269
Reinsurers’ share of claims incurred and
movement in labilities .........cccocevevirevrrerieerieeene (100) (201) 99 — (202)
— claims, benefits and surrenders paid ..................... (114) (143) 45) - 302)
—movement in labilities ..........cccoceverveevieciriieiennn. 14 (58) 144 — 100
525 4,907 2,619 3,716 11,767
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Life Life Investment

Non-life insurance insurance contracts
insurance  (non-linked) (linked) with DPF! Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
2009 2
Gross claims incurred and movement in liabilities ........... 1,281 4,669 2,676 3,934 12,560 o
— claims, benefits and surrenders paid ......... . 987 2,098 325 1,818 5,228 b
— movement in liabilities ..........ccoceveverevereniiecnne 294 2,571 2,351 2,116 7,332 q>)
Reinsurers’ share of claims incurred and ©
movement in liabilities ........c.cocvvevirevrrerireieeenen (158) (98) 146 — (110)
— claims, benefits and surrenders paid .. . (156) (159) (21) - (336)
—movement in labilities .........ccccoceevirveeveerierieienne. 2) 61 167 - 226
1,123 4,571 2,822 3,934 12,450 2
.2
2008 &
Gross claims incurred and movement in liabilities ........... 1,044 5,480 939 1,743 9,206 E
— claims, benefits and surrenders paid ..................... 1,044 1,491 481 1,911 4,927 .g
— movement in liabilities ...........ccceveveveverenirecnne — 3,989 458 (168) 4,279 g
Reinsurers’ share of claims incurred and ,_%
movement in liabilities .........c.cocevevieerecenerireenene (83) (792) (1,442) — (2,317) S
— claims, benefits and surrenders paid .. . (158) (172) (44) - (374) g)
— movement in liabilities ..........ccoceovvenrvenniinecnnne. 75 (620) (1,398) - (1,943) -%
961 4,688 (503) 1,743 6,389 gl
1 Discretionary participation features.
Net operating income
Net operating income is stated after the following items of income, expense, gains and losses: ®
c
2010 2009 2008 g
US$m US$m US$m o
Income 5
Interest recognised on impaired financial aSSEts ...........cccovveuereererreeiecrenniereeeenn 516 941 1,040 O
Fees earned on financial assets or liabilities not held for trading nor designated
at fair value, other than fees included in effective interest rate calculations on
these types of assets and Habilities ..........coeeueeerernirieecinnniecccreccccennes 11,445 12,310 14,511
Fees earned on trust and other fiduciary activities where HSBC holds
or invests assets on behalf of its CUSTOMETS ...........cceeviieiiiiieiieieeieee e 3,074 2,735 3,314
Income from listed investments ..................... . 7,418 9,201 11,425
Income from unlisted investments 7,187 7,085 11,359 »
Losses from the fraud at Bernard L Madoff Investment Securities LLC c
(within net trading INCOME) .....ccvvverieuirieiirietirieriee ettt - (72) (984) g
Gain arising from dilution of interests in asSOCIALES ........coceverererereererercrireeiereerrieenes 188 - - 9
@©
Expense N
Interest on financial instruments, excluding interest on financial liabilities ©
held for trading or designated at fair VAIUE ...........ccccoooorooororosrorooeoeeeeeeeeeeseeeeoeeeeennns (17,549) (19,737) (45,525) S
Fees payable on financial assets or liabilities not held for trading nor designated g
at fair value, other than fees included in effective interest rate calculations on iC
these types of assets and Habilities ..........coeeueoerernireieiinnniecccreccc e (1,529) (1,580) (1,866)
Fees payable relating to trust and other fiduciary activities where
HSBC holds or invests assets on behalf of its CUStOMETS .........ccceevverieinicenicinnene (151) (116) (159)
Gains/(losses) =
Gain on disposal or settlement of loans and advances ...........coeeeeererneerecncnnennenes 121 244 94 o
Impairment of available-for-sale equity SECUIITIES ......ccovvevrrereererieerieerieiseeeeeeeenes (105) (358) (1,042) ©
Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and §
NoN-financial INVESIMENTS ........c.evveerueiiieirieieieiei ettt 639 457 465 2
Gain on sale/repurchase of properties 250 576 416 %
Loan impairment charges and other credit risk provisions ................c...c......... (14,039) (26,488) (24,937) ﬁ
Net impairment charge on loans and advances .............ccceeeverieeieenieerieesieeen (13,548) (24,942) (24,131) g
Impairment of available-for-sale debt SECUTILIES .........cccevererurueueerinirieeciccereennes (472) (1,474) (737) &
Impairment in respect of other credit risk provisions ..........c.cccceeeeverrenesencennene 19 (72) (69) %
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

7 - Employee compensation and benefits

7 Employee compensation and benefits

2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Wages and SAIATIES .........evvveueeiiieteieieriee ettt ettt st ss et ns 17,193 16,268 18,169
Social security costs ....... . 1,567 1,512 1,625
Post-employment DENETItS ........coveueueiiriniririeiiiiiece e 1,076 688 998
19,836 18,468 20,792
Average number of persons employed by HSBC during the year
2010 2009 2008
EUTOPE ..ot e 79,902 84,056 87,864
HONZ KON ettt 29,105 28,894 30,030
Rest Of ASIA-PACITIC ..eovveiiiiieiieiicieceee ettt re e 89,737 88,122 87,954
MIAAIE EASt ...ttt 8,983 8,468 8,201
NOIth AMETICA ...ttt 36,822 42,202 53,090
Latin AIMETICA ...ooovviieiiieiiceee e e e e et e e eeae e e eaeeneeeneeanns 57,778 57,774 64,319
TOTAL oot 302,327 309,516 331,458
Post-employment benefit plans
Income statement charge
2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Defined benefit pension plans ...........cccccccceveuceinnieieciinneeeere e 468 161 477
— HSBC Bank (UK) Pension SCheme ..........cccceeeuiniiiineinieinieiniceeceeeeneeen 308 (179) 255
— OhEr PLANS ...eeuiiieicieiecte ettt 160 340 222
Defined contribution pension plans ...........ccceovrreeoinnineeeninneeeeereieeeees 545 492 498
1,013 653 975
Defined benefit healthcare plans ............cococveivieiieiineiiieeeee e 58 31 13
Defined contribution healthcare plans 5 4 10
1,076 688 998

Net assets/(liabilities) recognised on balance sheet in respect of defined benefit plans

2010 2009

US$m US$m
Defined benefit PensSion PIANS ......c.cceoiiiriririeiriee ettt ettt (2,867) (6,147)
HSBC Bank (UK) Pension SChemE ..........cccoeiieirieiiiiiiiiieieieere ettt (622) (3,822)

— faIr ValUue OF PIAN @SSELS .....covrveveueiieiiieieici ettt 22,236 17,701
— present value of defined benefit ObIAtIONS ..........covveueriririeirieieeeeeeee s (22,858) (21,523)
Other plans ........cccceveveeene (2,245) (2,325)

— fair value of plan assets .........c.cccccccceeenee 7,559 6,822
— present value of defined benefit obligations ... (9,785) (9,109)
— effect of limit on plan surpluses ............... 7) 47)

— UNTECOZNISEA PASE SETVICE COSL 1uvuviureririeririenietesietesietestetestesesteseeseseeseseeseseesessesessesensesesseseaseneesensesen 28 9
Defined benefit healthcare plans . (946) (820)

— fair value of plan assets .........c.cccccccceenee 165 142
— present value of defined benefit obligations ... (1,087) (937)
— UNTECOZNISEA PASE SEIVICE COST .evuviuruiirririirirteteteueirtstetetesett et besesee st et be sttt bbbt sesbebebenesenas (24) (25)

Fair value of Plan @SSETS .......e.eueiriririeuiiiiiieietei ettt ettt ettt bttt sttt 29,960 24,665
Present value of defined benefit obligations . (33,730) (31,569)
Effect of limit on plan surpluses ................ 47) (47)
UNrecognised PASE SETVICE COSE ....euvuiriiuirieirtiietiieteetettetestste sttt ettt es et b et sese e bbbt et s bt sbe e s e enen 4 (16)
(3,813) (6,967)
Retirement benefit HaDIlItIES ........cooeueiriririeiiiiiiirireicttnr ettt (3,856) (6,967)

Retirement DENETIt ASSELS .......c.erieuirieirieirieieie ettt ettt sttt b et e s e eneesesentenene 43 -
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Cumulative actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive income

2010 2009

US$m US$m

AL T JANUATY <ottt bbbttt bbbt ettt b ettt ettt e (4,660) (1,074)
HSBC Bank (UK) Pension SCREME ..........ceeueiiiiiiiiieiiieiiieteieesie ettt 321 (3,692)

ONET PLANS ...ttt ettt b et b et s et eb bbb bt a et sa et et ettt ebe e ene (275) 179
HEAINCATE PLANS ....veeiieiiieiici ettt ettt ettt 112) (36)
Change in the effect of limit on plan SUIPIUSES' ..........o.oveivveveeeeieeeieeie e 6 37
Total actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive iNCOME .........cceveverveerieenieinieieieieeeeeeeen (60) (3,586)
AL 31 DECCIMDEI ... e ee s e e e s ees s se s ees s esesseee e easeeesen (4,720) (4,660)

1 Excludes exchange differences of US$6m (2009: US$1m).
2 Includes cumulative movements related to the limit on plan surpluses. This limit is US$47m at 31 December 2010 (2009: US$47m).

HSBC pension plans

2010 2009 2008
Number of plans WOrldWIde ..........ccooeirieiiiriiiieieeeee s 218 211 205
% % %

Percentage of HSBC employees:
— enrolled in defined contribution Plans ...........cccccceeireenernenneneeneeeeene 63 59 50
—enrolled in defined benefit plans .........c.cocoveeevinnreiinncceece e 27 29 36
— covered by HSBC pension Plans ...........ccceceeerrnieieiieninieeeeeneseeeseeeseeneeneaenes 90 88 86

HSBC has been progressively offering all new employees membership of defined contribution plans.

The majority of the Group’s defined benefit plans are funded plans. The assets of most of the larger plans are held in
trusts or similar funds separate from HSBC. The plans are reviewed at least annually or in accordance with local
practice and regulations by qualified actuaries. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit
obligations and related current service costs vary according to the economic conditions of the countries in which the
plans are situated.

Pension plans in the UK

The largest plan exists in the UK, where the HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme (‘the Scheme’) covers employees of
HSBC Bank plc and certain other employees of HSBC. This comprises a funded defined benefit plan (‘the principal
plan’), which is closed to new entrants, and a defined contribution plan which was established in July 1996 for new
employees.

The latest actuarial valuation of the principal plan was made as at 31 December 2008 by C G Singer, Fellow of the
Institute of Actuaries, of Towers Watson Limited. At that date, the market value of the HSBC Bank (UK) Pension
Scheme’s assets was £10.6bn (US$15.5bn) (including assets relating to the defined benefit plan, the defined contribution
plan and additional voluntary contributions). The market value of the plan assets represented 77% of the amount
expected to be required, on the basis of the assumptions adopted, to provide the benefits accrued to members after
allowing for expected future increases in earnings, and the resulting deficit amounted to £3.2bn (US$4.7bn). The
method adopted for this investigation was the projected unit method.

The expected cash flows from the principal plan were projected by reference to the Retail Price Index (‘RPI”) swap
break-even curve at 31 December 2008. Salary increases were assumed to be 0.5% per annum above RPI and
inflationary pension increases, subject to a minimum of zero per cent and a maximum of 5% (maximum of 3% per
annum in respect of service accrued since 1 July 2009), were assumed to be in line with RPI. The projected cash
flows were discounted at the LIBOR swap curve at 31 December 2008 plus a margin for the expected return on the
investment strategy of 190 basis points per annum. The mortality experience of the principal plan’s pensioners over
the three year period since the previous valuation was analysed and, on the basis of this analysis, the mortality
assumptions were set based on the SAPS S1 series of tables which best fit the pensioner experience. Allowance was
made for future improvements to mortality rates in line with the medium cohort projections with a minimum
improvement rate set at 1.75% for males and 1.25% for females. The benefits payable from the defined benefit plan
are expected to be as shown in the chart below.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

7 - Employee compensation and benefits

Benefit payments (US$m)

2,000

1,800 1
1,600 1
1,400 1
1,200 1
1,000 1
800 -
600 -
400 1
200 1

0

201 2021 2031 2041 2051 2061 2071 2081 2091 2101

The expected cash flows of the principal plan were projected by reference to the RPI swap curve in calculating the
liability recognised. The Occupational Pensions (Revaluation) Order 2010 confirmed the UK Government’s intention
to move to using the Consumer Prices Index (‘CPI’) rather than RPI as the inflation measure for determining the
minimum pension increases to be applied to the statutory index-linked features of retirement benefits. Historical
annual CPI increases have generally been lower than annual RPI increases. The rules of the principal plan prescribe
that annual increases will be in line with RPI for pensions in payment and statutory index-linked prior to retirement
for deferred pensions. In respect of deferred pensioners, consistent with communications to scheme members, HSBC
continued to use RPI in calculating the liability recognised as at 31 December 2010. Using CPI to value the schemes
liabilities in respect of deferred pensioners would result in a reduction in the principal plan’s liabilities of
approximately US$400m based on the financial and demographic assumptions as at 31 December 2010.

As part of the 31 December 2008 valuation, calculations were also carried out as to the amount of assets that might be
needed to meet the liabilities if the Scheme was discontinued and the members’ benefits bought out with an insurance
company (although in practice this may not be possible for a plan of this size) or the Trustee continued to run the plan
without the support of HSBC. The amount required under this approach is estimated to be £19.8bn (US$28.9bn) as at
31 December 2008. In arriving at this estimation, a more prudent assumption about future mortality was made than
for the assessment of the ongoing position and it was assumed that the Trustee would alter the investment strategy to
be an appropriately matched portfolio of UK government bonds. An explicit allowance for expenses was also
included.

Information on the investment strategy of the principal plan can be found on page 172.

In February 2010, HSBC Bank plc agreed with the Trustee of the Scheme to reduce the deficit of the plan by meeting
a schedule of future funding payments. On 17 June 2010, HSBC Bank plc agreed with the Trustee to accelerate the
reduction of the deficit of the plan with a special contribution of £1,760m (US$2,638m) in 2010 followed by a
revised payment schedule in the following years, as shown below:

Additional future funding payments to the principal plan

Original plan Original plan Revised plan Revised plan
US$m' £m US$m' £m

722 465 - -

722 465 - -

722 465 - -

978 630 - -

978 630 768 495

978 630 978 630

978 630 978 630

1 The payment schedule was agreed with the Trustee in pounds sterling and the equivalent US dollar amounts are shown at the exchange
rate effective as at 31 December 2010.

HSBC considers that the contributions set out above, together with investment returns at an expected level of

240 basis points above the LIBOR swap curve, would be sufficient to meet the deficit as at 31 December 2008 over
the agreed period. At each subsequent actuarial valuation, HSBC has agreed with the Trustee that any shortfall in
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investment returns relative to this expected level, subject to a maximum of 50 basis points per annum, will be
eliminated by payment of equal cash instalments over the remaining years to the end of this recovery plan period.

HSBC Bank plc also agreed to make ongoing contributions to the principal plan in respect of the accrual of benefits
of defined benefit section members at the rate of 34% of pensionable salaries (less member contributions) payable
from 1 April 2010 until the completion of the next actuarial valuation, due as at 31 December 2011. During 2009,
HSBC paid contributions at the rate of 38% of pensionable salaries (less member contributions) and continued
contributions at this rate until 31 March 2010.

On 1 July 2009, changes to the design of the defined benefit section of the principal plan were made. This included
the introduction of employee contributions, optionality concerning future benefit accrual and, with effect from

1 April 2010, an increased normal retirement age of 65 years. In addition, enhancements to the defined contribution
section were also introduced.

Pension plans in Hong Kong

In Hong Kong, the HSBC Group Hong Kong Local Staff Retirement Benefit Scheme covers employees of The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation and certain other employees of HSBC. The scheme comprises a
funded defined benefit scheme (which provides a lump sum on retirement but is now closed to new members) and a
defined contribution scheme. The latter was established on 1 January 1999 for new employees. The latest actuarial
valuation of the defined benefit scheme was made at 31 December 2009, and was performed by Estella Chiu, fellow
of the Society of Actuaries of the United States of America, of HSBC Insurance (Asia) Limited, a subsidiary of
HSBC Holdings. At that valuation date, the market value of the defined benefit scheme’s assets was US$1,088m. On
an ongoing basis, the actuarial value of the scheme’s assets represented 105% of the actuarial present value of the
benefits accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in salaries, and the resulting surplus
amounted to US$71m. On a wind-up basis, the scheme’s assets represented 107% of the members’ vested benefits,
based on current salaries, and the resulting surplus amounted to US$89m. The attained age method has been adopted
for the valuation and the major assumptions used in this valuation were a discount rate of 6% per annum and long-
term salary increases of 5% per annum.

Pension plans in North America

The HSBC North America (US) Retirement Income Plan covers all employees of HSBC Bank USA, HSBC Finance
and other HSBC entities in the US who have reached the age of 21 and met the one year of service participation
requirement. The Retirement Income Plan is a funded defined benefit plan which provides final average pay benefits
to legacy participants and cash balance benefits to all other participants. All new employees participate in the cash
balance section of the plan. In November 2009, the Board of Directors of HSBC North America Holdings, Inc.
(‘HNAH”) approved actions to cease all future benefit accruals for legacy participants under the final average pay
formula components of the HSBC North America Retirement Income Plan with effect from 1 January 2011. Affected
employees were informed of this decision in February 2010. As a result of these changes, HNAH recorded a one-time
curtailment gain of US$144m.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan to determine compliance with US statutory funding requirements was
made at 1 January 2010 by Jennifer Jakubowski, Fellow of the Society of Actuaries, Enrolled Actuary, member of the
American Academy of Actuaries, of Mercer. At that date, the market value of the plan’s assets was US$2,321m. The
assets represented 85% of the benefits accrued to members as valued under the provisions of the Pension Protection
Act of 2006 that was effective for the plan year beginning 1 January 2008. The resulting deficit amounted to
US$400m. The method employed for this valuation was the traditional unit credit method and the discount rate was
determined using a segment rate method as selected by HSBC under the relevant regulations, which resulted in an
effective interest rate of 6.64% per annum.

These determinations described above for actuarial funding valuation purposes are based on different methods and
assumptions than those used for financial reporting purposes, and as a result should neither be compared nor related
to other determinations included in these financial statements.

The HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme, The HSBC Group Hong Kong Local Staff Retirement Benefit Scheme, and
the HSBC North America (US) Retirement Income Plan cover 34% of HSBC’s employees and represent 82% of the
Group’s present value of defined benefit obligations.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

7 - Employee compensation and benefits

HSBC healthcare benefits plans

HSBC also provides post-employment healthcare benefits under plans in the UK, the US, Bermuda, Canada, Mexico
and Brazil, the majority of which are unfunded. The majority of post-employment healthcare benefits plans are
defined benefit plans and are accounted for in the same manner as defined benefit pension plans. The plans are
reviewed at least annually or in accordance with local practice and regulations by qualified actuaries. The actuarial
assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit obligation and related current service cost vary according to the
economic conditions of the countries in which they are situated.

Defined benefit pension plans

Net liability under defined benefit pension plans

HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme Other plans
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Fair value of plan assets
At 1 JANUATY ..o 17,701 14,865 6,822 6,024
Expected return on plan assets .........coceevvereererierenieenieeneneeeeenes 1,092 959 437 381
Contributions by HSBC ....... . 2,890 367 422 596
—normal .. . 252 367 194 178
= SPECIAL .t 2,638 — 228 418
Contributions by employees ...........cccvrueueueeririeieeercreneneiereenennns 23 5 17 17
EXPEIIENCE GAINS ....oveuieiiiiiieieiei et 1,772 871 394 65
Benefits paid ... (744) (884) (440) (522)
TTANSTETS .eoviieeieieiieteetee ettt 136 - (136) -
Assets distributed on curtailments ...........occeceeeeereeecceeninreecene. - - (@) 5)
Assets distributed on settlements ... . - - 10) (6)
Exchange differences .........c.cocoveueeenniniecineninieeccnsecccnene (634) 1,518 60 272
At 31 DECEMDET ...ttt 22,236 17,701 7,559 6,822
Present value of defined benefit obligations
At 1 JANUATY ..o (21,523) (15,257) (9,109) (8,787)
Current service cost . (252) (260) (300) (334)
INEETESE COSE ..viviveriiiiiciciieie ettt eaes (1,148) (1,019) (438) 397)
Contributions by employees .........ccceoevreruereeririnieiererinineieeenenens 23) 5) a7 17)
Actuarial (10SSES)/ZAINS ....ceveveievirieirieieieieeeeeeieeeiee e (1,451) (4,563) (669) 114
Benefits paid .......cooeueueirinieieci e 744 884 518 608
Past service cost — vested immediately .. - - an (20)
Past service cost — unvested benefits ..........cccovveerreceieciienieenne. - - 20) -
Business combinations ...........ccoeceeverererieenieenierenieeseeseneeeeenes - - - 4)
TTanSTErs ..oovveeeeeeeieieeeceeee e (136) - 136 -
Reduction in liabilities resulting from curtailments . - - 158 41
Liabilities extinguished on settlements ................ . - 499 12 1
Exchange differences ...........ccocevveireinieineieeeeeesee e 931 (1,802) (45) (314)
At 31 DECEMDET ......cucuiiiiiiiciiiccceeecceee e (22,858) (21,523) (9,785) (9,109)
FUNAE ..ot (22,858) (21,523) (9,241) (8,588)
Unfunded ..o - — (544) (521)
Effect of limit on plan surpluses .......c.ccecvvevveerieiriecerieerereeene - - “7) (47)
Unrecognised past service cost - - 28 9
Net HADIIILY ©.vveeececiciciciei e (622) (3,822) (2,245) (2,325)
Retirement benefit liabilities recognised in the balance sheet ..... (622) (3,822) (2,288) (2,325)
Retirement benefit assets recognised in the balance sheet
(Within ‘Other @SSES’) ...cevvevirieirieiiieiereieteeetesee e eeseeene - - 43 -

Plan assets of the Group’s pension schemes included US$57m (2009: US$62m) of equities and US$1m (2009:
US$2m) of bonds issued by HSBC and US$1,592m (2009: US$1,925m) of other assets placed or transacted with
HSBC. The fair value of plan assets included derivatives entered into with HSBC Bank plc by the HSBC Bank (UK)
Pension Scheme with a positive fair value of US$2,173m at 31 December 2010 (2009: US$1,049m positive fair
value) and US$77m positive fair value (2009: US$27m positive fair value) in respect of the HSBC International Staff
Retirement Benefits Scheme. Further details of these swap arrangements are included in Note 45.
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On 17 June 2010, HSBC Bank plc made a £1,760m (US$2,638m) special contribution to accelerate the reduction of
the deficit of the HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme. On the same day the Scheme used the contribution to acquire
debt securities with a fair value of £1,760m (US$2,638m) from HSBC in a transaction at an arm’s length value
determined by the Scheme’s independent third-party advisors. The debt securities sold comprised supranational,

agency and government-guaranteed securities, asset-backed securities, corporate subordinated debt and auction rate .qf)
securities. The contribution together with net actuarial gains of US$321m helped achieve a reduction in the net ,q_>)
liability of the scheme from US$3,822m at 31 December 2009 to US$622m at 31 December 2010. C>)
The special contributions of US$228m to other plans include an additional contribution of US$187m to the HSBC
North America (US) Retirement Income Plan which was made to maintain a minimum funding level.
The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 31 December 2010 was a positive return of US$3,695m (2009:
positive US$2,276m). .
HSBC expects to make US$880m of contributions to defined benefit pension plans during 201 1. Benefits expected to -q;)
be paid from the plans to retirees over each of the next five years, and in aggregate for the five years thereafter, are as &
follows: ©
(&)
S
Benefits expected to be paid from plans £
[
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016-2020 (o]
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m =3
HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme .. 716 745 790 835 903 5,665 §
Other significant plans ........c.coceeueueee 502 506 528 568 579 3,639 8
@)
Total (income)/expense recognised in the income statement in ‘Employee compensation and benefits’
HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme Other plans
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m -
(&)
Current SETVICe COSt ....coveveueurereerennnne 252 260 387 300 334 357 %
Interest CoSt ....oovivimvieiiieieeieeieens 1,148 1,019 1,227 438 397 466 c
Expected return on plan assets (1,092) (959) (1,359) 437) (381) (549) °>3
Past SErvice COSt ......cvvvrverreerereeernneee - - - 12 21 9 8
Gains on curtailments .............c.c..c..... - - - (151) (36) (20)
(Gains)/losses on settlements ............ - (499) - 2 5 (41)
Total (income)/exXpense ............oeeuen... 308 (179) 255 160 340 222

The US$499m settlement gain in 2009 relates to an accounting benefit following a restructuring of the basis of
delivery of death in service and ill health early retirement benefits to certain UK employees.

o
c
Summary 8
o)
HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme E
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 n
USSm USS$m USS$m USSm US$m ©
[3)
Defined benefit obligation ...........cccecevvevvvenieinieeniennns (22,858) (21,523) (15,257) (23,512) (24,332) g
Fair value of plan assets ...........cccceveeevenreneeneeneens 22,236 17,701 14,865 22,704 20,587 uE_
NEt AEfICIt wouvvevevereniririeieeeeeee et (622) (3,822) (392) (808) (3,745)
Experience gains/(losses) on plan liabilities ................ (327) (234) (49) (64) 540
Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets .........c.c.cc....... 1,772 871 (2,861) 29 -
Gains/(losses) from changes in actuarial
ASSUMPLIONS ..eoveniveieieieieeeeeeeteesieeeeeeeeeee e (1,124) (4,329) 3,081 2,459 (570)
Total net actuarial gains/(10SS€S) ......cccoerervrverererirenuenene 321 (3,692) 171 2,424 (30)
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

7 - Employee compensation and benefits

Summary (continued)

Other plans
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Defined benefit obligation ............ccccceeuvrrnnerccreenes (9,785) (9,109) (8,787) (8,873) (7,916)
Fair value of plan assets .........cccovveeerenniecreninenenene 7,559 6,822 6,024 7,768 7,116
Net defiCit .o (2,226) (2,287) (2,763) (1,105) (800)
Experience gains/(losses) on plan liabilities ................ (73) 20 (52) (354) (167)
Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets ...........c.e.c.... 394 65 (1,452) 157 203
Gains/(losses) from changes in actuarial
ASSUMPLIONS ..ottt (596) 94 (306) (121) (44
Total net actuarial gains/(10SS€S) .......cccccevvvvueveuererunueune (275) 179 (1,810) (318) (8)
Defined benefit healthcare plans
Net liability under defined benefit healthcare plans
2010 2009
US$m US$m
Fair value of plan assets
AL T JAINUATY oottt ettt ettt s b e s bt e bt bt e bt e st et ea e e et et et sbe s bt e eaeshe et e ene et ennen 142 128
Expected return on plan assets 13 11
Contributions by HSBC ........ 9 11
EXPEIICICE ZAINS ..uiuiuiiteiiiiirieieieieiie ettt sttt ettt sttt b ettt b et st bbb b et st b besenens 6 8
BENETILS PAIA .ttt sttt ettt e bt se st s et e s et e b ettt e st eneeseseebennne 12) 4)
Assets distributed on SEHICMENTS ........c.ccooviieuiuiiriririeicieter ettt e ?2) 4)
EXChange diffEreNCES ........o.eoieuiriiiiiiiriei ettt st sttt 9 8)
AL 31 DECEIMDET ...ttt 165 142
Present value of defined benefit obligations
AL T JANUATY oottt st 937) (839)
CUITENE SETVICE COSE uvruvuitenirtitetirtettetettetet et et ettt ettt b et es et et ss et eb et eb et eb et e st e ae st eb et eb et eb et ebesbenesseneeseneenen 12) (11
Interest cost ...ccovvverreenenes (60) (55)
Contributions by employees . 1) 2)
Actuarial losses ................. (118) (44)
BENETIS PAIA ...ttt bbbttt ettt 52 43
Reduction in liabilities resulting from curtailments ............ccccocoerrreieirinnneeieee e - 22
Liabilities extinguished on SEtICMENLS ..........ccveueieerieirieirieieieieeeeree ettt es e ese s eesenens 2 4
EXChange differeNCeS ..........cceiririeieieiiiriieicictre ettt 13) (55)
AL 31 DECEIMDET .....cuveeiieiieieiieieiieteiet et sttt ettt ettt et et ese et e st bes e b e s eseseeseeseneeseneebeneesessenenseneeseseesenene (1,087) (937)
FUNAEA et 197) (148)
UNFUNAEA ..ot (890) (789)
Unrecognised PASE SETVICE COSE ......uueuiuiirrrieueieeiieieieteteteteeetesese s e seses et ss et se e e e s ses e e saeseseseaeseenenenene 24) (25)
AL 3T DECEIMDET .....ouveviieiieieiieteiietetete sttt ettt te s esessese st eseesesaesessesessesesseseeseseeseseesessesesesesseseesesensenanne (946) (820)

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 31 December 2010 was a positive return of US$19m (2009:
positive US$19m).

HSBC expects to make US$61m of contributions to post-employment healthcare benefit plans during 2011. Benefits
expected to be paid from the plans to retirees over each of the next five years, and in aggregate for the five years
thereafter, are as follows:

Benefits expected to be paid from plans

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016-2020
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Significant plans .........ccccoevververinenene. 57 58 60 62 64 334
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Total expense recognised in the income statement in ‘Employee compensation and benefits’

2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Current service cost 12 11 19 2
INterest COSt ..vvrvrverrrerrrnrnnns . 60 55 65 .GS’
Expected return on plan aSSEts ..........ccocorrireereirininieieieinineeieeere sttt (13) (11) (12) =
PASE SEIVICE COSE 1uvvinieuiiieiieieiietiietet ettt ettt et sttt ese st esesseneeseneesenes a 2) 2) C>)
Gaing On CUTtAIIMENLS ......c.c.oiriiiiieiiiiirieeiciceeeec et - (22) (31)
Gains 0N SELICIMENLS .....c.evuiieiiieiiieiieteete ettt - - (26)
TOLAl EXPEIISE ...vvuvvivenieeeiieiitetiteiert ettt ettt sse e sae st ese e se e ese s esesseneeseneeseneesenes 58 31 13
Summary
3
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 .%’
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m K2
Defined benefit obligation .............cccccceuvivirnininicnenes (1,087) (937) (839) (1,038) (1,106) ©
Fair value of plan assets ..........cccoceveeeverivienieineieenns 165 142 128 146 133 =
©
NEt dEfICIt oottt (922) (795) (711) (892) (973) £
[
. . R L)
Experience gains/(losses) on plan liabilities ................ 27) 13 (34) 15 (12) o
Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets 6 8 (14) (6) (1) g
Gains/(losses) from changes in actuarial assumptions . 91) (57) 32 94 (25) o©
)
Total net actuarial gains/(10SSes) .........ccccovvviriricnunes (112) (36) (16) 103 (38) 8‘
Post-employment defined benefit plans’ principal actuarial financial assumptions
The principal actuarial financial assumptions used to calculate the Group’s obligations under its defined benefit
pension and post-employment healthcare plans at 31 December for each period, and used as the basis for measuring °
periodic costs under the plans in the following periods, were as follows. e
3
Principal actuarial assumptions 2
(]
Healthcare cost trend o
Rate of Rate Year of
Discount Inflation increase for of pay Initial Ultimate ultimate
rate rate pensions] increase rate rate rate
% % % % % %
At 31 December 2010
612G 5.40 3.70 3.50 4.20 7.70 7.70 n/a
Hong Kong .....ccooeevivincinicnne 2.85 n/a n/a 5.00 n/a n/a n/a 12
US et 5.41 2.50 n/a 2.75 7.20 4.50 2027 =
JETSCY oot 5.40 3.70 3.70 5.45 n/a n/a n/a £
7.50 3.50 3.50 4.50 6.75 6.75 n/a ]
10.51 4.50 4.50 5.50 10.00 5.50 2020 g
4.75 2.00 2.00 3.00 n/a n/a n/a =
5.45 2.50 n/a 3.72 8.00 5.00 2015 ‘S
2.60 1.50 n/a 2.50 n/a n/a n/a g
5.00 2.00 2.00 3.00 n/a n/a n/a uE_
At 31 December 2009
UK? s 5.70 3.70 3.50 4.20 7.70 7.70 n/a
Hong Kong 2.58 n/a n/a 5.00 n/a n/a n/a
US e 5.92 2.50 n/a 3.50 7.40 4.50 2027 =
JEISEY v 5.70 3.70 3.70 5.45 n/a n/a n/a o
=
MEXICO eevvreerineveeeeerrereienreeenene 8.50 3.50 3.50 4.50 6.75 6.75 n/a ©
Brazil 11.25 4.50 4.50 5.50 10.00 5.50 2019 §
France ... 5.50 2.00 2.00 3.00 n/a n/a n/a “‘g
Canada 6.25 2.50 n/a 3.72 8.00 5.00 2015 -
Switzerland 3.25 1.50 n/a 2.50 n/a n/a n/a _GOJ
Germany 5.50 2.00 2.00 3.00 n/a n/a n/a o
°
©
<
wn
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

7 - Employee compensation and benefits

Principal actuarial assumptions (continued)

Healthcare cost trend

Rate of Rate Year of
Discount Inflation  increase for of pay Initial Ultimate ultimate
rate rate pensions' increase rate rate rate

% % % % % %

At 31 December 2008

6.50 2.90 3.00 3.40 6.90 6.90 n/a
1.19 n/a n/a 5.00 n/a n/a n/a
6.05 2.50 n/a 3.50 8.90 5.00 2018
6.50 2.90 2.90 4.65 n/a n/a n/a
8.10 3.50 2.00 4.50 6.75 6.75 n/a
10.75 4.50 4.50 5.50 10.00 5.50 2018
5.75 2.00 2.00 3.00 n/a n/a n/a
7.19 2.50 n/a 3.85 8.20 4.90 2012
2.60 1.50 n/a 2.39 n/a n/a n/a
5.75 2.00 2.00 3.00 n/a n/a n/a

1 Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions (except for the UK).
2 Rate of increase for pensions in the UK is for pensions in payment only, capped at 5%. Deferred pensions are projected to increase in
line with the assumed inflation rate.

HSBC determines the discount rates to be applied to its obligations in consultation with the plans’ local actuaries,

on the basis of current average yields of high quality (AA rated or equivalent) debt instruments, with maturities
consistent with those of the defined benefit obligations. In countries where there is not a deep market in corporate
bonds, government bond yields have been used. The yield curve has been extrapolated where the term of the
liabilities is longer than the duration of available bonds and the discount rate used then takes into account the term
of the liabilities and the shape of the yield curve. When determining the discount rate with reference to a bond index,
an appropriate index for the specific region has been used.

Mortality tables and average life expectancy at age 65

Life expectancy at Life expectancy at
age 65 for a male age 65 for a female
Mortality table member currently: member currently:

Aged 65 Aged 45 Aged 65 Aged 45
At 31 December 2010

UK e SAPS MC' 22.4 24.3 23.4 25.3
Hong Kong" .................. n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
US e RP 2000 fully generational 19.3 20.8 21.2 22.1
JEISEY .oevovvvevereiiiirieienne 80% of PNA0O? 24.2 26.2 26.6 28.5
MEXICO .oevevereiirreirienene EMSSA-97 AA generational scale from RP 2000

series 18.6 20.1 21.1 22.0
Brazil .....ccocevvvveirieene RP 2000 fully generational 19.3 20.8 21.2 22.1
France .....cccoocvevevennnne. TG 05 23.4 26.1 26.8 29.7
Canada ......ccoceoeveenenne UP9%4 generational 19.5 21.1 22.0 22.8
Switzerland ................... BVG 2005° 17.9 17.9 21.0 21.0
Germany ..........cooeeervenene Heubeck 2005 G 18.4 21.1 22.5 25.1

UK e SAPS MC' 22.3 242 23.3 25.2
Hong Kong* n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
US e ... RP 2000 fully generational 19.2 20.7 21.2 22.1
Jersey ... ... 80% of PNA0O? 24.1 26.1 26.5 28.4
MEXICO ouveveveiirveireeneae EMSSA-97 AA generational scale from RP 2000

series 18.5 20.1 21.1 22.0
Brazil c.ccooveeininee RP 2000 fully generational 19.2 20.7 21.2 22.1
France .......cccccevveenne TG 05 232 26.0 26.7 29.6
Canada ......coceeveennennne UP9%4 generational 19.5 21.1 22.0 22.8
Switzerland ................... BVG 2005° 17.9 17.9 21.0 21.0
Germany ..........ceceeeenenene Heubeck 2005 G 18.3 21.0 22.4 25.0

1 SAPS MC projections with 1% minimum improvement beyond 2002. Light table with 1.08 rating for male and standard table with 1.06
rating for female.

2 PNAOO year of birth and medium cohort with 1% minimum improvement thereafter.

3 Additional 8.5% liability loading for future mortality improvements.

4 The significant plans in Hong Kong are lump sum plans which do not use a post-retirement mortality table.
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Expected rates of return

2010 2009
Expected Expected
rates of return' Value rates of return’ Value
% USSm % USS$m >
HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme .0
Fair value Of PIAN GSSELS .....crrmmmrreeeeersrreeeeeseeeeseesseeeessseeessssseee 22,236 17,701 qE)
EQUILES rvvvvvveeereeeeeeeeeeeeeesseeeeeeseesesessseessssesesessssseesssseesesseseees 8.4 3,415 8.4 2,770 >
Bonds ... 53 15,638 53 12,597 o
7.6 1,438 7.7 1,502
ORET oo eeeeee s eeeeeseeeseseeseeesseseee s 4.0 1,745 53 832
Other plans
Fair value of plan assets ..........c.ccocoeceeniennnniiicceieerenae 7,559 6,822
BqUties .........ooeeeen 8.2 2,617 8.2 2,302 2
BONAS .o 5.0 4,073 5.0 3,809 S
PIOPEILY ooveeiieiiieieieee ettt 6.1 98 6.4 55 C?:)
ONET oottt 6.2 771 3.5 656 T
Healthcare plans e
Fair value of plan assets .........ccccocevevererineireieeieesecseeeeeees 165 142 8
Equities ......cccoceeveennne 12.0 49 12.2 43 L
Bonds ... 8.4 81 8.7 72 e
ORI c.vveeeeeeooooveeese oo 7.6 35 4.6 27 2
©
1 The expected rates of return are used to measure the net defined benefit pension costs in each subsequent year, and weighted on the ©
basis of the fair value of the plan assets. 8‘
The expected return on plan assets represents the best estimate of long-term future asset returns, which takes into
account historical market returns plus additional factors such as the current rate of inflation and interest rates.
Actuarial assumption sensitivities Q
(=
The discount rate is sensitive to changes in market conditions arising during the reporting period. The mortality rates o
used are sensitive to experience from the plan member profile. The following table shows the effect of changes in a—>,
these and the other key assumptions on the principal defined benefit pension plan: 8

The effect of changes in key assumptions on the principal plan
HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme

2010 2009
US$m US$m
Discount rate
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps INCrEaSE .........cocerervererieerenireeneereiererieereenens (941) (879)
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps deCrease .........oceceeveerieerereeeneeeneeereesenens 1,003 946 -og
Change in 2011 pension cost from @ 25bPS INCIEASE ......c.covrururueueuiriririeieieiiririeieieiere et eenenes 9) (13) o
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bps dECIEASE ........c.evueuirueirieririirieiiieieieese et 9 13 g
Rate of inflation E
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps INCIEASE ..........cccoeeurueueuererinireerereerireeneneneaenes 1,029 964 9
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps decrease .. 978) (907) ©
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bps increase ................... 67 65 =
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bps dECTEASE ........c.evueuirieirieririirieiieeieteese et (64) (63) g
Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions =
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps INCrEaSE .........cocerervererieerenireeneereiererieereenens 813 800
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps deCrease .........ocecvveeriererenieenieenieenieerenens (775) (766)
Change in 2011 pension cost from @ 25bPS INCIEASE ......c.covruruevereuiriririeieieiirieieieieiere et sesenes 48 50
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bps dECTEASE ........c.evueuirieirieririirieiieeieteese et (45) (49) -
Rate of pay increase .g
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps INCIEASE ........c.ccerevurvevevereriririerereenireeieierenenes 216 195 g
Change in pension obligation at year end from a 25bps decrease .. (203) (174) =
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bps increase ................... 20 18 “g
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bPs dECTEASE ......c.evvvvevirueirierieiieririeeriee et a7 (16) -
Investment return ﬁ
Change in 2011 pension cost from @ 25bPS INCIEASE ......c.covrurvrueviuiriririeieieiiririeieieere et sesenes (54) (44) g
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bps dECTEASE ........c.evueuirieirieririinieiiieieie et 54 44 o
Mortality %
Change in pension obligation from each additional year of longevity assumed ............ccccccervurueunce. 497 487
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7 - Employee compensation and benefits / 8 — Auditors’ remuneration

The effect of changes in the discount rate and in mortality rates on plans other than the principal plan

Other plans
2010 2009
US$m US$m
Change in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25bps increase in discount rate ..................... (290) (269)
Change in 2011 pension cost from a 25bps increase in diSCOUNt TALE ........oveveveriririeieieriirirerieeceeene 1) 3)
Increase in defined benefit obligation from each additional year of longevity assumed .............cocoeu... 131 120
Effect of one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates
2010 2009
1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Increase/(decrease) of the aggregate of the current service
€OSt and INEETESt COSE ..uvviiriiiiiirieirieieieete e 8 (@) 8 (7)
Increase/(decrease) of defined benefit obligation ............ccccceeee. 106 (86) 86 (75)

HSBC Holdings

Employee compensation and benefit expense in respect of HSBC Holdings’ employees in 2010 amounted to
US$244m (2009: US$217m). The average number of persons employed by HSBC Holdings during 2010 was 1,015
(2009: 876).

Employees of HSBC Holdings who are members of defined benefit pension plans are principally members of either
the HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme or the HSBC International Staff Retirement Benefits Scheme.
Directors” emoluments

The aggregate emoluments of the Directors of HSBC Holdings, computed in accordance with the Companies Act
2006 and the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 were:

2010 2009 2008

US$000 US$000 US$000

FRES ettt 3,597 3,756 2,529
Salaries and other €MOIUMENES .........c..cceiviiiiiiiice et 12,841 11,835 11,584
BOMUSES ..ttt 14,294 — —
30,732 15,591 14,113

Gains on the exercise of Share OPLioNS .........cccveirieirieirieiieieeeeeee e - - 23
Vesting of Long-Term Incentive awards ............ccovueueeirnieicccninineececeeeeceees 8,523 1,579 7,147

In addition, there were payments under retirement benefit agreements with former Directors of US$1,016,089 (2009:
US$1,036,385). The provision at 31 December 2010 in respect of unfunded pension obligations to former Directors
amounted to US$17,628,508 (2009: US$16,296,028).

During the year, aggregate contributions to pension schemes in respect of Directors were US$1,055,582 (2009:
US$788,734). Discretionary bonuses for Directors are based on a combination of individual and corporate
performance and are determined by the Remuneration Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration, share options
and conditional awards under the Restricted Share Plan 2000 and the HSBC Share Plan are included in the
‘Directors’ Remuneration Report’ on pages 232 and 233.
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Auditors’ remuneration

Auditors’ remuneration in relation to the statutory audit amounted to US$51.4m (2009: US$50.7m; 2008:
US$54.9m). The following fees were payable by HSBC to the Group’s principal auditor, KPMG Audit Plc and its

associates (together ‘KPMG’): G%
2
Fees payable by HSBC to KPMG g
o
2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Audit fees for HSBC Holdings’ statutory audit' ............cccoooeeveernvereeereereneeerennneens 2.4 2.3 2.1
— fees relating to CUITENt YEAT .........ccveveueueuiririeeeieieiireeteieice e 24 2.1 2.5
— fees relating to PriOT YEAT .....c.coecivueiiierirenieiriei ettt - 0.2 0.4
Fees payable to KPMG for other services provided to HSBC .........ccccooeeivievrreennene. 75.9 77.1 88.3 ?,
Audit-related services: .q;)
— audit of HSBC’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation” ...............ccoooverrvennen. 46.7 45.9 48.6 o=
— other services pursuant to legislation® . . 20.8 242 26.5 ©
TAX SEIVICES” oo.veoeeieviveeeeeee e saenens 24 2.6 3.1 =
Other services: g
— services relating to information technology” ...........cccc..ervvervveerveerrvsrinenenns 0.1 0.3 0.6 i
— services related to corporate finance transactions® ...............ccoceovurrrereennnn. - 0.1 1.4 (o]
— Al OhEr SEIVICES ...vvviiiveiereieriieeeise s nesee 5.9 4.0 8.1 =3
©
Total fees PAYADIE .........c.ccccucueiiiiiiiiiiccc e 78.3 79.4 90.4 ©
o
1 Fees payable to KPMG Audit Plc for the statutory audit of the consolidated financial statements of HSBC and the separate financial ©
statements of HSBC Holdings. They exclude amounts payable for the statutory audit of HSBC Holdings’ subsidiaries which have been
included in ‘Fees payable to KPMG for other services provided to HSBC'.
2 Including fees payable to KPMG for the statutory audit of HSBC'’s subsidiaries.
3 Including services for assurance and other services that relate to statutory and regulatory filings, including comfort letters and interim
reviews. )
4 Including tax compliance services and tax advisory services. =
5 Including advice on IT security and business continuity and performing agreed-upon IT testing procedures. o
6 Including fees payable to KPMG for transaction-related work, including US debt issuances. o
7 Including other assurance and advisory services such as translation services, ad-hoc accounting advice and review of financial models. g
)

No fees were payable by HSBC to KPMG for the following types of services: internal audit services, valuation and
actuarial services, services related to litigation and services related to recruitment and remuneration.

Fees payable by HSBC's associated pension schemes to KPMG

2010 2009 2008

US$000 US$000 US$000

AUAIE TEES vttt ettt ettt ettt bbbt bbbt snen e 384 670 720
Tax services ..... . - - 73
AL OTHET SETVICES ..vvuviviiiiieiiiietiieteiee sttt eb e bbb s sessesesbesaesenis - 260 —
Total fEES PAYADIE .....ouveviieiiieiiieeeeee ettt ns 384 930 793

No fees were payable by HSBC’s associated pension schemes to KPMG for the following types of services: other
services pursuant to legislation, services relating to information technology, internal audit services, valuation and
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actuarial services, services related to litigation, services related to recruitment and remuneration, and services related
to corporate finance transactions.

In addition to the above, KPMG estimate they have been paid fees of US$14.9m (2009: US$8.1m; 2008: US$4.8m)
by parties other than HSBC but where HSBC is connected with the contracting party and therefore may be involved
in appointing KPMG. These fees arise from services such as auditing mutual funds managed by HSBC and reviewing
the financial position of corporate concerns which borrow from HSBC.

Fees payable to KPMG for non-audit services for HSBC Holdings are not disclosed separately because such fees are
disclosed on a consolidated basis for HSBC Group.

Shareholder Information
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9 Share-based payments

During 2010, US$813m was charged to the income statement in respect of share-based payment transactions settled
in equity (2009: US$683m; 2008: US$819m). This expense, which was computed from the fair values of the share-
based payment transactions when contracted, arose under employee share awards made in accordance with HSBC’s
reward structures.

Calculation of fair values

Fair values of share options/awards, measured at the date of grant of the option/award, are calculated using a Black-
Scholes model. When modelling options/awards with vesting dependent on HSBC’s Total Shareholder Return
(‘TSR’) over a period, the TSR performance targets are incorporated into the model using Monte Carlo simulation.
The expected life of options depends on the behaviour of option holders, which is incorporated into the option model
on the basis of historical observable data. The fair values calculated are inherently subjective and uncertain due to the
assumptions made and the limitations of the model used.

Significant weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted

Savings-related share option plans

1-year plan 3-year plans 5-year plans
2010
Risk-free iNtereSt rate! (%0) ...vvevveevereeeioeiieesseeessesssesssessses s 0.7 1.9 2.9
Expected life? (years) ........ 1 3 5
Expected volatility® (%) .... 30 30 30
Share price at grant date (£) .......ccecvrveireireireieereeeete et saens 6.82 6.82 6.82
2009
Risk-free iNtereSt rate! (%0) ...vvevvevveeeeeieeiieesseesssessees e 0.7 2.1 24
EXPECted [ife? (YEAIS) ....ovurvereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e ees e 1 3 5
EXPEcted VOIAtility? (%6) «.cvurverververeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeseeeeses e 50 35 30
Share price at grant date (£) .....c.ocecereeririeireieeieerieeeeerteesee et eens 4.65 4.65 4.65
2008
Risk-free iNtereSt rate! (%0) w..vvevvvvereeeieeeieesssesssessses s 4.5 4.5 4.5
Expected life? (years) ........ 1 3 5
Expected volatility® (%) .... 25 25 25
Share price at grant date (£) .....c.ccecerveririeireieeieerieeeree et eene 8.80 8.80 8.80

1 The risk-free rate was determined from the UK gilts yield curve for the UK Savings-Related Share Option Plans. A similar yield curve
was used for the International Savings-Related Share Option Plans.

2 Expected life is not a single input parameter but a function of various behavioural assumptions.

3 Expected volatility is estimated by considering both historic average share price volatility and implied volatility derived from traded
options over HSBC shares of similar maturity to those of the employee options.

The expected US dollar denominated dividend yield was determined to be 4.5% per annum in line with consensus
analyst forecasts (2009: 4.5%). Prior to 2009, HSBC adopted a dividend growth model and incorporated expected
dividends into the valuation model for share options and awards. In 2008, the expected dividend growth was
determined to be 7% for the first year and 8% thereafter.

The HSBC Share Plan

The HSBC Share Plan was approved at the 2005 Annual General Meeting and amendments were approved at the
2008 Annual General Meeting. Under this plan, Performance Share awards, Restricted Share awards and share option
awards may be made. The aim of the HSBC Share Plan is to align the interests of executives with the creation of
shareholder value and recognise individual performance and potential. Awards are also made under this plan for
recruitment and retention purposes.

Performance Share awards

Awards of Performance Shares are made to executive Directors and other senior executives after taking into account
individual performance in the previous year. For awards made prior to 2008, each award is divided into two equal
parts for testing attainment against pre-determined benchmarks. One half of the award is subject to a TSR measure,
based on HSBC’s ranking against a comparator group of 28 major banks; the other half is subject to an earnings per
share (‘EPS’) target. For each element of the award, shares are released to the employee on a sliding scale from 30%
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to 100% of the award, depending on the scale of achievement against the benchmarks, providing that the minimum
criteria for each performance measure have been met.

For awards made during 2008 and prospectively, each award is divided into three parts for testing attainment

against pre-determined benchmarks. 40% of the award is subject to a TSR measure, based on a free-float market
capitalisation ranking method; 40% is subject to an economic profit measure, calculated as the average annual
difference between return on invested capital and HSBC’s benchmark cost of capital; and 20% is subject to an EPS
target. For the TSR and EPS elements of the awards, shares are released to the employee on a sliding scale from 20%
to 100% of the award, depending on the scale of achievement against the benchmarks. For the economic profit
element of the awards, shares are released to the employee on a sliding scale from zero to 100%, depending on the
scale of achievement against the benchmark. In all cases, shares are only released when the minimum criteria for each
performance measure has been met. The performance conditions are measured over a three year performance period
and awards forfeited to the extent they have not been met.

In addition to the performance conditions mentioned above, before an award can vest, the Remuneration Committee needs
to be satisfied that the Group has shown a sustained improvement in the period since the award was made. In determining
this, the Remuneration Committee will take account of all relevant factors, in particular, comparisons against the TSR
comparator group in areas such as revenue growth and mix, cost efficiency, credit performance as measured by risk-
adjusted revenues, cash return on cash invested, dividend performance and TSR.

Movement in Performance Share awards under the HSBC Share Plan

2010 2009

Number Number

(000s) (000s)

OutsStanding at 1 JANUATY ......cooviiiiiiiiiiiee ettt ettt ettt ea s 7,360 11,619
Additions dUMINg the YEAI!............ov.oveeeeeeeeeeceeeee e ees e ee e seensennan 351 333
AdJustment fOr TIZNES ISSUE ....veveeverieiiieirieiicieieteteteee ettt s et b e be et e s esesseseesesaesenene - 1,712
Released in the year (1,181) (1,076)
FOrfeited N the YEAT .......ceiuiiiiiieiiiee ettt sttt b et b et sttt (2,105) (5,228)
Outstanding at 31 DECEIMDET .......ccueiriiiiiiriiiirieiiiei ettt ettt eae s 4,425 7,360

1 Additions during the year comprised reinvested dividend equivalents.

No Performance Shares were awarded by HSBC in 2010 and 2009.

Restricted Share awards

Awards of Restricted Shares are made to employees on the basis of their performance, potential and retention
requirements, to aid recruitment or as a part-deferral of annual bonuses. Shares are awarded without corporate
performance conditions and generally vest between one and three years from the date of award, providing the
employees have remained continually employed by HSBC for this period.

Movement in Restricted Share awards under the HSBC Share Plan

2010 2009

Number Number

(000s) (000s)

Outstanding @t 1 JANUATY ...c.coovveveuemiiriniieieiiinieeet ettt ettt b ettt ettt nes 184,318 122,206
Additions dUTING the YEAT .....cecveiiiiiiieieieieieeeeeer ettt sttt e s e s sessesesaeseeseseesennns 110,711 108,439
Adjustment fOr TIZNES ISSUE ....c.eueiriiieiiiiiirieicicetrre ettt - 26,119
Released in the year .......... (55,419) (49,718)
Forfeited in the year .. (10,518) (22,728)
Outstanding at 31 DECEIMDET ......c.c.euiriririeieiiiriiiieieictrttete ettt ettt ettt bbbttt 229,092 184,318

The weighted average fair value of Restricted Share awards in 2010 was US$10.50 (2009: US$6.31).

Share options

A small number of discretionary share options were granted in 2005 exclusively to individuals employed by HSBC
France under the HSBC Share Plan rules, after the expiry of the Group Share Option Plan rules.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)
9 — Share-based payments

Nil-cost share options were granted to senior executives on the basis of their performance in the previous year. The
share options were subject to the achievement of the same corporate performance conditions as the 2005 Performance
Share awards. The options vested after three years in the same proportion as the 2005 Performance Shares but were
only exercisable up to the fourth anniversary of the date of grant. These options have now lapsed and there are
currently no options with outstanding performance conditions.

Share options were also awarded to a number of employees under the HSBC Share Plan rules. These options may
vest after three years and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of the date of the grant, after which they lapse.

Movement in share options under the HSBC Share Plan

2010 2009
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
(000s) £ (000s) £
Outstanding at 1 JANUATY .......ccoeceeevennieeiecnirenecceeeeeeneeneens 86 7.99 300 8.89
Adjustment for rights ISSUE .........cevveireiriniiiieeeerereeeee - - 44 7.75
Forfeited and expired in the year .........c.coovueeevnncccnnininccne. - - (258) 7.66
Outstanding and exercisable at 31 December ...........cccccccccennene 86 7.99 86 7.99

No share options were granted in 2010 and 2009. The weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the balance sheet date was 4.8 years (2009: 5.8 years). The exercise price of options outstanding at the
balance sheet date was £7.99 (2009: £7.99).

Savings-related share option plans

Savings-related share option plans invite eligible employees to enter into savings contracts to save up to £250 per
month (or its equivalent in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars or euros), with the option to use the savings to acquire
shares. The aim of the plans is to align the interests of all employees with the creation of shareholder value. The
options are exercisable within three months following the first anniversary of the commencement of a one-year
savings contract or within six months following either the third or the fifth anniversaries of the commencement of
three-year or five-year savings contracts, respectively. The exercise price is set at a 20% (2009: 20%) discount to the
market value immediately preceding the date of invitation (except for the one-year options granted under the US sub-
plan where a 15% discount is applied).

Movement in savings-related share options

2010 2009
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
(000s) £ (000s) £
Outstanding at 1 JANUATY .......cccecerieenieineieneeeccceeeeeee 172,526 3.69 74,401 6.97
Granted in the YEar ........ccccovveieeiinnreieecreeee e 22,017 5.39 152,796 3.32
Adjustment for rights iISSUE .......cevvvvevirerireieiieeeeeeeseee e - - 7,970 6.08
Exercised in the Year .........c.cccccovviecinneieeirrecceeeeeeeenes (16,830) 4.18 (5,011) 5.72
Forfeited, cancelled and expired in the year ...........cccccvenrenne. (19,858) 4.44 (57,630) 5.96
Outstanding at 31 DeCEMDET ........ccooveverieirieirieieieieieeeieerieeeas 157,855 3.87 172,526 3.69
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The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was US$2.41 (2009: US$2.03). The weighted
average share price at the date the share options were exercised was US$10.08 (2009: US$10.23). The exercise price
range and weighted average remaining contractual life for options outstanding at the balance sheet date were as
follows:

2010 2009

EXEICISE PIICE TANZE (£) .ovveververiiererieirieieieietestetestesestesessesteseseeseseesessesessasessesesseseesessasensesensesesseseesesessensene 3.31-6.69 3.31-6.69

Weighted average remaining contractual life (YEars) ..........ccccccermrueueciinninieeinineeeceereeeeeeseeeenenene 2.76 3.47
Of which exercisable:

Number (0008) ...ccovvvevemeeriririerenenens 1,883 5,145

Weighted average eXerciSe PriCE (£) ..vvvvrieiirieerieirieirieietesieteeeteeesestesesseseeseseesesesensesessesessesessesessenens 6.23 6.26

HSBC Holdings Restricted Share Plan 2000
Restricted Share awards made under the Restricted Share Plan

Awards of Restricted Shares were made under the Restricted Share Plan to eligible employees from 2000 to 2005,
after taking into account the employees’ performance in the previous year, their potential and retention requirements.
Restricted shares were also awarded as part-deferral of annual bonuses or for recruitment purposes. Shares were
awarded without corporate performance conditions and in most cases fully vest within three years from the date of
award, providing the employees have remained continuously employed by HSBC for the period.

Movement on Restricted Share awards under the HSBC Holdings Restricted Share Plan

2010 2009

Number Number

(000s) (000s)

Outstanding at 1 JANUATY ......cooveueuiuiiiniiiiieieiienieeetcc ettt et 173 2,717
Additions dUring the YEAr" ...........co..covovueeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e ee s s eee e s e s e ee e er e enienen - 30
Adjustment for rights issue .. - 376
Released in the year .. - (2,916)
Forfeited in the YEAT ..........ccuciiriiieiciire ettt (173) (34)
Outstanding at 31 DECEIMDET ......c.c.euiriririeieiiiririiieieictrtete ettt ettt ettt bbbttt seaens — 173

1 Additions in 2009 principally comprised reinvested dividend equivalents.
At 31 December 2009 the weighted average remaining vesting period was 0.3 years.

HSBC Holdings Group Share Option Plan

The HSBC Holdings Group Share Option Plan was a long-term incentive plan under which certain HSBC employees
between 2000 and 2005 were awarded share options. The aim of the plan was to align the interests of those higher
performing employees with the creation of shareholder value. In most jurisdictions, this was achieved by setting
certain TSR targets which would normally have to be attained in order for the awards to vest. Options were granted at
market value and are normally exercisable between the third and tenth anniversaries of the date of grant, subject to
vesting conditions. Options granted after May 2005 are made under the HSBC Share Plan.

Movement on the HSBC Holdings Group Share Option Plan awards

2010 2009
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
(000s) £ (000s) £
Outstanding and exercisable at 1 January . 157,719 7.12 142,593 8.16
Adjustment for rights issue ........c.cccoeuee.. . - - 21,333 7.12
Exercised in the Year .........cccceoevvreeeinninieeireecceecene (1,015) 6.08 (1,548) 6.28
Forfeited and expired in the year ..........cccocevvevnieinieeneireneeee (3,946) 7.36 (4,659) 7.15
Outstanding and exercisable at 31 December .........c.ccceceeveneenene 152,758 7.12 157,719 7.12
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

9 — Share-based payments / 10 - Tax expense

The weighted average share price at the date the share options were exercised was US$10.26 (2009: US$9.14). The
number of options, weighted average exercise price and weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the balance sheet date, analysed by exercise price range, were as follows:

2010 2009

EXercise price range (£) .....coceoveververerieririeieeeeeeeesieeseeenneens 6.00 — 7.00 7.01 — 8.50 6.00—7.00 7.01-8.50
Number (0008) ...ccovveeverereririreerenenens 26,927 125,831 28,406 129,313
Weighted average exercise price (£) ........coceveeenee. 6.03 7.36 6.03 7.36
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) .............. 2.33 2.34 3.33 3.34
Of which exercisable:

NUMDBET (0008) ...ttt 26,927 125,831 28,406 129,313

Weighted average exercise price (£) ......cocecvvevererererernennenes 6.03 7.36 6.03 7.36

HSBC Holdings Executive Share Option Scheme

The HSBC Holdings Executive Share Option Scheme was a long-term incentive plan under which certain senior
HSBC employees were awarded share options before the adoption of the HSBC Holdings Group Share Option Plan
in 2000. The aim of the plan was to align the interests of those higher performing senior employees with the creation
of shareholder value. This was achieved by setting certain TSR targets to be attained in order for the awards to vest.
Options were granted at market value and were exercisable between the third and tenth anniversaries of the date of
grant, subject to vesting conditions. No awards have been made under this plan since 2000 and all options have now
expired or been exercised.

Movement on the HSBC Holdings Executive Share Option Scheme awards

2010 2009
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
(000s) £ (000s) £
Outstanding and exercisable at 1 January ............ccccceeeevuercccnenne 6,707 6.50 13,964 6.92
Adjustment for rights issue - - 2,046 6.04
Exercised in the Year ...........ccccceeivnnniiicceecccceees (4,229) 6.50 (920) 6.39
Expired in the year ... (2,478) 6.50 (8,383) 5.61
Outstanding and exercisable at 31 December .........c.ccccecevvenenene — - 6,707 6.50

The weighted average share price at the date the share options were exercised was US$10.26 (2009: US$9.14).

At 31 December 2009, the exercise price range for options outstanding was £5.50—-£7.00 and the weighted average
remaining contractual life of options outstanding was 0.26 years.

HSBC France and subsidiary company plans

Before its acquisition by HSBC in 2000, HSBC France and certain of its subsidiaries operated employee share option
plans. Options over HSBC France shares granted between 1994 and 1999 vested upon announcement of HSBC’s
agreement to acquire HSBC France and were therefore included in the valuation of HSBC France.

HSBC France granted 909,000 options in 2000 after the public announcement of the acquisition. The options vested
on 1 January 2002. The HSBC France shares obtained on exercise of the options were exchangeable for HSBC
Holdings ordinary shares of US$0.50. Options were granted at market value and are exercisable within ten years of
the date of grant. Movements in options granted after the public announcement are shown below.

Movement on HSBC France share options

2010 2009
Exercise Exercise
Number price Number price
(000s) € (000s) €
Outstanding and exercisable at 1 January ............ccccoceeveevieeneennne 604 142.5 604 142.5
Forfeited in the Year .........ccooeevieiienireeeeeee e (604) 142.5 — -
Outstanding and exercisable at 31 December .........c.cccecevvvenenene — - 604 142.5
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At 31 December 2009, the remaining contractual life for options outstanding was 0.3 years.

At the date of its acquisition, certain of HSBC France’s subsidiary companies also operated employee share option
plans. On exercise of certain of these options, the subsidiary shares are exchanged for HSBC ordinary shares. The

total number of HSBC ordinary shares exchanged under such arrangements in 2010 was 9,281 (2009: 70,257). 2
(]
2
HSBC Finance 3
Upon acquisition, HSBC Finance share options previously granted were converted to share options over HSBC
ordinary shares of US$0.50 each at a rate of 2.675 HSBC share options (the same ratio as the Exchange Offer for
HSBC Finance) for each HSBC Finance share option. Options granted under HSBC Finance’s own share option
schemes prior to the announcement of the acquisition by HSBC in November 2002 vested as options over HSBC
shares upon acquisition by HSBC. Options granted after the announcement of the acquisition but prior to its
completion on 28 March 2003 generally vest equally over four years and expire ten years from the date of grant. .qi
Options granted after the announcement are shown in the table below. &
oc
Movement on HSBC Finance share options 'g
(=
2010 2009 2
Exercise Exercise =
Number price Number price °2)
(000s) US$ (000s) US$ <
Outstanding at 1 JANUATY .......cccoeveueerinrireieireeeeeeeieeereas 2,736 9.29 2,402 10.66 g
Adjustment for rights issue .. . - - 354 9.29 o
Exercised in the YEar ......ccccvvveerieiieireeeeeee e (307) 9.29 (20) 9.29 ©
Expired in the Year ........ccceerieereiniinercee e - - - 9.29
Outstanding and exercisable at 31 December .........c.cccevevveernenene 2,429 9.29 2,736 9.29
The weighted average share price at the date the share options were exercised was US$10.26 (2009: US$9.14). The @
remaining contractual life for options outstanding at the balance sheet date was 1.9 years (2009: 2.9 years). §
(=
o
Tax expense 2
(O]
2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Current tax
UK COTPOTAtION TAX w.vevveueiteieteeiiinietetentsteteseteseetsseteseseessesesesesesssebesesenssseseseseneasens 383 206 1,671
— on current year profit ...................... 404 280 1,738
— adjustments in reSPect Of PIIOT YEALS .......cccovueueueuirerirreierierieeiereieeseeeeee e (21) (74) (67)
OVETSEAS TAX .vevieveerierierieietetessessessessesseeseessessessessessessessessessessessesseeseeseessessessessessenseses 3,328 1,847 1,703 »
— ON CUITENE YEAT PIOTIE 1.ttt 3,235 1,826 1,732 %
— adjustments in reSpect Of PIIOL YEALS .....c.cocvvrveveveriririririeriereeieieiee e 93 21 (29) g
g
3,711 2,053 3,374 2
w
Deferred tax ©
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ...........cccoeoeovveecrcnnncencnnnnnes 1,176 (1,672) (504) ‘C’
Effect of changes in tax rates .........c.cccocevvereuenene 31 (10) (89) g
Adjustments in respect of prior years (72) 14 28 i
1,135 (1,668) (565)
TAX EXPEIISE ...eveiiiiiiiieiiieictet ettt 4,846 385 2,809

The UK corporation tax rate applying to HSBC Holdings and its subsidiaries was 28% (2009: 28%; 2008: 30% to
31 March 2008 and 28% thereafter). Overseas tax included Hong Kong profits tax of US$962m (2009: US$783m;
2008: US$846m). The Hong Kong tax rate applying to the profits of subsidiaries assessable in Hong Kong was
16.5% (2009: 16.5%; 2008: 16.5%). Other overseas subsidiaries and overseas branches provided for taxation at the
appropriate rates in the countries in which they operate.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

10 —Tax expense

The following table reconciles the tax expense which would apply if all profits had been taxed at the UK corporation
tax rate:

Analysis of tax expense

2010 2009 2008
US$m % US$m % US$m %
Taxation at UK corporation tax rate of 28%

(2009: 28%; 2008: 28.5%)" ..evvvonrierriirriirreisneesensinans 5,330 28.0 1,982 28.0 2,652 28.5
Goodwill IMPAIrMEent .........ccccevveveueuieririnieieiceeeeeeeeens = = - - 3,010 323
Non-deductible loss on foreign exchange swaps on

rights issue proceeds? ............ccoooorvervrrvesierreeieeis - - 96 1.4 - -
Effect of taxing overseas profits in principal locations

at dIfferent Tates ........cococeeeueuerererrrc e (744) 3.9) (1,345) (19.0) (1,339) (14.4)
Gains NOt SULJECE t0 tAX ...o.euceeveieieirerireececceieeeeees (275) (1.4) (238) 3.4) (1,016) (10.9)
Adjustments in respect of prior period liabilities ............ - - 39) (0.6) 67) (0.7)
Low income housing tax credits® ...........cc.ccoocorvrrrrrrenn (86) (0.5) 98) (1.4) (103) (1.1)
Effect of profit in associates and joint ventures ... (705) 3.7 (499) (7.1) (473) (5.1
Tax impact of intra-group transfer of subsidiary* ... 1,216 6.4 - - - -
Impact of gains arising from dilution of interests

1N ASSOCIALES ...vvevievievieeieiereete sttt r e erens (53) (0.3) - - - -
Deferred tax temporary differences not

provided/(previously not recognised)’ ............cc........ 6) - 360 5.1 157 1.7
Non taxable INCOME ........ccovveerieirieiereieieieeseeeeeeereeans (374) (2.0) (365) (5.2) (519) (5.6)
Permanent disallowables ..........cccoeveeconnnecccnnnenencne. 276 1.5 223 32 217 2.3
Additional provision for tax on overseas dividends ............ = = 341 4.8 294 32
Effect of bank payroll tax ........ccoceveveveieneninenncneees 79 0.4 - - - -
Change in taX rates .......c..ceoeeererereeerenene 31 0.2 (10) (0.1) (89) (0.9)
Local taxes and overseas withholding tax . . 61 0.3 12 0.1 122 1.3
Other IEIMS ...cueeviereiririri et 96 0.5 35 0.4 37 (0.4)
TAX EXPENSE' 1ovoivveiieeiieeresisessessisse st sessnens 4,846 25.5 385 5.4 2,809 30.2

1 The change in the UK corporation tax rate from 30% to 28% with effect from 1 April 2008 gave rise to a blended tax rate for 2008 of
28.5%.

2 In August 2009, the UK Government enacted legislation that gains or losses on transactions designated to hedge foreign exchange
exposures connected to rights issues should be disregarded for tax purposes.

3 Low income housing tax credits arise in the US and are designed to encourage the provision of rental housing for low income
households.

4 This relates to the transfer of HSBC Bank Canada, which was part of the sub-group headed by HSBC North America Holdings Inc, to
HSBC Overseas Holdings (UK) Limited. A taxable gain arises on this disposal but the crystallisation of deferred tax assets and
utilisation of current year foreign tax credits meant that no tax was paid on this transfer.

5 2009 and 2008 include the effect of previously unrecognised temporary differences principally related to the recognition of foreign tax
credits and trading losses, respectively.

On 22 June 2010, the UK Government announced its intention to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 28% to
24%. It is proposed that the reduction will be phased in over a period of four years with a 1% decrease in the main
corporation tax rate for each year starting on 1 April 2011. As at 31 December 2010, only the initial phase to reduce
the main rate of UK corporation tax from 28% to 27% has been substantively enacted and therefore only this change
has been reflected in the amounts recognised as at that date. However, it is not expected that the future proposed rate
changes will have a significant effect on the net UK deferred tax asset recognised at 31 December 2010 of US$383m.

Deferred taxation

The following table shows the deferred tax assets and liabilities before offsetting balances within countries and the
related movements recognised in the income statement, other comprehensive income and directly in equity.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)
10 —Tax expense / 11 - Dividends

Presentation of deferred tax balances

Deferred tax balances are presented in the consolidated balance sheet after offsetting asset and liability balances
where HSBC has the legal right to set off and intends to settle on a net basis, as follows:

2010 2009
US$m US$m
DELRITEA TAX ASSELS ..uvveuveuiieiiteiieteiietet ettt ettt ettt e st e e se st es e e s es e tes b en e ese e et e e eseaseseaben e se st enenseneesenensenene 7,011 8,620
Deferred tax HADIITIES ....c.ccveviieiirieiieeiieieietiee ettt ettt ettt eae e e e e be s essesbessesaesseeseesesaeeseeneenseneens (1,093) (1,837)
5,918 6,783

Analysis of deferred tax assets by country
2010 2009
US$m US$m
US oo eeeeeee e eee ettt ettt ettt 4,043 5,110
883 1,289
665 620
UK ettt et ettt s ekttt b ettt st n e n e 383 395
(11T OO ST STR TSRS 1,037 1,206
7,011 8,620

The amount of temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits excluding the US, for which no
deferred tax asset is recognised in the balance sheet is US$2,473m (2009: US$1,723m). Of this amount, US$2,366m
(2009: US$1,608m) has no expiry date, US§107m (2009: US$115m) is scheduled to expire within 10 years (2009: 10
years) and the remaining will expire after 10 years. The deferred tax asset unrecognised in respect of these items is
US$601m (2009: US$491m), of which US$564m (2009: US$450m) has no expiry date, US$37m (2009: US$40m) is
scheduled to expire within 10 years (2009: 10 years) and the remaining will expire after 10 years.

In the US, the deferred tax asset unrecognised in respect of temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax
credits was US$1,715m (2009: US$1,577m), of which US$70m (2009: US$52m) has no expiry date, US$908m
(2009: US$932m) is scheduled to expire within 10 years (2009: 10 years) and the remaining will expire within

20 years.

The US deferred tax assets not recognised of US$1,715m (2009: US$1,577m) comprise unused state losses of
US$694m (2009: US$854m), unused federal losses of US$43m (2009: nil), unused tax credits of US$908m (2009:
US$716m) and other differences of US$70m (2009: US$7m). The gross temporary difference in respect of the
unused state losses is US$12,486m (2009: US$15,517m), the unused federal losses are US$122m (2009: nil), the
other differences are US$200m (2009: US$20m), while no gross equivalent is applied to the unused tax credits.

Deferred tax of US$89m (2009: US$94m) has been provided in respect of distributable reserves of associates that, on
distribution, would attract withholding tax.

Deferred tax is not recognised in respect of the Group’s investments in subsidiaries and branches where remittance
is not contemplated, and for those associates and interests in joint ventures where it has been determined that no
additional tax will arise. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments where no
deferred tax liability is recognised is nil (2009: nil; 2008: US$38,443m). Following the change in the UK tax
treatment of dividends on 1 July 2009, no UK tax is expected to arise on distributions from group entities and no
temporary difference exists except where withholding tax or other foreign tax could arise on the investments. No
amount is disclosed for the unrecognised deferred tax or the 2010 and 2009 temporary differences associated with
such investments, as it is impracticable to determine the amount of income taxes that would be payable when any
temporary differences reverse.

Of the total net deferred tax assets of US$7.0bn at 31 December 2010 (2009: US$8.6bn), US$4.0bn (2009:
US$5.1bn) arose in respect of HSBC’s US operations where there has been a recent history of losses. Management’s
analysis of the recognition of these deferred tax assets significantly discounts any future expected profits from the US
operations and relies to a greater extent on capital support to the US operations from HSBC Holdings plc, including
tax planning strategies implemented in relation to such support. Further to the implementation of this strategy, the
transfer of HSBC Bank Canada, which was part of the sub-group headed by HSBC North America Holdings Inc., to
HSBC Overseas Holdings (UK) Limited in an internal reorganisation on 31 January 2010, provided substantial
support for the recoverability of the US deferred tax assets. The associated taxable gain arising in the US operations
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reduced the deferred tax assets by US$1.2bn. US legislation enacted on 6 November 2009 allowed for an extended
carryback period for certain federal tax net operating losses. This had the effect of crystallising deferred tax assets
related to such losses at 31 December 2009 by approximately US$1.6bn. Currently, it has been determined that the
US operations primary tax planning strategy, in combination with other tax planning strategies, provides support for
the realisation of the net deferred tax assets recorded for the US operations. Such determination is based on HSBC’s
business forecasts and assessments as to the most efficient and effective deployment of HSBC capital, most
importantly including the length of time such capital will need to be maintained in the US for purposes of the tax
planning strategy.

The deferred tax assets relating to HSBC’s Brazil operation is US$0.9bn (2009: US$1.3bn) and the Mexican
operation is US$0.7bn (2009: US$0.6bn). On the evidence available, including management projections of income
and the state of the Brazilian and Mexican economies, there will be sufficient taxable income generated by the
businesses to support these assets.

HSBC Holdings
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
2010 2009
US$m US$m
Temporary differences:
— short-term timing differences ... 1 1
— available-for-sale investments .. 21) 99)
— fair valued assets and Habilities ..........ccovirieiriiinieiniere e 61 76
— ShAre-based PAYIMENLS .......oveveueriiririeieieieiririeietet sttt ettt ettt sttt eb ettt b ettt be sttt ssebenene 16 8
57 (14)
11 Dividends
Dividends to shareholders of the parent company
2010 2009 2008
Per Settled Per Settled Per Settled
share Total in scrip share Total in scrip share Total in scrip

US$ USSm USS$m US$ US$m  US$m US$ US$Sm  US$m

Dividends declared on ordinary shares
In respect of previous year:

— fourth interim dividend ..........ccccco... 0.10 1,733 838 0.10 1,210 624 0.39 4,620 2,233
In respect of current year:

— first interim dividend ........cc.cccooveeuenneee 0.08 1,394 746 0.08 1,384 190 0.18 2,158 256

— second interim dividend . 0.08 1,402 735 0.08 1,385 696 0.18 2,166 727

— third interim dividend ...........cccccccuenue. 0.08 1,408 205 0.08 1,391 160 0.18 2,175 380

0.34 5,937 2,524 0.34 5,370 1,670 093 11,119 3,596

Quarterly dividends on preference
shares classified as equity

March dividend .........cooooeiieiinnnnncee 15.50 22 15.50 22 15.50 22
June dividend ... 15.50 23 15.50 23 15.50 23
September dividend . 15.50 22 15.50 22 15.50 22
December dividend ......c..coeveeceninnicncccns 15.50 23 15.50 23 15.50 23
62.00 90 62.00 90 62.00 90
Quarterly coupons on capital
securities classified as equity'
January Coupon .........cceeceeeeneereenuceenenns 0.508 44 0.508 44 - -
ATl COUPON . 0.508 45 0.508 45 - -
July COUPON ..o 0.508 45 0.508 45 0.541 47
September COUPON .......evvvereeeireeueneerenieennene 0.450 68 - - - -
OCtObEr COUPON .....eeueniireieiiiieieieneeeane 0.508 45 0.508 45 0.508 45
December COUPON .......ocveveeveeerveerieiereeennes 0.500 76 - - — -
2.982 323 2.032 179 1.049 92

1 HSBC Holdings issued Perpetual Subordinated Capital Securities of US83,800m in June 2010 and US$2,200m in April 2008, which are
classified as equity under IFRSs.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

12 - Earnings per share / 13 - Segmental analysis
The Directors declared after the end of the year a fourth interim dividend in respect of the financial year ended
31 December 2010 of US$0.12 per ordinary share, a distribution of approximately US$2,125m. The fourth interim
dividend will be payable on 5 May 2011 to holders of record on 17 March 2011 on the Hong Kong Overseas Branch
Register and 18 March 2011 on the Principal Register in the UK or the Bermuda Overseas Branch Register. No
liability is recorded in the financial statements in respect of the fourth interim dividend for 2010.
On 18 January 2011, HSBC paid a further coupon on the capital securities of US$0.508 per security, a distribution of
US$44m. No liability is recorded in the balance sheet at 31 December 2010 in respect of this coupon payment.
12 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per ordinary share was calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, excluding own shares held. Diluted
earnings per ordinary share was calculated by dividing the basic earnings, which require no adjustment for the effects
of dilutive potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, excluding own
shares held, plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of dilutive
potential ordinary shares.
Profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent company
2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company ..........c.coccceveeereereuceecnenne 13,159 5,834 5,728
Dividend payable on preference shares classified as equity ........cccccceevvereerecennene. 90) (90) (90)
Coupon payable on capital securities classified as €quity ........cccoceveerevreecrcrinnnnes (323) (179) 92)
Profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent company ..................... 12,746 5,565 5,546
Basic and diluted earnings per share
2010 2009 2008
Number Per Number Per Number Per
Profit of shares share Profit of shares share Profit of shares share
US$m (millions) US$ US$m (millions) US$  US$m (millions) US$
Basic! oo 12,746 17,404 0.73 5,565 16,277 0.34 5,546 13,555 0.41
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares. 229 143 118
— Savings-related Share Option Plan .... 55 26 13
— Executive Share Option Scheme ........ - - 3
— Group Share Option Plan ................... - - 5
— Restricted and performance share
AWATAS .o 174 117 95
— HSBC France share options ... - - 1
— HSBC Finance share options . - - 1
Diluted? ..o 12,746 17,633 0.72 5,565 16,420 0.34 5,546 13,673 0.41
1 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding.
2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding assuming dilution.
The weighted average number of dilutive potential ordinary shares excludes 150m employee share options that were
anti-dilutive (2009: 214m; 2008: 166m).
13 Segmental analysis

HSBC’s operating segments are organised into six geographical regions, Europe, Hong Kong, Rest of Asia-Pacific,
Middle East, North America and Latin America. Due to the nature of the Group, HSBC’s chief operating decision-
maker regularly reviews operating activity on a number of bases, including by geographical region, customer group
and global business and retail businesses by geographical region. The segmental analysis is presented on a
geographical basis because, although information is reviewed on a number of bases, capital resources are allocated
and performance is assessed primarily by geographical region. Also, the economic conditions of each geographical
region are highly influential in determining the performance of the different businesses carried out in each region. As
a result, provision of segmental information on a geographical basis provides the most meaningful basis from which
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to assess performance. HSBC’s chief operating decision-maker is the Group Management Board which operates as a
general management committee under the direct authority of the Board.

Geographical information is classified by the location of the principal operations of the subsidiary or, for The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation, HSBC Bank, HSBC Bank Middle East and HSBC Bank USA, by the
location of the branch responsible for reporting the results or advancing the funds.

Information provided to HSBC’s chief operating decision-maker to make decisions about allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, operating segments is measured in accordance with IFRSs. The financial information
shown below includes the effects of intra-HSBC transactions between operating segments which are conducted on an
arm’s length basis and eliminated in a separate column. Shared costs are included in operating segments on the basis
of the actual recharges made.

Products and services

HSBC provides a comprehensive range of banking and related financial services to its customers in its six
geographical regions. The products and services offered to customers are organised by customer group and global
business.

e Personal Financial Services offers a broad range of products and services to meet the personal banking,
consumer finance and wealth management needs of individual customers. Personal banking products typically
include current and savings accounts, mortgages and personal loans, credit cards, debit cards, insurance, wealth
management and local and international payment services.

e Commercial Banking product offerings include the provision of financing services, payments and cash
management, international trade finance, treasury and capital markets, commercial cards, insurance, and online
and direct banking offerings.

e  Global Banking and Markets provides tailored financial solutions to major government, corporate and
institutional clients and private investors worldwide. The client-focused business lines deliver a full range of
banking capabilities including financing, advisory and transaction services; a markets business that provides
services in credit, rates, foreign exchange, money markets and securities services; global asset management
services and principal investment activities.

e Global Private Banking provides a range of services to meet the banking, investment and wealth advisory needs
of high net worth individuals.
Financial information

In the following segmental analysis, the benefit of shareholders’ funds impacts the analysis only to the extent that
these funds are actually allocated to businesses in the segment by way of intra-HSBC capital and funding structures.

297

Overview

Operating & Financial Review

Governance

%)
0
c
E
3]
2
@
&
w
<
o
c
@
=
i

Shareholder Information



HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

13 - Segmental analysis

Profit/(loss) for the year

2010
Rest of Intra-
Hong Asia- Middle North Latin HSBC
Europe Kong Pacific East America  America items Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Interest iNCOME ......c.ceoerervreeuencncne 17,550 5,102 6,432 2,003 16,781 11,590 (1,113) 58,345
Interest eXpense .........coceceeeenee. (6,300) (856) (2,604) (636) (4,342) (5,279) 1,113 (18,904)
Net interest income ..................... 11,250 4,246 3,828 1,367 12,439 6,311 - 39,441
Fee income 8,334 3,460 2,399 737 4,524 2,366 (703) 21,117
Fee expense (1,963) (498) 467) (60) (860) (617) 703 (3,762)
Net fee income ........coveeveeeenenne 6,371 2,962 1,932 677 3,664 1,749 - 17,355
Trading income excluding
net interest income ................. 1,461 1,107 1,207 343 109 453 - 4,680
Net interest income
on trading activities ................ 1,402 205 411 27 205 280 - 2,530
Net trading income .........cccccen... 2,863 1,312 1,618 370 314 733 - 7,210
Changes in fair value of long-
term debt issued and related
derivatives ......c.cooceveerenriennes (365) ?2) ?2) - 111 - - (258)
Net income from other
financial instruments
designated at fair value ........... 647 380 26 - - 425 - 1,478

Net income from financial
instruments designated at

fair value .......cooeevveevieeniennnne 282 378 24 - 111 425 - 1,220
Gains less losses from financial

INVEStMENLtS ....ceovevvereienerienenes 486 98 146 (€)) 143 98 - 968
Dividend income 20 30 1 7 42 12 - 112
Net earned insurance premiums . 4,067 4,332 448 - 245 2,054 - 11,146
Other operating income/

(EXPENSE) ..ovevvneerrevereenieenenes 2,117 1,606 1,598 () 233 141 (3,125) 2,562
Total operating income ............ 27,456 14,964 9,595 2,410 17,191 11,523 (3,125) 80,014

Net insurance claims incurred
and movement in liabilities to
policyholders .........cccoceueenence (4,706) (4,762) (363) - (144) (1,792) - (11,767)

Net operating income before
loan impairment charges
and other credit risk

Provisions ..o 22,750 10,202 9,232 2,410 17,047 9,731 3,125) 68,247
Loan impairment charges and

other credit risk provisions ..... (3,020) (114) (439) (627) (8,295) (1,544) - (14,039)
Net operating income ................ 19,730 10,088 8,793 1,783 8,752 8,187 3,125) 54,208
Employee compensation and

benefits ... (7,875) (2,341) (2,719) (579) (3,672) (2,650) - (19,836)
General and administrative

EXPENSES ..o (6,499) (1,686) (2,181) (450) 4,179) (3,286) 3,125 (15,156)
Depreciation and impairment of

property, plant and equipment (719) (237) (189) 42) (288) (238) - (1,713)

Amortisation and impairment of

intangible assets ......... 352) (167) (54) (@) (183) (220) - (983)
Total operating expenses .......... (15,445) (4,431) (5,143) (1,078) (8,322) (6,394) 3,125 (37,688)
Operating profit ........................ 4,285 5,657 3,650 705 430 1,793 - 16,520
Share of profit in associates

and joint ventures ........c.......... 17 35 2,252 187 24 2 - 2,517
Profit before tax ........................ 4,302 5,692 5,902 892 454 1,795 - 19,037
Tax EXPENSE ...c.eoveververeruenerreneanenes (1,006) (987) (962) (138) (1,180) (573) - (4,846)
Profit/(loss) for the year ........... 3,296 4,705 4,940 754 (726) 1,222 — 14,191
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Interest iNCOME ........cccveveverennenenn.
Interest expense ..o

Net interest income .....................

Fee income
Fee expense

Net fee income .......coeeeevvevreenennen

Trading income excluding

net interest income ................
Net interest income

on trading activities ................

Net trading income ..........cc..e......

Changes in fair value of long-
term debt issued and related
derivatives .......cc.coeeververenennne.

Net income from other
financial instruments
designated at fair value ...........

Net income/(expense) from
financial instruments
designated at fair value ...........

Gains less losses from financial
INVEStMEeNtS .....ooveveveeerererueneecnes

Dividend income

Net earned insurance premiums .

Other operating income ..............

Total operating income ...............

Net insurance claims incurred
and movement in liabilities to
policyholders .........cccocveennenee.

Net operating income before
loan impairment charges
and other credit risk
PIOVISIONS ....veveneereverenirnnenene

Loan impairment charges and
other credit risk provisions .....

Net operating income ..................

Employee compensation and
benefits ...
General and administrative
CXPENSES .oveeeeeeeverererenreeenes
Depreciation and impairment of
property, plant and equipment
Amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets ..........coeenee.

Total operating expenses ............
Operating profit/(10ss) ..............

Share of profit in associates
and joint ventures ...................

Profit/(loss) before tax ................
Tax income/(exXpense) ................

Profit/(loss) for the year ..............

2009

Rest of Intra-

Hong Asia- Middle North Latin HSBC
Europe Kong Pacific East America America items Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
20,283 5,327 5,877 2,260 19,526 10,091 (1,268) 62,096
(8,015) (1,132) (2,338) (775) (5,856) (4,518) 1,268 (21,366)
12,268 4,195 3,539 1,485 13,670 5,573 - 40,730
8,576 3,099 1,972 682 5,496 2,230 (652) 21,403
(2,309) (430) (415) (57) (679) (501) 652 (3,739)
6,267 2,669 1,557 625 4,817 1,729 - 17,664
2,861 1,068 1,264 369 35 639 - 6,236
2,598 157 342 25 296 209 - 3,627
5,459 1,225 1,606 394 331 848 - 9,863
(2,746) 3) (1) - (3,497) - - (6,247)
1,321 788 111 - 1 495 - 2,716
(1,425) 785 110 - (3,496) 495 - (3,531)
50 9 (19) 16 296 168 - 520
29 28 2 3 53 11 - 126
4,223 3,674 365 - 309 1,900 - 10,471
2,262 1,274 1,238 71 566 133 (2,756) 2,788
29,133 13,859 8,398 2,594 16,546 10,857 (2,756) 78,631
(5,589) (4,392) (395) - (241) (1,833) - (12,450)
23,544 9,467 8,003 2,594 16,305 9,024 (2,756) 66,181
(5,568) (500) (896) (1,334) (15,664) (2,526) - (26,488)
17,976 8,967 7,107 1,260 641 6,498 (2,756) 39,693
(7,174) (2,102) (2,363) (545) (4,085) (2,199) - (18,468)
(5,775) (1,502) (1,872) (419) (3,794) (2,786) 2,756 (13,392)
(762) (224) (172) 31) (329) (207) - (1,725)
277) (118) (43) (6) (183) (183) - (810)
(13,988) (3,946) (4,450) (1,001) (8,391) (5,375) 2,756 (34,395)
3,988 5,021 2,657 259 (7,750) 1,123 - 5,298
21 8 1,543 196 12 1 - 1,781
4,009 5,029 4,200 455 (7,738) 1,124 - 7,079
(776) (869) (753) (94) 2,285 (178) - (385)
3,233 4,160 3,447 361 (5,453) 946 — 6,694
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

13 - Segmental analysis

Profit/(loss) for the year (continued)

2008
Rest of Intra-
Hong Asia- Middle North Latin HSBC
Europe Kong Pacific East America America items Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Interest iNCOME ......cccvevverrervennenne. 35,117 9,530 9,066 2,451 25,897 11,632 (2,392) 91,301
Interest eXpense ......c.c.oceceeeeerenee (25,421) (3,832) (5,129) (895) (10,679) (5,174) 2,392 (48,738)
Net interest income ..................... 9,696 5,698 3,937 1,556 15,218 6,458 - 42,563
Fee income .......ccoeveeveveevevierennnnn, 10,225 3,062 2,414 740 6,292 2,716 (685) 24,764
Fee exXpense .......coveveeeincnineennes (2,733) (482) (547) (49) (1,065) (549) 685 (4,740)
Net fee income ...........cocevevennenen. 7,492 2,580 1,867 691 5,227 2,167 - 20,024
Trading income/(expense)
excluding net interest income . 1,691 856 1,443 380 (3,879) 356 - 847
Net interest income
on trading activities ................ 3,666 337 599 22 744 345 - 5,713
Net trading income/(expense) ..... 5,357 1,193 2,042 402 (3,135) 701 - 6,560
Changes in fair value of long-
term debt issued and related
derivatives .......ccccceeeveeereeneennns 2,939 3 1 - 3,736 - - 6,679
Net income/(expense) from
other financial instruments
designated at fair value ........... (1,826) (1,194) (172) - 1 364 - (2,827)

Net income/(expense) from
financial instruments

designated at fair value ........... 1,113 (1,191) (171) - 3,737 364 - 3,852
Gains less losses from financial

INVEStMENtS ......c.coeveveeeereneanee. 418 (309) 24 8 (120) 176 - 197
Dividend income ..........ccccoeveuenne 130 41 2 2 77 20 - 272
Net earned insurance premiums . 5,299 3,247 197 - 390 1,717 - 10,850
Gains on disposal of French

regional banks ........c..ccoceeenne 2,445 - - - - - - 2,445
Other operating income ... 2,096 817 1,055 9 23 300 (2,492) 1,808
Total operating income 34,046 12,076 8,953 2,668 21,417 11,903 (2,492) 88,571
Net insurance claims incurred

and movement in liabilities to

policyholders .........ccccoevvrueunne (3,367) (1,922) 28 - (238) (1,390) - (6,889)
Net operating income before

loan impairment charges

and other credit risk provisions 30,679 10,154 8,981 2,668 21,179 10,513 (2,492) 81,682
Loan impairment charges and

other credit risk provisions ..... (3,754) (765) (852) (279) (16,795) (2,492) - (24,937)
Net operating income .................. 26,925 9,389 8,129 2,389 4,384 8,021 (2,492) 56,745
Employee compensation and

benefits ...ooooovvveieieieieieiee (8,551) (2,069) (2,475) (544) (4,609) (2,544) - (20,792)
General and administrative

CXPEIISES -eoveverrrneeeeereneneaneeeeenas (6,428) (1,562) (2,037) (384) (4,282) (3,059) 2,492 (15,260)
Depreciation and impairment of

property, plant and equipment (865) (209) (163) (25) (265) (223) - (1,750)
Amortisation and impairment of

intangible assets ...........c.coueee.. (228) (103) 29) 6) (203) (164) - (733)
Goodwill impairment .................. — — - - (10,564) - - (10,564)
Total operating expenses ............ (16,072) (3,943) (4,704) (959) (19,923) (5,990) 2,492 (49,099)
Operating profit/(10ss) ................ 10,853 5,446 3,425 1,430 (15,539) 2,031 - 7,646
Share of profit in associates

and joint ventures ................... 16 15 1,297 316 11 6 - 1,661
Profit/(loss) before tax ................ 10,869 5,461 4,722 1,746 (15,528) 2,037 - 9,307
Tax income/(expense) ................. (2,199) (899) (928) (245) 1,715 (253) - (2,809)
Profit/(loss) for the year .............. 8,670 4,562 3,794 1,501 (13,813) 1,784 — 6,498
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Other information about the profit/(loss) for the year

2010

Net operating income ..................
External ........ccooceviiiininnns
Inter-segment ...........ccccceeeee.

Profit/(loss) for the year includes
the following significant non-
cash items:

Depreciation, amortisation
and impairment ...................

Loan impairment losses gross
of recoveries and other
credit risk provisions ..........

Impairment of financial
INVEStMENts ........ccccevvreeneee

2009

Net operating income ..................
External ..............
Inter-segment ............ccccceeenene

Profit/(loss) for the year includes
the following significant non-
cash items:

Depreciation, amortisation
and impairment .................

Loan impairment losses gross
of recoveries and other
credit risk provisions ..........

Impairment of financial
INVEStMents ........cccocevvvevenene.

2008

Net operating income ..................
External ......cccovveecicnninnenee
Inter-segment ............ccccceeeuene

Profit/(loss) for the year includes
the following significant non-
cash items:

Depreciation, amortisation
and impairment .................

Loan impairment losses gross
of recoveries and other
credit risk provisions ..........

Impairment of financial
INVEStMeNts ........cccoeevevevenene.

301

Rest of Intra-

Hong Asia- Middle North Latin HSBC
Europe Kong Pacific East  America  America items Total
US$Sm US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$Sm
19,730 10,088 8,793 1,783 8,752 8,187 3,125) 54,208
18,881 9,170 7,728 1,774 8,504 8,151 - 54,208
849 918 1,065 9 248 36 (3,125) —
1,071 404 243 49 471 458 - 2,696
3,303 169 615 684 8,476 1,812 - 15,059
35 41 4 5 21 1 - 107
17,976 8,967 7,107 1,260 641 6,498 (2,756) 39,693
16,734 8,352 6,056 1,283 767 6,501 - 39,693
1,242 615 1,051 (23) (126) 3) (2,756) -
1,039 342 215 37 515 390 - 2,538
5,833 534 1,028 1,361 15,757 2,865 - 27,378
137 129 50 4 38 - - 358
26,925 9,389 8,129 2,389 4,384 8,021 (2,492) 56,745
25,887 8,205 7,010 2,386 5,236 8,021 - 56,745
1,038 1,184 1,119 3 (852) - (2,492) -
1,093 312 192 31 11,352 387 - 13,367
4,050 803 960 309 16,892 2,757 - 25,771
278 535 - - 229 - - 1,042
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

13 - Segmental analysis / 14 — Analysis of financial assets and liabilities

Performance ratios

Rest of
Hong Asia- Middle North Latin
Europe Kong Pacific East America  America Total
% % % % % % %
2010
Share of HSBC’s profit before
AX e 22.6 29.9 31.0 4.7 2.4 9.4 100.0
Cost efficiency ratio 67.9 43.4 55.7 44.7 48.8 65.7 55.2
2009
Share of HSBC’s profit/(loss)
before tax ......ccocoeeveccecieienennns 56.7 71.0 59.3 6.4 (109.3) 159 100.0
Cost efficiency ratio ................... 59.4 41.7 55.6 38.6 51.5 59.6 52.0
2008
Share of HSBC’s profit/(loss)
before tax ........cccooevviiicanen 116.7 58.7 50.7 18.8 (166.8) 21.9 100.0
Cost efficiency ratio 52.4 38.8 52.4 359 94.1 57.0 60.1
Balance sheet information
Rest of Intra-
Hong Asia- Middle North Latin HSBC
Europe Kong Pacific East America  America items Total

US$m US$m US$m USS$m US$m US$m USS$m US$m
At 31 December 2010
Loans and advances to

customers (Net) ........coceecereenee. 435,799 140,691 108,731 24,626 190,532 57,987 - 958,366
Interests in associates and

joint ventures ..........ccccoceeeueuene. 186 207 15,035 1,661 104 5 - 17,198
Total aSSets .....ccoveververerreerrerenene 1,249,527 429,565 278,062 52,757 492,487 139,938  (187,647) 2,454,689
Customer accounts ...................... 491,563 297,484 158,155 33,511 158,486 88,526 - 1,227,725
Total liabilities ........coceevevrveireenees 1,189,996 422,101 246,989 45,379 459,301 123,655  (187,647) 2,299,774
Capital expenditure incurred' ..... 865 836 168 46 774 788 - 3,477

At 31 December 2009
Loans and advances to

customers (Net) ........ccoceceeeenne 439,481 99,381 80,043 22,844 206,853 47,629 - 896,231
Interests in associates and
joint Ventures .........ccccecveveeuees 147 157 11,083 1,573 42 9 - 13,011

Total assets .......... ... 1,268,600 399,243 222,139 48,107 475,014 115,967  (164,618) 2,364,452
Customer accounts .. .. 495,019 275,441 133,999 32,529 149,157 72,889 - 1,159,034
Total liabilities ...........cccoeveeerenans 1,213,907 384,912 203,243 42,325 447,530 101,492 (164,618) 2,228,791
Capital expenditure incurred' ..... 983 290 159 102 658 540 - 2,732
At 31 December 2008
Loans and advances to

customers (Net) ........cococeevenene 426,191 100,220 80,661 27,295 256,214 42,287 - 932,868
Interests in associates and

joint ventures .........c.c.coeevueneee 137 153 9,728 1,383 128 8 - 11,537
Total aSSEtS ...ovevveveeeeerieririeiieieeens 1,392,049 414,484 225,573 50,952 596,302 102,946  (254,841) 2,527,465
Customer accounts .. .. 502,476 250,517 124,194 35,165 143,532 59,443 - 1,115,327
Total liabilities ........c..cccveveeerenenns 1,361,960 400,637 210,478 45416 571,657 91,929  (254,841) 2,427,236
Capital expenditure incurred' ..... 2,078 440 426 85 726 617 - 4,372

1 Expenditure incurred on property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets. Excludes assets acquired as part of business
combinations and goodwill.
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14

Other financial information

Net operating income by customer group and global business

Personal Global Global Intra-
Financial Commercial Banking Private HSBC
Services Banking & Markets Banking Other' items Total
US$m US$m US$Sm US$m US$m US$m US$m
2010
Net operating income ................. 21,317 12,029 18,957 3,105 4,663 (5,863) 54,208
External ......ccccocvveevcinnnnnnee 19,529 11,419 22,090 2,194 (1,024) - 54,208
Internal .........ccccoeeuevnnnnnnnes 1,788 610 3,133) 911 5,687 (5,863) -
2009
Net operating income .................. 15,513 9,571 18,652 2,984 (2,031) (4,996) 39,693
External .......cccoocoeevvnnnnnnne. 13,804 9,285 21,383 2,275 (7,054) - 39,693
Internal .........cccccoevieivnnnnnes 1,709 286 (2,731) 709 5,023 (4,996) —
2008
Net operating income .................. 20,269 13,144 12,047 3,563 12,290 (4,568) 56,745
External ... 15,023 13,080 17,739 2,231 8,672 - 56,745
Internal ..o 5,246 64 (5,692) 1,332 3,618 (4,568) -
1 The main items reported in the ‘Other’ category are certain property activities, unallocated investment activities, centrally held
investment companies, movements in fair value of own debt and HSBC'’s holding company and financing operations. The ‘Other’
category also includes gains and losses on the disposal of certain significant subsidiaries or business units.
Information by country
2010 2009 2008
External net Non- External net Non- External net Non-
operating current operating current operating current
income' assets’ income' assets income' assets”
US$m USS$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
UK ottt 11,467 19,661 9,958 19,704 15,789 12,491
Hong Kong 9,170 4,630 8,352 3,374 8,205 3,527
USA ... . 6,098 6,669 (1,042) 5,499 2,862 4,660
France ... 3,185 10,914 3,322 11,782 6,457 11,862
Brazil . 4,506 2,025 3,368 1,868 3,886 1,421
Other COUNtries ..........cocevieeueueirinniriicneeienne 19,782 29,747 15,735 25,557 19,546 23,020
54,208 73,646 39,693 67,784 56,745 56,981

1 External net operating income is attributed to countries on the basis of the location of the branch responsible for reporting the results or
advancing the funds.

2 Non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment, goodwill, other intangible assets, interests in associates and joint ventures
and certain other assets expected to be recovered more than twelve months after the reporting period.

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by measurement basis

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The
summary of significant accounting policies in Note 2 describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured,
and how income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The following table analyses the
carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities by category as defined in IAS 39 and by balance sheet heading.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

14 - Analysis of financial assets and liabilities
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

14 - Analysis of financial assets and liabilities / 15 -Trading assets

HSBC Holdings

At 31 December 2010
Financial
assets and
Available- liabilities at
Held for Designated Loans and for-sale amortised
trading at fair value receivables securities cost Total
US$m US$m USS$m USS$m US$m US$m
Financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand - - - - 459 459
DErivatives ......cccceeveeeevieieeceeeeeeeieeieenens . 2,327 - - - - 2,327
Loans and advances to HSBC undertakings ...... - - 21,238 - - 21,238
Financial investments ...........ccccccevevecereerecenne - - - 2,025 - 2,025
Other aSSEtS ..eoviveeeveerieieieierie ettt — - - - 1 1
Total financial assets ...........cccoceeveeieeeierierieenenns 2,327 - 21,238 2,025 460 26,050
Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to HSBC undertakings .............. - - - - 2,932 2,932
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ....... - 16,288 - - - 16,288
DErIVALIVES ..ovveviiiiiciecieeveeeeeteee e 827 - - - - 827
Debt securities in iSSUE ........c.cceevveeveeecveerieeneens - - - - 2,668 2,668
Other liabilities - - - - 1,216 1,216
Accruals .............. - - - - 566 566
Subordinated 1iabilities ..........cccoovevrieerieerieennne - - - - 13,313 13,313
Total financial liabilities ............ccceverveverveverrennnnen 827 16,288 — — 20,695 37,810
At 31 December 2009
Financial
assets and
Available- liabilities at
Held for  Designated Loans and for-sale amortised
trading  at fair value  receivables securities cost Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand .. . - - - - 224 224
DETIVALIVES ..vveievieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e . 2,981 - - - — 2,981
Loans and advances to HSBC undertakings ...... - - 23,212 - - 23,212
Financial investments .............cccoceveveeevieeeeeneenn, - - - 2,455 - 2,455
Oher @SSELS ......oovevirvereereiiieieieieretereere e — — — — 4 4
Total financial assets ..........cceevevvevreevreeeeeereenns 2,981 - 23,212 2,455 228 28,876
Financial liabilities
Amounts owed to HSBC undertakings .............. - - - - 3,711 3,711
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ....... - 16,909 - - - 16,909
Derivatives . 362 - - - - 362
Debt securities in iSSUE .........c.ccevveeevrieriereiiennen, - - - - 2,839 2,839
Other liabilities - - - - 8 8
Accruals .............. - - - - 419 419
Subordinated liabilities ............ccceevevecieeererernenenn — — — — 14,406 14,406
Total financial liabilities .............ccccevvevririerieenenns 362 16,909 - - 21,383 38,654
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15 Trading assets

2010 2009
US$m US$m
Trading assets:

— not subject to repledge or resale by COUNLEIPATLIES ......cc.cevueireeieriieieieeriee ettt 284,940 320,155 q%

— which may be repledged or resold by cOUNterparties ............coeoeereerieereirieineeseeseeeseeeeeees 100,112 101,226 E

[0)

385,052 421,381 3
Treasury and other eligible DIllS .........cccivieirieieiiieeceeeee et ebe e 25,620 22,346
DIEDLE SECUITHIES ..uvveueeuiieiieteiieteitet ettt sttt ettt e et st e st st e st et eseebes e e b e s eseseeseeseneeseneebeneesensenenseneesenensenene 168,268 201,598
EQUILY SECUTTEIES ...eeuveuiitiiietiiet ettt ettt b et bttt sttt b et e bt e bt e st e st et senbenene 41,086 35,311
Trading SECUrities at fAIr VAIUE .......cccoiieiiiirieiieeie ettt st 234,974 259,255
Loans and advances t0 DANKS ..........cc.ocuovueeiieiiiiieriee ettt ettt ettt eae et teeae e eas et e eaeeteeseeaeetsereensensensens 70,456 78,126

Loans and advances t0 CUSLOIMIELS .........ccecvieuiiuierieieieeeeeestestesseetesteeteeseeseessesseseseesessesseeseessesseseensessessens 79,622 84,000 c%

385,052 421381 ®

o

©

Trading securities valued at fair value 2

@©

Fair value' =

i

2010 2009 3

US$m US$m o

c

US Treasury and US GOVErNMENt AZENCIES” ............o..orwereereeereereseeeeeeeeeseeseseeeseseessesessssseesseees 20,239 17,620 i

UK GOVEIMIMENT .....oviiiiiieiieiieetieetieetteeteeette et e etteetteeteeeteessseeasesaeeasseessesasesssesasesssesssessseessessseesseesseesseenseesseas 17,036 12,113 ©

Hong Kong GOVEINIMENT .......ccviiiiiiiierientinerieeteeit ettt ettt sttt ettt e st e be st sbesbeebeeseeneennen 11,053 10,649 8‘
OhETr SOVEITIMENE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et et e et s et e st be st e b et e se e es et eseeses e benesseneeseneeseneesen 92,826 94,264
Asset-backed securities® .......... 3,998 5,308
Corporate debt and other securities 48,736 83,990
EQUILY SECUTTEIES .vvvveuieiesietiietetetetettsteteteste st e te st etestesesse st et eseesesaesessesesseneeseseesensesensesensesensenensesessesessennne 41,086 35,311
234,974 259,255

1 Included within these figures are debt securities issued by banks and other financial institutions of US$37,170m (2009: US$41,466m), of
which US$8,330m (2009: US$7,280m) are guaranteed by various governments.

2 Includes securities that are supported by an explicit guarantee issued by the US Government.

3 Excludes asset-backed securities included under US Treasury and US Government agencies.

Governance

Trading securities listed on a recognised exchange and unlisted

Treasury
and other Debt Equity
eligible bills securities securities Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Fair value at 31 December 2010 *g
Listed on a recognised exchange' ..........cccoocoeueeveeerceerrerrenennnns 698 113,878 40,098 154,674 g
UNISEEA ..ottt 24,922 54,390 988 80,300 o
et
25,620 168,268 41,086 234,974 g
Fair value at 31 December 2009 ©
Listed on a recognised exchange' ..........cccocoeveeveevreeeererierennnnns 3,107 159,030 33,428 195,565 g
UNDSEEA .eviniiieieee e 19,239 42,568 1,883 63,690 =
i
22,346 201,598 35,311 259,255

1 Included within listed investments are US$3,254m (2009: US$3,229m) of investments listed in Hong Kong.

Loans and advances to banks held for trading 5
=

2010 2009 £

US$m US$m 5

£

REVEISE TEPOS ...ttt s 45,771 50,357 =
SEtISIMENT ACCOUNLS .....ovviiuiieiiieiiete ettt ettt eete e vt eeteeeteeeteeeteeeaeeeseeeseeeseeeseeeseeeseeeseeeseeeseeaseeseeseeseenreennes 5,226 10,128 o)
SEOCK BOTTOWIN - 6,346 4711 2
OBRET ettt ettt ettt ettt b bttt b s 13,113 12,930 g
70,456 78,126 o

wn
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

16 - Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value

Loans and advances to customers held for trading

2010 2009

US$m US$m

REVEISE TEPOS ...t 46,366 42,172
Settlement accounts . 7,516 12,134
STOCK DOITOWIIIE .ottt ettt sttt ettt ettt st be et es 11,161 18,042
OBRET ettt ettt bttt ettt h ettt b ettt ettt st bebeae 14,579 11,652
79,622 84,000

16 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value

The classification of financial instruments is determined in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 2.
The use of assumptions and estimation in valuing financial instruments is described on page 34.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The following table sets out the financial instruments carried at fair value.

Financial instruments carried at fair value and bases of valuation

Valuation techniques

With
Quoted Using significant
market observable unobservable
price inputs inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$m US$m USS$m USS$m
31 December 2010
Assets
TTAdING ASSELS ..vevveveveririeieieieieie ettt ettt 224,613 154,750 5,689 385,052
Financial assets designated at fair value ..........c.ccococeveeenenene 23,641 12,783 587 37,011
DETIVALIVES ..vevieicviiciceieceteeetee et 2,078 254,718 3,961 260,757
Financial investments: available for sale ..............ccceevennen. 214,276 158,743 8,237 381,256
Liabilities
Trading Habilities ........ccoeeeiririeieieeeeieieeeeeee s 124,874 164,436 11,393 300,703
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ...........ccccceveneee 22,193 65,370 570 88,133
DETIVALIVES .vovvevieveviieiieieieieeeteee et 1,808 253,051 3,806 258,665
31 December 2009
Assets
Trading assets ........cocovveeveerirreeenenene 272,509 142,452 6,420 421,381
Financial assets designated at fair value 24,184 11,773 1,224 37,181
DTIVALIVES ..ottt 1,961 244,472 4,453 250,886
Financial investments: available for sale ..............cccceveenenn. 163,149 178,168 10,214 351,531
Liabilities
Trading liabilities .........cocecerieirieirieireeeeeece e 119,544 139,812 8,774 268,130
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ............ccccoennee. 27,553 52,032 507 80,092
DETIVALIVES ..ottt 1,843 240,611 5,192 247,646

The reduction of Level 1 trading assets reflects the deconsolidation of CNAV funds which is discussed further on
page 363. The increase in Level 1 available-for-sale instruments reflects increased investment in government and US
agency securities. The rise in the size of Level 2 trading assets and liabilities reflects an increase in repo and reverse
repo activity.

There were no material transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the period.

Control framework

Fair values are subject to a control framework designed to ensure that they are either determined or validated by a
function independent of the risk-taker.
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For all financial instruments where fair values are determined by reference to externally quoted prices or observable
pricing inputs to models, independent price determination or validation is utilised. In inactive markets, direct
observation of a traded price may not be possible. In these circumstances, HSBC will source alternative market
information to validate the financial instrument’s fair value, with greater weight given to information that is
considered to be more relevant and reliable. The factors that are considered in this regard are, inter alia:

the extent to which prices may be expected to represent genuine traded or tradeable prices;

the degree of similarity between financial instruments;

the degree of consistency between different sources;

the process followed by the pricing provider to derive the data;

the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the balance sheet date; and
the manner in which the data was sourced.

For fair values determined using a valuation model, the control framework may include, as applicable, independent
development or validation of (i) the logic within valuation models; (ii) the inputs to those models; (iii) any
adjustments required outside the valuation models; and (iv) where possible, model outputs. Valuation models are
subject to a process of due diligence and calibration before becoming operational and are calibrated against external
market data on an ongoing basis.

The fair value governance structure is as follows:

Group Finance Director

t

Finance Valuation Committees Valuation Committee
Review Group

Responsible for determining

fair val Consist of valuation experts Overseen by
air value: . .
from several independent ;”dl"e’;‘.m Chaired by Global Head of
ishi i . all valuations
» Establishing accounting support functions : Product Control,
policies for fair value Provides considered
(product control, market _ > Global Markets
> Establishing procedures results risk management, quantitative 10 have .
governing valuation risk and valuation group ";ate"a/ Consists of heads of
i A . . . ... subjectivity -
» Ensuring compliance with and finance), in addition Global Banking and
g P )
all relevant accounting to senior management Markets, finance
standards and risk functions

Determination of fair value
Fair values are determined according to the following hierarchy:

e Level I — quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active
markets.

e Level 2 —valuation technique using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for similar
instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and
financial instruments valued using models where all significant inputs are observable.

e Level 3 —valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: financial instruments valued using valuation
techniques where one or more significant inputs are unobservable.

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market. The fair values of financial instruments

that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for assets held and offer prices for liabilities issued. Where a
financial instrument has a quoted price in an active market and it is part of a portfolio, the fair value of the portfolio is
calculated as the product of the number of units and quoted price and no block discounts are applied. In the event that
the market for a financial instrument is not active, a valuation technique is used.

The judgement as to whether a market is active may include, but is not restricted to, the consideration of factors such
as the magnitude and frequency of trading activity, the availability of prices and the size of bid/offer spreads. The
bid/offer spread represents the difference in prices at which a market participant would be willing to buy compared
with the price at which they would be willing to sell. In inactive markets, obtaining assurance that the transaction
price provides evidence of fair value or determining the adjustments to transaction prices that are necessary to
measure the fair value of the instrument requires additional work during the valuation process.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

16 - Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value

Valuation techniques incorporate assumptions about factors that other market participants would use in their
valuations, including interest rate yield curves, exchange rates, volatilities, and prepayment and default rates. During
the year, as a result of evolving market practice in the pricing of certain interest rate derivatives, HSBC has, for single
currency swaps with collateralised counterparties and in significant major currencies, adopted a discounting curve
that reflects the overnight interest rate (‘OIS discounting’). Previously, in line with market practice, discount curves
did not reflect this overnight interest rate component but were based on a term LIBOR rate. The financial effect of
this change was not significant.

The majority of valuation techniques employ only observable market data. However, certain financial instruments are
valued on the basis of valuation techniques that feature one or more significant market inputs that are unobservable,
and for them, the derivation of fair value is more judgemental. An instrument in its entirety is classified as valued
using significant unobservable inputs if, in the opinion of management, a significant proportion of the instrument’s
carrying amount and/or inception profit (‘day 1 gain or loss’) is driven by unobservable inputs. ‘Unobservable’ in this
context means that there is little or no current market data available from which to determine the price at which an
arm’s length transaction would be likely to occur. It generally does not mean that there is no data available at all upon
which to base a determination of fair value (consensus pricing data may, for example, be used).

In certain circumstances, primarily where debt is hedged with interest rate derivatives, HSBC records its own debt in
issue at fair value, based on quoted prices in an active market for the specific instrument concerned, if available.
When quoted market prices are unavailable, the own debt in issue is valued using valuation techniques, the inputs for
which are either based upon quoted prices in an inactive market for the instrument, or are estimated by comparison
with quoted prices in an active market for similar instruments. In both cases, the fair value includes the effect of
applying the credit spread which is appropriate to HSBC’s liabilities. The change in fair value of issued debt
securities attributable to the Group’s own credit spread is computed as follows: for each security at each reporting
date, an externally verifiable price is obtained or a price is derived using credit spreads for similar securities for the
same issuer. Then, using discounted cash flow, each security is valued using a LIBOR-based discount curve. The
difference in the valuations is attributable to the Group’s own credit spread. This methodology is applied consistently
across all securities.

Structured notes issued and certain other hybrid instrument liabilities are included within trading liabilities and are
measured at fair value. The credit spread applied to these instruments is derived from the spreads at which HSBC
issues structured notes. These market spreads are smaller than credit spreads observed for plain vanilla debt or in the
credit default swap markets.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the credit spread of liabilities issued by HSBC reverse over the contractual
life of the debt, provided that the debt is not repaid at a premium or a discount.

Fair value adjustments

Fair value adjustments are adopted when HSBC considers that there are additional factors that would be considered
by a market participant that are not incorporated within the valuation model. The magnitude of fair value adjustments
depends upon many entity-specific factors, and therefore fair value adjustments may not be comparable across the
banking industry.

HSBC classifies fair value adjustments as either ‘risk-related’ or ‘model-related’. The majority of these adjustments
relate to Global Banking and Markets.

Movements in the level of fair value adjustments do not necessarily result in the recognition of profits or losses
within the income statement. For example, as models are enhanced, fair value adjustments may no longer be required.
Similarly, fair value adjustments will decrease when the related positions are unwound, but this may not result in
profit or loss.
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Global Banking and Markets fair value adjustments

At 31 December

2010 2009
US$m US$m

Type of adjustment
RUSK-TEIALEA ...ttt et e et e et e et e et e et e eaeeeaaeeaeeaseenaeeaveeaseenteennean 2,171 2,955
BIA-OTTET ..ttt ettt ettt ettt et bbbt e b et ese e ese b se s eseaseneas 620 528
UNCEITAINLY ..ovviveiieeiietiieteteest ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e besees e st et eseesensesensesesseneeseneeseseebeseesenseseneesensesn 136 223
Credit risk adjustment 1,355 2,172
ONET ettt ettt ettt et s et et es e s et e s st e s e be b et et e s et ete bt e b ese e s et ese s etesseteseaeaneneas 60 32
MOAEI-TEIALEA ..ottt ettt s bt e seea e e bt e st e seesaeseesebebesaesseeseeseesaeseeneensensans 389 457
MOAET TIMIEALION ...viuvetiveiieteiieteietee ettt ettt ettt ettt te e se s esesseseebeseeseseebessesessesassesansesessesnsseneas 383 391
ONET ettt ettt ettt ettt e b e st et e stk e n et e et et e s et e st bR b e st s et s et et et et et eneesene s 6 66
Inception profit (Day 1 P&L reserves) (INOE 20) ....ccvcevieirieirieieieieieieeieeesieesseeeteeese e seesessesessenens 250 260
2,810 3,672

The most significant fair value adjustment movement related to the release of US$490m of credit risk adjustments
held for monoline insurers of which US$336m resulted from commutations. The commutations did not result

in a material gain or loss. The remainder of the decrease in the credit risk adjustment derived primarily from
commutations or restructures with non-monoline counterparties and internal credit rating upgrades of certain
counterparties.

Risk-related adjustments
Bid-offer

IAS 39 requires that portfolios are marked at bid or offer, as appropriate. Valuation models will typically generate
mid market values. The bid-offer adjustment reflects the cost that would be incurred if substantially all residual net
portfolio market risks were closed using available hedging instruments or by disposing of or unwinding the actual
position.

Uncertainty

Certain model inputs may be less readily determinable from market data, and/or the choice of model itself may be
more subjective. In these circumstances, there exists a range of possible values that the financial instrument or market
parameter may assume and an adjustment may be necessary to reflect the likelihood that in estimating the fair value
of the financial instrument, market participants would adopt rather more conservative values for uncertain parameters
and/or model assumptions than those used in the valuation model.

Credit risk adjustment

The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to the valuation of OTC derivative contracts to reflect within fair value
the possibility that the counterparty may default and HSBC may not receive the full market value of the transactions.
Model-related adjustments

Model limitation

Models used for portfolio valuation purposes may be based upon a simplifying set of assumptions that do not capture
all material market characteristics. Additionally, markets evolve, and models that were adequate in the past may
require development to capture all material market characteristics in current market conditions. In these
circumstances, model limitation adjustments are adopted. As model development progresses, model limitations are
addressed within the valuation models and a model limitation adjustment is no longer needed.

Inception profit (Day 1 P&L reserves)

Inception profit adjustments are adopted where the fair value estimated by a valuation model is based on one or more
significant unobservable inputs. The accounting for inception profit adjustments is discussed on page 254. An
analysis of the movement in the deferred Day 1 P&L reserve is provided on page 324.

311

Overview

Operating & Financial Review

Governance

%)
0
c
E
3]
2
@
&
w
<
o
c
@
=
i

Shareholder Information



HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

16 - Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value

Credit risk adjustment methodology

HSBC calculates a separate credit risk adjustment for each HSBC legal entity, and within each entity for each
counterparty to which the entity has exposure. The calculation of the monoline credit risk adjustment and sensitivity
to different assumptions is described on page 137. Of the total credit risk adjustment at 31 December 2010 of
US$1,355m (2009: US$2,172m), US$836m (2009: US$1,163m) relates to the credit risk adjustment taken against
non-monoline counterparties. The methodology for calculating the credit risk adjustment for non-monoline
counterparties is described below.

HSBC calculates the credit risk adjustment by applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the
expected positive exposure to the counterparty, and multiplying the result by the loss expected in the event of default.
The calculation is performed over the life of the potential exposure.

The probability of default is based on HSBC’s internal credit rating for the counterparty, taking into account
how credit ratings may deteriorate over the duration of the exposure through the use of historical rating transition
matrices. For most products, to calculate the expected positive exposure to a counterparty, HSBC uses a simulation
methodology to incorporate the range of potential exposures across the portfolio of transactions with the counterparty
over the life of an instrument. The simulation methodology includes credit mitigants such as counterparty netting
agreements and collateral agreements with the counterparty. A standard loss given default assumption of 60% is
generally adopted. HSBC does not adjust derivative liabilities for HSBC’s own credit risk, such an adjustment is
often referred to as a ‘debit valuation adjustment’.

For certain types of exotic derivatives where the products are not currently supported by the simulation, or
for derivative exposures in smaller trading locations where the simulation tool is not yet available, HSBC adopts
alternative methodologies. These may involve mapping to the results for similar products from the simulation tool
or where such a mapping approach is not appropriate, a simplified methodology is used, generally following the same
principles as the simulation methodology. The calculation is applied at a trade level, with more limited recognition of
credit mitigants such as netting or collateral agreements than used in the simulation methodology described
previously.

The methodologies do not, in general, account for ‘wrong-way risk’. Wrong-way risk arises where the
underlying value of the derivative prior to any credit risk adjustment is positively correlated to the probability
of default of the counterparty. Where there is significant wrong-way risk, a trade specific approach is applied to
reflect the wrong-way risk within the valuation.

HSBC includes all third party counterparties in the credit risk adjustment calculation and does not net credit risk
adjustments across HSBC Group entities. During 2010, there were no material changes made by HSBC to the
methodologies used to calculate the credit risk adjustment.

Fair value valuation bases

Financial instruments measured at fair value using a valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs

Level 3
Assets Liabilities
Designated Designated
at fair value at fair value
Available Held for through Held for through
for sale trading profit or loss Derivatives trading profit or loss Derivatives
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m USSm
At 31 December 2010
Private equity including strategic
INVEStMENtS ....ocvveveiieieceiecie e 4,057 278 120 - - - -
Asset-backed securities 1,949 566 - - - - -
Leveraged finance ..........cccccoevvvuenenee. - - - - - - 11
Loans held for securitisation ............ - 1,043 - - - - -
Structured NOES ......oovevevveeeeveirernene - - - - 10,667 - -
Derivatives with monolines .............. - - - 1,005 - - -
Other derivatives . - - - 2,956 - - 3,787
Other portfolios .......ccceeueveeererueueucncnes 2,231 3,802 467 - 726 570 8
8,237 5,689 587 3,961 11,393 570 3,806

312



Assets Liabilities

Designated Designated

at fair value at fair value

Available Held for through Held for through
for sale trading profit or loss Derivatives trading profit or loss Derivatives
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

At 31 December 2009
Private equity and strategic
INVEStMENTS ....ocvveveiceieceieceieeee e 2,949 197 345 - - - -

Asset-backed securities . 4,270 944 - - - - -
Leveraged finance ...... - 73 - - - - 25
Loans held for securitisation . - 1,395 - - - - -
Structured NOtES ....c.ocovvevvveeiieerieneenne. - 196 - - 5,055 - -
Derivatives with monolines .............. - - - 1,305 - - -
Other derivatives ........cccccovvevveeeeennnnn. - - - 3,148 — - 5,167
Other portfolios .......cccceovverererieeennne. 2,995 3,615 879 — 3,719 507 —

10,214 6,420 1,224 4,453 8,774 507 5,192

Private equity and strategic investments

HSBC’s private equity and strategic investments are generally classified as available for sale and are not traded in
active markets. In the absence of an active market, an investment’s fair value is estimated on the basis of an analysis
of the investee’s financial position and results, risk profile, prospects and other factors, as well as by reference to
market valuations for similar entities quoted in an active market, or the price at which similar companies have
changed ownership.

Asset-backed securities

Iliquidity and a lack of transparency in the market for ABSs have resulted in less observable data being available.
While quoted market prices are generally used to determine the fair value of these securities, valuation models are
used to substantiate the reliability of the limited market data available and to identify whether any adjustments to
quoted market prices are required. For ABSs including residential MBSs, the valuation uses an industry standard
model and the assumptions relating to prepayment speeds, default rates and loss severity based on collateral type, and
performance, as appropriate. The valuations output is benchmarked for consistency against observable data for
securities of a similar nature.

Loans, including leveraged finance and loans held for securitisation

Loans held at fair value are valued from broker quotes and/or market data consensus providers when available. In the
absence of an observable market, the fair value is determined using valuation techniques. These techniques include
discounted cash flow models, which incorporate assumptions regarding an appropriate credit spread for the loan,
derived from other market instruments issued by the same or comparable entities.

Structured notes

The fair value of structured notes valued using a valuation technique is derived from the fair value of the underlying
debt security, and the fair value of the embedded derivative is determined as described in the paragraph below
on derivatives.

Derivatives

OTC (i.e. non-exchange traded) derivatives are valued using valuation models. Valuation models calculate the
present value of expected future cash flows, based upon ‘no-arbitrage’ principles. For many vanilla derivative
products, such as interest rate swaps and European options, the modelling approaches used are standard across the
industry. For more complex derivative products, there may be some differences in market practice. Inputs to
valuation models are determined from observable market data wherever possible, including prices available from
exchanges, dealers, brokers or providers of consensus pricing. Certain inputs may not be observable in the market
directly, but can be determined from observable prices via model calibration procedures or estimated from historical
data or other sources. Examples of inputs that may be unobservable include volatility surfaces, in whole or in part, for
less commonly traded option products, and correlations between market factors such as foreign exchange rates,
interest rates and equity prices. The valuation of derivatives with monolines is discussed on page 137.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

16 - Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value

Reconciliation of fair value measurements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy

The following table provides a reconciliation of the movement between opening and closing balances of Level 3
financial instruments, measured at fair value using a valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs:

Movement in Level 3 financial instruments

Assets Liabilities
Designated Designated
at fair value at fair value
Available Held for through Held for through
for sale trading profit or loss Derivatives trading profit or loss Derivatives
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$Sm US$m
2010
At 1January .....coececeeevnneeeninneene 10,214 6,420 1,224 4,453 8,774 507 5,192
Total gains/(losses) recognised in
Profit Or loSS ...ceeveevreeieeeieicriee 345 158 63 (675) 166 an (240)
Total gains/(losses) recognised in
other comprehensive income' ...... 618 (101) 36) (110) 157) 74 93
Purchases ........cccoeevvevveineinieieiens 3,708 858 81 - (356) - -
New issuances .. . - - - - 4,025 - -
SALES e (2,461) (1,543) ®) - - - -
Settlements .......cccoeveveeeeinnerrerccninenns (1,032) 1 (22) 64 (948) - (820)
Transfers out .... (7,065) (629) (894) (669) (1,750) - (1,003)
Transfers in ......ccoceeeveveeceneeneieene 3,910 525 179 898 1,639 - 584
At 31 December ........cccoeevveeeeennennnns 8,237 5,689 587 3,961 11,393 570 3,806
Total gains/(losses) recognised in
profit or loss relating to assets and
liabilities held on 31 December: 113 116 17 268 180 (14) 361
— net interest iNCOME ........cceevenenne 89 - - - - - -
— trading income excluding net
interest iNCOME .......cccveveeuerunene - 98 - 268 198 - 361
— net interest income on trading
ACHIVILIES ..vevevecerierenevccieeeienne - 18 - - (18) - -
— net income/(expense) from
other financial instruments
designated at fair value ............ - - 17 - - 14) -
— dividend income .........cccvevnenne 24 - - - - - -
2009
At 1January .....occccovveeecnnnieenens 9,116 7,561 460 9,883 6,509 - 3,805
Total gains/(losses) recognised in
Profit or loSS ..ceeveeevveeieeeirieieienns (260) (730) 97 (5,275) (107) 3) (1,372)
Total gains recognised in other
comprehensive income' ............... 617 85 - 119 301 10 94
Purchases 1,785 1,598 260 22 - -
NeEW ISSUANCES ....veeeveeveereeereeereeeneens - - - - 2,522 500 -
SALES e (806) (2,166) (13) - - - -
Settlements ... (1,059) (295) (6) (104) (1,266) - (206)
Transfers out (3,043) (1,077) - (1,057) (537) - (620)
Transfers in .........cccoeveveveveeveeeineenen, 3,864 1,444 426 887 1,330 - 3,491
At 31 December .........oceeeverereerennnnne 10,214 6,420 1,224 4,453 8,774 507 5,192
Total gains/(losses) recognised in
profit or loss relating to assets and
liabilities held on 31 December: (371) (596) 98 (3,753) (136) 3) (135)
— net interest iNCOME ........cceeveneee (364) - - - - - -
— trading income excluding net
interest iINCOME .....c.ceveeerveeruennne - (640) 98 (3,753) (135) - (135)
— net interest income on trading
ACHIVILIES voveeiieieieieieieeeeeae - 44 - (1) - -
— gains less losses from financial
INVESTMENLS ..o ) - - - - -
— net income/(expense) from
other financial instruments
designated at fair value ............ - - - - - 3) -
— dividend income ..........ccceeueuene 2 - — — — —

1 Included in ‘Available-for-sale investments: Fair value gains/(losses)’ and ‘Exchange differences’ in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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Available-for-sale securities: Greater pricing certainty of valuations in ABS markets (particularly MBS) has resulted
in the transfer of assets out of Level 3 during 2010. Transfers into Level 3 were primarily related to strategic
investments in Asia.

Trading assets: Greater pricing certainty of valuations in ABS markets (particularly MBS) and certain corporate 2
bonds has resulted in the transfer of assets out of Level 3 during 2010. Transfers into Level 3 were driven by certain -°§
other corporate bonds for which pricing certainty decreased. Sales relate to disposals of whole loans, municipal bonds ‘q'>;
and various ABSs. o
Derivative assets: Transfers out of Level 3 were driven by increased observability of longer-dated equity index
volatility, particularly in Asian markets. Transfers in relate primarily to quanto structured credit transactions.
Commutations of monoline derivatives and the narrowing of credit spreads have led to an overall reduction in the
value of Level 3 assets. .
Trading liabilities: Transfers out of and in to Level 3 relate primarily to increased / decreased observability of -q;’
structured notes with embedded equity derivatives. New issuances relate to structured notes particularly those with &
embedded equity derivatives issued in the US. ©
(&)
Derivative liabilities: The increased observability in certain OTC equity derivative markets primarily in Asia led to ©
transfers out of Level 3. Transfers in were driven by structured credit transactions. i
]
Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives £
©
As discussed above, the fair value of financial instruments are, in certain circumstances, measured using valuation qg_
techniques that incorporate assumptions that are not evidenced by prices from observable current market transactions (@)
in the same instrument and are not based on observable market data. The following table shows the sensitivity of
these fair values to reasonably possible alternative assumptions:
Sensitivity of fair values to reasonably possible alternative assumptions
[¢}]
Reflected in other 8
Reflected in profit or loss comprehensive income g
Favourable  Unfavourable Favourable  Unfavourable E;J
changes changes changes changes [e}
USSm USSm USSm USSm ©
At 31 December 2010
Derivatives, trading assets and trading liabilities' ....... 554 (444) - -
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value .. 77 (75) - -
Financial investments: available for sale ..........ccccoocerininiiiennens — — 763 (744)
631 (519) 763 (744)
At 31 December 2009
Derivatives, trading assets and trading liabilities ....................... 984 (577) - -
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value ................ 102 (98) - -
Financial investments: available for sale ...........c..ccccoevveevieenennen. — — 1,161 (1,157)
1,086 (675) 1,161 (1,157)

1 Derivatives, trading assets and trading liabilities are presented as one category to reflect the manner in which these financial
instruments are risk-managed.

Financial Statements

The decrease in the effect of changes in significant unobservable inputs in relation to derivatives, trading assets
and trading liabilities during the year primarily reflected the decreased sensitivity to monoline credit risk
adjustment assumptions as exposures have reduced. The decrease in the effect of changes in significant
unobservable inputs for available-for-sale assets arose from increased pricing certainty in respect of ABSs.

=
o
=
©
S
—
]
=
=
1
o
S
o
I=
9]
—
@
I=
wn

315



HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

16 - Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value

Sensitivity of fair values to reasonably possible alternative assumptions by Level 3 instrument type

Reflected in other

Reflected in profit or loss comprehensive income
Favourable  Unfavourable Favourable  Unfavourable
changes changes changes changes
US$m US$m US$m US$m
At 31 December 2010
Private equity iNVEStMENES .......ccoeerveerieirieieieiereeeiee s 112 (71) 383 (383)
Asset-backed securities ........ 8 3 179 (181)
Loans held for securitisation 8 3 - -
Structured notes .................... 18 (16) - -
Derivatives with monolines 94 ®) — _
Other deTIVALIVES .....euevveuiriiirieieieeieeeiee et 256 (258) - -
Other POTtFOLIOS ...cveuiuierieieiiiieeeietee et 135 (150) 201 (180)
631 (519) 763 (744)
At 31 December 2009
Private equity iINVEStMENLS .......ccveverveerieirieieieieeeieesiee e 54 (54) 302 (299)
Asset-backed SECUTTHES ........ccevirieueueuiierieieieiecerieeeceeeeecaenes 41 (41) 734 (735)
Leveraged fiNance .........ccoeeveerieineninenieccee e 1 (1) - -
Loans held for securitiSation .............cceeeveerieerieenieesreseeneeenes 16 (16) - -
SHrUCLUIEd NOLES ...vvevveeiieriieeiieieieeee ettt 3 3) - -
Derivatives With mOnolines ..........ccccceveeeveirenieeieeeereeseeeen 333 (25) - -
Other deTiVAtIVES .....covoveeeueuiiireeieieeiee ettt 309 (332) - -
Other POTtfOlIOS .....ceovrureeueuiiririeieiee et 329 (203) 125 (123)
1,086 (675) 1,161 (1,157)

Favourable and unfavourable changes are determined on the basis of changes in the value of the instrument as a result
of varying the levels of the unobservable parameters using statistical techniques. When parameters are not amenable
to statistical analysis, quantification of uncertainty is judgemental.

When the fair value of a financial instrument is affected by more than one unobservable assumption, the above table
reflects the most favourable or most unfavourable change from varying the assumptions individually.

In respect of private equity investments, in many of the methodologies, the principal assumption is the valuation
multiple to be applied to the main financial indicators. This may be determined with reference to multiples for
comparable listed companies and includes discounts for marketability.

For ABSs, the principal assumptions in the models are based on benchmark information about prepayment speeds,
default rates, loss severities and the historical performance of the underlying assets.

For leveraged finance, loans held for securitisation and derivatives with monolines the principal assumption concerns
the appropriate value to be attributed to the counterparty credit risk. This requires estimation of exposure at default,
probability of default and recovery in the event of default. For loan transactions, assessment of exposure at default is
straightforward. For derivative transactions, a future exposure profile is generated on the basis of current market data.
Probabilities of default and recovery levels are estimated using available evidence, which may include financial
information, historical experience, CDS spreads and consensus recovery levels.

For structured notes and other derivatives, principal assumptions concern the value to be attributed to future volatility
of asset values and the future correlation between asset values. These principal assumptions include credit volatilities
and correlations used in the valuation of structured credit derivatives (including leveraged credit derivatives). For
such unobservable assumptions, estimates are based on available market data, which may include the use of a proxy
method to derive a volatility or a correlation from comparable assets for which market data is more readily available,
and/or an examination of historical levels.
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HSBC Holdings

The following table provides an analysis of the basis for valuing financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
fair value in the financial statements:

Bases of valuing HSBC Holdings’ financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Valuation techniques

With
Quoted Using significant
market observable unobservable
price inputs inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m
At 31 December 2010
Assets
DEIIVALIVES ....vevivieieeticteeeecieeteee ettt et eanens - 2,327 - 2,327
Financial investments: available for sale ...........cc.ccoevvevnennn. - - 2,025 2,025
Liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ..........c.cccooevveeens 12,029 4,259 - 16,288
DEIIVALIVES ..ovveviiieiieiieiieiete ettt st enaens - 827 - 827
At 31 December 2009
Assets
DETIVALIVES ...ttt eaae e - 2,981 - 2,981
Financial investments: available for sale - - 2,455 2,455
Liabilities
Financial liabilities designated at fair value .......c....ccccccceureneeee 12,549 4,360 - 16,909
Derivatives — 362 — 362

Financial instruments measured at fair value — Level 3

Financial investments measured using a valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) comprise
fixed-rate preferred securities and senior notes purchased from HSBC undertakings. The unobservable elements of
the valuation technique include the use of implied credit spreads and simplified bond pricing assumptions.

Movement in Level 3 financial instruments available for sale

2010 2009
US$m US$m
AL T JAINUATY ottt ettt ettt s st e s es e s s et et esen e s et et esesen s s eseseseseasssesesesensseesesesann 2,455 2,629
Total gains or losses:
— 1COZNISEd N PIOTIL OF LOSS ...euviveiiiiniiietcieii ettt sttt (155) 2)
— recognised in other COMPrehenSive INCOME ..........c.eevveirieririerieiieiieesee ettt saese s seesennns (275) 103
SEHIETNENES ......oouiiiiiiiiiiccc e - (275)
AL 31 DECEIMDET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et eeteeteeteeaeeaeessess et enbeseeteeteeseeaseasereensensensens 2,025 2,455
Total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss relating to those assets and liabilities
DEld 0N 31 DECEIMDET .....cveveiiieiiieiieieieeeteeete ettt ettt et ettt b s be e e se st ese e esensesensenesseneas 1) 2)

In certain circumstances, the fair value of financial instruments are measured using valuation models that incorporate
assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument and
are not based on observable market data. The following table shows the sensitivity of non-derivative financial
instruments to reasonably possible alternative assumptions:

Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives

Reflected in equity
Favourable  Unfavourable
changes changes
US$m US$m
Financial investments: available for sale
At 31 DecemDBer 2000 ......c..ooiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeee ettt ettt ettt s be bt eaesheebeeneeneeneen 34 33)
At 31 DECEMBET 2009 ....c.oovinieiiieiiieiieieietete ettt et et et et et e e se st e se st eseseeseese st ese st be st ese s eneeseneesensenensens 115 (107)
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

17 - Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value

17 Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value

The classification of financial instruments is determined in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 2.

Fair values of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value on the balance sheet

At 31 December 2009

At 31 December 2010
Carrying Fair
amount value
US$m US$m
Assets
Loans and advances to banks ...........c.ccocevvevievienienieneneseeeeeeeeeeeeieiens 208,271 208,311
Loans and advances to customers ... 958,366 934,444
Financial investments: debt securities ..............cocev... . 19,386 20,374
Financial investments: treasury and other eligible bills .............ccccceueeeee 113 113
Liabilities
DepOoSits DY DANKS .....cveveeiieiiieiirieicieieeeeteeeee et 110,584 110,563
CUSLOMET ACCOUNLS ....vveveivenietenieteteteseenesseneeseseeteseesesesseeeseneeseneesensenesseneas 1,227,725 1,227,428
Debt SECUTILIES TN ISSUE ..vvevveieiiieirietieieiierieteieteee st steseesresreese e esneseenes 145,401 145,417
Subordinated Habiliti€s ............cccoeiiierieieieieeecieeeee et 33,387 33,161

Fair values of financial instruments held for sale which are not carried at fair value on the balance sheet

Carrying
amount
US$m

179,781
896,231
17,526
101

124,872
1,159,034
146,896
30,478

Fair
value
US$m

179,658
855,780
18,097
101

124,856
1,160,036
145,888
30,307

At 31 December 2009

At 31 December 2010
Carrying Fair
amount value
US$m US$m
Assets classified as held for sale
Loans and advances to banks and customers .............ccccoeereeeeeeeeeenenns 116 116

Carrying
amount
US$m

1,356

Fair
value
US$m

1,316

The following is a list of financial instruments whose carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value
because, for example, they are short-term in nature or reprice to current market rates frequently:

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks

Items in the course of collection from other banks
Hong Kong Government certificates of indebtedness
Endorsements and acceptances

Short-term receivables within ‘Other assets’
Accrued income

Liabilities
Hong Kong currency notes in circulation
Items in the course of transmission to other banks

Investment contracts with discretionary participation features within ‘Liabilities under insurance contracts’

Endorsements and acceptances
Short-term payables within ‘Other liabilities’
Accruals

Analysis of loans and advances to customers by geographical segment

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and advances to customers

BUTOPE ettt 435,799 430,333 439,481 431,158
HONE KONE .ttt 140,691 140,699 99,381 99,694
Rest Of ASIA-PACITIC ..ovvveviieiiieiiiecceeeeeeee e 108,731 108,582 80,043 79,972
Middle East ......... . 24,626 24,539 22,844 22,538
North America . . 190,532 172,522 206,853 174,957
Latin AMETICA ..oveviieviieiiietiieieiee ettt ss e s s s s s e esesaenas 57,987 57,769 47,629 47,461
958,366 934,444 896,231 855,780
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Valuation

The calculation of fair value incorporates HSBC’s estimate of the amount at which financial assets could be
exchanged, or financial liabilities settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. It
does not reflect the economic benefits and costs that HSBC expects to flow from the instruments’ cash flows over
their expected future lives. Other reporting entities may use different valuation methodologies and assumptions in
determining fair values for which no observable market prices are available, so comparisons of fair values between
entities may not be meaningful and users are advised to exercise caution when using this data.

Loans and advances to banks and customers

The fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions, where available. In the absence of
observable market transactions, fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow models.

Performing loans are grouped, as far as possible, into homogeneous pools segregated by maturity and interest rates
and the contractual cash flows are generally discounted using HSBC’s estimate of the discount rate that a market
participant would use in valuing instruments with similar maturity, re-pricing and credit risk characteristics.

The fair value of a loan portfolio reflects both loan impairments at the balance sheet date and estimates of market
participants’ expectations of credit losses over the life of the loans. For impaired loans, fair value is estimated by
discounting the future cash flows over the time period they are expected to be recovered.

Financial investments

The fair values of listed financial investments are determined using bid market prices. The fair values of unlisted
financial investments are determined using valuation techniques that take into consideration the prices and future
earnings streams of equivalent quoted securities.

Deposits by banks and customer accounts

For the purpose of estimating fair value, deposits by banks and customer accounts are grouped by remaining
contractual maturity. Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying current rates offered for
deposits of similar remaining maturities. The fair value of a deposit repayable on demand is assumed to be the
amount payable on demand at the balance sheet date.

Debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities

Fair values are determined using quoted market prices at the balance sheet date where available, or by reference to
quoted market prices for similar instruments.

The fair values in this note are stated at a specific date and may be significantly different from the amounts which
will actually be paid on the maturity or settlement dates of the instruments. In many cases, it would not be possible to
realise immediately the estimated fair values given the size of the portfolios measured. Accordingly, these fair values
do not represent the value of these financial instruments to HSBC as a going concern.

HSBC Holdings

The methods used by HSBC Holdings to determine fair values of financial instruments for the purpose of
measurement and disclosure are described above.

The following table provides an analysis of the fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value on the
balance sheet:
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

18 — Reclassification of financial assets / 19 - Financial assets designated at fair value

Fair values of HSBC Holdings’ financial instruments not carried at fair value on the balance sheet

Assets
Loans and advances to HSBC undertakings ..........coccoeceveeenecncnnenennes

Liabilities
Amounts owed to HSBC undertakings ...........cccccceveveueeoennneccnennenene

Debt SECUTILIES TN ISSUE ..vveveieiiieiiietieieiierteeeeeeeeesie e see e ere e eseeseeseenes
Subordinated Habilities .........ccevirveiereriereieeierieeeeeeee e

18 Reclassification of financial assets

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
US$m US$m US$m US$m
21,238 21,798 23,212 23,871
2,932 2,963 3,711 3,827
2,668 2,960 2,839 3,141
13,313 14,428 14,406 15,666

During the second half of 2008, HSBC reclassified US$15.3bn and US$2.6bn of financial assets from the held-for-
trading category to the loans and receivables and available-for-sale classifications, respectively, as permitted by the
relevant amendment to IAS 39 and explained in Note 2(e) on the Financial Statements. No further reclassifications

were undertaken by HSBC in 2010 and 2009.

Reclassification of HSBC'’s financial assets

Reclassification to loans and receivables

ABSS et
Trading loans — commercial mortgage loans
Leveraged finance and syndicated 10ans ..........cccoccveencencncnncnecnennes

Reclassification to available for sale
Corporate debt and other SECUTILIES ......c..vveveveeririreereriirireeieeeereeeeieeenes

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
US$m US$m US$m US$m
5,892 4,977 7,827 6,177
522 493 553 506
4,533 4,166 5,824 5,434
10,947 9,636 14,204 12,117
91 91 1,408 1,408
11,038 9,727 15,612 13,525

The following table shows the fair value gains and losses, income and expense recognised in the income statement in
respect of reclassified assets and the gains and losses that would have been recognised if no reclassification had taken

place.

Effect of reclassifying and not reclassifying financial assets

Financial assets reclassified to:

available
loans and receivables for sale
Trading loans Leveraged Corporate
—commercial finance and debt and
mortgage syndicated other
ABSs loans loans Total securities Total
US$m USS$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
2010
Recorded in the income statement' ... 235 29 346 610 56 666
Assuming no reclassification® ............ 908 45 307 1,260 59 1,319
Net effect of reclassification .............. (673) (16) 39 (650) 3) (653)
Attributable to:
Europe (527) (16) (23) (566) ?) (568)
North America (146) - 49 97 (¢)) 98)
Middle East ......ocevvevevereiereierenans - - 13 13 - 13
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Financial assets reclassified to:

available
loans and receivables for sale
Trading loans Leveraged Corporate
— commercial finance and debt and
mortgage syndicated other %
ABSs loans loans Total securities Total E
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m )
>
2009 o
Recorded in the income statement' ... 511 32 434 977 101 1,078
Assuming no reclassification’ .......... 767 15 1,494 2276 301 2,577
Net effect of reclassification .............. (256) 17 (1,060) (1,299) (200) (1,499)
Attributable to:
Europe ......... (212) 17 (566) (761) (170) 931)
North America (44) - (543) (587) (30) 617) c%
Middle East ......ccccooevvnniiniccnnnn - - 49 49 - 49 'S
)
oc
2008 i
Recorded in the income statement' ... 303 17 192 512 22 534 'S
Assuming no reclassification” ........... (1,549) (13) (1,239) (2,801) (202) (3,003) %
c
Net effect of reclassification .............. 1,852 30 1,431 3,313 224 3,537 ic
Attributable to: 02)
EUrope .....cccccceeveveccineneeiccnee 1,537 30 803 2,370 193 2,563 =
North America .........ccccccecueueuninnnnne 315 - 601 916 31 947 §
Middle East .......cccceeeernecreccnnnnnne - - 27 27 - 27 o
@)
1 ‘Income and expense’ recorded in the income statement represents the accrual of the effective interest rate and, for 2010, includes
US$6m in respect of impairment (2009: US$163m; 2008: US$26m). The effect on the income statement for 2008 shows the income and
expense post-reclassification. In 2008 pre-reclassification, the assets were held at fair value and a loss of US$1,371m was recorded in
the period up to reclassification.
2 Effect on the income statement during the year had the reclassification not occurred.
3
Financial assets designated at fair value =
c
2010 2009 g
US$m US$m )
Financial assets designated at fair value: o
— not subject to repledge or resale by COUNLEIPATLIES ......c..cuerueuireeirueieieiierieiereeeeeeeetee e 36,990 37,166
— which may be repledged or resold by COUNtErparties ............coceveereeierieerieinieiereieieeeeeee e 21 15
37,011 37,181
Treasury and other eligible bills .. 159 223
Debt securities .......c..ccoeveeneee 18,248 20,718
EQUILY SECUITHIES ....vveuiiieieeciiiieteictcct ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt a bt saenenene 17,418 14,983 *
2
Securities designated at fair VAIUE ..........c.cceviriiieiiieiiniriecce ettt 35,825 35,924 g
Loans and advances t0 Danks ............cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiici s 315 354 £
Loans and advances t0 CUSLOIMETS .......c.coivirueueueuiriririetetetrinieeetetetresee bt etse et beseese et b seseesaebeseseaesesaebenene 871 903 %
37,011 37,181 )
©
Securities designated at fair value 2
©
Fair value' =
2010 2009 =
US$m US$m
US Treasury and US GOVErnmMent ZENCIES” ............o.ovwrrerreereeereeseesseeeseesssesssesseeessesseesseesssesseesssneenns 78 78
UK GOVEITIMEINL .....eviiiiieiieeiieetieeiteetteettesiteetteeetesstesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssasssesssesssesssssssesssssssesssesssesssensnes 1,304 4,799
HONg KONg GOVEIMIMENE ......ooviuiiiiiiiiieiieetiiet ettt ettt sttt ettt be e st sa et beneeaens 151 177
Other government .......... 4,130 3,491
Asset-backed securities® .......... 6,128 6,463
Corporate debt and other securities 6,616 5,933
EQUIIES .tttk 17,418 14,983
35,825 35,924

1 Included within these figures are debt securities issued by banks and other financial institutions of US$10,185m (2009: US$13,745m), of
which US$48m (2009: US$49m) are guaranteed by various governments.

2 Includes securities that are supported by an explicit guarantee issued by the US Government.

3 Excludes asset-backed securities included under US Treasury and US Government agencies.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

20 -

Derivatives

Securities listed on a recognised exchange and unlisted

Treasury
and other Debt Equity
eligible bills securities securities Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Fair value at 31 December 2010
Listed on a recognised exchange' ............ccccocooeververeerreriennans. 21 4,168 12,548 16,737
Unlisted 138 14,080 4,870 19,088
159 18,248 17,418 35,825
Fair value at 31 December 2009
Listed on a recognised exchange' ...........cccooveveveeveveereriesinnnnns 78 7,168 10,549 17,795
UNBSEEA .t 145 13,550 4,434 18,129
223 20,718 14,983 35,924
1 Included within listed investments are US$756m of investments listed in Hong Kong (2009: US$506m).
20 Derivatives
Fair values of derivatives by product contract type held by HSBC
Assets Liabilities
Trading Hedging Total Trading Hedging Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
At 31 December 2010
Foreign exchange ..........ccceeeevenincnencinccnnene 65,905 1,304 67,209 67,564 340 67,904
Interest rate .. 278,364 2,764 281,128 273,222 3,909 277,131
Equity ........ . 13,983 - 13,983 14,716 - 14,716
CIEdit ..ot 20,907 - 20,907 20,027 - 20,027
Commodity and other ........c.ccccoeceveinevncnnene 1,261 — 1,261 2,618 — 2,618
Gross total fair values ...........cccecevvvnccicicennnne 380,420 4,068 384,488 378,147 4,249 382,396
NELHNE vt (123,731) (123,731)
TOtAl e 260,757 258,665
At 31 December 2009
Foreign eXchange ..........coecvevevverieenieinieieienns 55,036 1,695 56,731 54,502 300 54,802
INEEIESt TALE ...eovveeveieeiiicicereccreeeeeeece e 212,102 3,506 215,608 209,351 3,274 212,625
EQUILY wvenieeieieeceee e 15,729 - 15,729 19,013 - 19,013
CIedit e 28,479 - 28,479 27,042 - 27,042
Commodity and other ............ccccovvevivecevenineenn. 1,135 — 1,135 960 - 960
Gross total fair values .........ccccovreeenenreeenens 312,481 5,201 317,682 310,868 3,574 314,442
NEHNG oot (66,796) (66,796)
TOLAl oo 250,886 247,646

The 4% increase in the fair value of derivative assets during 2010 was driven both by this increased volume of open

trades and by small net declines in yield curves of major currencies over the year. The netting adjustment increased as
increasing volumes of transactions, particularly interest rate derivatives and credit derivatives, were executed through
clearing houses, where the settlement arrangements satisfied the IFRS netting criteria.

Fair values of derivatives by product contract type held by HSBC Holdings with subsidiaries

Foreign eXChange .........ccccveeeeeieenieiiereeeee s
INTEreSt TAte ....c.ovviviiiiiiiiiicc e

At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009

Trading Trading Trading Trading
assets liabilities assets liabilities
US$m US$m US$m US$m

1,407 827 2,250 362
920 — 731 -
2,327 827 2,981 362
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Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as equities,
bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives enable
users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market risks. HSBC makes markets in derivatives for its
customers and uses derivatives to manage its exposure to credit and market risks.

Derivatives are carried at fair value and shown in the balance sheet as separate totals of assets and liabilities. A
description of how the fair value of derivatives is derived is set out on page 313. Derivative assets and liabilities on
different transactions are only set off if the transactions are with the same counterparty, a legal right of set-off exists
and the cash flows are intended to be settled on a net basis.

Use of derivatives

HSBC transacts derivatives for three primary purposes: to create risk management solutions for clients, to manage the
portfolio risks arising from client business and to manage and hedge HSBC’s own risks. Derivatives (except for
derivatives which are designated as effective hedging instruments as defined in IAS 39) are held for trading. The held
for trading classification includes two types of derivatives: those used in sales and trading activities, and those used
for risk management purposes but which for various reasons do not meet the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting.
The second category includes derivatives managed in conjunction with financial instruments designated at fair value.
These activities are described more fully below.

HSBC’s derivative activities give rise to significant open positions in portfolios of derivatives. These positions are
managed constantly to ensure that they remain within acceptable risk levels, with matching deals being utilised to
achieve this where necessary. When entering into derivative transactions, HSBC employs the same credit risk
management procedures to assess and approve potential credit exposures that are used for traditional lending.

Trading derivatives

Most of HSBC’s derivative transactions relate to sales and trading activities. Sales activities include the structuring
and marketing of derivative products to customers to enable them to take, transfer, modify or reduce current or
expected risks. Trading activities in derivatives are entered into principally for the purpose of generating profits from
short-term fluctuations in price or margin. Positions may be traded actively or be held over a period of time to benefit
from expected changes in exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices or other market parameters. Trading includes
market-making, positioning and arbitrage activities. Market-making entails quoting bid and offer prices to other
market participants for the purpose of generating revenues based on spread and volume; positioning means managing
market risk positions in the expectation of benefiting from favourable movements in prices, rates or indices; arbitrage
involves identifying and profiting from price differentials between markets and products.

As mentioned above, other derivatives classified as held for trading include non-qualifying hedging derivatives,
ineffective hedging derivatives and the components of hedging derivatives that are excluded from assessing hedge
effectiveness. Non-qualifying hedging derivatives are entered into for risk management purposes but do not meet the
criteria for hedge accounting. These include derivatives managed in conjunction with financial instruments
designated at fair value.

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives, including the contractual interest, that do not qualify
for hedge accounting are reported in ‘Net trading income’, except for derivatives managed in conjunction with
financial instruments designated at fair value, where gains and losses are reported in ‘Net income from financial
instruments designated at fair value’, together with the gains and losses on the economically hedged items. Where the
derivatives are managed with debt securities in issue, the contractual interest is shown in ‘interest expense’ together
with the interest payable on the issued debt. Substantially all of HSBC Holdings’ derivatives entered into with HSBC
undertakings are managed in conjunction with financial liabilities designated at fair value.

The notional contract amounts of derivatives held for trading purposes indicate the nominal value of transactions
outstanding at the balance sheet date; they do not represent amounts at risk. The 27% increase in the notional
amounts of HSBC’s derivative assets during 2010 was primarily driven by an increase in the number of open
interest rate contracts, reflecting increased trading volumes in the period.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

20 - Derivatives

Notional contract amounts of derivatives held for trading purposes by product type

HSBC HSBC Holdings
At At At At
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Foreign eXChange .........cocoveeveueinninieieininieeieccseee s 3,692,798 2,883,201 17,287 17,150
INEEIESE TALE ...ovvivivierieeieiieeeet ettt ettt ea et ve e re e eaeas 18,104,141 13,874,355 6,804 6,804
EQUILY ottt 294,587 217,828 - -
CIEAIL vttt nennan 1,065,218 1,237,055 = -
Commodity and other ........c.ccoveeernneeiirreec e 82,856 53,720 — —
23,239,600 18,266,159 24,091 23,954

Credit derivatives

HSBC trades credit derivatives through its principal dealing operations and acts as a principal counterparty to a broad
range of users, structuring deals to produce risk management products for its customers, or making markets in certain
products. Risk is typically controlled through entering into offsetting credit derivative contracts with other

counterparties.

HSBC manages the credit risk arising on buying and selling credit derivative protection by including the related
credit exposures within its overall credit limit structure for the relevant counterparty. Trading of credit derivatives
is restricted to a small number of offices within the major centres which have the control infrastructure and market

skills to manage effectively the credit risk inherent in the products.

Credit derivatives are also deployed to a limited extent for the risk management of the Group’s loan portfolios.

The notional contract amount of credit derivatives of US$1,065,218m (2009: US$1,237,055m) consisted of

protection bought of US$530,235m (2009: US$614,690m) and protection sold of US$534,983m (2009:

US$622,365m).

The credit derivative business operates within the market risk management framework described on pages 145 to 154.

Derivatives valued using models with unobservable inputs

The difference between the fair value at initial recognition (the transaction price) and the value that would have been
derived had valuation techniques used for subsequent measurement been applied at initial recognition, less

subsequent releases, is as follows:

Unamortised balance of derivatives valued using models with significant unobservable inputs

Unamortised balance at 1 JANUATY ........cccccovieiiieririeiieirieieieceeeee ettt ese e ebeseesenens
Deferral 0n NEW trANSACLIONS .....ccveuerveuirieirieieterteteeteeeet e eete ettt s b et sse e eseseesessesesbenesbenessesaenessenenseneane
Recognised in the income statement during the period:
— AIMOTEISALION ...veveuiaiiteteteateetetet ettt ettt ettt b ettt b bttt b b ebe et et ebebe sttt st ebebes et st et ebesese e saebenene
— subsequent to unobservable inputs becoming ObSErvable ...........cccooeverieeirieirerieieieeeeeee e
— maturity, termination or offSetting deriVAtiVE ..........c.cerieeriririeirieee e
EXChange differeNCeS ........o.eoieiiiiuiriiiricire ettt b ettt sttt
RISK REAZEA ...ttt ettt sttt

Unamortised balance at 31 DECEIMDEI! ............oovoveeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee oo eee e s ee s seesesenee

1 This amount is yet to be recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Hedging instruments

2010 2009
US$m US$m
260 204
331 192
(106) (86)
an) (19)
(163) 42)
(15) 11
(40) —
250 260

HSBC uses derivatives (principally interest rate swaps) for hedging purposes in the management of its own asset and
liability portfolios and structural positions. This enables HSBC to optimise the overall cost to the Group of accessing
debt capital markets, and to mitigate the market risk which would otherwise arise from structural imbalances in the

maturity and other profiles of its assets and liabilities.
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The accounting treatment of hedge transactions varies according to the nature of the instrument hedged and the type
of hedge transactions. Derivatives may qualify as hedges for accounting purposes if they are fair value hedges, cash
flow hedges, or hedges in net investment of foreign operations. These are described under the relevant headings
below.

The notional contract amounts of derivatives held for hedging purposes indicate the nominal value of transactions
outstanding at the balance sheet date; they do not represent amounts at risk.

Notional contract amounts of derivatives held for hedging purposes by product type

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Cash flow Fair value Cash flow Fair value
hedge hedge hedge hedge
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Foreign eXChange .........cocoveveeinnirieieiiniieieccseeee e 10,599 1,392 12,359 2,469
INEETESE TALE ...ievieiieiieiieieet ettt s eeae e 282,412 62,757 236,388 42,224
293,011 64,149 248,747 44,693

Fair value hedges

HSBC’s fair value hedges principally consist of interest rate swaps that are used to protect against changes in the fair
value of fixed-rate long-term financial instruments due to movements in market interest rates. For qualifying fair
value hedges, all changes in the fair value of the derivative and in the fair value of the item in relation to the risk
being hedged are recognised in the income statement. If the hedge relationship is terminated, the fair value
adjustment to the hedged item continues to be reported as part of the basis of the item and is amortised to the income
statement as a yield adjustment over the remainder of the hedging period.

Fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Foreign eXchange .........coveireiieniiiniercccee e 153 - 342 -
INEETESE TALE ..oovvieeiieeiicie et 443 2,226 242 1,085
596 2,226 584 1,085
Gains or losses arising from fair value hedges
2010 2009 2008
US$m US$m US$m
Gains/(losses):
— on hedging inStruments ..........c.cocoeerveerveverieennne . (830) 114 (296)
— on the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk .........coeeoeirivireiireene 868 (159) 301
38 (45) 5

The gains and losses on ineffective portions of fair value hedges are recognised immediately in ‘Net trading income’.

Cash flow hedges

HSBC'’s cash flow hedges consist principally of interest rate and cross-currency swaps that are used to protect against
exposures to variability in future interest cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear interest at
variable rates or which are expected to be re-funded or reinvested in the future. The amounts and timing of future
cash flows, representing both principal and interest flows, are projected for each portfolio of financial assets and
liabilities on the basis of their contractual terms and other relevant factors, including estimates of prepayments and
defaults. The aggregate principal balances and interest cash flows across all portfolios over time form the basis for
identifying gains and losses on the effective portions of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges of forecast
transactions. Gains and losses are initially recognised in other comprehensive income, and accumulated in the cash
flow hedging reserve, and are transferred to the income statement when the forecast cash flows affect the income
statement.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

20 - Derivatives / 21 - Financial investments

Fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Foreign eXchange ..........ccveieeriienieinieircceeceee e 1,151 340 1,353 300
INEETESE TALE ..ovvieiieeiiciice ettt 2,321 1,683 3,264 2,189
3,472 2,023 4,617 2,489

Forecast principal balances on which interest cash flows are expected to arise

More than3 5 years or less

3 months months butless but more than More than
or less than 1 year 1 year 5 years
US$m US$m US$m US$m
At 31 December 2010
AASSEES .vvvieiieieiteete ettt sttt ettt b et e b be s eneesaeneenee 163,006 97,174 58,975 1,358
LAaDILIIES .vvvvivievinieriieieieee ettt v e vt (89,112) (58,811) (42,259) (6,065)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) eXpOSULE .........c.cceeerereereucricerinnenenene 73,894 38,363 16,716 (4,707)
At 31 December 2009
AASSEES vttt ettt sttt ettt s b ettt nnenes 120,915 111,456 53,184 476
LAADIIHES .vovvveeieieieiirieiieteee ettt ens (71,143) (78,841) (39,377) (6,559)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) eXposure ............coecevevvvereeneennenne 49,772 32,615 13,807 (6,083)

This table reflects the interest rate repricing profile of the underlying hedged items.

The gains and losses on ineffective portions of such derivatives are recognised immediately in ‘Net trading income”’.
During the year to 31 December 2010 a loss of US$9m (2009: gain of US$90m; 2008: loss of US$40m) was
recognised due to hedge ineffectiveness.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

The Group applies hedge accounting in respect of certain consolidated net investments. Hedging is undertaken using
forward foreign exchange contracts or by financing with currency borrowings.

At 31 December 2010, the fair values of outstanding financial instruments designated as hedges of net investments
in foreign operations were liabilities of US$34m (2009: US$28m) and notional contract values of US$644m (2009:
US$566m).

The ineffectiveness recognised in ‘Net trading income’ in the year ended 31 December 2010 that arose from hedges
in foreign operations was nil (2009 and 2008: nil).

21 Financial investments

2010 2009
US$m US$m
Financial investments:
— not subject to repledge or resale by COUNtEIPArties ............ooeucuiiiiririciciiiiiiiciccerceeecseeeens 369,597 356,864
— which may be repledged or resold by counterparties 31,158 12,294

400,755 369,158
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Carrying amount and fair value of financial investments

2010 2009
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
US$m US$m US$m US$m 2
Treasury and other eligible bills ........c.ccoveeioinnneciinccne. 57,129 57,129 58,434 58,434 a—>)
— available fOr SAE ... 57,016 57,016 58,333 58,333 c>)
— held to MAtUIILY ..c.coeoeiieiiiieecec e 113 113 101 101
Debt securities ........ 335,643 336,632 301,600 302,171
— available for sale 316,257 316,257 284,074 284,074
— held to maturity .. 19,386 20,375 17,526 18,097
EQUILY SECUTTHES ...vevvevieiiiereieiirieieie ettt 7,983 7,983 9,124 9,124
— aVailable Or SAlE .......oeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesseseeesese e 7,983 || 7,983 || 9,124 || 9,124 | 2
>
Total financial INVEStMENLS .........cceoveerieireeireieeeieeee e 400,755 401,744 369,158 369,729 Dq:)
©
[3)
Financial investments at amortised cost and fair value =
c
Amortised Fair i
cost value' o
US$m US$m g’
At 31 December 2010 =
US TTRASUIY .ottt ettt ettt sttt ettt b ettt et e st e s b et e bt sb e e bt e st e st es s e st e st et et e saenb et e esesheebeeneeneennens 37,380 37,255 g
US Government agencies2 ........................................................................................................................ 20,895 21,339 o
US Government sponsored entities® 5,029 5,267 o
UK Government .............ccoceueenen. 31,069 31,815
Hong Kong Government 29,770 29,793
Other government .......... 108,947 109,806
Asset-backed securities® .......... 39,845 33,175
Corporate debt and other securities . 124,704 125,311
EQUEEIES +rvvrvvvveveveeeeeeeeeseesssesees e e oo e eeeeees et 5,605 7,983 Gé
403,244 401,744 g
At 31 December 2009 2
US TEEASULY «.vvvveeeerreeeeeeeeeeeeesesseeesseeeeeeseesseesseseeeeseesseessseeeessseseseesseeeeeeseseseeseeeesessesesessseeeeseessesseeeesssen 17,650 17,635 &
US Government agencies2 ....... 12,539 12,804
US Government sponsored entities’ 4,885 4,924
UK Government ..........cccocoevvenne. 9,653 9,782
Hong Kong GOVEIMIMENT ......coueuiiiiiiiiiiirieiiriei ettt ettt et ettt sttt ettt se et ete e ebeneene 37,747 37,763
OhET GOVEITIMENE ....veevieieiiietieietieteeieteste ettt ettt ettt et te st ese st et e s esebeseeseseesenseseseseseseasesessensesensesesenes 87,122 87,881
Asset-backed securities® 48,500 34914
Corporate debt and Other SECUTTHIES ........ceriruirieirieieieieietee ettt se s esens 153,639 154,902
EQUITIES -ttt b ettt b et b ettt b Rttt et be s st s e b s e st e tenenene 7,051 9,124 @
378,786 369,729 é
At 31 December 2008 o
US TTRASUIY .ottt ettt et ettt sttt ettt et e h et et e et e st e s b et e bt sbeebe e st e st ea s e st e b et et e sbesbeebeeneestestensensenbens 11,528 11,755 IS
US GOVEINMENT AZENCIES” ......veovveoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeseseesee e eseeseese e es s eeeee e es s eseessesesse s seseesesesserases 8,131 8,307 9
US Government sponsored entities® 15,109 15,240 .g
UK GOVEITINIENL «...vvvietieiieiieiieieieteetesteeteeteeteeseeseeseesaessessessesessessesseesesseeseeseessessessensensansessessesseessensensensense 16,077 16,217 c
Hong Kong GOVETINIMENT .......ccviiiiiiiieienienieriesteeit ettt ettt ettt sttt ettt et e bt saesbeebeeseeneesnens 966 989 8
Other government 60,755 61,528 i
Asset-backed securities® 55,685 36,052
Corporate debt and Other SECUTTLIES ........c.eoiiuiriruirieirieieteir ettt 145,269 143,940
EQUITIES o.vevveviieiiieieie ettt ettt ettt e st e b et et e st et e st e s e e st e s e st e s e st et e st et et b et e s et eneeseneeseneetennene 5,901 7,251
319,421 301,279

1 Included within the above figures are debt securities issued by banks and other financial institutions of US$99,733m (2009:
US$133,256m, 2008: US$140,878m), of which US$38,862m (2009: US$55,324m; 2008: US$39,213m) are guaranteed by various
governments. The fair value of the debt securities issued by banks and other financial institutions was US$100,070m (2009:
US$133,461m; 2008: US$141,526m).

2 Includes securities that are supported by an explicit guarantee issued by the US Government.

3 Excludes asset-backed securities included under US Government agencies and sponsored entities.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

21 - Financial investments / 22 —Transfers of financial assets not qualifying for derecognition

Financial investments listed on a recognised exchange and unlisted

Treasury Treasury
and other and other Debt Debt Equity
eligible bills eligible bills securities securities securities
available held to available held to available
for sale maturity for sale maturity for sale Total
US$m USSm US$m US$m US$m US$Sm
Carrying amount at 31 December 2010
Listed on a recognised exchange' ..................... 1,400 - 138,374 4,182 851 144,807
UNHSted® oo 55,616 113 177,883 15,204 7,132 255,948
57,016 113 316,257 19,386 7,983 400,755
Carrying amount at 31 December 2009
Listed on a recognised exchange' ..................... 2,334 - 135,653 2,743 911 141,641
UNHISted® .ovoovveeeveeeeeceesesesessese s 55,999 101 148,421 14,783 8,213 227,517
58,333 101 284,074 17,526 9,124 369,158

1 The fair value of listed held-to-maturity debt securities as at 31 December 2010 was US$4,332m (2009: US$2,769m). Included within
listed investments were US$1,902m (2009: US$1,670m) of investments listed in Hong Kong.

2 Unlisted treasury and other eligible bills available for sale primarily comprise treasury bills not listed on a recognised exchange but for
which there is a liquid market.

Maturities of investments in debt securities at their carrying amount

At 31 December

2010 2009
US$m US$m
Remaining contractual maturity of total debt securities:
1 WEAT OF L8SS 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt bt a ettt s e b ese s e st e s et es et et e b e s e b eseeseneesenteseneenan 92,961 75,782
5 years O 18SS DUL OVET 1 JEAT ......c.cuiuiiiieiciciiiirictcct ettt 124,596 141,683
10 years or less but over 5 years 56,926 31,934
OVET 10 YEATS ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt b et b et bt sa et s et st b et eae st bt e et et eb et benaenene 61,160 52,201
335,643 301,600
Remaining contractual maturity of debt securities available for sale:
1 YEAT OF IESS .ttt ettt ettt b bbbt bttt b e bbbttt b et etn 91,939 75,160
5 years OF 18SS DUL OVET 1 JEAT ...cvviiiiiiieieieiiiiriete ettt 117,931 135,187
10 years O €SS DUL OVET 5 YEAIS ...c.eveuirieeirieiieieiieieieteeeie ettt ettt ese e s se e se s eseneesaneesan 50,113 26,105
OVET 10 YEATS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt s sttt b et s e s s seaeas 56,274 47,622
316,257 284,074
Remaining contractual maturity of debt securities held to maturity:
1 YEAT OF IESS .ttt ettt bbbttt b et b et bbbttt eb et enen 1,022 622
5 years OF 18SS DUL OVET 1 JEAT ...cvveuiuiiirieieieiiiireet ettt sttt 6,665 6,496
10 years O €SS DUL OVET 5 YEAIS ...c.eveuirieeirieiieieiieieieteiete ettt ettt st ese st be e eseseese e eseneeseneenan 6,813 5,829
OVET 10 YEATS ...ttt ettt ettt et s et a et s ae s eaeas 4,886 4,579
19,386 17,526

Contractual maturities and weighted average yields of investment debt securities at 31 December 2010

After one year but  After five years but

Within one year within five years within ten years After ten years
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
US$m % US$m % US$m % US$m %

Available-for-sale
US Treasury ......cooeeeeeeenenneeeeueerenneenenes 8,761 0.95 13,513 1.19 9,225 2.61 4,648 4.32
US Government agencies ..............cccc...... - - 7 2.95 230 4.78 20,236 3.71
US Government-sponsored agencies ....... 859 0.70 114 1.75 1,993 3.81 445 3.60
UK Government ...........cooeveueeeenne . 3,994 2.90 11,407 2.22 13,987 2.97 1,248 2.80
Hong Kong Government . 362 0.55 407 2.95 = = = =
Other governments ...........cccccoeeuvereeneecns 28,779 2.25 44,920 4.00 6,945 4.65 2,073 4.58
Asset-backed securities ...........ococeeerennne 392 0.77 2,311 1.73 7,773 0.66 29,178 0.64
Corporate debt and other securities ......... 49,014 2.26 44,009 2.54 10,342 3.44 4,065 4.72
Total amortised COSt ......ccecereireereeennenes 92,161 116,688 50,495 61,893
Total carrying value ...........ccccoovevcccnne 91,939 117,931 50,113 56,274
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After one year but  After five years but

Within one year within five years within ten years After ten years
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
US$m % US$m % US$m % US$m %
Held-to-maturity
US Treasury ....c.cooceeeeeeereneneeeeuceseneneenenes - - 32 3.13 60 6.67 62 9.68
US Government agencies ..............cc.c...... - - - - 6 7.65 416 6.49
US Government-sponsored agencies ....... 19 5.26 28 7.14 2 6.92 1,560 6.15
Hong Kong Government .............ccceeeune. 2 3.02 - - 8 5.05 - -
Other governments ........ . 53 5.66 424 3.30 252 437 595 7.23
Asset-backed securities ........... . - - - - - - 191 6.28
Corporate debt and other securities ......... 948 4.01 6,181 4.29 6,485 4.52 2,062 5.92
Total amortised COSt ......cccoeuvueveucvrererenenee 1,022 6,665 6,813 4,886
Total carrying value ..........ccccceeeeuerenenee. 1,022 6,665 6,813 4,886

The maturity distributions of asset-backed securities are presented in the above table on the basis of contractual
maturity dates. The weighted average yield for each range of maturities is calculated by dividing the annualised
interest income for the year ended 31 December 2010 by the book amount of available-for-sale debt securities at that
date. The yields do not include the effect of related derivatives.

Transfers of financial assets not qualifying for derecognition

HSBC enters into transactions in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised financial assets
directly to third parties or to SPEs. These transfers may give rise to the full or partial derecognition of the financial
assets concerned.

- Full derecognition occurs when HSBC transfers its contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial
assets, or retains the right but assumes an obligation to pass on the cash flows from the asset, and transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. The risks include credit, interest rate, currency, prepayment
and other price risks.

- Partial derecognition occurs when HSBC sells or otherwise transfers financial assets in such a way that some but
not substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred but control is retained. These financial
assets are recognised on the balance sheet to the extent of HSBC’s continuing involvement.

The majority of financial assets that do not qualify for derecognition are (i) debt securities held by counterparties as
collateral under repurchase agreements or (ii) equity securities lent under securities lending agreements. The
following table analyses the carrying amount of financial assets that did not qualify for derecognition and their
associated financial liabilities:

Financial assets and associated financial liabilities not qualifying for derecognition

2010 2009
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying
amount of amount of amount of amount of
transferred associated transferred associated
assets liabilities assets liabilities
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Nature of transaction
Repurchase agreements ..........c.cooeueueerereereuerecnineeneeeereseeneneneaenes 124,625 122,455 108,518 107,525
Securities lending agreements ............coeceveererinennenieeneeneene 7,277 7,202 7,363 7,264
131,902 129,657 115,881 114,789

A small proportion of financial assets that do not qualify for derecognition relate to loans, credit cards, debt securities
and trade receivables that have been securitised under arrangements by which HSBC retains a continuing
involvement in such transferred assets. Continuing involvement may entail retaining the rights to future cash flows
arising from the assets after investors have received their contractual terms (for example, interest rate strips);
providing subordinated interest; liquidity support; continuing to service the underlying asset; or entering into
derivative transactions with the securitisation vehicles. As such, HSBC continues to be exposed to risks associated
with these transactions.

329

Overview

Operating & Financial Review

Governance

%)
0
c
E
3]
2
@
&
w
<
o
c
@
=
i

Shareholder Information



HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

23 - Interests in associates and joint ventures

The rights and obligations that HSBC retains from its continuing involvement in securitisations are initially recorded
as an allocation of the fair value of the financial asset between the part that is derecognised and the part that continues
to be recognised on the date of transfer. The following table analyses the carrying amount of financial assets that
qualified for partial derecognition, the extent of HSBC’s continuing involvement and the associated liabilities:

HSBC'’s continuing involvement in financial assets qualifying for partial derecognition

Securitisations at 31 December

2010 2009
US$m US$m
Carrying amount of assets (OrIZINAL) .......cueueueririririeiiiiiririeiee ettt 17,427 17,427
Carrying amount of assets (currently recognised) ........c.ccccoueue. 42 139
Carrying amount of associated liabilities (currently recognised) ..........ccoveeeverireneenieeneerereeeeee 21 69
23 Interests in associates and joint ventures
Associates
Principal associates of HSBC
At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Listed
Bank of Communications Co., Limited ............c.cccoeevviereeeerenenns 6,944 10,773 5,110 10,820
Industrial Bank Co., Limited 1,769 2,799 1,084 3,774
Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Limited ............ 5,596 13,735 4,391 10,803
SABB Takaful Company ...........ccccveueueeeinneeieeenerieeeceereeeeenene 28 49 29 99
The Saudi British Bank ........c.cccoveeecnnnicinncccneccene 1,580 3,224 1,376 3,472
15,917 30,580 11,990 28,968
At 31 December 2010
HSBC’s Issued
Country of interest in equity
incorporation equity capital capital
Listed
Bank of Communications Co., Limited .........cccooeeereineineinereeeeeeeenns PRC! 19.03% RMB56,260m
Industrial Bank Co., Limited ..........cccooeivieiiiirieeceeececeeeeiee e PRC' 12.80% RMB5,992m
Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Limited ............cccccecevnnnns PRC' 16.13% RMB7,345m
SABB Takaful Company . Saudi Arabia 32.50% SR340m
The Saudi British Bank ..........ccccoeeiverireninenieeneeseeeeceeeeee e Saudi Arabia 40.00% SR7,500m
Unlisted
Barrowgate Limited® ...........o.coovvuervuerrierieesiiesseseieseee e Hong Kong 24.64% =
Vietnam Technological and Commercial Joint Stock Bank .. . Vietnam 19.79% VND6,932,184m
Yantai Bank Co., LIMIted” ..........oerrveeumrrreeemcereeiscensesnssseesesseseseecessennns PRC' 20.00% RMB2,000m

1 People’s Republic of China.

2 Yantai Bank Co., Limited was previously known as Yantai City Commercial Bank. The investment is held through Hang Seng Bank
Limited, a 62.14% owned subsidiary of HSBC.

3 Issued equity capital is less than HK$Im.

All the above investments in associates are owned by subsidiaries of HSBC Holdings.

During 2010, HSBC disposed of its 48.92% interest in the equity capital of British Arab Commercial Bank Public
Limited Company, which was previously reported as an unlisted principal associate.

Details of all HSBC associates and joint ventures, as required under Section 409 Companies Act 2006, will be
annexed to the next Annual Return of HSBC Holdings filed with the UK Registrar of Companies.

HSBC had US$12,540m (2009: US$9,501m) of investments in associates and joint ventures listed in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, HSBC’s share of associates and joint ventures’ tax on profit was US$774m
(2009: US$491m), which is included within share of profit in associates and joint ventures in the income statement.
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Summarised aggregate financial information on associates

2010 2009
US$m US$m
HSBC'’s share of:
ASSEES uviitieetie et et e e et e et e et et e e te et e et e ettt e te ettt e teete e et et e et e ereeteeae et eereeteeeteeateeateenreereenreenen 191,286 158,890
— liabilities . 175,812 147,501
S TEVEIIUES ..vvvieutieutieateesseeseeseeseeseeseesseeseesseesseesseesseese e seesseesse e ss e ssess e aseatseets e seetsenbeenbeeteenteereenren 9,274 7,514
— PIOTIE AFLET TAX vttt ettt ettt sttt ettt et et s et e s e b e s et e s e b e st ene e ese e enn 2,479 1,735

HSBC’s investment in Bank of Communications Co., Limited was equity accounted with effect from August 2004.
HSBC’s significant influence in Bank of Communications Co., Limited was established as a result of representation
on the Board of Directors, and in accordance with the Technical Support and Assistance Agreements, HSBC is
assisting in the development of financial and operating policies and a number of staff have been seconded to assist in
this process.

HSBC’s investment in Industrial Bank Co., Limited was equity accounted with effect from May 2004, reflecting
HSBC’s significant influence over this associate. HSBC’s significant influence was established as a result of
representation on the Board of Directors, and in accordance with the Technical Support and Assistance Agreements,
HSBC is assisting in the development of financial and operating policies.

HSBC’s investment in Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Limited was equity accounted with effect
from 31 August 2005, reflecting HSBC’s significant influence over this associate. HSBC’s significant influence was
established as a result of representation on the Board of Directors. In May 2010, following the issue of shares by the
associate to a third party, HSBC’s holding was diluted to 16.13% and a dilution gain of US$188m was recognised in
‘Other operating income’.

The statutory accounting reference date of Bank of Communications Co., Limited, Ping An Insurance (Group)
Company of China, Limited and Industrial Bank Co., Limited is 31 December. For the year ended 31 December
2010, these companies were included on the basis of financial statements made up for the twelve months to

30 September 2010, taking into account changes in the subsequent period from 1 October 2010 to 31 December 2010
that would have materially affected their results.

HSBC acquired 15% of Vietnam Technological & Commercial Joint Stock Bank in October 2007. This investment
was equity accounted from that date due to HSBC’s representation on the Board of Directors and involvement in the
Technical Support and Assistance Agreement. In December 2007, as a result of a rights issue in which HSBC did not
participate, HSBC’s equity interest was diluted to 14.44%. In September 2008, HSBC increased its equity interest to
20%. HSBC’s equity interest has been subsequently diluted to below 20% due to the issue of shares by the associate
to its own employees.

Joint ventures

Principal interests in joint ventures

At 31 December 2010

HSBC’s interest Issued

Country of Principal in equity equity

incorporation activity capital capital

HSBC Saudi Arabia Limited ........c.cocccvennenicnenne Saudi Arabia Investment banking 60.00% SR50m

Vaultex UK Limited ......c.coceeueunee. England Cash management 50.00% £10m

Hana HSBC Life Insurance Co., Ltd ..........cccocuvenee. South Korea Insurance manufacturing 49.99% KRW60,201m
Canara HSBC Oriental Bank of Commerce

Life Insurance Company Limited ...........cccceeune India Insurance manufacturing 26.00% INRS,000m
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

24 -

Goodwill and intangible assets

Summarised aggregate financial infor jon on joint ventures
Summarised aggregate financial information on joint ventures

55
2010 2009
US$m US$m
HSBC'’s share of:
— CUITEIE @SSELS ..uviuvitetietteeeritetteit ettt e st et e bt sue st e ebees e e st eat et et et e saesaesbeebeeae e st eseest et et eeesaeebeeneeseeanennenne 1,481 700
— NON-CUITEIIE ASSEES ..euvvtuteueteuirteteteteteteteteaeste st st e et st eb et ebe e eae st e st st e s e bes b e e s be e es et ebe b ebeebeneese e eseneenen 97 513
— current liabilities ..... 706 621
— non-current liabilities 666 416
—1inCOmMe .....ovvveneneen 366 370
= EXPCIISES ..uveneetentetentetentetet et et e st ettt ea bt h et h et h bbb st b e h ettt h bbb h e ee st ettt en et s b et e b et et enen 328 324
Goodwill included in carrying amount of associates and joint ventures
2010 2009
US$m US$m
Gross amount
At 1 January 1,446 1,453
Additions ................ 60 5
EXChange diffEreNCES ........cvveuiieiiieiirieicieete ettt ettt st ettt b e e s et esesaeneesesaesenene 40 (12)
OLhEr CRAINZES .....veiiiiiicicii ettt ettt a bbbt as (28) -
AL 31 DECEMDET .....oovoeeeeeeceeeeee e s s es et s ss s se s es s esese s seneesennaes 1,518 1,446
1 Includes the carrying amount of goodwill arising from joint ventures of US$32m (2009: US332m).
24 Goodwill and intangible assets
2010 2009
US$m US$m
GOOAWILL <.ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt e e s e s et e s et s s e s et esen e s esesesesen st esesesesenseasesasennan 22,406 23,241
Present value of in-force long-term insurance business (‘PVIF?)' ..o 3,440 2,780
Other INtANZIDIE ASSELS .....veuiuiririeieiiiiirteteiei sttt ettt ettt b ettt ettt b st se et beseaens 4,076 3,973
29,922 29,994
1 Disclosures on PVIF are provided on page 170.
Goodwill
Reconciliation of goodwill
Rest of
Hong Asia- Middle North Latin
Europe Kong Pacific East America America Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Gross amount
At 1 January 2010 ....ccoooovieeeiiiees 15,915 123 1,053 69 12,483 4,162 33,805
AddItions ....c.cceeeivirieeineeee - - 16 - - - 16
DiSPOSalS ..ooveeeeveieieieieeee e A3) - - - a7 - (20)
Exchange differences ............ccceveennnene (1,004) 1 52 @) ) 154 (802)
Other changes .......c.ccccovevveneenccnenne (23) — (6) - - — (29)
At 31 December 2010 .......ccccevuervennenne 14,885 124 1,115 65 12,465 4,316 32,970
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January and 31 December 2010 ... — — - - (10,564) — (10,564)
Net carrying amount at
31 December 2010 ....ooooveveeverviernne 14,885 124 1,115 65 1,901 4,316 22,406
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Rest of

Hong Asia- Middle North Latin
Europe Kong Pacific East America America Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Gross amount
At 1 January 2009 .......coooeiiiicinennne 15,511 122 364 69 12,487 3,866 32,419
Additions ......... . - - 570 - - 10 580
DiSPOSalS ..coveueeveieiieeeeeeeeeee 3) - - - - - 3)
Exchange differences ..........ccccoveenenene 460 1 119 - - 294 874
Other changes .........cccovevveeeecnenerieenene. (53) — — — (4) 8) (65)
At 31 December 2009 .........ccccccceueuennne 15,915 123 1,053 69 12,483 4,162 33,805
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January and 31 December 2009 ... — — — — (10,564) — (10,564)
Net carrying amount at
31 December 2009 .......ccoceeuererennene 15,915 123 1,053 69 1,919 4,162 23,241

During 2010, there was no impairment of goodwill (2009: nil; 2008: US$10.6bn).

Impairment testing
Timing of impairment testing

HSBC’s impairment test in respect of goodwill allocated to each cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) is performed as at

1 July each year. In line with the accounting policy set out in Note 2p, goodwill is also retested for impairment
whenever there is an indication that goodwill may be impaired. There was no indication of impairment in the period
to 31 December 2010 and therefore goodwill has not been retested since 1 July 2010. For the purpose of impairment
testing, the Group’s CGUs are based on customer groups and global business separated by geographical region. The
CGUs represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Basis of the recoverable amount — value in use or fair value less costs to sell

The recoverable amount of all CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated was equal to its value in use (‘VIU’) at
each respective testing date for 2009 and 2010.

For each significant CGU, the VIU is calculated by discounting management’s cash flow projections for the CGU.
The discount rate used is based on the cost of capital HSBC allocates to investments in the countries within which the
CGU operates. The long-term growth rate is used to extrapolate the cash flows in perpetuity because of the long-term
perspective within the Group of the business units making up the CGUs. In 2010, for most CGUs, management’s
cash flow projections until the end of 2011 were used. However, due to the current economic conditions in Personal
Financial Services — Latin America, a 10-year cash flow projection was used to more accurately estimate the cash
flows for the period.

Key assumptions in VIU calculation and management’s approach to determining the values assigned to each key

assumption
2010 2009

Nominal Nominal
growth rate growth rate
beyond beyond
Goodwill at initial Goodwill at initial
1 July Discount cash flow 1 July Discount cash flow
Cash-generating unit 2010 rate projections 2009 rate  projections
US$m % % US$m % %
Personal Financial Services — Europe ............. 4,017 11.0 3.0 4,507 11.0 3.1
Commercial Banking — Europe ........c.c.cc..... 3,015 11.0 3.0 3,480 11.0 3.1
Global Private Banking — Europe .................... 4,055 11.0 3.0 4,483 11.0 3.1
Global Banking and Markets — Europe ........... 2,983 12.0 3.0 3,489 11.0 3.1
Personal Financial Services — Latin America .. 2,385 14.3 8.6 2,350 15.0 8.0

Total goodwill in the CGUs listed above ........ 16,455 18,309
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

24 - Goodwill and intangible assets

At 1 July 2010, aggregate goodwill of US$4,674m (1 July 2009: US$4,475m) had been allocated to CGUs that were
not considered individually significant. These CGUs do not carry on their balance sheets any significant intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives, other than goodwill.

Nominal long-term growth rate: external data that reflects the market’s assessment of GDP and inflation for the
countries within which the CGU operates. The rates used for 2009 and 2010 are taken as an average of the last
10 years.

Discount rate: the discount rate used to discount the cash flows is based on the cost of capital assigned to each CGU,
which is derived using a Capital Asset Pricing Model (‘CAPM’). The CAPM depends on inputs reflecting a number
of financial and economic variables including the risk-free rate in the country concerned and a premium to reflect the
inherent risk of the business being evaluated. These variables are based on the market’s assessment of the economic
variables and management’s judgement. In addition, for the purposes of testing goodwill for impairment,
management supplements this process by comparing the discount rates derived using the internally generated CAPM
with cost of capital rates produced by external sources. HSBC uses externally-sourced cost of capital rates where, in
management’s judgement, those rates reflect more accurately the current market and economic conditions. For 2010
and 2009, internal costs of capital rates were consistent with externally-sourced rates.

Management’s judgement in estimating the cash flows of a CGU: the cash flow projections for each CGU are
based on plans approved by the Group Management Board. The key assumptions in addition to the discount rate and
nominal long-term growth rate for each significant CGU are discussed below.

Personal Financial Services — Europe and Commercial Banking — Europe: the assumptions included in the cash flow
projections for Personal Financial Services — Europe and Commercial Banking — Europe reflect the economic
environment and financial outlook of the European countries within these two segments. Key assumptions include the
level of interest rates and the level and change in unemployment rates. While current economic conditions in Europe
continue to be challenging, management’s cash flow projections are based primarily on these prevailing conditions.
Risks include a double-dip recession in the UK and the continuation of base rates at their current low levels. Based on
the conditions at the balance sheet date, management determined that a reasonably possible change in any of the key
assumptions described above would not cause an impairment to be recognised in respect of Personal Financial
Services — Europe or Commercial Banking — Europe.

Global Private Banking — Europe: the revenues in Global Private Banking — Europe are predominately generated
through HSBC'’s client relationships. The cash flow forecast reflects current economic conditions and key
assumptions include the level of interest rates and client risk appetite. Further economic deterioration could result in a
decrease in assets under management and a reduction in fee and trading income through increased client risk
aversion. Based on the conditions at the balance sheet date, management determined that a reasonably possible
change in any of the key assumptions described above would not cause an impairment to be recognised in respect of
Global Private Banking — Europe.

Global Banking and Markets — Europe: the cash flows generated by Global Banking and Markets — Europe are
diversified and there is no one key assumption that drives the cash flow projection of this CGU. In line with other
CGUs, Global Banking and Markets — Europe is sensitive to changes in the interest rate environment and the strength
of economic recovery in Europe. One of the key factors which may impact the carrying value of this CGU is the level
of impairment charges which may emerge in the future, particularly in respect of holdings of available-for-sale sub-
prime and Alt-A Residential MBSs. Based on management’s current assessment of the credit quality of these
securities, which includes stressed scenarios for collateral defaults and house prices, and the level of credit support
available, management determined that a reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not cause an
impairment to be recognised in respect of Global Banking and Markets — Europe.

Personal Financial Services — Latin America: the assumptions included in the cash flow projections for Personal
Financial Services — Latin America reflect the economic environment and financial outlook of the countries within
this segment, with Brazil and Mexico being two of the largest countries included within this segment. Key
assumptions include the growth in lending and deposit volumes and the credit quality of the loan portfolios. Mexico
and Central America in particular are sensitive to economic conditions in the US which could constrain demand.
Based on the conditions at the balance sheet date, management determined that a reasonably possible change in any
of the key assumptions described above would not cause an impairment to be recognised in respect of Personal
Financial Services — Latin America.
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Other intangible assets

Movement of intangible assets excluding goodwill and the PVIF

Customer/
Mortgage Internally merchant q%
Trade servicing generated Purchased relation- S
names rights software software ships Other Total o)
US$m US$m US$m US$m USSm US$m US$m C>)
Cost
At 1 January 2010 ....ccccovereeioinnnnnenne 68 689 4,400 954 1,988 502 8,601
Additions' . - 52 960 140 48 4 1,204
Disposals . - (105) (40) 15) (79) - (239)
Amount written off ..........cccoeevirieerrienne - - (70) ?) - - (72)
Exchange differences ...........ccccovveennnenn - - (68) @) 30 27 as) 2
Other changes ........cccccoevvieiviereerenennnn. - - 20 (€] - 30) (18) )
At 31 December 2010 ......ceeveeninuenenne 68 636 5,202 1,065 1,987 503 9,461 c<|]:>)
©
Accumulated amortisation T)
At 1 January 2010 .....coooovveeeiiiieene (50) (240) 2,511) (747) 955) (125) (4,628) =
Charge for the year® ..........ccccocevvuernann. o) (105) (596) “97) (243) 30) (1,076) IE
TMpairment .......c.cceeevevveeeeerieereenenne - - a12) - - — 12) &
DiSPOSalS .....oveeeeiiieieieieeeeene - 105 33 8 68 1) 213 o
Amount written off ..........coceoeveniinene - - 70 2 - - 72 E
Exchange differences . . 1 - 48 1 (13) 1 36 o©
Other changes ........ccccevevveereeeneieennns 2 = 10 15) — 13 10 8
At 31 December 2010 ......ceeueenirennans (52) (240) (2,958) (848) (1,143) (144) (5,385) ©
Net carrying amount at 31 December
2010 o 16 396 2,244 217 844 359 4,076
Cost ©
At 1 January 2009 ......cccovveeirinnnenne 67 1,360 3,429 867 1,749 421 7,893 =
AdItions" .......ooveevveerreerrereeceiieneeeens - 116 763 65 20 10 974 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries ................... - - - - 58 - 58 ©
Disposals .....ccccceveeeueeenene. . - (29) (14) (18) (25) - (86) S
Amount written off ... - (757) (45) (1) (15) - (818) O
Exchange differences . . 1 - 247 53 201 9 511
Other changes .........c.cooeeeeeereeneucuceene. - (1) 20 (12) - 62 69
At 31 December 2009 .......cccccceoereruruenee 68 689 4,400 954 1,988 502 8,601
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2009 ......cccooeeeiininieenne (45) (1,023) (1,992) (631) (681) (52) (4,424)
Charge for the year® .........ccccoocovrvernan.. 4) 3) (433) (98) (228) (30) (796) g
TMpairment .......ccoceeevereeereeeeieeeerenne - - (6) ) 6) - 17 [}
DiSPOSalS ....eoveeeeieieieieeeeees - 29 6 18 15 - 68 g
Amount written off ..........cccoceeievieeennn. - 757 45 1 15 — 818 ®
Exchange differences ..........cocovevveurrennne (1) - (131) (32) (72) (1) (237) )
Other changes ..........ccccoeveveveveveceenennn. - - - - 2 (42) (40) ©
[3)
At 31 December 2009 .......cccceoverereennnne (50) (240) (2,511) (747) (955) (125) (4,628) =
Net carrying amount at 31 December uE_
2009 <o 18 449 1,889 207 1,033 377 3,973

1 At 31 December 2010, HSBC had US$0.2m (2009: US30.2m) of contractual commitments to acquire intangible assets.
2 The amortisation charge for the year is recognised within the income statement under ‘Amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets’, with the exception of the amortisation of mortgage servicing rights which is recognised in net fee income.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)
25 - Property, plant and equipment

25 Property, plant and equipment

Long Short Equipment
Freehold leasehold leasehold Equipment, on
land and land and land and fixtures  operating
buildings  buildings buildings' and fittings’ leases Total®
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Cost or fair value
At 1 January 2010 ......ccoeeeeeeueirninricccceeeeeeeeee 3,915 1,327 3,135 11,552 5,236 25,165
Additions at cost ....... 349 76 632 1,456 65 2,578
Fair value adjustments . 31 24 38 - - 93
DiISPOSAIS’ -..eooeeeeeeeeeee e 307) ®) (82) (355) (5,113) (5,865)
Reclassified to held for sale .........ccccooeveciniineinene (73) (16) A3 35) - 127)
Transfers . 47) (147) 199 Q) - -
Exchange differences ............coceoevevvenrienninccnecnne 47) Q) an (62) (135) (266)
Other Changes .........cocovveveereririeieieirinreeeeseieieeeas 131 422 102 (22) - 633
At 31 December 2010 ......ooooveueuiiniririeieeeceeeeeeene 3,952 1,673 4,004 12,529 53 22,211
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2010 .....occoeeeeecueirninccceieeeeeeeeee (450) (229) (1,065) (7,743) (1,876) (11,363)
Depreciation charge for the year .........cccccovvveecnenne “1) (46) (203) (1,178) (150) (1,668)
Disposals® 31 - 68 344 1,956 2,399
Reclassified (from)/to held for sale ..........cccoevevrrennnnee 24 - 1 26 - 51
TTanSTeTS .....cooveviiiiiciccecece e 23 20 (43) - - -
Impairment losses recognised . 22) - 1 (24) - 45)
Exchange differences .............ccoeeeeeernunicrccnennenecncennns S 2 5 54 45 111
Other Changes .........cocovveveereriririeieirnreieeeseieeenens (106) (54) 32) 15 2 (175)
At 31 December 2010 ......ocooveueuiiiririeieecceeeeeeeae (586) 307) (1,268) (8,506) (23) (10,690)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2010 ................. 3,366 1,366 2,736 4,023 30 11,521
Cost or fair value
At 1 January 2009 .......ccoooeeeiiniineeeeeee e 4,126 1,736 2,924 10,320 4,547 23,653
Additions at cost* 344 35 179 1,253 299 2,110
Acquisition of subsidiaries ...........coecevevereereenenennens - - 15 7 - 22
Fair value adjustments ...........cccooveeveeerieienieeeeeeeienns (58) 16 18 - - (24)
Disposals (201) (510) (98) (640) (117) (1,566)
Reclassified to held for sale .........cccoovvevineieeineinne (697) - (20) (63) - (780)
TTANSTETS .eoveveiiieiiiee e - 2) 2 - - -
Exchange differences . 342 62 90 737 507 1,738
Other changes .......c.covevvenirenieinieeneree e 59 (10) 25 (62) - 12
At 31 December 2009 .......c.ooviiririeieeeirireeeeeeeeas 3,915 1,327 3,135 11,552 5,236 25,165
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2009 ......cccoovveiiiinninieccnenneeieeeene (368) (228) (886) (6,614) (1,532) (9,628)
Depreciation charge for the year ..........cccocccevevenennene (82) (44) (193) (1,160) (169) (1,648)
DISPOSALS .. 39 46 90 495 4) 666
Reclassified to held for sale .. 46 - 3 30 - 79
Impairment losses recognised .. (30) (1) (26) (20) - 77)
Exchange differences ........ . (25) 7 (42) (496) (173) (743)
Other Changes .........ccceeveveerieinieiieenee e (30) 5 (11 22 2 (12)
At 31 December 2009 .......c.oeveueirinirinieieienininreieeeene (450) (229) (1,065) (7,743) (1,876) (11,363)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2009 ................. 3,465 1,098 2,070 3,809 3,360 13,802

1 Including assets held on finance leases with a net book value of US$11m (2009: US$18m).

2 Including assets held on finance leases with a net book value of US$204m (2009: US$513m).

3 Including assets with a net book value of US$31m (2009: US336m) pledged as security for liabilities.

4 At 31 December 2010, HSBC had US$593m (2009: US3878m) of contractual commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment.
S The disposals included under ‘Equipment on operating leases’ relate to the sale of a subsidiary, Eversholt Rail Group, during the year.

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold land and buildings are considered to be held under finance lease contracts where the value of the land
cannot reliably be separated from the value of the lease and the respective contracts do not meet the criteria for
classification as operating leases. Included within ‘Short leasehold land and buildings’ are the following amounts in
respect of assets classed as improvements to buildings, which are carried at depreciated historical cost:
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Leasehold land and buildings

2010 2009
Accumulated Accumulated
Cost depreciation Cost depreciation
US$m US$m US$m US$m
At T JANUALY .ot 1,824 (831) 1,621 (675)
AAIIONS ..ottt 181 - 175 -
DHSPOSALS ..ottt (81) 54 (89) 71
Depreciation charge for the year ..........c.cocccvevnennenccncnnene. - (133) - (133)
Impairment 10SS reCOZNISEd ........ceererireereueiririeieieieerieeeccreres - - - (24)
Exchange differences ...........ccocevveireiineiveieeieeeeseeseeeeeeas (16) - 86 (40)
Other changes ...........ccccoviiiiiiiiiiccc s 36 (23) 31 (30)
At 31 DECEMDET ...ttt 1,944 (933) 1,824 (831)
Net carrying amount at 31 December ...........ocecvvevvenieeneeneenns 1,011 993
Investment properties
Movement on the fair value of investment properties
Long Short
Freehold 1 hold leasehold
land and land and land and
buildings buildings buildings Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Fair value
At 1 January 2010 ... 640 184 237 1,061
Additions at cost ........ 240 - - 240
Fair value adjustments ..........ccccoeeereeneineninenencieeneesee e 31 24 38 93
DISPOSALS ..ttt (216) ?2) - (218)
TIANSTETS vttt ens - 42) 42 -
Exchange differences .........cooeovivirieieueininieieecceeeeeee e (34) 1) (6)) 36)
Other ChanEEeSs .......coeoeruiriiirieircieieeeeee et 6 (7) (6) (7
At 31 December 2010 .......c.ceuriririniiiieieieieircceee et 667 156 310 1,133
Fair value
At 1 January 2009 ..ot 566 188 217 971
AdItions at COSE ....cveuimiririeieieiiirireiee et 36 - - 36
Fair value adjustments ..........c.cccoveeueernninrecinnneeccereeeeceenes (58) 16 18 (24)
DISPOSALS ...ttt - 25) - (25)
Exchange differences .........cocoeveerieinieinenienrenecece e 57 5 - 62
Other ChANGES .....cueveuiiririeieitiiirieiee et 39 - 2 41
At 31 December 2009 .......c.ooeiivieieeeiierieieeeeae e 640 184 237 1,061

Investment properties are valued on an open market value basis as at 31 December each year by independent
professional valuers who have recent experience in the location and type of properties. Investment properties in Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and mainland China, which represent more than 35% by value of
HSBC’s investment properties subject to revaluation, were valued by an independent valuer who is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and who has recent experience in the locations and categories of the investment
properties.

Included within ‘Other operating income’ was rental income of US$26m (2009: US$81m; 2008: US$23m) earned by
HSBC on its investment properties. Direct operating expenses of US$3m (2009: US$2m; 2008: US$2m) incurred in
respect of the investment properties during the year were recognised in ‘General and administrative expenses’. Direct
operating expenses arising in respect of investment properties that did not generate rental income during 2010
amounted to nil (2009 and 2008: nil).

At 31 December 2010, HSBC had no contractual obligations to purchase, construct, develop, maintain or enhance
investment properties (2009: nil).

HSBC Holdings had no investment properties at 31 December 2010 or 2009.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

26 — Investments in subsidiaries

HSBC properties leased to customers

HSBC properties leased to customers included US$441m at 31 December 2010 (2009: US$434m) let under operating
leases, net of accumulated depreciation of US$19m (2009: US$18m). None was held by HSBC Holdings.

26 Investments in subsidiaries

Principal subsidiaries of HSBC Holdings

At 31 December 2010

HSBC’s
Country of interest in
incorporation equity capital
or registration %
Europe
HSBC Asset Finance (UK) Limited .........cccooveveriecerierinenenene. England 100
HSBC Bank A.S. ..o Turkey 100
HSBC Bank Malta p.l.C. .coevvueiiiiiiieiicececeeee Malta 70.03
HSBC Bank plc England 100
HSBC FTance .......cccocccoeeiveinenincicineeieecereeseeeeeeenenes France 99.99
HSBC Bank International Limited . Jersey 100
HSBC Life (UK) Limited .........cccoovvereenrnnnne. England 100
HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) S.A. Switzerland 100
HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG .........cccceovvvevereineieenee Germany 80.40
Marks and Spencer Retail Financial Services Holdings
LAMIted .ovoveviieiiieieeceeee e England 100
Hong Kong
Hang Seng Bank Limited” ..........cccccoovrrveruerrerierieeieeeeeenn. Hong Kong 62.14
HSBC Insurance (Asia) Limited Hong Kong 100
HSBC Life (International) Limited Bermuda 100
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Hong Kong 100
Rest of Asia-Pacific
HSBC Bank Australia Limited ..........cccoceoeenieneieneincene Australia 100
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited ............ccccocceevrrenenn. PRC* 100
HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad ...........cccocooeiniincincincn Malaysia 100
Middle East
HSBC Bank Middle East Limited .........cccccoeuvieveccennnicecnene Jersey 100
HSBC Bank Egypt SLAE. ..o Egypt 94.53
North America
HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited .........ccccceceennnerecncnnnierecene Bermuda 100
HSBC Bank Canada Canada 100
HSBC Bank USA, N.A. oot United States 100
HSBC Finance COorporation ............ccccoeeeeeerueereereerenneeenenns United States 100
HSBC Securities (USA) INC. ...ovvveirieieiiieieieeeeseeeeines United States 100
Latin America
HSBC Bank Argentina S.A. .....cccccovrveueienenninieeeinerieiereeens Argentina 99.99
HSBC Bank Brasil S.A. — Banco MUltiplo ........cccccccvvieueuencne Brazil 100
HSBC Mexico, S.A., Institucion de Banca Multiple,
Grupo Financiero HSBC ......c.cccoviiiirinnneccineeeeene Mexico 99.99
HSBC Bank (Panama) S.A. ......cccccoveieininnrecceereeereeeene Panama 100

1 Cumulative Irredeemable Preference shares.

2 Cumulative Redeemable Preference shares

3 Non-cumulative Irredeemable Preference shares.
4 People’s Republic of China

Issued
equity
capital

£265m
TRL652m

€88m
£797m

€337m

£1m

£94m
CHF1,363m
€28m

£67m

HKS$9,559m
HK$318m
HK$421m

HKS$22,494m

A$751m
RMBS,000m
RM115m

US$931m

EGP1,511m

US$30m
C$1,225m
US$2m

6

6

ARS1,244m
BRLS,178m

MXNS,087m
US$10m

5 Preference shares of nil par value.
6 Issued equity capital is less than US$1m.

7 Listed in Hong Kong.

Share
class

Ordinary £1
A-Common TRL1
B-Common TRL1

Ordinary €0.30
Ordinary £1
Preferred Ordinary £1
Series 2 Third Dollar
Preference US$0.01
Third Dollar
Preference US$0.01

Shares €5.00

Ordinary £1

Ordinary £1

Ordinary CHF1,000
Shares of no par value

Ordinary £1

Ordinary HK$5.00
Ordinary HK$1,000
Ordinary HK$1.00
Ordinary HK$2.50
CIP' US$1.00

CRP® US$1.00

NIP® US$1.00

Shares of no par value
Ordinary CNY1.00
Ordinary RM0.50

CRP’ US$1.00
Ordinary US$1.00
Ordinary EGP84.00

Common BMD1.00
Class 1 Pref of NPV°
Class 2 Pref of NPV°
Common of NPV
Common US$100
Common US$0.01
Common US$0.05

Ordinary-A ARS1.00
Ordinary-B ARS1.00
Shares of no par value

Ordinary MXN2.00
Ordinary PAB 1.00

Details of the debt, subordinated debt and preference shares issued by the principal subsidiaries to parties external to the Group are
included in the Notes 30 ‘Debt securities in issue’, 34 ‘Subordinated liabilities” and 38 ‘Non-controlling interests’, respectively.
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All the above subsidiaries are included in the HSBC consolidated financial statements.

Details of all HSBC subsidiaries will be annexed to the next Annual Return of HSBC Holdings filed with the UK
Registrar of Companies.

All the above make their financial statements up to 31 December except for HSBC Bank Argentina S.A., whose
financial statements are made up to 30 June annually.

The principal countries of operation are the same as the countries of incorporation except for HSBC Bank Middle
East Limited which operates mainly in the Middle East and HSBC Life (International) Limited which operates
mainly in Hong Kong.

Subsidiaries which experience significant restrictions on their ability to transfer funds to HSBC in the form of cash
dividends or to repay loans and advances

During 2010 and 2009, none of the Group’s subsidiaries experienced significant restrictions on paying dividends or
repaying loans and advances.

Subsidiaries excluding SPEs where HSBC owns less than 50% of the voting rights

At 31 December 2009, HSBC consolidated HSBC Private Equity Fund 3 (‘HPEF3’) but only had a 38.8% interest in
its equity capital. HSBC had control under IAS 27 because it was the investment adviser/manager of the fund and had
a significant equity interest.

On 30 November 2010, the Group completed the sale of an 80.1% interest in HSBC Private Equity (Asia) Limited
(‘HPEA’) to HPEA’s management. As a result, the Group no longer controls HPEF3. The Group previously
consolidated HPEF 3 by virtue of its control over HPEA, which in turn controlled HPEF3. Upon deconsolidation, the
group retains its 38.8% interest in HPEF3 as an available for sale investment. HPEF3 has been renamed The
Headland Private Equity Fund 3 Limited.

SPEs consolidated by HSBC where HSBC owns less than 50% of the voting rights

Carrying value of total

consolidated assets Nature of SPE
2010 2009
USS$bn US$bn
Barion Funding Limited .........ccccovieiciiiiininiicinccicneeeenes 4.5 4.4 Structured investment conduit
Bryant Park Funding LLC ... 3.0 3.8 Conduit
HSBC Affinity Corporation I ..........cccceceevneieeirinnnececrcnenes 4.2 4.9 Securitisation
HSBC Auto Receivables Corporation ............cceeeveereeerieeereeennes - 1.3 Securitisation
HSBC Corporate Money Fund (Euro) ..........ccccccceveeieiicnnnncnne. - 0.8 Money market fund
HSBC Funding INC V..o 5.4 5.3 Securitisation
HSBC Home Equity Loan Corporation I .. 2.8 3.1 Securitisation
HSBC Home Equity Loan Corporation IT ............ccccovvevireierenenene. 2.8 3.3 Securitisation
HSBC Investor Prime Money Market Fund ..........ccoccccocvnnnnenne. - 10.7 Money market fund
HSBC Receivables Funding, Inc I ............ 3.7 5.4 Securitisation
HSBC Receivables Inc Funding 11 . 2.0 1.8 Securitisation

HSBC Sterling Liquidity Fund ....... - 7.5 Money market fund
HSBC US Dollar Liquidity Fund ........cccoceoeineeneinereeenne - 23.4 Money market fund

Malachite Funding Limited ..........coceoviiininniniineneececeene 3.9 4.3 Structured investment conduit
Mazarin Funding Limited .... 10.3 11.3  Structured investment conduit
Metrix Funding Ltd .. 1.4 3.7 Securitisation

Metrix Securities plc ..... 1.0 4.2 Securitisation

Regency Assets Limited .........cccooeeveiinenniniincinecneneeeee 6.3 6.8 Conduit

Solitaire Funding Ltd ........cceceevininiriiiininineecrecccneeeeens 13.5 12.8 Conduit

Turquoise Receivable Trustee Ltd .........cocooveirieiviecirenieeieeeenns - 0.5 Securitisation

In addition to the above, HSBC consolidates a number of individually insignificant SPEs with total assets of
US$10.6bn. For further details, see ‘Special purpose entities’ on page 361.

In each of the above cases, HSBC has less than 50% of the voting rights, but consolidates because it has the majority
of risks and rewards of ownership of the SPE, or the substance of the relationship with the SPE is such that its
activities are conducted on behalf of HSBC according to its specific business needs so that HSBC obtains benefit
from the SPE’s operation. The consolidation of SPEs sponsored by HSBC is discussed on page 251.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

27 - Other assets / 28 —Trading liabilities / 29 - Financial liabilities at fair value / 30 — Debt securities in issue

Acquisitions

There were minor acquisitions and increases in investment in subsidiaries which increased goodwill by US$16m.

27 Other assets

2010 2009

US$m US$m

Bullion ............... 18,446 13,757
Assets held fOr Sale ........ooveirieiveireeeee e 1,991 3,118
Reinsurers’ share of liabilities under insurance contracts (NOt€ 32) ........ccecevieireeneninenneneereenieene 1,865 2,069
Endorsements and QCCEPLANCES .........covurueueriuiriririeieieirisieteteie sttt ettt ettt sttt et bbb et et beseaens 10,116 9,311
(011113 g 1ot ot o1 U1 V£SO 10,833 16,279
43,251 44,534

At 31 December 2010, “Assets held for sale’ included US$520m related to the sale of a majority interest in the
UK-based global real estate and infrastructure private equity fund management business to the unit’s senior
management team. The transaction is expected to complete in the first half of 2011. Associated liabilities of US$86m
are included in ‘Other Liabilities’.

Non-current assets held for sale

2010 2009

US$m US$m

INLETESES TN ASSOCIALES ..vevveviieriterietesieteietestetesteseeseseeteseesessesessesessesaesesesessesessesessesasseseesesasessesensesensesensesan - 105
Property, plant and QUIPIMENLT .........cccvecirieirieieieieteiee ettt be e sessesesaesessesessennne 1,333 1,639
INVESTMENE PIOPETLIES .....vevviuiiiieieiiireetetet ettt ettt s et a ettt ea et sa e seneae s 9 1
Financial assets 116 1,359
ONET ettt ettt ettt ettt e s e e st s et e b e s b e st et e s e s et es et ese b et e b e s e s e st e s et ese b e s e beseesens e s e e esensern 3 14
1,461 3,118

The property, plant and equipment classified as held for sale is the result of repossession of property that had been
pledged as collateral by customers. Substantially all of these assets are disposed of within 12 months of acquisition.
The majority arose within the geographical segment of North America. At 31 December 2009, property, plant and
equipment held for sale also included US$257m in relation to the proposed sale of 452 Fifth Avenue and 1 W. 39th
Street in New York and US$370m in relation to the proposed sale of 103 Champs Elysées and 15 Rue Vernet in
Paris. On completion of these transactions in 2010 gains of US$56m and US$194m respectively were recognised
within ‘Other operating income’.

At 31 December 2009, financial assets classified as held for sale included US$972m of vehicle finance loans and
US$366m of credit card portfolios, presented in the geographical segment of North America.

Neither a gain nor loss was recognised on reclassifying assets as held for sale during the year.

28 Trading liabilities

2010 2009

US$m US$m

DEPOSILS DY DANKS ...ttt sttt b ettt sttt 38,678 41,165
CUSTOIMET ACCOUINES ....vvieutietietieiteeeteeeteeeteeeteesteeeteeeseesseessseessesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssessseassessseasseassesseesseees 125,684 99,306
Other debt securities in iSSUE (INOLE 30) ...cerveivieieiiieiiietirieeree ettt ese et se e e eseneenes 33,726 37,592
Other liabilities — net Short POSItions IN SECUTTLIES ........ccveveueueiririeuereieirireereieieere et seseaeaes 102,615 90,067
300,703 268,130

At 31 December 2010, the cumulative amount of change in fair value attributable to changes in HSBC credit risk was
a gain of US$142m (2009: gain of US$119m).
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29 Financial liabilities designated at fair value

HSBC
2010 2009
US$m US$m 2
Deposits by banks and CUStOMET ACCOUNLS ........c.eruruerieuirieirieiereeeieieee et st eeeseeteeere e ssenesseseeseneesenene 6,527 6,586 g
Liabilities to customers under investment contracts 11,700 10,865 >
Debt securities in iSSUE (NOLE 30) ....cuirveirieiiieieieieteiete ettt ettt re s se s e ebeseese s esesseseesesassenens 46,091 38,208 ©
Subordinated Habilities (INOE 34) .....ccivveiriieiiieiiieieteeet ettt ettt ettt tesse e s e e eseneenen 19,395 20,180
Preferred SeCUTities (INOLE 34) ....oouiiiiieirieirie ettt ettt sttt et en e e e s eseseebenene 4,420 4,253
88,133 80,092
The carrying amount at 31 December 2010 of financial liabilities designated at fair value was US$1,63 Im more than C%
the contractual amount at maturity (2009: US$1,346m more). The cumulative amount of the change in fair value 'GS)
attributable to changes in credit risk was a gain of US$1,279m (2009: gain of US$1,510m). o«
@©
- .6
HSBC Holdings =
2010 2009 =
[
US$m US$m &
Subordinated liabilities (Note 34): o
— OWEA 10 Thild PATTIES ....cveueiuiieiiieiietei ettt sttt eb et ae e enen 12,029 12,549 g
—owed t0 HSBC Undertakings ........c.coeeueeirininieieiiieieieetreeeieieeet ettt et 4,259 4,360 ©
(0]
o
16,288 16,909 o
The carrying amount at 31 December 2010 of financial liabilities designated at fair value was US$855m more than
the contractual amount at maturity (2009: US$769m more). The cumulative amount of the change in fair value
attributable to changes in credit risk was a gain of US$439m (2009: gain of US$191m).
3
30 Debt securities in issue S
(=
2010 2009 0
US$m US$m 8
Bonds and MEdiUm-tEIT NOES .......ccveiruerireiieiieieiirtecite ettt ettt se e ete st be e se e eneseeseeseneesenene 162,948 160,295
Other debt SECUTTHIES TN ISSUE ....ovvevvieeietieteiteeteete et et et et et et e eteeteeteeaeeaeeteessessessesseeseeteeseessesseteessenserseneenes 62,270 62,401
225,218 222,696

Of which debt securities in issue reported as:
— trading Habilities (INOLE 28) .....c.euiueueueiririeiiiieieieteteteee ettt ettt b ettt s s enaeas (33,726) (37,592)
— financial liabilities designated at fair value (Note 29) (46,091) (38,208)

145,401 146,896

Certain debt securities in issue are managed on a fair value basis as part of HSBC’s interest rate risk management
policies. The hedged portion of these debt securities is presented within the balance sheet caption ‘Financial liabilities
designated at fair value’, with the remaining portion included within ‘Trading liabilities’. The following table
analyses the carrying amount of bonds and medium-term notes in issue at 31 December with original maturities
greater than one year:
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

30 - Debt securities in issue / 31 - Other liabilities / 32 - Liabilities under insurance contracts

Bonds and medium-term notes

HSBC
2010 2009
US$m US$m
Fixed rate
Secured financing:
0.01% to 3.99%: until 2068 6,666 5,929
4.00% to 4.99%: until 2013 1,956 1,948
5.00% to 5.99%: until 2022 387 1,315
7.00% t0 7.99%: UNLL 2019 ...oiiiiiiiieiiceeee ettt ettt ettt enene s 209 9
8.00% 10 9.99%: UNLIL 2028 .....oiviieiiieieieieietet ettt ettt sttt ettt se st ene s neesenene 394 417
10.00% or higher: until 2011 ......ccocoiiiiiiiiiiiiicccc e - 43
Other fixed rate senior debt:
0.01% 10 3.99%: UNTL 2057 ..cvineieiieeieeeeeeeeeeteee ettt ettt b st et s s e s b essebe s assnennan 39,596 22,554
4.00% to 4.99%: until 2046 12,854 15,754
5.00% to 5.99%: until 2021 19,011 25,619
6.00% to 6.99%: until 2033 11,008 11,066
7.00% to 7.99%: until 2032 3,124 3,900
8.00% t0 9.99%: until 2036 .... 254 1,737
10.00% or higher: Until 2021 ....c.c.oiiiiieieieiieeeee ettt et be et nenene 337 280
95,796 90,571
Variable interest rate
Secured financings — 0.01% to 13.99%: Until 2008 .........ccoouiveieiiinrinieieeiriretee e 8,448 13,971
FHLB advances — 0.01% t0 0.99%: until 2036 ........ccceovvueiriiieiieeieerieeree ettt eeaenene 1,000 1,000
Other variable interest rate senior debt — 0.01% to 12.99%: until 2068 ..........c.cceeveveerieieeerieeeieieeens 53,301 50,258
62,749 65,229

Structured notes
INtETESt TALE TINKEA ..vovveviieeiieiieicieteete ettt sttt et se s se b s e bese s essese e esansenis 4 5

Equity, equity index or credit-linked .. 4,399 4,490
4,403 4,495
162,948 160,295
HSBC Holdings

2010 2009
US$m US$m

Fixed rate senior debt, unsecured:
4.00% to 4.99%: until 2014 ... 1,664 1,791
6.00% t0 6.99%: UNLIL 2024 .....oiiiiiiiiiiieicicetetr ettt ettt sttt 1,004 1,048
2,668 2,839

31 Otbher liabilities
HSBC HSBC Holdings

2010 2009 2010 2009
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Amounts due to investors in funds consolidated by HSBC ......... 840 48,193 - -
Obligations under finance leases (NOte 42) ......cccecveveveerveerienns 454 644 - -
Dividend declared and payable by HSBC Holdings (Note 11) ... 1,203 1,231 1,203 1,231
Endorsements and acceptances . 10,123 9,313 - -
Other Habilities .......cccoveruereiriririeieieereieeere et 15,430 9,259 29 26
28,050 68,640 1,232 1,257

342



32 Liabilities under insurance contracts

Reinsurers’
Gross share Net
US$m US$m US$m >
At 31 December 2010 )
Non-life insurance liabilities s
Unearned premium ProvisSion ...........eccoeereeeereninierereenenineeseeeseseeseseseessssesesescses 727 (129) 598 g’
NOHFIEA CLATMS ..o ese s sseenes 879 230) 649 o
Claims incurred but N0t FEPOTTEd .......c.evveuerieirieirieieieeteee e 745 (75) 670
OFNET ettt ettt ettt b et b et n et eeeaenan 105 2 107
2,456 (432) 2,024
Life insurance liabilities to policyholders
Life (on-INKed) ....c.cooiririiiiiiiiiiciecireeece et 23,583 (673) 22,910 2
Investment contracts with discretionary participation features' ..............c..cccocoovueee..e. 22,074 - 22,074 .%’
Life (K@) eoveiirieieiiiirieieie ettt 10,496 (760) 9,736 C<‘1:>
56,153 (1,433) 54,720 ©
[3)
58,609 (1,865) 56,744 g
c
i
At 31 December 2009 3
Non-life insurance liabilities (o))
Unearned premium provision .. . 833 (135) 698 E
Notified claims ..........cccevervennns . 1,032 (245) 787 5
Claims incurred but NOt rEPOTLEd .......eevveeirieiiieieieieieieeee et 685 (82) 603 8
ONET .o s e s e s e s sassaes e saeeaeeen 178 (5) 173 o
2,728 (467) 2,261
Life insurance liabilities to policyholders
Life (NONn-INKed) ....c.cvririiiiiiiiiiieiecirtec ettt ettt 20,979 (771) 20,208
Investment contracts with discretionary participation features' . 21,014 - 21,014 -
Life (NKEA) eouenieeeeeeieiie ettt ettt 8,986 (831) 8,155 2
@©
50,979 (1,602) 49,377 c
[0)
53,707 (2,069) 51,638 S
G}

1 Though investment contracts with discretionary participation features are financial instruments, HSBC continues to treat them as
insurance contracts as permitted by IFRS 4.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

32 - Liabilities under insurance contracts

Movement on non-life insurance liabilities

Reinsurers’
Gross share Net
US$m US$m US$m
2010
Unearned premium reserve (‘UPR’)
AL T JANUATY <ottt 833 (135) 698
Changes in UPR recognised as (income)/expense .. . (83) (12) (95)
Gross Written premiums ..........oceeveeereeereenenes . 1,192 172) 1,020
Gross earned premiums ... (1,275) 160 (1,115)
Exchange differences and other movements ............cccooeeerereineinennenneneeseeeene (23) 18 )
AL 3T DECEMDET ...ttt ettt sttt ettt esessesesseneeseneesenes 727 (129) 598
Notified and incurred but not reported claims
AL T JANUATY <ottt 1,717 327) 1,390
NOtIfIed ClAIMS ....eiieiiciiiiiricic ettt ee 1,032 (245) 787
Claims incurred but NOt TEPOTTE .......eoveveieeirieirieirieeeeeeiee e 685 (82) 603
Claims paid iN CUITENE YEAT ....cevvrvrveriiiiirieietenirtrietetei ettt ettt eeenes (815) 114 (701)
Claims incurred in respect of current year 519 (111) 408
Claims incurred in respect of prior years 106 11 117
Exchange differences and other mOVemMents ...........cccoveverereineenennenecseeeceene 97 8 105
At 31 DECEIMDET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt 1,624 (305) 1,319
Notified claims ... . 879 (230) 649
Claims incurred but NOt TEPOTTE .......cveverieuirieiirieirieereeeetce e 745 (75) 670
OBRET ettt sttt ettt 105 2 107
Total non-life insurance Habilities ...........ccocverririeinieinieieeeee e 2,456 (432) 2,024
2009
Unearned premium reserve (‘UPR’)
AU T JAIUALY oo 1,136 (159) 977
Changes in UPR recognised as (inCOME)/EXPENSE .....c.oevereruereererrerenuerenrerenienesieneeseneas (233) 10 (223)
GroSS WITHEEN PIEMIUINS ....vvviuiaiiereneaiirtteteteatteteseteneesessetebeseseesaebeseseeseetesesenenes 1,339 (215) 1,124
GrOSS €arNEd PIEIMIUINS ....c.eveviieririeriererieteseereseeteteseeeseseesesesessesessenessesessessesensesens (1,572) 225 (1,347)
Exchange differences and other MOVEMENLS ..........coeueueeiririeueeinnieieeeeeeeeeenes (70) 14 (56)
AL 3T DECEMDET .....vvieieeiieiiietiieieie ettt es e st be s sessesessesaesenis 833 (135) 698
Notified and incurred but not reported claims
AL T JANUATY ottt ettt ettt ettt b e 1,276 (271) 1,005
NOUFIEA CLAIMS ...ttt 908 (230) 678
Claims incurred but NOt TEPOTLEd .......ccveverveeieieirieieieieeietee e 368 (41) 327
Claims paid i CUITENT YEAT ....coveueeriuieteieierieitrteieeeee ettt sttt et ese e (987) 156 (831)
Claims incurred in respect Of CUITENT YEAT .......cveueueirinirieiereiriririeieieeereeeteieceseeeenen 939 (156) 783
Claims incurred in respect Of Prior YEArs ........c.ccccocrrrierercireneniereerenineerereeeeneseenenes 342 2) 340
Exchange differences and other MOVEMENLS ...........ccccceeveeueueucuenininieeeucerenreereeeeeens 147 (54) 93
1,717 (327) 1,390
1,032 (245) 787
685 (82) 603
178 (5) 173
2,728 (467) 2,261
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Life insurance liabilities to policyholders

2010

Life (non-linked)

AL T JANUATY ettt ettt ettt sttt
Benefits paid ......cccocoevvieeireieeine

Increase in liabilities to policyholders .......

Exchange differences and other mOVemMents ............ccevevvvereineenennenneneereceene

AL 31T DECEMDET .....ouveuiieiieiiietiieteiee ettt sttt se s ese st esesseseeseneesenes

Investment contracts with discretionary participation features

AL 1 JANMUATY oo
Benefits PAId ...ooveiieiiiiiieeet et
Increase in liabilities to policyholders .......
Exchange differences and other movements' ..............cccovveveevveeveereeereessneeesesseeens

At 31 DECEIMDET ...oviviiieiienieieie ettt ettt ete s beete st e s ese e s e nbebessessessens

Life (linked)

AL 1 JANMUATY Lo
Benefits PaId .....ooueiieiiiiiieiet s
Increase in liabilities to policyholders .......
Exchange differences and other movements” ...............coccovueveereeevneereeseresssneessesseseens

At 31 DECEIMDET ...oviiivieiieieieie ettt ettt ste s ebeeteeseese et e e e bebessessensens

Total liabilities t0 POIICYNOIAETS .......ccceivieieiiieiiieiiee e

2009

Life (non-linked)

AL T JANUATY ettt sttt ettt st sttt
BENETItS PAIA ..veveiieiiiciiieeeee et ettt n s
Increase in liabilities to POLICYROLAETS ........c.ccceviviiueiiininiieiccirrccceeecceeeene
Exchange differences and other movements ............coceceveireineinennenecseeeeeeenes

AL 3T DECEMDET ...ttt ettt st ettt se st esesseseeseneesenes

Investment contracts with discretionary participation features

AL T JANUATY oo
Benefits Paid ....coveiieiiiiiiei e
Increase in liabilities t0 POLCYNOIAELS .....c.ccevirieueieiiriririeieiiiee e
Exchange differences and other mOVemMents' .............cco.cooveeververveseereeeeresreessesns

At 31 DECEIMDET ...ttt ettt ettt sttt st te e eseese e e e bensensesbesene

Life (linked)

AL 1 JANMUATY oo
Benefits Paid ...ooveiieiiriiieet e
Increase in liabilities t0 POLCYNOIAELS .....c.coevivirueieiiriririeieiiieece e
Exchange differences and other MOVEMENts? .............coo.ovveevvervecrercreneieeesensseesseenen.

At 31 DECEIMDET ...cvevieiieiieieieeie ettt ettt sttt st te e s ese e e ebensensesbesene

Total liabilities t0 POlICYNOLAETS .......cooeieeiieiiieieieiceeeeee e

Reinsurers’

Gross share Net
US$m US$m US$m
20,979 (771) 20,208
(1,355) 143 (1,212)

5,108 (201) 4,907

1,149) 156 (993)
23,583 (673) 22,910
21,014 - 21,014
(2,023) - (2,023)

3,716 - 3,716
(633) — (633)
22,074 — 22,074
8,986 (831) 8,155
(507) 45 462)
2,520 99 2,619
(503) (73) (576)
10,496 (760) 9,736
56,153 (1,433) 54,720

17,370 (637) 16,733

(2,098) 159 (1,939)
4,669 (98) 4,571
1,038 (195) 843

20,979 (771) 20,208

17,766 - 17,766

(1,818) - (1,818)
3,934 - 3,934
1,132 — 1,132

21,014 — 21,014
6,067 (956) 5,111

(325) 21 (304)
2,676 146 2,822
568 (42) 526
8,986 (831) 8,155
50,979 (1,602) 49,377

1 Includes movement in liabilities relating to discretionary profit participation benefits due to policyholders arising from net unrealised

investment gains recognised in other comprehensive income.
2 Includes amounts arising under reinsurance agreements.

The increase in liabilities to policyholders represents the aggregate of all events giving rise to additional liabilities to
policyholders in the year. The key factors contributing to the movement in liabilities to policyholders include death
claims, surrenders, lapses, liabilities to policyholders created at the initial inception of the policies, the declaration of

bonuses and other amounts attributable to policyholders.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)
33 - Provisions / 34 — Subordinated liabilities

33 Provisions

2010 2009

US$m US$m

AL T JANUATY oottt 1,965 1,730

Additional provisions/increase in provisions 812 894
Provisions utilised .. (564) (684)
Amounts reversed .........cocveerveerieerenenenens 132) (225)

Exchange differences and other MOVEMENLS ...........coueueuiiririeuiiciiiinieieieicee et nenne 57 250

AL 31 DECEMDET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et et et e ete et e eteeaseseettess et enbeseeteeteeseesseasereensensensens 2,138 1,965

34

Provisions include US$1,257m (2009: US$1,025m) relating to legal proceedings, investigations and regulatory

matters, US$405m (2009: US$449m) relating to costs arising from contingent liabilities and contractual

commitments; and US$118m (2009: US$158m) relating to provisions for onerous property contracts.

Subordinated

liabilities

HSBC

Subordinated liabilities
AL AMOTEISEA COST .veviuieuieiieieteteste ettt et et et ett et et et et esbesteesesseebeeseeseeseessensensensassesseeseesesseesaeseeneessensanen

— subordinated liabilities .

— PIEfEITEA SECUITLIES .....cueuiiiietiieiieietetcitt ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt sttt seenenene

Designated at fair value (INOE 29) ....c.oiriiiriiiieirier ettt
— SUDOTAINALEd HADIIILIES ...c.evvvieeiiiieieieicirteiet ettt ettt
— PIETEITEA SECUTILIES ..vvoviuieiirieiiieiieiei ittt ettt et sttt ettt s et e st e s e b et e beneese e eseneesen

Subordinated liabilities

HSBC Holdings
Other HSBC ...
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2010 2009
USSm US$m
33,387 30,478
28,309 23,893

5,078 6,585
23,815 24,433
19,395 20,180

4,420 4,253
57,202 54,911
22,878 23,048
34,324 31,863
57,202 54911




HSBC'’s subordinated liabilities

Amounts owed to third parties by HSBC Holdings (see page 349) ......cccoeeueivnnnccicnennncccnenne

Other HSBC subordinated liabilities

US$2,939m
€1,400m
US$1,250m
USS$1,250m
£700m
€800m
US$1,000m
US$1,000m
US$1,000m
€750m
£600m
US$900m
€600m
€600m
£500m
£500m
US$750m
US$750m
£500m
US$750m
US$700m
€500m
£350m
£350m
US$500m
£350m
US$500m
£300m
US$450m
£300m
CAD400m
US$400m
US$400m
US$400m
£225m
US$300m
US$300m
BRL500m
US$300m
US$300m
US$250m
BRL383m
US$250m
AUD200m
AUD200m
US$200m
US$200m
CAD200m
US$1,350m

6.676% senior subordinated notes 2021" ..........co.cooveeverveeeeeeeee e
5.3687% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities®
4.875% subordinated notes 2020 ..........cccoeireriieneeneineeeeene
4.61% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities® ..........c.ccoooerverrrrennss
5.844% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities® .............c.ccoovvrevrrrrnnn.
Callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016 ...........ccc.coeveerreerreerverererereseee s
4.625% subordinated N0tes 2014 .......ccciriiiieiiiereeee e
5.911% trust preferred securities 2035 .........co.coovrvereerereeeee e
5.875% subordinated N0tes 2034 .........c.cceviriririeiiieirinineieieen et
5.13% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities®
4.75% subordinated notes 2046 ..........ccceeoererirenineennnn
10.176% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities, series 2° ...
4.25% callable subordinated notes 2016* ............c.ccooveevveerverreeeeeeeeeeeeseeee e
8.03% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities” ............coo.rrrvrrvrrennn.
4.75% callable subordinated notes 2020° .............ccoooorvoreeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeee e
8.208% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities” ...........c.cooorrrrrrnene.
Undated floating rate primary capital Notes ...........c.cocereerrennns

5.00% subordinated notes 2020 ..
5.375% subordinated notes 2033 ...
5.625% subordinated 10tes 2035 ........oueueiiiriniririeieie e
7.00% subordinated N0tes 2039 ........ccoueueuiririririeieieieect e
Callable subordinated floating rate notes 20207 ..........ccccoeveerreerrerrversrerresssesse s
Callable subordinated variable coupon notes 2017%..............ccoooovoimirrerereereeeeeeeen.
5.00% callable subordinated notes 2023° .............cco.corververeeereeereeesreeeeeeeeeee e
6.00% subordinated NOtes 2017 ......cooveieueuiirinirieieicinirieieicer ettt
5.375% callable subordinated step-up notes 2030
Undated floating rate primary capital notes ..
6.5% subordinated notes 2023 ........c...ceueuenene.

Callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016"" ..........cc.cooovvrveeeerieeieeeeeeeeieeeenns
5.862% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities® .............coovvoverrrrrrnnne.
4.80% subordinated NOtes 2022 .........cocerieirierirenieeeieei et
Primary capital undated floating rate NOtES ........c.coveeveeeeriririeercrerireeeeeeeieeeecreeen
Primary capital undated floating rate notes (second SEries) ...........ceovvereeerveerieveruenens
Primary capital undated floating rate notes (third series) .........c.ccoeveueeeernreuccccnennne
6.25% subordinated notes 2041 .........cccoeervineeneecnnns

7.65% subordinated notes 2025 ..
6.95% subordinated notes 2011 .............
Subordinated certificates of deposit 2016 .......c.cccccevvieuecirinineiccireeece e
Undated floating rate primary capital notes, SEries 3 ........oceceverererinenirereeneeneenne
Callable subordinated floating rate notes 2017™ ..........cc..ccooorrverrverevereeereeeeeee e
Non-convertible subordinated obligations 2019 ...........ccocveverieiirierineineiceeeeene
Subordinated certificates of deposit 2015 .......
7.20% subordinated debentures 2097 ..............
Callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016" .
Callable subordinated floating rate notes 2020 ...........ccocerveereeririeerieerieereeeeeeeeens
7.808% capital SECUrities 2026 .......ccoveurueueuiriririeieicieiririeieieieer et
8.38% capital Securities 2027 .........cccccuiiiiiiiiriiiiiiec s
4.94% subordinated debentures 2021 .........cccceoeviririeieeinininieieenee e
9.547% non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities, series 1'* ..................
Other subordinated liabilities each less than US$200m ......c.ccovvvreieeeiuernnnnnicceeees

2010 2009
US$m US$m
22,878 23,048

2,174 -
1,843 1,804
1,252 -
1,185 1,077
1,087 1,136
1,070 1,152
1,009 1,002
994 993
971 950
958 960
919 961
891 890
823 904
801 862
774 785
772 806
750 750
747 -
729 776
728 712
694 688
592 639
562 608
547 550
526 521
510 531
500 500
462 483
450 449
434 412
417 382
407 407
403 404
400 400
347 363
342 312
310 321
301 287
300 300
300 299
248 247
231 220
213 213
204 180
204 —
200 200
200 200
200 190
— 1,349
3,343 3,688
34,324 31,863
57,202 54911

Subordinated loan capital is repayable at par on maturity, but some is repayable prior to maturity at the option of the
borrower, generally subject to prior notification to the Financial Services Authority and, where relevant, the consent

of the local banking regulator, and in certain cases at a premium over par. Interest rates on the floating rate loan
capital are related to interbank offered rates. On the remaining subordinated loan capital, interest is payable at fixed
rates of up to 10.176%.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)
34 - Subordinated liabilities

1 Approximately 25% of the 6.676% senior subordinated notes 2021 is held by HSBC Holdings.
2 See ‘Step-up perpetual preferred securities’ below, note (a) ‘Guaranteed by HSBC Holdings .
3 See ‘Step-up perpetual preferred securities’ below, note (b) ‘Guaranteed by HSBC Bank .
4 On 15 February 2011, HSBC gave notice to holders of its €800m callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016 and its €600m 4.25%
callable subordinated notes 2016 that it will call and redeem the notes at par on 29 March 2011 and 18 March 2011, respectively.
5 The distributions on the trust preferred securities change in November 2015 to three-month dollar LIBOR plus 1.926%.
6 The interest rate on the 4.75% callable subordinated notes 2020 changes in September 2015 to three-month sterling LIBOR plus
0.82%.
7 The interest margin on the callable subordinated floating rate notes 2020 increases by 0.5% from September 2015.
8 The interest rate on the callable subordinated variable coupon notes 2017 is fixed at 5.75% until June 2012. Thereafter, the rate per
annum is the sum of the gross redemption yield of the then prevailing five-year UK gilt plus 1.70%.
9 The interest rate on the 5.00% callable subordinated notes 2023 changes in March 2018 to become the rate per annum which is the
sum of the gross redemption yield of the then prevailing five-year UK gilt plus 1.80%.
10 The interest rate on the 5.375% callable subordinated step-up notes 2030 changes in November 2025 to three-month sterling LIBOR
plus 1.50%.
11 The interest margin on the US$450m callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016 increases by 0.5% from July 201 1.
12 The interest margin on the callable subordinated floating rate notes 2017 increases by 0.5% from July 2012.
13 The interest margin on the callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016 increases by 0.5% from May 2011.
14 In June 2010, HSBC redeemed its 9.547% non-cumulative step-up preferred securities, series 1 at par.

Footnotes 4 to 13 relate to notes that are repayable at the option of the borrower on the date of the change of the interest rate, and at
subsequent interest rate reset dates and interest payment dates in some cases, subject to prior notification to the Financial Services
Authority and, where relevant, the consent of the local banking regulator.

Step-up perpetual preferred securities
(a) Guaranteed by HSBC Holdings

The six issues of non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities (footnote 2) were made by Jersey limited
partnerships and are guaranteed, on a subordinated basis, by HSBC Holdings. The proceeds of the issues were
on-lent to HSBC Holdings by the limited partnerships by issue of subordinated notes. The preferred securities
qualify as tier 1 hybrid capital for HSBC. The preferred securities, together with the guarantee, are intended to
provide investors with rights to income and capital distributions and distributions upon liquidation of HSBC
Holdings that are equivalent to the rights that they would have had if they had purchased non-cumulative
perpetual preference shares of HSBC Holdings.

The preferred securities are perpetual, but redeemable in 2014, 2013, 2016, 2030, 2012 and 2015, respectively,
at the option of the general partner of the limited partnerships. If not redeemed, the distributions payable step-up
and become floating rate or, for the sterling issue, for each successive five-year period the sum of the then five-
year benchmark UK gilt plus a margin. There are limitations on the payment of distributions if prohibited under
UK banking regulations or other requirements, if a payment would cause a breach of HSBC’s capital adequacy
requirements, or if HSBC Holdings has insufficient distributable reserves (as defined).

HSBC Holdings has covenanted that if it is prevented under certain circumstances from paying distributions on
the preferred securities in full, it will not pay dividends or other distributions in respect of its ordinary shares, or
effect repurchase or redemption of its ordinary shares, until after a distribution has been paid in full.

If (i) HSBC'’s total capital ratio falls below the regulatory minimum ratio required, or (ii) the Directors expect
that, in view of the deteriorating financial condition of HSBC Holdings, the former will occur in the near term,
then the preferred securities will be substituted by preference shares of HSBC Holdings having economic terms
which are in all material respects equivalent to those of the preferred securities and the guarantee taken together.

(b) Guaranteed by HSBC Bank

The two issues of non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities (footnote 3) were made by Jersey limited
partnerships and are guaranteed, on a subordinated basis, by HSBC Bank. The proceeds of the issues were on-
lent to HSBC Bank by the limited partnerships by issue of subordinated notes. The preferred securities qualify as
tier 1 hybrid capital for HSBC and for HSBC Bank on a solo and consolidated basis and, together with the
guarantee, are intended to provide investors with rights to income and capital distributions and distributions upon
liquidation of HSBC Bank that are equivalent to the rights they would have had if they had purchased non-
cumulative perpetual preference shares of HSBC Bank.

The two issues of preferred securities are perpetual, but redeemable in 2031 and 2020, respectively, at the option
of the general partner of the limited partnerships. If not redeemed, the distributions payable step-up and become
floating rate. The same limitations on the payment of distributions apply to HSBC Bank as to HSBC Holdings,
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as described above. HSBC Bank has provided a similar covenant to that provided by HSBC Holdings, also as
described above.

If (i) any of the two issues of preferred securities are outstanding in November 2048 or April 2049, respectively,

or (ii) the total capital ratio of HSBC Bank on a solo and consolidated basis falls below the regulatory minimum 2
ratio required, or (iii) in view of the deteriorating financial condition of HSBC Bank, the Directors expect (ii) to -°§
occur in the near term, then the preferred securities will be substituted by preference shares of HSBC Bank ‘q'>;
having economic terms which are in all material respects equivalent to those of the preferred securities and the ©)
guarantee taken together.
HSBC Holdings
2010 2009
USSm US$m ?,
Subordinated liabilities: S
— AL AMOTEISEA COSE ...vviuitinieiiteii ettt et ettt ettt ettt ettt s et et et e b e e st ss e st ese st et eneebeneebeneeseneenennenen 13,313 14,406 C?:J
— designated at fair value (NOTE 29) .....c.eoiiiriiiieiiet et 16,288 16,909 T
29,601 31,315 e
©
=
HSBC Holdings’ subordinated liabilities ;
2010 2009 2
US$m US$m i
Amounts owed to third parties o
US$2,500m 6.5% subordinated NOLES 2037 ......ccvevvevierieiieiiecreere ettt ettt re e 2,695 2,659 8‘
€1,750m 6.0% subordinated NOtes 2019 .......c.coveiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 2,578 2,835
€1,600m 6.25% subordinated Notes 2018 ........c.covevieriireeieieeeeeeeee et 2,142 2,306
US$2,000m 6.5% subordinated NOES 2036 ........cceeirieirierieieririeieiei ettt 2,050 2,052
£900m 6.375% callable subordinated notes 2022' 1,493 1,517
US$1,400m 5.25% subordinated notes 2012 .. 1,492 1,488
US$1,500m 6.8% subordinated notes 2038 .... 1,485 1,484 &
€1,000m 5.375% subordinated NOtes 2012 ......c.covevviviiiiieiieiieieteeeeee et 1,405 1,549 g
£900m 6.0% subordinated NOES 2040 .........cccvrieirieirieirieiree ettt 1,372 - c
£750m 7.0% subordinated NOtES 2038 .........oovuiiiiiiiieeeeee e 1,210 1,267 °>)
£650m 6.75% subordinated Notes 2028 ..........cceciireiierieieieiee et nees 1,000 1,043 8
£650m 5.75% subordinated NOtES 2027 .......cc.ccvevvievieieerietieteeteete ettt et 971 1,000
€700m 3.625% callable subordinated notes 20207 .........c.cooiueeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeseeeessnene 928 1,005
US$750m Callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016° .. 750 750
US$488m 7.625% subordinated notes 2032 ..................... 582 587
£250m 9.875% subordinated bonds 2018* . 467 496
US$222m 7.35% subordinated NOtes 2032 ......c.oeueueuiirinirieieiiineeee et 258 260
US$750m Callable subordinated floating rate notes 2015 .........c..cooovvrvrreeeeereereeeeeeseeseeneenean — 750
22,878 23,048 %
Amounts owed to HSBC undertakings g
€1,400m 5.3687% fixed/floating subordinated notes 2043 — k=
HSBC Capital Funding (EUro 2) LP ..........ccccooevvirieueereseeeesseesseeessessessesseessessessssenns 1,957 2,042 )
US$1,250m 4.61% fixed/floating subordinated notes 2043 — ©
HSBC Capital Funding (DOllar 2) LP ...........coovvvoomveeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeseeeeseeesseseesseseesesenen 1,274 1,223 S
€750m 5.13% fixed/floating subordinated notes 2044 — =
HSBC Capital Funding (Euro 3) LP .......ccccooiiiiiiieiieeeeieeeeee e 1,028 1,095 ir
US$900m 10.176% subordinated step-up cumulative notes 2040 —
HSBC Capital Funding (Dollar 1) LP .......ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiciccccccccee 891 890
€600m 8.03% subordinated step-up cumulative notes 2040 —
HSBC Capital Funding (Euro 1) LP .....ccocoooiiiiiiieiieieieeeeeese e 801 862
£500m 8.208% subordinated step-up cumulative notes 2040 — g
HSBC Capital Funding (Sterling 1) LP ........ccccocoiiiiiiiiiciiccccccee 772 806 '%
USS$1,350m 9.547% subordinated step-up cumulative notes 2040 — S
HSBC Capital Funding (Dollar 1) LP® ..........c.ccocoiviveriereeeeeeeieeeseeesesssseesessesneesnns — 1,349 o
o
6,723 8,267 %
29,601 31315 3
2
1 The interest rate on the 6.375% callable subordinated notes 2022 changes in October 2017 to become three-month sterling LIBOR plus o
1.3%. The notes may be redeemed at par from October 2017 at the option of the borrower, subject to the prior notification to the FSA. o
wn
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

35 — Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities / 36 — Foreign exchange exposures

2 The interest rate on the 3.625% callable subordinated notes 2020 changes in June 2015 to become three-month EURIBOR plus 0.93%.
The notes may be redeemed at par from June 2015 at the option of the borrower, subject to the prior notification to the FSA.

The interest margin on the callable subordinated floating rate notes 2016 increases by 0.5% from October 2011. The notes are
repayable from their step up date at the option of the borrower, subject to the prior notification to the FSA.

4 The interest rate on the 9.875% subordinated bonds 2018 changes in April 2013 to become the higher of (i) 9.875% or (ii) the sum of the
yield on the relevant benchmark treasury stock plus 2.5%. The bonds may be redeemed in April 2013 at par and redemption has also
been allowed from April 1998, subject to the prior notification to the FSA, for an amount based on the redemption yields of the relevant
benchmark treasury stocks.

In March 2010, HSBC Holdings redeemed its US$750m callable subordinated floating rate notes due 2015 at par.

In June 2010, HSBC Holdings redeemed its 9.547% subordinated step-up cumulative notes 2040 — HSBC Capital Funding (Dollar 1) LP
at par.

W

AN W

35 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis, by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date, of asset and liability line
items that represent amounts expected to be recovered or settled within one year, and after more than one year.

Trading assets and liabilities are excluded because they are not held for collection or settlement over the period of
contractual maturity.

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

HSBC
At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Due after Due after
Due within  more than Due within more than
one year one year Total one year one year Total
US$Sm US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Assets
Financial assets designated at fair value ............ 3,030 33,981 37,011 3,786 33,395 37,181
Loans and advances to banks ...........cccccceveuenene. 200,098 8,173 208,271 172,916 6,865 179,781
Loans and advances to customers ...................... 424,713 533,653 958,366 381,967 514,264 896,231
Financial investments ............cccoceeevveverieeeveeenene 149,954 250,801 400,755 134,824 234,334 369,158
Other financial asSets ...........cccceeveeieveeierierieenenns 19,417 5,519 24,936 26,189 7,383 33,572
797,212 832,127 1,629,339 719,682 796,241 1,515,923
Liabilities
Deposits by banks .........cceeeveerenireneineene 105,462 5,122 110,584 118,308 6,564 124,872
CUSLOMET ACCOUNLS .....vveeveerevireeeereeiereeeae s 1,181,095 46,630 1,227,725 1,114,149 44,885 1,159,034
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ....... 10,141 77,992 88,133 4,666 75,426 80,092
Debt securities in iSSUe ........cecevvevererireeeeiennes 86,096 59,305 145,401 83,590 63,306 146,896
Other financial liabilities ............ccccccevevveerrennnne. 24,865 4,792 29,657 67,061 3,606 70,667
Subordinated 1liabilities ............cccoevivveriereerrennnns 791 32,596 33,387 369 30,109 30,478
1,408,450 226,437 1,634,887 1,388,143 223,896 1,612,039
HSBC Holdings
At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Due after Due after
Due within  more than Due within more than
one year one year Total one year one year Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Assets
Loans and advances to HSBC undertakings ...... 13,691 7,547 21,238 18,067 5,145 23,212
Financial investments - 2,025 2,025 - 2,455 2,455
Other financial assets 1 - 1 4 — 4
13,692 9,572 23,264 18,071 7,600 25,671
Liabilities
Amounts owed to HSBC undertakings .............. 1,480 1,452 2,932 277 3,434 3,711
Financial liabilities designated at fair value ....... - 16,288 16,288 - 16,909 16,909
Debt securities in issue . - 2,668 2,668 - 2,839 2,839
Other financial liabilities ............cccccovvevievierieenenns 1,782 - 1,782 1,240 17 1,257
Subordinated liabilities ............ccceevvveriereierennens — 13,313 13,313 - 14,406 14,406
3,262 33,721 36,983 1,517 37,605 39,122
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36 Foreign exchange exposures

Structural foreign exchange exposures

HSBC’s structural foreign exchange exposures are represented by the net asset value of its foreign exchange equity
and subordinated debt investments in subsidiaries, branches, joint ventures and associates with non-US dollar
functional currencies. Gains or losses on structural foreign exchange exposures are recognised in other
comprehensive income. HSBC’s management of its structural foreign exchange exposures is discussed in the ‘Report
of the Directors: Risk’ on page 149.

Overview

In its separate financial statements, HSBC Holdings recognises its foreign exchange gains and losses on structural
foreign exchange exposures in the income statement.

Net structural foreign exchange exposures c%
2010 2009 &
US$m US$m B
Currency of structural exposure .g
POUNA SEETING ..ottt ettt ettt n e 23,247 21,369 c
BUKO oo 23,222 25,284 g
Chinese renminbi 17,454 13,398 i
Brazilian reais .... 6,004 5,234 3
Mexican pesos . 5,991 5,393 8’
TIAIAN TUPEES .ttt ettt b e ettt sttt b et b e bt e st e st et esenbenene 4,754 3,836 ";‘5‘
Canadian dollars 4,012 3,620 o)
SWSS FEANCS ..o 3,357 2,910 S
HONE KONG AOLLATS ...ttt ettt sttt b et s e e st e eneeteneesenene 2,659 3,842
UAE QITRAMS ..ottt ettt b b es st s st seb s sennens 2,469 2,209
TUTKIST TIFA ..ottt ettt ettt e et et eeteeteeteeaeeasent et e s eseeseeaeeteeseesseasersensensensens 1,854 1,741
Malaysian ringgit 1,619 1,300
Korean won ......... 1,456 1,412
Taiwanese dollars ... 1,429 547 &
Australian dollars 1,381 1,017 =
Indonesian rupiah 1,190 1,057 c
SAUAL TIYALS <....eveveooee oo ee e e 907 657 2
ATZENEINE PESOS .veuvnieenieteaietentetertett st et eteseeteseeb et s et es e s e e st et eseebeateb et ebe st esesaes e et e st et et ebe s ebe st eneseeseeteseebeneane 881 675 8
EZYPHAN POUNAS ....viiiiiieieieiieete ettt bttt ettt sttt bttt b nene 642 561
PRILIPPING PESOS .vviveriienietiietiieterieit st etet ettt ettt eseste st eseseetessesessesessesesseseeseseesensesensesessesesseseesesessennnn 635 473
Vietnamese dong ... 621 505
Singapore dollars .... 596 556
Qatari rial ......... 510 384
TRAT DANE ..ottt bbbt 424 357
C08ta RICAN COLOM ..ttt ettt s 416 375
HONAUIAN TEMIPITA <..vvoieveieeiiieeiececie ettt s et s st et b st s s s nsnsesas 291 282 o
JAPANESE YOI .ttt ettt ettt sttt st sttt b et bt b et ae ettt neene 267 228 5
Colombian pesos . 266 220 g
Russian rouble ... 257 295 k=
Chilean pesos .......... 249 230 )
SOUth ATICAN TANA ...voiviieiiiciceccceeteee ettt et ettt ettt ettt et et e eteeteeseeaeeteessensensensensenean 238 201 o
OMANT AL ..o 234 210 S
BIunel dOLLATS .....cvevueiiiiiiiiecicere ettt ettt ettt 227 132 g
JOTAANTAN QINAT ....ioviiiieiieieieieee ettt ettt beeteea e ese e st et e s s essessesseebeeseeseeseeseeseeseeneenseneens 181 159 iT
NEW Zealand dOLLATS .......c.c.eoiririiieiiiireieie ettt ettt bbbttt bttt nene 172 161
ALGEIIAN AINAT ...ttt ettt ettt et et e e e s et et et esessesesseneeseseesensesensesesesesenenseseesesensennnn 155 146
Sri Lankan rupee . 136 141
Bahraini dinar .. 133 85
Kazakh tenge .......cccoeeeenenne 109 64
Others, each less than USSTO0M .........cccoeiiririereieeiirieieieteeeeetet ettt esete s se st s b st ass s sesasesnas 658 523
TTOTAL oottt ettt s etk s bt e et h et et s s s At seb ettt s bt b bt et naenn 111,303 101,789

Shareholders’ equity would decrease by US$2,213m (2009: US$2,222m) if euro and sterling foreign currency
exchange rates weakened by 5% relative to the US dollar.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

37 -

37

Assets charged as security / 38 — Non-controlling interests / 39 — Share capital and other equity instruments

Assets charged as security for liabilities and collateral accepted as security for assets

38

Financial assets pledged to secure liabilities

Assets pledged at 31 December

2010 2009

US$m US$m

Treasury bills and other eligible SECUTIIES .........ccueueueueiriririeieiciirieeiceere et 5,859 3,970
Loans and advances t0 DANKS .........c.oocviioiiiiiieieeeeeeeceeeeee ettt ettt ettt eae et e et eae e et e ereeereeenaeeneeenaeenaean 11,773 6,767
Loans and advances to customers 60,500 77,699
Debt securities . 214,126 203,766
Equity shares .... 7,216 7,305
OBRET .ttt ettt sttt ettt h ettt ettt b et st b s 931 646
300,405 300,153

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to collateralised transactions, including,
where relevant, standard securities lending and repurchase agreements.
Collateral accepted as security for assets

The fair value of assets accepted as collateral that HSBC is permitted to sell or repledge in the absence of default is
US$333,921m (2009: US$362,560m). The fair value of any such collateral that has been sold or repledged was
US$205,470m (2009: US$215,940m). HSBC is obliged to return equivalent securities.

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard securities borrowing and
reverse repurchase agreements.

Non-controlling interests

2010 2009
US$m US$m
Non-controlling interests attributable to holders of ordinary shares in subsidiaries ............c.cccccceeeueune 4,522 4,665
Preference shares issued by SUDSIQIATIES ........c.ccoiriririiueiiiininiciciciir et 2,726 2,697
7,248 7,362
Preference shares issued by subsidiaries

2010 2009
US$m US$m
US$575m 6.36% non-cumulative preferred stock, Series B' .........c.ccooovrierieirieieieisieeiee s 559 559
US$518m Floating rate non-cumulative preferred stock, Series FZ ........cooooerverieerresrreerieennns 518 518
US$374m Floating rate non-cumulative preferred stock, Series G ..........coovvvmivrnrrnnirioniieinsionnns 374 374
US$374m 6.50% non-cumulative preferred stock, Series HY .........ccccooovvvveeeerieiieeseeeesreneenans 374 374
CAD250m Non-cumulative 5 year rate reset class 1 preferred shares, Series E* . 251 238
CAD175m Non-cumulative redeemable class 1 preferred shares, Series C° . 175 167
CAD175m Non-cumulative class 1 preferred shares, Series D® ........c.ccoooorvereereereereereereennan 175 167

US$150m Depositary shares each representing 25% interest in a share of
adjustable-rate cumulative preferred stock, Series D ...........ccooovvvrrvrrrsiierienians 150 150
US$150m Cumulative preferred SLOCK” .........iviveerveeeeeesises e 150 150
2,726 2,697

1 The Series B preferred stock has been redeemable at the option of HSBC Finance Corporation, in whole or in part, from 24 June 2010
at par.

2 The Series F preferred stock has been redeemable at par at the option of HSBC USA, Inc., in whole or in part, on any dividend payment
date from 7 April 2010.

3 The Series G and Series H preferred stock are redeemable at par at the option of HSBC USA, Inc., in whole or in part, at any time from
1 January 2011 and 1 July 2011, respectively.

4 The Series E preferred shares are redeemable at par at the option of HSBC Bank Canada, in whole or in part commencing 30 June 2014
and on 30 June every five years thereafter.

S The Series C and Series D preferred shares have been redeemable at a declining premium above par at the option of HSBC Bank
Canada, in whole or in part, from 30 June 2010 and 31 December 2010, respectively.

6 The preferred stock has been redeemable at the option of HSBC USA, Inc., in whole or in part, from 1 July 1999 at par.

7 The preferred stock has been redeemable at the option of HSBC USA, Inc., in whole or in part, from 1 October 2007 at par.
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All redemptions are subject to prior notification to the Financial Services Authority and, where relevant, the local
banking regulator.

Called up share capital and other equity instruments

Issued and fully paid

2010 2009
US$m US$m
HSBC Holdings ordinary SRAres' .............cooooueiiveiiviiieeeieseeeeeeeeses s sessssseesssssssessssssesssssssnnas 8,843 8,705
Number US$Sm
HSBC Holdings ordinary shares of US$0.50 each
At 1JanUAIY 2010 ..ottt 17,408,206,768 8,705
Shares issued under HSBC employee Share plans ............ccceceverirenieinieiieenieeseeseeeveeeieee e 25,001,734 12
Shares issued in lieu Of dIVIAENAS ......ccveuirieiiiirieee et 252,947,400 126
At 31 December 2010 .....c.cucuiiiiiiiiicicieii et 17,686,155,902 8,843
At 1January 2009 ....c.cccooveueiirininieecete ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt a e neae 12,105,265,082 6,053
Shares issued under HSBC employee share plans ............cocoecevirirnieicciinninieiecinneeieeeeseeee e 7,476,952 4
Shares issued in lieu Of AIVIAENAS .......cceiiviiiiiiiiiii ettt eae e ere s 235,225,669 118
Shares issued in respect Of TIGNS ISSUE ..c.covvveveuiiiririeieieiiirree ettt 5,060,239,065 2,530
At 31 DECemBEI 2009 .......cooviiiiiiiiiieieieteirr ettt bbbttt 17,408,206,768 8,705
1 All ordinary shares in issue confer identical rights in respect of capital, dividends, voting and otherwise.
Number US$m
HSBC Holdings non-cumulative preference shares of US$0.01 each
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 .........c.oucueuiiriririeiiiiiiecccee et 1,450,000 -
At 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2000 .........cceeuiiriririeiecininieieieeenire ettt ettt 1,450,000 -

Dividends on the HSBC Holdings non-cumulative dollar preference shares (‘Dollar Preference Shares’) in issue are
paid quarterly at the sole and absolute discretion of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors will not declare a
dividend on the Dollar Preference Shares in issue if payment of the dividend would cause HSBC Holdings not to
meet the applicable capital adequacy requirements of the FSA or the profit of HSBC Holdings available for
distribution as dividends is not sufficient to enable HSBC Holdings to pay in full both dividends on the Dollar
Preference Shares in issue and dividends on any other shares that are scheduled to be paid on the same date and that
have an equal right to dividends. HSBC Holdings may not declare or pay dividends on any class of its shares ranking
lower in the right to dividends than the Dollar Preference Shares in issue nor redeem nor purchase in any manner any
of its other shares ranking equal with or lower than the Dollar Preference Shares in issue unless it has paid in full, or
set aside an amount to provide for payment in full, the dividends on the Dollar Preference Shares in issue for the
then-current dividend period. The Dollar Preference Shares in issue carry no rights to conversion into ordinary shares
of HSBC Holdings. Holders of the Dollar Preference Shares in issue will only be entitled to attend and vote at general
meetings of shareholders of HSBC Holdings if the dividend payable on the Dollar Preference Shares in issue has not
been paid in full for four consecutive dividend payment dates. In such circumstances, holders of the Dollar
Preference Shares in issue will be entitled to vote on all matters put to general meetings until such time as HSBC
Holdings has paid a full dividend on the Dollar Preference Shares in issue. HSBC Holdings may redeem the Dollar
Preference Shares in issue in whole at any time on or after 16 December 2010, subject to prior notification to the
FSA.

HSBC Holdings non-cumulative preference shares of £0.01 each

On 29 December 2010 HSBC Holdings issued one non-cumulative sterling preference share of £0.01 (‘Sterling
Preference Share’) to facilitate the cancellation of the non-voting deferred shares and comply with the provisions of
the Companies (Authorised Minimum) Regulations 2009. Dividends on the Sterling Preference Share in issue are
paid quarterly at the sole and absolute discretion of the Board. The Sterling Preference Share in issue carries no rights
to conversion into ordinary shares of HSBC Holdings and no rights to attend and vote at general meetings of
shareholders of HSBC Holdings. HSBC Holdings may redeem the Sterling Preference Share in issue in whole at any
time at the option of the Company.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

39 - Share capital and other equity instruments

HSBC Holdings non-voting deferred shares

301,500 non-voting deferred shares of £1 each were in issue throughout 2009 and up to 29 December 2010 and were
held by a subsidiary of HSBC Holdings. As part of a technical internal capital reorganisation necessitated by the
amended EU Capital Requirements Directive 2, which applied to HSBC Holdings from 31 December 2010, all of the
non-voting deferred shares of £1 each were cancelled.

Other equity instruments

On 9 April 2008, HSBC Holdings issued, in bearer form, 88m 8.125% Perpetual Subordinated Capital Securities
(“Capital Securities’), each with a par value of US$25 and with an aggregate nominal value of US$2,200m. The
Capital Securities were issued at par value, raising US$2,133m, net of issuance costs. The Capital Securities were
issued to support the development of and to strengthen further HSBC’s capital base. Coupon payments on the Capital
Securities are paid quarterly in arrears from 15 July 2008 and may be deferred at the discretion of HSBC Holdings.
The Capital Securities have no fixed maturity and are redeemable at HSBC’s option on or after 15 April 2013 at their
principal amounts together with any accrued, unpaid and deferred coupon payments. While any coupon payments are
unpaid or deferred, HSBC Holdings will not declare, pay dividends or make distributions or similar periodic
payments in respect of, or repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any securities of lower or equal rank. At the
Company’s discretion, and subject to certain conditions being satisfied, the Capital Securities may be exchanged on
any coupon payment date for non-cumulative preference shares to be issued by HSBC Holdings and which would
rank pari passu with the dollar and sterling preference shares in issue. The preference shares will be issued at a
nominal value of US$0.01 per share and a premium of US$24.99 per share, with both such amounts being subscribed
and fully paid.

During June 2010, HSBC Holdings issued, in bearer form, 152m 8.00% of Perpetual Subordinated Capital Securities,
Series 2 (‘Capital Securities, Series 2’), each with a par value of US$25 and with an aggregate nominal value of
US$3,800m. The Capital Securities, Series 2 were issued at par value, raising US$3,718m, net of issuance costs.
These securities were issued on substantially the same terms as the Capital Securities issued in 2008. Coupon
payments on the Capital Securities, Series 2 are paid quarterly in arrears from 15 September 2010 and may be
deferred at the discretion of HSBC Holdings. The Capital Securities, Series 2 have no fixed maturity and are
redeemable at HSBC’s option on or after 15 December 2015 at their principal amounts together with any accrued,
unpaid and deferred coupon payments. At the Company’s discretion, and subject to certain conditions being satisfied,
the Capital Securities, Series 2 may be exchanged on any coupon payment date for non-cumulative preference shares
to be issued by HSBC Holdings and which would rank pari passu with the dollar and sterling preference shares in
issue. The preference shares will be issued at a nominal value of US$0.01 per share and a premium of US$24.99 per
share, with both such amounts being subscribed and fully paid.

Shares under option

Details of the options outstanding to subscribe for HSBC Holdings ordinary shares under the HSBC Holdings Group
Share Option Plan, HSBC Holdings Executive Share Option Scheme, the HSBC Share Plan and HSBC Holdings
savings-related share option plans are given in Note 9.

Aggregate options outstanding under these plans

Number of
HSBC Holdings
ordinary shares Period of exercise Exercise price
31 December 2010 ............cccooviviiniiiiis 249,242,968 2011 to 2016 £3.3116 — 8.4024
47,428,892 2011 to 2016 HK$37.8797 — 94.5057
3,128,508 2011 to 2016 €3.6361 — 9.5912
10,899,415 2011 to 2016 US$4.8876 — 12.0958
31 December 2009" .........cvvereeirereerreeeneenieereennns 270,742,989 2010 to 2015 £3.3116 — 8.4024
50,938,242 2010 to 2015 HK$37.8797 — 94.5057
3,283,710 2010 to 2015 €3.6361 —9.5912
12,073,216 2010 to 2015 US$4.8876 — 12.0958
31 December 2008 ..o 211,226,573 2009 to 2015 £5.3496 — 9.642
11,344,167 2009 to 2014 HK$103.4401 — 108.4483
1,304,119 2009 to 2014 €8.6720 — 11.0062
7,382,145 2009 to 2014 US$13.3290 — 14.7478

1 During 2009, the number and prices of unexercised share options were adjusted for the rights issue.

354



HSBC France and subsidiary company plans

Following the acquisition of HSBC France in 2000, outstanding employee share options over HSBC France shares
vested. On exercise of the options, the HSBC France shares were exchangeable for HSBC Holdings ordinary shares
at the ratio of 14.917916 HSBC Holdings ordinary shares for each HSBC France.

During 2010, no employee share options (2009: nil) were exercised and no HSBC France shares were issued and
exchanged for HSBC Holdings ordinary shares (2009: nil). During 2010, 604,250 options over HSBC France shares
lapsed (2009: 183,627). At 31 December 2010, there are no employee share options outstanding and the HSBC
Holdings Employee Benefit Trust 2001 (No. 1) held no (2009: 9,963,718) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares to
exchange for HSBC France shares arising from the exercise of options.

HSBC France options effectively outstanding over HSBC Holdings ordinary shares

Number of

HSBC France

shares exchangeable

for HSBC Holdings
ordinary shares Period of exercise Exercise price

31 December 2010 ....... - -
31 December 2009 .... 604,250 2010 €142.50
31 December 2008 ........ccoovieienieiieerieeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeens 787,877 2009 to 2010 €81.71 — 142.50

HSBC Private Bank France plan
There are also outstanding options over the shares of HSBC Private Bank France, a subsidiary of HSBC France.

On exercise of the options, the HSBC Private Bank France shares are exchangeable for HSBC Holdings ordinary
shares at the ratio of 2.099984 HSBC Holdings ordinary shares for each HSBC Private Bank France share. During
2010, 4,420 (2009: 33,456) HSBC Private Bank France shares were issued following the exercise of employee share
options and exchanged for 9,281 (2009: 70,248) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares, such shares being delivered from
The CCF Employee Benefit Trust 2001 (Private Banking France). During 2010, no options over HSBC Private Bank
France shares lapsed (2009: 9,000). At 31 December 2010, The CCF Employee Benefit Trust 2001 (Private Banking
France) held 989,502 (2009: 998,783) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares which may be exchanged for HSBC Private
Bank France shares arising from the exercise of options.

HSBC Private Bank France options effectively outstanding over HSBC Holdings ordinary shares

Number of HSBC
Private Bank France
shares exchangeable

for HSBC Holdings
ordinary shares Period of exercise Exercise price
31 December 2010 ...........c.ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiccces 287,100 2011 to 2012 €20.80 — 22.22
31 December 2009 .... 291,520 2010 to 2012 €12.44-22.22
31 December 2008 ..o 333,976 2009 to 2012 €10.84 —22.22

HSBC Finance plan

Following the acquisition of HSBC Finance in 2003, all outstanding options and equity-based awards over HSBC
Finance common shares were converted into rights to receive HSBC Holdings ordinary shares in the same ratio as the
share exchange offer for HSBC Finance (2.675 HSBC Holdings ordinary shares for each HSBC Finance common
share) and the exercise prices per share adjusted accordingly. During 2010, 306,964 options (2009: 20,000) over
HSBC Holdings ordinary shares were exercised and 306,964 (2009: 20,000) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares
delivered from The HSBC (Household) Employee Benefit Trust 2003 to satisfy the exercise of these options. During
2010, options over 6,681,169 (2009: 5,606,714) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares lapsed. At 31 December 2010, the
Trust held a total of 2,335,315 (2009: 2,642,279) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares and 1,455 (2009: 1,455) ADSs,
which may be used to satisfy the exercise of these options and equity-based awards under the HSBC Finance share
plans. Each ADS represents five HSBC Holdings ordinary shares.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

39 - Share capital and other equity instruments / 40 — Notes on the statement of cash flows

Options outstanding over HSBC Holdings ordinary shares under the HSBC Finance share plan

Number of

HSBC Holdings
ordinary shares Period of exercise Exercise price
31 December 2010 .............cccccevviviniiiciccce 11,117,826 2011 to 2012 US$9.29 — 18.62
31 December 2009 .... . 18,105,959 2010 to 2012 US$9.29 — 18.62
31 December 2008 ........c.ccoovviiiiicicicieceeeene 20,681,582 2009 to 2012 US$10.66 —21.37

1 During 2009, the number and prices of unexercised share options were adjusted for the rights issue.

HSBC Bank Bermuda plans

Following the acquisition of HSBC Bank Bermuda in 2004, all outstanding employee share options over HSBC Bank
Bermuda shares were converted into rights to receive HSBC Holdings ordinary shares based on the consideration of
US$40 for each HSBC Bank Bermuda share and the average closing price of HSBC Holdings ordinary shares,
derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, for the five business days preceding the closing date of
the acquisition. During 2010, options over 4,781 HSBC Holdings ordinary shares were exercised (2009: 18,153) and
satisfied by delivery from the HSBC (Bank of Bermuda) Employee Benefit Trust 2004. During 2010, options over
137,888 (2009: 24,673) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares lapsed. At 31 December 2010, the HSBC (Bank of
Bermuda) Employee Benefit Trust 2004 held 2,108,830 (2009: 2,113,611) HSBC Holdings ordinary shares which
may be used to satisfy the exercise of options.

Options outstanding over HSBC Holdings ordinary shares under the HSBC Bank Bermuda share plan

Number of HSBC

Holdings
ordinary shares Period of exercise Exercise price
31 December 2010 .............cccccevviiininiiicicce 2,339,033 2011 to 2013 US$9.32 — 15.99
31 December 2009 ........ovurierriireennieenieeeieesesesssenees 2,481,702 2010 to 2013 US$6.13 - 15.99
31 December 2008 ........ccooiveeirieerieireieeeeeeeee e 2,205,321 2009 to 2013 US$7.04 — 18.35

1 During 2009, the number and prices of unexercised share options were adjusted for the rights issue.

Maximum obligation to deliver HSBC Holdings ordinary shares

At 31 December 2010, the maximum obligation to deliver HSBC Holdings ordinary shares under all of the above
option arrangements, together with awards of Performance Shares and Restricted Shares under the HSBC Share Plan,
was 558,187,326 (2009: 559,960,290). The total number of shares at 31 December 2010 held by employee benefit
trusts that may be used to satisfy such obligations to deliver HSBC Holdings ordinary shares was 79,541,700 (2009:
134,903,061).

40 Notes on the statement of cash flows

Non-cash items included in profit before tax

HSBC HSBC Holdings

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009

US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment .................... 2,801 2,538 13,367 2 5,947

Gains arising from dilution of interests in associates .......... (188) - - = -

Revaluations on investment property . 93) 24 92 = -

Share-based payment €Xpense .........c..coeeevevereeeruerereennnes 812 683 819 28 21
Loan impairment losses gross of recoveries and

other credit risk provisions ..........cccceceervveniecinievenennns 15,059 27,378 25,771 - -

PrOVISIONS ...veuveviieiiieieicieieeteet e 680 669 591 - -

Impairment of financial investments ..........c.cccceceveeenennne 105 358 1,042 113 -

Charge for defined benefit plans ..........cocoeeeirrrieccnne. 526 192 490 - -

Accretion of discounts and amortisation of premiums ... (815) (458) (867) 42 6

18,887 31,384 41,305 185 5,974
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Change in operating assets

Change in loans to HSBC undertakings ..........ccccoceoevueuene
Change in prepayments and accrued income ...................
Change in net trading securities and net derivatives ........
Change in loans and advances to banks ............cccceeuneee.
Change in loans and advances to customers ........
Change in financial assets designated at fair value .
Change in Other SSELS ......covvevvveriererieieieierieereeeeeeeieens

Change in operating liabilities

Change in accruals and deferred income ..........coeueuneeee.
Change in deposits by banks ..............

Change in customer accounts ......

Change in debt securities in iSSUE .........cocevererereneeeneenne
Change in financial liabilities designated at fair value ....
Change in other Habilities ...........ccocevveverieerierinieieeieens

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank with HSBC undertakings ..
Cash and balances at central banks ......................
Items in the course of collection from other banks ..........
Loans and advances to banks of one month or less .........
Treasury bills, other bills and certificates of deposit

less than three months ........ccoceeeeveiviecineineiceieene
Less: items in the course of transmission to

Other BankSs ........ccevvevieviiiiirierieeeee s

Interest and dividends

Interest paid .......ccooeveeeenininieieccnee e
Interest 1eCeIVEd ....coovvieieieieieiereeee e
Dividends received .......coevivieirieirieiieieieeeeeeee e

HSBC HSBC Holdings
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
_ — - 1,974 (11,408)
457 3,198 4,178 ) (44)
60,337 15,388 (23,293) 1,119 354
5,213 (30,354) 22,596 - -
(79,283) 6,149 7,279 - -
154 (8,911) 12,757 - -
(145) (6,273) (5,394) 3 21
(13,267) (20,303) 18,123 3,091 (11,077)
HSBC HSBC Holdings
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
US$m US$m US$m US$Sm US$m
716 (2,258) (6,169) 147 131
(14,288) (5,216) (3,038) - -
68,691 41,983 32,372 - -
(1,495) (32,797) (67,152) 171) 21
5,659 7,430 (15,352) (621) 2,411
(17,011) 5,503 (4,074) (1,109) (523)
42,272 14,645 (63,413) (1,754) 2,040
HSBC HSBC Holdings
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
US$Sm US$m US$m US$Sm US$m
- - 459 224
57,383 60,655 52,396 - -
6,072 6,395 6,003 = -
189,197 160,673 165,066 - -
28,087 28,777 62,639 - -
(6,663) (5,734) (7,232) - -
274,076 250,766 278,872 459 224
HSBC HSBC Holdings
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
(21,405) (29,030) (60,342) (2,363) (2,513)
63,696 74,062 107,019 1,405 1,560
563 1,023 1,876 7,008 7,488

The amount of cash and cash equivalents not available for use by HSBC at 31 December 2010 was US$37,413m
(2009: US$19,119m), of which US$28,780m (2009: US$11,595m) related to mandatory deposits at central banks.
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HSBC HOLDINGS PLC

Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

41 - Contingent liabilities, contractual commitments and guarantees / 42 — Lease commitments

41 Contingent liabilities, contractual commitments and guarantees

HSBC HSBC Holdings
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Guarantees and contingent liabilities
Guarantees and irrevocable letters of credit pledged as
collateral SECUTILY .......ooeeeueireirerieeieee e 71,157 73,385 46,988 35,073
Other contingent lHabilities ..........ccccoeererereiincineeecreenee 166 174 - -
71,323 73,559 46,988 35,073
Commitments
Documentary credits and short-term trade-related transactions ... 12,051 9,066 - —
Forward asset purchases and forward forward deposits placed ... 30 192 - -
Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other
commitments to lend ...........c.ocoeiiiiiiiiii e 590,432 548,792 2,720 3,240
602,513 558,050 2,720 3,240

The above table discloses the nominal principal amounts of commitments excluding capital commitments, which are

separately disclosed below, guarantees and other contingent liabilities; mainly credit-related instruments including

both financial and non-financial guarantees and commitments to extend credit. Contingent liabilities arising from

legal proceedings and regulatory matters against the Group are disclosed in Note 44. Nominal principal amounts

represent the amounts at risk should contracts be fully drawn upon and clients default. The

amount of the loan

commitments shown above reflects, where relevant, the expected level of take-up of pre-approved loan offers made

by mailshots to personal customers. As a significant portion of guarantees and commitments is expected to expire

without being drawn upon, the total of the nominal principal amounts is not representative of future liquidity

requirements.

Guarantees

HSBC provides guarantees and similar undertakings on behalf of both third-party customers and other entities within

the HSBC Group. These guarantees are generally provided in the normal course of HSBC’s banking business. The

principal types of guarantees provided, and the maximum potential amount of future payments which HSBC could be

required to make at 31 December 2010, were as follows:

At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009

Guarantees

by HSBC

Holdings
Guarantees in in favour of
favour of other HSBC
third parties Group entities

Guarantees

by HSBC

Holdings

Guarantees in favour of
in favour of other HSBC
third parties Group entities

US$m US$m US$m US$m
Guarantee type
Guarantees of indebtedness including financial guarantees'
and guarantees of a capital NAUIE ...........cceeveveereineinceeee 21,175 46,988 23,558 35,073
Standby letters of credit that are financial guarantees ................. 8,033 - 10,712 -
Other direct credit SubStitUtes” ...........ocoeveeveeeveennnn. 6,555 - 4,676 -
Performance bonds® ... 15,367 - 14,468 -
Bid BONAS’ w..cvveoveerreeeereieeeeeee e seeeneenns 927 - 728 -
Standby letters of credit related to particular transactions® .......... 6,263 - 4,944 -
Other transaction-related guarantees® .............cccoooveveerverrrernnnnn. 12,746 - 13,577 -
Oher TEOIMS ....vvevenieveieteieere ettt 91 - 722 —
71,157 46,988 73,385 35,073

—

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss incurred

because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
2 Other direct credit substitutes include re-insurance letters of credit and trade-related letters of credit issued without provision for the

issuing entity to retain title to the underlying shipment.

3 Performance bonds, bid bonds, standby letters of credit and other transaction-related guarantees are undertakings by which the

obligation on HSBC to make payment depends on the outcome of a future event.
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The amounts disclosed in the above table are nominal principal amounts and reflect HSBC’s maximum exposure
under a large number of individual guarantee undertakings. The risks and exposures arising from guarantees are
captured and managed in accordance with HSBC’s overall credit risk management policies and procedures.
Approximately half of the above guarantees have a term of less than one year. Guarantees with terms of more than
one year are subject to HSBC’s annual credit review process.

Financial Services Compensation Scheme

The Financial Services Compensation Scheme (‘FSCS’) has provided compensation to consumers following the
collapse of a number of deposit takers. The compensation paid out to consumers is currently funded through loans
from the Bank of England and HM Treasury. HSBC Bank could be liable to pay a proportion of the outstanding
borrowings that the FSCS has borrowed from HM Treasury which at 31 March 2010 stood at approximately £20bn
(US$30bn). Currently, the levy paid by the bank represents its share of the interest on these borrowings. The accrual
at 31 December 2010 was US$144m in respect of the 2010/11 and 2011/12 levy years (2009: US$182m in respect of
the 2009/10 and 2010/11 levy years).

The ultimate FSCS levy to the industry as a result of the collapses cannot currently be estimated reliably as it is
dependent on various uncertain factors including the potential recoveries of assets by the FSCS and changes in the
interest rate, the level of protected deposits and the population of FSCS members at the time.

Commitments

In addition to the commitments disclosed on page 358, at 31 December 2010, HSBC had US$1,071m (2009:
US$1,359m) of capital commitments contracted but not provided for and US$287m (2009: US$227m) of capital
commitments authorised but not contracted for.

Associates

HSBC'’s share of associates’ contingent liabilities amounted to US$25,640m at 31 December 2010 (2009:
US$19,770m). No matters arose where HSBC was severally liable.

Lease commitments

Finance lease commitments

HSBC leases land and buildings (including branches) and equipment from third parties under finance lease
arrangements to support its operations.

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Present value Present value
Total future Future of finance Total future Future of finance
minimum interest lease minimum interest lease
payments charges commitments payments charges commitments
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Lease commitments:
— no later than one year ................ 107 (20) 87 103 (29) 74
— later than one year and no later
than five years .......cccceveveerennnee 187 92) 95 249 (116) 133
— later than five years ................... 390 (118) 272 619 (182) 437
684 (230) 454 971 (327) 644

At 31 December 2010, future minimum sublease payments of US$436m (2009: US$512m) are expected to be
received under non-cancellable subleases at the balance sheet date.
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Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2010, HSBC was obligated under a number of non-cancellable operating leases for properties, plant
and equipment on which the future minimum lease payments extend over a number of years.

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Land and Land and
buildings Equipment buildings Equipment
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases:
— 10 later than ONe YEAar .......ccccecevveerveririeiieiseeeeeeeeee e 920 23 846 11
— later than one year and no later than five years ................... 2,663 37 2,253 11
— later than five Years .......coccoveevrineineinerceeeeeeee 2,614 — 2,534 —
6,197 60 5,633 22

At 31 December 2010, future minimum sublease payments of US$21m (2009: US$21m) are expected to be received
under non-cancellable subleases at the balance sheet date.

In 2010, US$888m (2009: US$1,100m; 2008: US$861m) was charged to ‘General and administrative expenses’ in
respect of lease and sublease agreements, of which US$869m (2009: US$833m; 2008: US$635m) related to
minimum lease payments, US$18m (2009: US$16m; 2008: US$22m) to contingent rents, and US$1m (2009:
US$251m; 2008: US$204m) to sublease payments.

The contingent rent represents escalation payments made to landlords for operating, tax and other escalation expenses.

Finance lease receivables

HSBC leases a variety of assets to third parties under finance leases, including transport assets (such as aircraft),
property and general plant and machinery. At the end of lease terms, assets may be sold to third parties or leased for
further terms. Lessees may participate in any sales proceeds achieved. Lease rentals arising during the lease terms
will either be fixed in quantum or be varied to reflect changes in, for example, tax or interest rates. Rentals are
calculated to recover the cost of assets less their residual value, and earn finance income.

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Total future Unearned Total future Unearned
minimum finance Present minimum finance Present
payments income value payments income value
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Lease receivables:
— no later than one year ................ 3,002 (344) 2,658 2,874 (328) 2,546
— later than one year and
no later than five years .............. 8,940 (813) 8,127 9,525 (1,061) 8,464
— later than five years ................... 6,629 (1,462) 5,167 6,902 (1,737) 5,165
18,571 (2,619) 15,952 19,301 (3,126) 16,175

At 31 December 2010, unguaranteed residual values of US$243m (2009: US$230m) had been accrued, and the
accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimum lease payments receivable amounted to US$11m (2009: US$21m).
During the year, no contingent rents were received (2009: nil) and recognised in the income statement.

360



Operating lease receivables

HSBC leases a variety of different assets to third parties under operating lease arrangements, including transport
assets, property and general plant and machinery.

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009 %
Land and Land and s
buildings Equipment buildings Equipment “>9
US$m US$m US$m US$m o
Future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases:
— 1o later than one year ..........cccccceevirniiiccicenreccceens 18 17 37 857
— later than one year and no later than five years ................... 21 22 21 917
— later than five Years ..........cccocccvevirneecicinnccccreeccene 14 2 23 447
53 41 81 2,221 g
o
Special purpose entities =
©
HSBC enters into certain transactions with customers in the ordinary course of business which involve the e
establishment of special purpose entities (‘SPE’s) to facilitate or secure customer transactions. HSBC structures that _g
utilise SPEs are authorised centrally when they are established to ensure appropriate purpose and governance. The ==
activities of SPEs administered by HSBC are closely monitored by senior management. °g)
c
SPEs are assessed for consolidation in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 1f. i
2
Total consolidated assets held by SPEs by balance sheet classification o
Non-money
Money market
Securit- market  investment
Conduits isations funds funds Total
USS$bn USS$bn US$bn USS$bn US$bn &
At 31 December 2010 =
CASN e 1.0 0.7 - 0.3 2.0 c
TrAAING ASSELS ..vvrvvveerreeereeseeeeeeeseeeesseeeseessesseseesseseeneesenon 0.1 0.6 0.4 0.5 1.6 2
Financial assets designated at fair value ..........ccccccoeeveuenenee. 0.1 - - 6.4 6.5 8
DETIVALIVES ..ot - 0.3 - - 0.3
Loans and advances to banks ............ccccoviciinincinnnns - 1.4 - - 1.4
Loans and advances to customers . 8.4 22.2 - - 30.6
Financial investments .............. . 30.5 0.1 - - 30.6
OhEr @SSELS ...cveueeeeniereieieriecree ettt 1.6 0.4 - 0.4 24
41.7 25.7 0.4 7.6 75.4
0
At 31 December 2009 g
CaSH s - - - 0.2 0.2 £
Trading assets .......cocovvrvreveereerrrienenns - 0.9 42.8 0.2 439 o
Financial assets designated at fair value ... 0.1 - - 53 54 2
.. w
Derivatives ........cccccovvcceinniciccenes - 1.2 - - 1.2 =
Loans and advances to banks ............cccceevvreennnnccncnennne 0.3 - - - 0.3 'S
Loans and advances to CUStOMETS ..........cccccevviiurucicueriinirinnne 10.3 35.4 - - 45.7 =
Financial inVestments ...........cccccovveueeenrenreuencecnneeeneerenenen 31.4 - - - 31.4 uE_
OLhEr @SSELS ....c.oveiiiiiiiiieciceree s 1.6 14 0.3 - 3.3
43.7 38.9 43.1 5.7 131.4

HSBC’s maximum exposure to SPEs

The following table shows the total assets of the various types of SPEs and the amount of funding provided by HSBC
to these SPEs. The table also shows HSBC’s maximum exposure to the SPEs and, within that exposure, the liquidity
and credit enhancements provided by HSBC. The maximum exposures to SPEs represent HSBC’s maximum possible
risk exposure that could occur as a result of the Group’s arrangements and commitments to SPEs. The maximum
amounts are contingent in nature, and may arise as a result of drawdowns under liquidity facilities, where these have
been provided, and any other funding commitments, or as a result of any loss protection provided by HSBC to the
SPEs. The conditions under which such exposure might arise differ depending on the nature of each SPE and
HSBC’s involvement with it.
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Total assets of consolidated and unconsolidated SPEs and HSBC'’s funding and maximum exposure

Consolidated SPEs

Unconsolidated SPEs

Liquidity
Funding  and credit HSBC’s Funding HSBC’s
Total provided enchance- maximum Total provided maximum
assets by HSBC ments exposure assets by HSBC exposure
US$bn US$bn US$bn US$bn US$bn US$bn US$bn
At 31 December 2010
Conduits ......ceevevveviereeieieereeeenns 41.7 28.6 38.3 50.5 - - -
Securities investment conduits 32.2 28.6 25.6 37.8 - - -
Multi-seller conduits ............... 9.5 0.0 12.7 12.7 - — —
Securitisations....... . 25.7 1.9 0.1 4.7 9.9 - -
Money market funds .................... 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 95.8 0.7 0.7
Constant net asset value funds - - - - 74.9 0.5 0.5
Other .....ccoeeeiveeeeereecene 04 04 - 0.4 20.9 0.2 0.2
Non-money market investment
funds ..ooeveeeee 7.6 6.9 - 6.9 274.7 1.7 1.7
75.4 37.8 38.4 62.5 380.4 2.4 2.4
At 31 December 2009
Conduits ...coveeeveeeeireeieecereeeeene 43.7 32.8 43.5 56.9 - - -
Securities investment conduits 32.8 324 29.1 42.5 - - -
Multi-seller conduits ............... 10.9 0.4 14.4 14.4 — — —
Securitisations ............cceeeeerrereernennes 38.9 2.9 0.1 7.9 11.1 0.1 0.1
Money market funds ...........cc..... 43.1 1.5 - 1.5 55.9 0.3 0.3
Constant net asset value funds 42.4 0.9 - 0.9 31.2 0.1 0.1
Other .....ceeevireeierciecene 0.7 0.6 — 0.6 24.7 0.2 0.2
Non-money market investment
fUnds ..o 5.7 5.4 - 5.4 249.7 1.4 1.4
Other ....occoevvverreeieeeeeee - - - - 20.6 8.8 3.2
131.4 42.6 43.6 71.7 337.3 10.6 5.0
Conduits

HSBC sponsors and manages two types of conduits: securities investment conduits (‘SIC’s) and multi-seller conduits.

Securities investment conduits

Solitaire, HSBC’s principal SIC, purchases highly rated asset-backed securities (‘ABS’s) to facilitate tailored
investment opportunities. At 31 December 2010, Solitaire held US$11.7bn of ABSs (2009: US$11.7bn). These are
included within the disclosures of ABS ‘held through consolidated SPEs’ on page 133. HSBC’s other SICs, Mazarin,
Barion and Malachite, evolved from the restructuring of HSBC’s sponsored structured investment vehicles (‘SIV’s)

in 2008.

Solitaire

Commercial Paper (‘CP’) issued by Solitaire benefits from a 100% liquidity facility provided by HSBC.
At 31 December 2010, US$7.6bn of Solitaire’s assets were funded by the draw-down of the liquidity facility (2009:

US$7.6bn). HSBC is exposed to credit losses on the drawn amounts.

HSBC’s maximum exposure represents the risk that HSBC may be required to fund the vehicle in the event the CP is
redeemed without reinvestment from third parties. At 31 December 2010 this amounted to US$16.8bn (31 December

2009: US$18.4bn).

Mazarin

HSBC is exposed to the par value of Mazarin’s assets through the provision of a liquidity facility equal to the lesser
of the amortised cost of issued senior debt and the amortised cost of non-defaulted assets. At 31 December 2010 this
amounted to US$11.6bn (2009: US$13.6bn). First loss protection is provided through the capital notes issued by

Mazarin, which are substantially all held by third parties.
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At 31 December 2010, HSBC held 1.3% of Mazarin’s capital notes (2009: 1.3%) which have a par value of US$17m
(2009: US$17m) and a carrying amount of US$0.6m (2009: US$0.6m).

Barion and Malachite

HSBC’s primary exposure to these SICs is represented by the amortised cost of the debt required to support the non-
cash assets of the vehicles. At 31 December 2010 this amounted to US$9.4bn (2009: US$10.5bn). First loss
protection is provided through the capital notes issued by these vehicles, which are substantially all held by third
parties.

At 31 December 2010, HSBC held 3.7% of the capital notes issued by these vehicles (2009: 3.8%) which have a par
value of US$35m (2009: US$37m) and a carrying amount of US$2m (2009: US$2m).
Multi-seller conduits

These vehicles were established for the purpose of providing access to flexible market-based sources of finance for
HSBC’s clients.

HSBC’s maximum exposure is equal to the transaction-specific liquidity facilities offered to the multi-seller conduits.
First loss protection is provided by the originator of the assets, and not by HSBC, through transaction-specific credit
enhancements. A layer of secondary loss protection is provided by HSBC in the form of programme-wide
enhancement facilities.

The following table sets out the weighted average life of the asset portfolios for the above mentioned conduits.

Weighted average life of portfolios
S S - g i

Total multi-

Solitaire Other SICs Total SICs seller conduits
Weighted average life (years)
At 31 December 2010 ...........ccoooviieiieiieieeee e 5.1 4.0 4.4 1.8
At 31 December 2009 ........ccooveevieiieieiieieieiee e 6.3 4.1 49 2.4

Securitisations

HSBC uses SPEs to securitise customer loans and advances that it has originated in order to diversify its sources of
funding for asset origination and for capital efficiency purposes. The loans and advances are transferred by HSBC to
the SPEs for cash, and the SPEs issue debt securities to investors to fund the cash purchases.

HSBC’s maximum exposure is the aggregate of any holdings of notes issued by these vehicles and the reserve
account positions intended to provide credit support under certain pre-defined circumstances to senior note holders.

In addition, HSBC uses SPEs to mitigate the capital absorbed by some of the customer loans and advances it has
originated. Credit derivatives are used to transfer the credit risk associated with these customer loans and advances to
an SPE, using securitisations commonly known as synthetic securitisations by which the SPE writes credit default
swap protection to HSBC. The SPE is funded by the issuance of notes with the cash held as collateral against the
credit default protection. From a UK regulatory perspective, the credit protection issued by the SPE in respect of the
customer loans allows the risk weight of the loans to be replaced by the risk weight of the collateral in the SPE and as
a result mitigates the capital absorbed by the customer loans. Any notes issued by the SPE and held by HSBC attract
the appropriate risk weight under the relevant regulatory regime. These SPEs are consolidated when HSBC is
exposed to the majority of risks and rewards of ownership.

Money market funds

HSBC has established and manages a number of money market funds which provide customers with tailored
investment opportunities within narrow and well-defined objectives.

The majority of these money market funds are Constant Net Asset Value funds (‘CNAV”), which invest in shorter-dated
and highly-rated money market securities with the objective of providing investors with a highly liquid and secure
investment. In September 2008 during the financial crisis, HSBC consolidated certain of its CNAV funds as a result of a
number of actions taken to maintain their AAA rating and mitigate the risks of forced sales of liquid assets to meet potential
redemptions. Since consolidation of the CNAV funds, HSBC has not provided any additional support to the funds and
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Notes on the Financial Statements (continued)

43 - Special purpose entities / 44 — Legal proceedings, investigations and regulatory matters

letters of indemnity provided in 2008 have all expired. At all times the funds continued to be governed by their
prospectuses.

In December 2010, management determined that it would not provide similar support in the future in the light of changes in
the application of banking regulations. As a result, any presumption of ongoing support caused by past actions is no longer
valid and it is not appropriate to continue to consolidate the CNAV funds.

The effect of deconsolidating the CNAV funds on HSBC’s balance sheet was to derecognise US$44.4bn of assets and
US$43.9bn of liabilities. The deconsolidation of the CNAYV funds did not have a material impact on HSBC’s consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010.

HSBC’s maximum exposure to the CNAYV funds is represented by HSBC’s investment in the units of the funds which

at 31 December 2010 amounted to US$0.5bn (2009: US$1.0bn). Investments in units of the funds are included within
“Trading assets’. Prior to deconsolidation, the interest income from the CNAV funds and the expense payable to third-party
holders of units in the funds were presented within ‘Net interest income on trading activities’.

HSBC’s maximum exposure to money market funds is represented by HSBC’s investment in the units of each fund, which
at 31 December 2010 amounted to US$1.1bn (2009: US$1.8bn).

Non-money market investment funds

HSBC has established a large number of non-money market investment funds to enable customers to invest in a range
of assets, typically equities and debt securities.

HSBC’s maximum exposure to non-money market investment funds is represented by its investment in the units of
each fund which at 31 December 2010 amounted to US$8.6bn (2009: US$6.8bn).

Other

HSBC also establishes SPEs in the normal course of business for a number of purposes, for example, structured credit
transactions for customers, to provide finance to public and private sector infrastructure projects, and for asset and
structured finance transactions.

In certain transactions HSBC is exposed to risk often referred to as gap risk. Gap risk typically arises in transactions
where the aggregate potential claims against the SPE by HSBC pursuant to one or more derivatives could be greater
than the value of the collateral held by the SPE and securing such derivatives. HSBC often mitigates such gap risk by
incorporating in the SPE transaction features which allow for deleveraging, a managed liquidation of the portfolio, or
other mechanisms including trade restructuring or unwinding the trade. Following the inclusion of such risk reduction
mechanisms, HSBC has, in certain circumstances, retained all or a portion of the underlying exposure in the
transaction. In these circumstances, HSBC assesses whether the exposure retained causes a requirement under IFRSs
to consolidate the SPE. When this retained exposure represents ABSs, it has been included in ‘Nature of HSBC’s
exposures’ on page 129.

Third-party sponsored SPEs

Through standby liquidity facility commitments, HSBC has exposure to third-party sponsored SIVs, conduits and
securitisations under normal banking arrangements on standard market terms. These exposures are not considered
significant to HSBC’s operations.

Additional off-balance sheet arrangements and commitments

Additional off-balance sheet commitments such as financial guarantees, letters of credit and commitments to lend are
disclosed in Note 41.

Leveraged finance transactions

Loan commitments in respect of leveraged finance transactions are accounted for as derivatives where it is HSBC’s
intention to sell the loan after origination. Further information is provided on pages 138 and 139.
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44 Legal proceedings, investigations and regulatory matters

HSBC is party to legal proceedings, investigations and regulatory matters in a number of jurisdictions including the
UK, Hong Kong and the US arising out of its normal business operations. Apart from the matters described below,

HSBC considers that none of these matters is material, either individually or in the aggregate. HSBC recognises a 2
provision for a liability in relation to these matters when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 'G§
required to settle an obligation which has arisen as a result of past events, and for which a reliable estimate can be GZJ
made of the amount of the obligation. While the outcome of these matters is inherently uncertain, management o
believes that, based on the information available to it, appropriate provisions have been made in respect of legal

proceedings, investigations and regulatory matters as at 31 December 2010 (see note 33, Provisions).

Securities litigation

As aresult of an August 2002 restatement of previously reported consolidated financial statements and other E)
corporate events, including the 2002 settlement with 46 State Attorneys General relating to real estate lending 3
practices, Household International (now HSBC Finance) and certain former officers were named as defendants in a -
class action law suit, Jaffe v Household International Inc, et al No 2. C 5893 (N.D.Il1, filed 19 August 2002). The 'g
complaint asserted claims under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, on behalf of all persons who acquired and =
disposed of Household International common stock between 30 July 1999 and 11 October 2002. The claims alleged ic
that the defendants knowingly or recklessly made false and misleading statements of material fact relating to o8
Household’s Consumer Lending operations, including collections, sales and lending practices, some of which CED
ultimately led to the 2002 State settlement agreement, and facts relating to accounting practices evidenced by the ©
restatement. Following a jury trial concluded in April 2009, which was decided partly in favour of the plaintiffs, the é.
Court issued a ruling on 22 November 2010, within the second phase of the case to determine actual damages, that

claim forms should be mailed to class members, and also set out a method for calculating damages for class members

who filed claims. At subsequent hearings the Court has allowed HSBC Finance to take limited discovery on the issue

of whether investors relied on the ‘misleading statements’ at the time they made their investments and also reserved

on the issue of whether HSBC Finance would ultimately be entitled to a jury trial on the issue of reliance. @
Despite the jury verdict and the 22 November 2010 ruling, HSBC continues to believe that it has meritorious §
defences, and intends to seek an appeal of the Court’s rulings. Lead Plaintiffs, in Court filings, have estimated that )
damages could range ‘somewhere between US$2.4bn to US$3.2bn to class members’, before pre-judgement interest. é

The timing and outcome of the resolution of this matter is uncertain. Given the complexity and uncertainties
associated with the actual determination of damages, including but not limited to the number of class members that
may file valid claims, the number of claims that can be substantiated by class members providing adequate
documentation, the reduction of trading losses by any trading gains made over the relevant period, the determination
of reliance by class members on the financial statements, and whether any given class member was the beneficial
owner of the shares, HSBC is unable at this time to estimate reliably the amount of any damages, or range of possible
damages, that could arise, but they could be significant.

Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC

In December 2008, Bernard L. Madoff (‘Madoff’) was arrested for running a Ponzi scheme and a trustee was
appointed for the liquidation of his firm, Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC (‘Madoff Securities’), an
SEC-registered broker-dealer and investment adviser. Since his appointment, the trustee has been recovering assets
and processing claims of Madoff Securities customers. Madoff subsequently pleaded guilty to various charges and is
serving a 150-year prison sentence. He has acknowledged, in essence, that while purporting to invest his customers’
money in securities and, upon request, return their profits and principal, he in fact never invested in securities and
used other customers’ money to fulfil requests for the return of profits and principal. The relevant US authorities are
continuing their investigations into his fraud, and have brought charges against others.
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Various non-US HSBC companies provided custodial, administration and similar services to a number of funds
incorporated outside the US whose assets were invested with Madoff Securities.

Based on information provided by Madoff Securities, as at 30 November 2008, the purported aggregate value of
these funds was US$8.4bn, an amount that includes fictitious profits reported by Madoff. Based on information
available to HSBC to date, we estimate that the funds’ actual transfers to Madoff Securities minus their actual
withdrawals from Madoff Securities during the time that HSBC serviced the funds totalled approximately US$4.3bn.
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Plaintiffs (including funds, fund investors, and the Madoff Securities trustee) have commenced Madoff-related
proceedings against numerous defendants in a multitude of jurisdictions. Various HSBC companies have been named
as defendants in suits in the US, Ireland, Luxembourg, and other jurisdictions. The suits (which include US class
actions) allege that the HSBC defendants knew or should have known of Madoff’s fraud and breached various duties
to the funds and fund investors. In December 2010, the Madoff Securities trustee commenced suits against various
HSBC companies in the US bankruptcy court and in the English High Court. The US action (which also names
certain funds, investment managers, and other entities and individuals) seeks US$9bn in damages and additional
recoveries from HSBC and the various co-defendants. It seeks damages against HSBC for allegedly aiding and
abetting Madoff’s fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. It also seeks, pursuant to US bankruptcy law, recovery of
unspecified amounts received by HSBC from funds invested with Madoff, including amounts that HSBC received
when it redeemed units HSBC held in the various funds. HSBC acquired those fund units in connection with
financing transactions HSBC had entered into with various clients. The trustee’s US bankruptcy law claims also seek
recovery of fees earned by HSBC for providing custodial, administration and similar services to the funds. The
trustee’s English action seeks recovery of unspecified transfers of money from Madoff Securities to or through
HSBC, on the ground that the HSBC defendants actually or constructively knew of Madoff’s fraud.

Between October 2009 and July 2010, Fairfield Sentry Limited and Fairfield Sigma Limited (‘Fairfield”), funds
whose assets were directly or indirectly invested with Madoff Securities, commenced multiple suits in the British
Virgin Islands and the US against numerous fund shareholders, including various HSBC companies that acted as
nominees for clients of HSBC’s private banking business and other clients who invested in the Fairfield funds. The
Fairfield actions seek restitution of amounts paid to the defendants in connection with share redemptions, on the
ground that such payments were made by mistake, based on inflated values resulting from Madoff’s fraud.

There are many factors which may affect the range of possible outcomes, and the resulting financial impact, of the
various Madoff-related proceedings, including but not limited to the circumstances of the fraud, the multiple
jurisdictions in which the proceedings have been brought and the number of different plaintiffs and defendants in
such proceedings. The cases where HSBC companies are named as a defendant are at an early stage. For these
reasons, among others, it is not practicable at this time for HSBC to estimate reliably the aggregate liabilities, or
ranges of liabilities, that might arise as a result of all such claims but they could be significant. In any event, HSBC
considers that it has good defences to these claims and will continue to defend them vigorously.

Payment Protection Insurance

Following an extensive period of consultation, on 10 August 2010 the Financial Services Authority (‘FSA’)
published Policy Statement 10/12 (‘PS 10/12”) on the assessment and redress of Payment Protection Insurance
(‘PPI’) complaints. This included (i) new handbook guidance setting out how complaints are to be handled, and
‘redressed fairly’ where appropriate; (ii) an explanation of when and why firms should analyse their past complaints
to identify if there are serious flaws in sales practices that may have affected complainants and non-complainants; and
(iii) an Open Letter setting out common sales failings to help firms identify bad practices.

After extensive consideration, the British Bankers Association (‘BBA”), as the representative body of UK banks, sent
a formal pre-action protocol letter to the FSA and the Financial Ombudsman Service (‘FOS’) setting out its concerns
and what it considered to be the flaws identified in PS 10/12 and Guidance issued by FOS on the handling of PPI
complaints. The letter indicated that, absent a satisfactory reply, it was the BBA’s intention to apply to the High
Court for a Judicial Review of both PS 10/12 and the FOS Guidance. The FSA and FOS responded on 28 September
2010 denying that they had acted unlawfully in introducing the Policy Statement or relying on the Guidance.

On 8 October 2010, an application for Judicial Review was issued by the BBA seeking an order to quash PS 10/12
and the FOS Guidance. The FSA subsequently issued a statement on 24 November 2010 seeking to clarify aspects of
PS 10/12 and the Open Letter. The FSA and FOS filed defences to the Judicial Review application on 10 December
2010. The Judicial Review application was heard by the Court on 25 — 28 January 2011, and judgement is currently
awaited.

HSBC believes that the BBA has a strongly arguable case against both the FSA and the FOS. If the Court ultimately
concludes, however, after any appeals of the judgement that may follow from any of the parties, that PS 10/12 and
the FOS Guidance stand, in whole or in part, then these would need to be taken into consideration when determining
complaints alleging the mis-sale of PPI.

If, contrary to HSBC’s current assessment, a decision is reached in the case that results in a potential liability for
HSBC, a large number of different outcomes is possible, each of which would have a different financial impact.
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There are many factors affecting the range of possible outcomes, and the resulting financial impact, including the
extent to which one or both of PS 10/12 and the FOS Guidance are upheld, and the underlying rationale for each
decision; the ways in which PS 10/12 and or the FOS Guidance are found to impose additional requirements over and
above the common law and the FSA Conduct of Business rules in force at the time relating to the sale of general
insurance products, and in the handling of firms’ PPI complaints; the effect of any decision on the nature and volume
of customer complaints; and the extent to which, if at all, HSBC might be required to take action, and the nature of
any such action, in relation to non-complainants. The extent of any redress that may be required as a result of a
decision to uphold PS 10/12 and the FOS Guidance, in whole or in part, would also depend on the facts and
circumstances of each individual customer’s case. For these reasons, among others, HSBC does not at this time
consider it practicable to provide a reliable estimate or range of estimates of the potential financial impact of an
adverse decision.

Pending resolution of the dispute, HSBC continues to review all complaints received which allege that PPI has been
mis-sold and, where possible, seeks to resolve them. Where HSBC considers it is not in a position to reach a final
decision on a complaint until the conclusion of the application for Judicial Review of PS 10/12 and the FOS
Guidance and any subsequent appeals, it informs the complainant that this is the case.

In December 2007, the Group decided to cease selling PPI products in the UK and a phased withdrawal was
completed across the HSBC, first direct and M&S Money brands during 2008. HFC Bank Ltd (‘HFC’) ceased selling
single premium PPI in 2008 and sales of regular premium PPI will reduce as HFC exits its remaining retail
relationships. During the consultation process in 2009, the FSA reported that it had obtained agreement from firms
representing 40% of the market for face to face single premium PPI sales to review all such sales since July 2007. No
HSBC subsidiary or associate was included in that group of firms.

Regulatory and law enforcement agencies investigations

HSBC Bank USA entered into a consent cease and desist order with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
and the indirect parent of that company, HSBC North America, entered into a consent cease and desist order with the
Federal Reserve Board in the first week of October 2010. These actions require improvements for an effective
compliance risk management programme across the Group’s US businesses, including US Bank Secrecy Act (‘BSA”)
and Anti Money Laundering (‘AML’) compliance. Steps continue to be taken to address the requirements of these
Orders and to ensure that compliance and effective policies and procedures are maintained.

Various HSBC Group companies are the subject of ongoing investigations, including Grand Jury subpoenas and other
requests for information, by US Government agencies, including the US Attorney’s Office, the US Department of
Justice and the New York County District Attorney’s Office. These investigations pertain to, among other matters,
HSBC Bank USA’s bank note and foreign correspondent banking businesses and its compliance with BSA and AML
controls, as well as various HSBC companies’ compliance with Office of Foreign Asset Control (‘OFAC’)
requirements, and adherence by certain customers to US tax reporting requirements.

The consent cease and desist orders do not preclude additional enforcement actions against HSBC Bank USA or
HSBC North America by bank regulatory or law enforcement agencies, including actions to recover civil money
penalties, fines and other financial penalties relating to activities which were the subject of the cease and desist
orders. In addition, it is likely that there could be some form of formal enforcement action in respect of some or all of
the ongoing investigations. Actual or threatened enforcement actions against other financial institutions for breaches
of BSA, AML and OFAC requirements have resulted in settlements involving fines and penalties, some of which
have been significant depending on the individual circumstances of each action. The ongoing investigations are at an
early stage. Based on the facts currently known, it is not practicable at this time for HSBC to determine the terms on
which the ongoing investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution or for HSBC to estimate reliably
the amounts, or range of possible amounts, of any fines and/or penalties. As matters progress, it is possible that any
fines and/or penalties could be significant.
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45 Related party transactions

Related parties of the Group and HSBC Holdings include subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures, post-employment
benefit plans for HSBC employees, Key Management Personnel, close family members of Key Management
Personnel and entities which are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced, or for which significant
voting power is held, by Key Management Personnel or their close family members.

Key Management Personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of HSBC Holdings, being the Directors and Group Managing Directors of HSBC
Holdings.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

HSBC
2010 2009 2008
USSm US$m US$m
Short-term employee DENEILS ........ccovveireiriiiiiiiiire et 39 22 31
Post-employment DENETItS ........cccoeueeeuiririririeiiiriieiee e 3 3 5
Other 10ng-term DENETILS .......ccveviieiiieiieeretreeee e 1 - -
Termination DENETILS .......coceirveiriiieiere e - - -
Share-based PAYMENLS ......cc.cerieirieirieiriiieterei ettt 49 27 16
92 52 52

Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving related parties

Particulars of advances (loans and quasi-loans), credits and guarantees entered into by subsidiaries of HSBC
Holdings during 2010 with Directors, disclosed pursuant to section 413 of the Companies Act 2006, are shown

below:
At 31 December
2010 2009
US$m US$m
AdVANCES ANA CIEAILS ...vievieiieiieiieieiteteee ettt ettt et et et e et e eteeteeseeseeseeseesensesesaesseeseesesseeseeneenseneans 9 5

Particulars of transactions with related parties, disclosed pursuant to the requirements of IAS 24, are shown below.
The disclosure of the year-end balance and the highest amounts outstanding during the year in the table below is
considered to be the most meaningful information to represent the amount of the transactions and the amount of
outstanding balances during the year.

2010 2009
Highest Highest
amounts amounts
Balance at outstanding Balance at outstanding
31 December during year 31 December during year
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Key Management Personnel'
Advances and Credits .........ccooeeiieerieieieieeececeee e 901 1,681 736 1,407
GUATANEEES ....oviiiireiieieeeieeeiereeit ettt ettt a e 27 31 32 34

1 Includes Key Management Personnel, close family members of Key Management Personnel and entities which are controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced, or for which significant voting power is held, by Key Management Personnel or their close family
members.

Some of the transactions were connected transactions, as defined by the Rules Governing The Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited but were exempt from any disclosure requirements under the provisions
of those Rules. The above transactions were made in the ordinary course of business and on substantially the same
terms, including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing or,
where applicable, with other employees. The transactions did not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or
present other unfavourable features.
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Shareholdings, options and other securities of Key Management Personnel

At 31 December

2010 2009
(000s) (000s) .
Number of options held over HSBC Holdings ordinary shares under employee share plans ................. 602 1,033 'GS)
Number of HSBC Holdings ordinary shares held beneficially and non-beneficially ... 13,395 19,567 o
Number of HSBC Holdings preference shares held beneficially and non-beneficially .............ccceeueuenne - 8 C>)
Number of HSBC Holdings 8.125% Perpetual Subordinated Capital Securities held
beneficially and non-benefiCially ..........ccoceirieirieirieieeeeeee s - 25
13,997 20,633
Transactions with other related parties of HSBC >
Associates and joint ventures 'q;)
)
The Group provides certain banking and financial services to associates and joint ventures, including loans, =
overdrafts, interest and non-interest bearing deposits and current accounts. Details of the interests in associates and g
joint ventures are given in Note 21. Transactions and balances during the year with associates and joint ventures were ©
as follows: ic
(o]
2010 2009 2}
Highest Highest E
balance during Balance at  balance during Balance at g
the year' 31 December’ the year' 31 December' o
US$m US$m US$m US$m ¢
Amounts due from joint ventures:
— SUDOTAINALEd .....covivriiiiiriieeci s 5 5 — —
— unSUbOIdiNAted .........ccvevevieirieireeieeee e 514 412 423 378
Amounts due from associates:
—subordinated ...........cccooiiiiiiiii 16 - 17 17 ©
—UnSUbOrdinated ..........cccovevvevvierieieiieeee e 2,248 1,702 1,343 1,239 =
©
2,783 2,119 1,783 1,634 =
)
Amounts due to JOINt VENTUIES .......c.c.eeerereererericririererereerenrenerceenes 151 134 130 129 5
Amounts due to associates 700 527 1,494 136 o
851 661 1,624 265

1 The disclosure of the year-end balance and the highest balance during the year is considered the most meaningful information to
represent transactions during the year.

The above outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business and on substantially the same terms,
including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions with third-party counterparties.

Post-employment benefit plans

At 31 December 2010, US$4.7bn (2009: US$4.2bn) of HSBC post-employment benefit plan assets were under
management by HSBC companies. Fees of US$17m (2009: US$15m) were earned by HSBC companies for these
management services provided to its post-employment benefit plans. HSBC’s post-employment benefit plans had
placed deposits of US$1,840m (2009: US$929m) with its banking subsidiaries, on which interest payable to the
schemes amounted to US$4m (2009: US$3m). The above outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of
business and on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions
with third-party counterparties.
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HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme entered into swap transactions with HSBC as part of the management of the
inflation and interest rate sensitivity of its liabilities. At 31 December 2010, the gross notional value of the swaps was
US$22.9bn (2009: US$23.7bn), the swaps had a positive fair value of US$2.2bn (2009: positive fair value of
US$1.0bn) to the scheme and HSBC had delivered collateral of US$3.3bn (2009: US$2.8bn) to the scheme in respect
of these swaps, on which HSBC earned interest amounting to nil (2009: US$7m). All swaps were executed at
prevailing market rates and within standard market bid/offer spreads.

In order to satisfy diversification requirements, there are special collateral provisions for the swap transactions
between HSBC and the scheme. The collateral agreement stipulates that the scheme never posts collateral to HSBC.
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Collateral is posted to the scheme by HSBC at an amount that provides the Trustee with a high level of confidence
that would be sufficient to replace the swaps in the event of default by HSBC Bank plc. With the exception of the
special collateral arrangements detailed above, all other aspects of the swap transactions between HSBC and the
scheme are on substantially the same terms as comparable transactions with third-party counterparties.

On 17 June 2010, HSBC Bank plc made a £1,760m (US$2,638m) special contribution to accelerate the reduction of
the deficit of the HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme. On the same day the Scheme used the contribution to acquire
debt securities with a fair value of £1,760m (US$2,638m) from HSBC in a transaction at an arm’s length value
determined by the Scheme’s independent third-party advisors.

HSBC International Staff Retirements Benefits Scheme entered into swap transactions with HSBC to manage the

inflation and interest rate sensitivity of the liabilities and selected assets. At 31 December 2010, the gross notional
value of the swaps was US$1.8bn (2009: US$1.8bn) and the swaps had a net positive fair value of US$77m to the
scheme (2009: US$27m).

HSBC Holdings

Details of HSBC Holdings’ principal subsidiaries are shown in Note 26. Transactions and balances during the year
with subsidiaries were as follows:

2010 2009
Highest Highest
balance during Balance at  balance during Balance at
the year' 31 December’ the year' 31 December’
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Assets
Cash @t DANK ......c.oveviieiiieiecec et 459 459 443 224
DIETIVALIVES ..veviiitiieiirieeeeeteteet ettt ettt ees 3,219 2,327 3,682 2,981
Loans and advances .. 23,212 21,238 26,156 23,212
Financial investments 2,606 2,025 2,629 2,455
Investments in SUDSIAIATIES ........c.ccvevveevierieeieiieieieieee e 92,899 92,899 90,914 86,247
Total related party aSSELS ........coecereeereeirerirerieeneeeneeeeieeseneeaens 122,395 118,948 123,824 115,119
Liabilities
Amounts owed to HSBC undertakings ............cccooevevecerenerennne. 4,580 2,932 5,669 3,711
DETIVALIVES .vvevieiciiiciieieeeeeeeteete ettt 1,677 827 1,324 362
Subordinated liabilities:
— at amortised cost ........ . 3,907 2,464 3,907 3,907
— designated at fair value .........cococeeenieinieeneineeeeee 4,507 4,259 4,360 4,360
Total related party liabilities .......c.coceeuererrreicnininieccreeceene 14,671 10,482 15,260 12,340
GUATANEEES ....evieenieeeiieteeetereene ettt ettt st etene et se s enesneneas 46,988 46,988 47,341 35,073
Commitments .. 3,240 2,720 3,241 3,240

1 The disclosure of the year-end balance and the highest balance during the year is considered the most meaningful information to
represent transactions during the year. The above outstanding balances arose in the ordinary course of business and are on
substantially the same terms, including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions with third-party counterparties, with
the exception of US$160m (2009: US$160m) in respect of loans to HSBC subsidiaries from HSBC Holdings and US$506m
(2009: US8529m) in respect of loans from HSBC subsidiaries to HSBC Holdings made at an agreed zero per cent interest rate.

Some employees of HSBC Holdings are members of the HSBC Bank (UK) Pension Scheme, which is sponsored by a
separate Group company. HSBC Holdings incurs a charge for these employees equal to the contributions paid into

the scheme on their behalf. Disclosure in relation to the scheme is made in Note 7 to the accounts.

Events after the balance sheet date

A fourth interim dividend for 2010 of US$0.12 per ordinary share (a distribution of approximately US$2,125m) was
declared by the Directors after 31 December 2010.

These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 February 2011 and authorised for issue.
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